Mallika Tewari *Editor*

Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer

Principles and Practice



Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer Mallika Tewari Editor

Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer

Principles and Practice



Editor Mallika Tewari Chief Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary and Gastrointestinal Division Department of Surgical Oncology Institute of Medical Sciences Banaras Hindu University Varanasi, U.P., India

ISBN 978-981-10-7463-9 ISBN 978-981-10-7464-6 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018941814

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd part of Springer Nature.

The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

to roshan, mitsy and tipu

Foreword

Modern science and technologies have enabled clinicians in recent years to better understand perhaps the least understood of human organs—the pancreas. Greater awareness and increased detection of pancreatic pathologies have aroused interest among basic researchers, pancreatologists, gastroenterologists, and pancreatic surgeons. Despite phenomenal advances in unraveling the mystery of pancreatic and periampullary cancers, radical and high-quality surgery by experienced surgeons remains the only curative treatment option in these aggressive cancers.

Pancreatic surgery is widely regarded as the most challenging of surgeries. The reasons are easy to understand, viz., complex anatomical location with variations that are a norm rather than an exception and a reconstruction and difficult lymphadenectomy that are often the Achilles heel dictating shortand long-term outcomes. To add to the complexity, almost all pancreatic resections involve a steep and long learning curve with experience being accumulated only after many years of dedicated practice.

On this background, the book Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer: Principles and Practice by Dr. Mallika Tewari is timely. Every single chapter among 28 chapters is relevant as it takes the reader-right from the novice to the experienced pancreatic surgeon-through finer and more, importantly, technical aspects of diverse pancreatic resections. Evidencebased medicine guides (and often confuses) the interested surgeon about various age-old and yet controversial aspects of pancreatic surgery, and this book does well to bring into sharp focus the various pros and cons of technical aspects of pancreatic resections. The fact that the author list boasts of some of the finest names in pancreatic surgery lends credence to the firm belief that modern-day pancreatic resections should always be a blend of experience coupled with a keen desire for higher level of evidence. More recent developments in pancreatic resections have witnessed remarkable strides in vascular resections, multi-visceral resections, and minimally invasive laparoscopic and robotic pancreatic resections. The improvement in outcomes due to multidisciplinary care and emphasis on finer perioperative aspects such as nutrition and enhanced recovery after surgery further add to the excitement where the future is only expected to be brighter than ever before.

We have absolutely no doubt that this book by Dr. Tewari would serve as an excellent companion for anyone interested in pancreatic surgery for years to come.

June 2017

Shailesh V. Shrikhande Department of Surgical Oncology Tata Memorial Centre Mumbai, Maharashtra India

Markus W. Büchler Chirurgische Universitätsklinik Universität Heidelberg Heidelberg Germany

Preface

The handbook *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer: Principles and Practice* takes you on an academic journey exploring a difficult disease to treat, pancreatic and periampullary cancer. It is a useful read for all surgeons and surgical trainees involved in the management of pancreatic/periampullary cancer. This handbook gives minute details of various surgical techniques as practiced by experts themselves, who are world authorities on the subject. There are nine narrative chapters that are important practically from a surgeon's point of view and will help in the optimal management of the patients.

This handbook will provide an in-depth practical knowledge and means to understand the principles in carrying out difficult operations for pancreatic/ periampullary cancer. It covers topics over a wide range of procedures and techniques, on both open and minimally invasive approach, in the form of "How I do it" chapters from reigning experts. The first five chapters on basic surgical anatomy, history, classification, imaging, and preoperative preparation are crisp and give the reader a good perspective and background before embarking on surgical techniques. The next 19 chapters, starting with the chapter on key steps of pancreaticoduodenectomy, detail various methods of pancreatic resection including venous and arterial resections and anastomotic techniques in a stepwise escalating manner. Also included are chapters on the upcoming laparoscopic and robotic approach. The last five chapters deal with postoperative complications, postoperative management, pathology reporting, and the importance of nutrition in patients undergoing such major surgical operations. The concluding chapter is on the novel technique of pancreas-preserving duodenectomy.

I was motivated to write a book on surgical techniques prevalent in pancreatic/periampullary cancer as I am fascinated by the challenges it offers. I have had the opportunity to visit some of the great institutes and hospitals across the world specializing in surgery for pancreatic cancer, and the energy, synergy, and dedication of the surgeons and their team were intoxicating. Numerous techniques, for example, of pancreatoenteric anastomosis are very intriguing, and concomitant vascular resections test the ultimate patience and expertise of the surgeon. I picked up many things, small and big, during my sojourn and wanted to compile them together in the form of a book so that this knowledge reaches out to all those committed in treating this cancer with the ultimate aim that the benefits of good meticulous surgery will actually translate in lower morbidities and quick postoperative recovery of our patients. I feel very delighted and grateful to all my authors who accepted my request, even though I am a novice, and have written about the way they actually perform these complex operations supplemented with excellent illustrations and operative photographs. I thank Prof. Marcus Büchler, a doyen in the field, and Prof. S. Shrikhande for writing the Foreword. Last but not the least, I thank my mentors Prof. H. S. Shukla and Prof. Adarsh Chaudhary for all their kind help and motivation in completing this book.

Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India

Mallika Tewari

Contents

1	Surgical Anatomy of the Pancreas and the Periampullary Region		
	Kejishi Sugimachi, Yuki Bekki, Tomohiro Iguchi, Masaru Morita, Yasushi Toh, and Kenji Takenaka		
2	Overview of Resections for Pancreatic and PeriampullaryCancer11June S. Peng and Gareth Morris-Stiff		
3	Japanese Classification and Staging for Pancreaticand Periampullary Cancers23Satoshi Hirano and Takahiro Tsuchikawa		
4	Imaging Evaluation of Resectability45Ashish Verma		
5	Role of Preoperative Biliary Stenting and PreoperativePreparation Before Pancreaticoduodenectomy57Rishi Batra and Chandrakanth Are57		
6	Pancreaticoduodenectomy for Cancer: Key Steps.65Mallika Tewari		
7	Pylorus-Preserving Pancreaticoduodenectomy for Pancreatic Cancer: How I Do It		
8	Pylorus-Resecting Pancreaticoduodenectomy: How I Do It 87 Manabu Kawai and Hiroki Yamaue		
9	Pancreaticojejunostomy: How I Do It.95Andrew C. Gagel and Matthew H. G. Katz		
10	Invaginating Pancreaticojejunostomy: How I Do It		

11	Through-and-Through Transpancreatic Duct-to-Mucosa(Blumgart) PancreaticojejunostomyRohit Chandwani and William R. Jarnagin	109
12	Binding Pancreaticojejunostomy: How I Do It Jiang Tao Li, Shu You Peng, and Yuan Quan Yu	119
13	Pancreaticogastrostomy: How I Do It R. Mahendran and H. S. Shukla	125
14	Pancreaticogastrostomy: How I Do it Pietro Addeo and Philippe Bachellier	133
15	Portal Vein Resection: How I Do It	139
16	Pancreaticoduodenectomy with Venous Resection:How I Do ItPietro Addeo and Philippe Bachellier	147
17	Pancreaticoduodenectomy with the Superior Mesenteric Artery Approach: How I Do It	161
18	RAMPS Procedure for Adenocarcinoma of the Body and Tail of the Pancreas: How I Do It. Suefumi Aosasa, Makoto Nishikawa, Mayumi Hoshikawa, Takuji Noro, and Junji Yamamoto	171
19	The Modified Appleby Procedure for LocallyAdvanced Pancreatic Body/Tail Cancer: How I Do It.Aaron Lewis, Hans F. Schoellhammer, and Gagandeep Singh	177
20	Laparoscopic Pancreaticoduodenectomy: How I Do it Alessandro Paniccia and Barish H. Edil	185
21	Laparoscopic Distal Pancreatectomy: How I Do It Bergthor Björnsson and Per Sandström	195
22	Robotic-Assisted Pancreaticoduodenectomy: How We Do It Ammar A. Javed, Aslam Ejaz, and Matthew J. Weiss	203
23	Enucleation and Transduodenal Surgical Ampullectomy for Pancreatic and Periampullary Neoplasms: How I Do It J. Kaiser, P. Contin, and O. Strobel	211
24	Operative Complications and Their Management Following Resection for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancers Kanza Aziz, Christopher L. Wolfgang, and Ammar A. Javed	227

25	Postoperative Management in Patients Undergoing Major	
	Pancreatic Resections	239
	Alessandra Pulvirenti, Antonio Pea, Matteo De Pastena,	
	Giovanni Marchegiani, Roberto Salvia, and Claudio Bassi	
26	Pathology Reporting of Resected Pancreatic/Periampullary	
	Cancer Specimen.	247
	María Carmen Gómez-Mateo, Luis Sabater-Ortí, Inmaculada	
	Ruiz-Montesinos, and Antonio Ferrández-Izquierdo	
27	Preoperative Nutritional Status, Postoperative	
	Nutritional Support, and Clinical Outcome Following	
	Pancreatic Surgery	281
	Sebastian Haller, Pascal Probst, and Phillip Knebel	
28	Pancreas-Sparing Duodenectomy: How I Do It.	287
	Monica M. Dua, Lavina Malhotra, and Brendan C. Visser	

About the Editor

Mallika Tewari graduated from the Institute of Medical Sciences at Banaras Hindu University with distinction. Presently, she is Chief of the Hepato-Pancreatico-Biliary and Gastrointestinal Division and a Professor at the Department of Surgical Oncology, Institute of Medical Sciences. She has authored more than 100 peer-reviewed international and national publications.

She is the recipient of several prestigious international fellowships such as the UICC ICRETT, International Guest Scholarship of the American College of Surgeons, and European Society of Surgical Oncology traveling fellowship. She is an executive member of the World Federation of Surgical Oncology Societies (WFSOS) and Indian Association of Surgical Oncology (IASO). Further, Dr. Tewari is a reviewer for several international scientific journals and associate editor and editorial board member for the *Indian Journal of Surgery*.

Contributors

Pietro Addeo, M.D. Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary Surgery and Liver transplantation, Pôle des Pathologies Digestives, Hépatiques et de la Transplantation, Hôpital de Hautepierre-Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg, Université de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France

Takayuki Anazawa Division of Hepatobiliary-Pancreatic Surgery and Transplantation, Department of Surgery, Kyoto University Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto, Japan

Suefumi Aosasa Department of Surgery, National Defense Medical College, Saitama, Japan

Volker Aßfalg Department of Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technische Universität München, Munich, Germany

Chandrakanth Are Department of Surgery, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE, USA

Kanza Aziz, M.D. Department of Surgery, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA

Philippe Bachellier, M.D. Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary Surgery and Liver transplantation, Pôle des Pathologies Digestives, Hépatiques et de la Transplantation, Hôpital de Hautepierre-Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg, Université de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France

Claudio Bassi Department of Surgery, Pancreas Institute, University and Hospital Trust of Verona, Verona, Italy

Rishi Batra Department of Surgery, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE, USA

Yuki Bekki, M.D., Ph.D. Fukuoka City Hospital, Fukuoka, Japan

Bergthor Björnsson Department of Surgery and Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

Rohit Chandwani, M.D., Ph.D. Hepatopancreatobiliary Service, Department of Surgery, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA **Pietro Contin** Department of General, Visceral and Transplantation Surgery, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Department of General Surgery, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Monica M. Dua, M.D. Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA

Barish H. Edil, M.D., F.A.C.S. Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, University of Colorado, Aurora CO, USA

Aslam Ejaz, M.D., M.P.H. Department of Surgery, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA

Antonio Ferrández-Izquierdo Department of Pathology, Hospital Clínico, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

Helmut Friess Department of Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technische Universität München, Munich, Germany

Andrew C. Gagel Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

María Carmen Gómez-Mateo Department of Pathology, Hospital Universitario Donostia, Donostia, Spain

Thilo Hackert Department of General, Visceral and Transplantation Surgery, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg Germany

Sebastian Haller Department of General, Visceral and Transplantation Surgery, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Satoshi Hirano, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Gastroenterological Surgery II, Hokkaido University Graduate School of Medicine, Sapporo, Japan

Mayumi Hoshikawa Department of Surgery, National Defense Medical College, Saitama, Japan

Norbert Hüser, M.D. Department of Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technische Universität München, Munich, Germany

Tomohiro Iguchi, M.D., Ph.D. National Kyushu Cancer Center, Fukuoka, Japan

William R. Jarnagin, M.D. Hepatopancreatobiliary Service, Department of Surgery, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

Ammar A. Javed, M.D. Department of Surgery, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA

J. Kaiser Department of General Surgery, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Matthew H. G. Katz Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Manabu Kawai, M.D. Second Department of Surgery, School of Medicine, Wakayama Medical University, Wakayama, Japan

Phillip Knebel Department of General, Visceral and Transplantation Surgery, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Harish Lavu Department of Surgery, Jefferson Pancreas Biliary and Related Cancer Center, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Aaron Lewis, M.D. Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, City of Hope Comprehensive Cancer Center, Duarte, CA, USA

Jiang Tao Li, M.D., F.A.C.S. Department of Surgery, The Second Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Zhejiang, China

Matthias Maak Department of Surgery, Universitätsklinikum Erlangen, Erlangen, Germany

R. Mahendran, M.S., M.Ch. (Surg. Oncol.) Department of Surgical Oncology, Institute of Medical Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, UP, India

Lavina Malhotra, M.D. Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA

Giovanni Marchegiani Department of Surgery, Pancreas Institute, University and Hospital Trust of Verona, Verona, Italy

Toshihiko Masui Division of Hepatobiliary-Pancreatic Surgery and Transplantation, Department of Surgery, Kyoto University Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto, Japan

Masaru Morita, M.D., Ph.D., F.A.C.S. National Kyushu Cancer Center, Fukuoka, Japan

Gareth Morris-Stiff, M.B.B.Ch., M.D., M.Ch., Ph.D. Department of Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary Surgery, Digestive Disease and Surgery Institute, Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Cleveland, OH, USA

Makoto Nishikawa Department of Surgery, National Defense Medical College, Saitama, Japan

Takuji Noro Department of Surgery, National Defense Medical College, Saitama, Japan

Alessandro Paniccia, M.D. Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, University of Colorado, Aurora, CO, USA

Matteo De Pastena Department of Surgery, Pancreas Institute, University and Hospital Trust of Verona, Verona, Italy

Antonio Pea Department of Surgery, Pancreas Institute, University and Hospital Trust of Verona, Verona, Italy

Shu You Peng, M.D., F.A.C.S. (Hon.) Department of Surgery, The Second Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Zhejiang, China

June S. Peng Department of Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary Surgery, Digestive Disease and Surgery Institute, Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Cleveland, OH, USA

Pascal Probst Department of General, Visceral and Transplantation Surgery, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Alessandra Pulvirenti Department of Surgery, Pancreas Institute, University and Hospital Trust of Verona, Verona, Italy

Inmaculada Ruiz-Montesinos Department of Surgery, Hospital Universitario Donostia, Donostia, Spain

Luis Sabater-Ortí Department of Surgery, Hospital Clínico, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

Roberto Salvia Department of Surgery, Pancreas Institute, University and Hospital Trust of Verona, Verona, Italy

Per Sandström Department of Surgery and Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

Hans F. Schoellhammer, M.D. Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, City of Hope Comprehensive Cancer Center, Duarte, CA, USA

H. S. Shukla, M.S., F.R.C.S., Ph.D. Department of Surgical Oncology, Institute of Medical Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, UP, India

Gagandeep Singh, M.D. Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, City of Hope Comprehensive Cancer Center, Duarte, CA, USA

O. Strobel Department of General Surgery, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Keishi Sugimachi, M.D., Ph.D., F.A.C.S. National Kyushu Cancer Center, Fukuoka City Hospital, Fukuoka, Japan

Department of Hepatobiliary-Pancreatic Surgery, National Hospital Organization Kyushu Cancer Center, Fukuoka, Japan

Kyoichi Takaori Division of Hepatobiliary-Pancreatic Surgery and Transplantation, Department of Surgery, Kyoto University Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto, Japan

Kenji Takenaka, M.D., Ph.D. Fukuoka City Hospital, Fukuoka, Japan

Mallika Tewari, M.S., M.R.C.S., Ed., M.Ch. Division of Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary and Gastrointestinal Oncology, Department of Surgical Oncology, Institute of Medical Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India

Yasushi Toh, M.D., Ph.D., F.A.C.S. National Kyushu Cancer Center, Fukuoka, Japan

Takahiro Tsuchikawa, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Gastroenterological Surgery II, Hokkaido University Graduate School of Medicine, Sapporo, Japan

Shinji Uemoto Division of Hepatobiliary-Pancreatic Surgery and Transplantation, Department of Surgery, Kyoto University Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto, Japan

Alexis Ulrich Department of General, Visceral and Transplantation Surgery, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Ashish Verma Department of Radiodiagnosis and Imaging, Institute of Medical Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, UP, India

Brendan C. Visser, M.D. Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA

Carrie D. Walsh Department of Surgery, Jefferson Pancreas Biliary and Related Cancer Center, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Matthew J. Weiss, M.D., F.A.C.S. Department of Surgery, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA

Christopher L. Wolfgang, M.D. Ph.D. Department of Surgery, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA

Junji Yamamoto Department of Surgery, National Defense Medical College, Saitama, Japan

Hiroki Yamaue, M.D. Second Department of Surgery, School of Medicine, Wakayama Medical University, Wakayama, Japan

Charles J. Yeo Department of Surgery, Jefferson Pancreas Biliary and Related Cancer Center, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Yuan Quan Yu Department of Surgery, The Second Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Zhejiang, China Keishi Sugimachi, Yuki Bekki, Tomohiro Iguchi, Masaru Morita, Yasushi Toh, and Kenji Takenaka

Abbreviations

AIPDV	Anterior inferior pancreaticoduodenal
	vein
ASPDA	Anterior superior pancreaticoduode-
	nal artery
ASPDV	Anterior superior pancreaticoduode-
	nal vein
GDA	Gastroduodenal artery
IPDA	Inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery
PIPDA	Posterior inferior pancreaticoduode-
	nal artery
PLphI	Pancreatic head plexus I
PLphII	Pancreatic head plexus II
PSPDA	Posterior superior pancreaticoduode-
	nal artery
PSPDV	Posterior superior pancreaticoduode-
	nal vein

K. Sugimachi, M.D., Ph.D., F.A.C.S. (🖂) Department of Hepatobiliary-Pancreatic Surgery, National Kyushu Cancer Center, Fukuoka, Japan

Department of Surgery, Fukuoka City Hospital, Fukuoka, Japan e-mail: sugimachi.k@nk-cc.go.jp

T. Iguchi, M.D., Ph.D. · M. Morita, M.D., Ph.D., F.A.C.S. Y. Toh, M.D., Ph.D., F.A.C.S.

Department of Hepatobiliary-Pancreatic Surgery, National Kyushu Cancer Center, Fukuoka, Japan SMASuperior mesenteric arterySMASuperior mesenteric vein

1.1 General Anatomy of the Pancreas

The pancreas is a composite organ derived from dorsal and ventral buds that arise from either side of the distal foregut endoderm in embryonic development [1]. The pancreas lies transversely in the retroperitoneal sac with rotation of the duodenum. The duodenum is located on the right, the spleen on the left, and the stomach and the omental bursa above. The anterior surface of the pancreatic body and tail is overlapped by the peritoneum of the omental bursa.

The pancreas spreads in the mesoduodenum and is fixed to the retroperitoneum with various fused fasciae (Fig. 1.1) [2]. The anterior wall of the pancreatic head is covered by the mesoduodenum. The posterior wall of the mesoduodenum forms retropancreatic fusion fascia called the Treitz fascia with the posterior parietal peritoneum. The Treitz fusion fascia becomes the left Toldt fusion fascia at the body and tail of the pancreas, and the superior mesenteric artery (SMA) penetrates the fascia (Figs. 1.1 and 1.2). At the anterior surface of the pancreatic head, the transverse and ascending mesocolon forms fusion fascia with the mesoduodenum. This is continuous to the right Toldt fusion fascia, which is formed

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_1



Surgical Anatomy of the Pancreas and the Periampullary Region

Y. Bekki, M.D., Ph.D. · K. Takenaka, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Surgery, Fukuoka City Hospital, Fukuoka, Japan

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018



Fig. 1.1 Fused fasciae related to the pancreas. (a) The pancreatic head is covered by the mesoduodenum. The mesoduodenum and retroperitoneum form the Treitz fusion fascia. (b) The mesocolon (transverse colon) forms fusion fascia with the mesoduodenum. (c) The mesocolon (ascending colon) and parietal peritoneum form the right

Toldt fusion fascia. (d) The left Toldt fusion fascia is formed by the retroperitoneum and peritoneum of the bursa omentalis. Modified from Perlemuter L et al: Cashiers d'Anatomie. Abdomen (I), 3rd ed, Masson & Cie, Paris, 1975



by the ascending mesocolon and parietal peritoneum. Posteriorly, the pancreatic bed in the retroperitoneal space contains the hilum of the right kidney, the inferior vena cava, the aorta, the left kidney, and the hilum of the spleen, from right to left (Fig. 1.2). Pancreaticoduodenal arteries and veins are present between pancreatic parenchyma and fused fasciae. Therefore, these fasciae have to be dissected for pancreatectomy.

1.2 Arteries

The celiac trunk and SMA provide the arterial supply to the pancreas. Variations are common, but for the most part, the body and tail are supplied by branches of the splenic artery. However, the pancreatic head and uncinate process receive arterial supply through arcades originating from the gastroduodenal artery (GDA) and the first branch of the SMA (Fig. 1.3).

The GDA, the branch of the common hepatic artery, ramifies the posterior superior pancreaticoduodenal artery (PSPDA) at the superior edge of the pancreas and becomes the anterior superior pancreaticoduodenal artery (ASPDA). The ASPDA runs along the anterior surface of the pancreas and branches to the right gastroepiploic artery at the site of the pyloric ring. The PSPDA runs above the common bile duct from left to right and travels down the posterior surface of the pancreas. The PSPDA supplies the papilla of Vater and finally forms an arcade with the posterior inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery (PIPDA). The arcade of the PSPDA and PIPDA forms a spiral formation around the lower common bile duct in an anti-clockwise manner (Fig. 1.3) [3].

The right and left hepatic arteries usually arise from the celiac trunk and common hepatic artery. However, there are common variations where the right hepatic artery or common hepatic artery originates from the SMA (Fig. 1.4). A replaced left hepatic artery originates from the left gastric artery. A replaced right hepatic artery arising from the SMA is commonly observed, but a replaced common hepatic artery is relatively rare. This replaced right hepatic artery is the artery that needs to be preserved during pancreaticoduodenectomy to preserve hepatic arterial flow. However, this artery usually runs behind the pancreatic head

Fig. 1.3 Arterial supply of the pancreas. The pancreas has a rich arterial supply that is derived from the celiac trunk and superior mesenteric artery. The superior and inferior pancreaticoduodenal arteries form arcades and supply the pancreatic head. The dorsal pancreatic artery descends posterior to the pancreas and supplies the pancreatic body and tail. Modified from Netter FH: Atlas of Human Anatomy, 3rd ed. Icon Learning Systems, New Jersey, 2004





Fig. 1.4 Variants of the hepatic artery. A replaced hepatic artery is a vessel that does not originate from the proper hepatic artery and provides sole supply to the liver. A replaced right hepatic artery originating from the superior mesenteric artery or a replaced left hepatic artery from the left gastric artery is commonly observed. A replaced com-

mon hepatic artery is relatively rare. (a) no replaced hepatic artery, (b) replaced right hepatic artery, (c) replaced left hepatic artery, (d) replaced right and left hepatic arteries, (e) replaced common hepatic artery. Modified from Gray's Anatomy. 4th ed. Standring S. ed, Churchill Livingston, Elsevier, 2008

and is thus easily invaded by adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. Avoiding injury of the right hepatic artery when the extrahepatic bile duct is divided is also important. The right hepatic artery usually runs transversely from left to right behind the bile duct, in front of the portal vein. A replaced right hepatic artery ascends behind the portal vein and bile duct and can be identified by pulsation behind the portal vein. A replaced left hepatic artery from the left gastric artery lies in the upper portion of the lesser omentum and thus may be injured during mobilization of the stomach.

The inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery (IPDA) branches from the posterior side of the SMA and forms a common trunk with the first branch of the jejunal artery. The IPDA then branches into the anterior IPDA and posterior IPDA (Fig. 1.5) [4]. In pancreaticoduodenectomy, pancreaticoduodenal branches from the SMA must be identified and divided to resect

the pancreas and duodenum. The common branch of the IPDA and the first branch of the arise iejunal artery usually from the SMA. However, in some cases, the IPDA and the first branch of the jejunal artery independently arise from the SMA (Fig. 1.5). In addition to the main IPDA, the pancreatic head and duodenum are usually supplied from minor branches from the proximal SMA. The IPDA possibly arises from a replaced hepatic artery, which is a branch of the SMA (Figs. 1.4 and 1.5). Identifying and preserving a replaced hepatic artery are important, while the IPDA has to be sacrificed during surgery. Dissecting the IPDA at the first stage of pancreaticoduodenectomy prevents congestion of the pancreatic head and duodenum and thus may result in less blood loss during surgery [5].

When the pancreatic parenchyma at the pancreatic neck above the superior mesenteric vein (SMV) is divided, two arteries at the cranial and



Fig. 1.5 Variation of the inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery. Typically, the inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery (IPDA) and the first branch of the jejunal artery form a common trunk. In minor variations, the IPDA directly arises from the superior mesenteric artery, or the anterior

and inferior IPDAs independently arise from the SMA and the first branch of the jejunal artery. (a) common trunk of IPDA and J1A arises from SMA (major variation), (b) IPDA directly arised from SMA, (c) PIPDA and AIPDA independently arise from SMA

caudal sides of the pancreas are usually seen. The dorsal pancreatic artery arises from the splenic artery, the celiac trunk, or the common hepatic artery. The dorsal pancreatic artery then travels down the posterior surface of the pancreas and forms an arcade with the branch from the GDA (suprapancreatic branch). The inferior pancreatic artery branches from the ASPDA and runs transversely and forms an arcade with the dorsal pancreatic artery or the great pancreatic artery (peripancreatic arcade).

1.3 Portal Vein

Venous drainage from the pancreas goes to the splenic vein, SMV, and portal vein. The posterior superior pancreaticoduodenal vein (PSPDV) runs along the PSPDA at the posterior surface of the pancreatic head and drains into the portal vein. The anterior superior pancreaticoduodenal vein (ASPDV) collects venous drainage from the anterior surface of the pancreas and the duodenum. The superior right colic vein, the right gastroepiploic vein, and the ASPDV form the common venous trunk called the gastrocolic trunk of Henle, which drains into the SMV (Fig. 1.6).

Pancreatic adenocarcinoma often invades the portal vein and its branches, thus requiring combined resection and reconstruction of the portal vein or SMV. In the NCCN Guidelines, contact with the most proximal draining jejunal branch into the SMV is classified as unresectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma [6]. Usually the first jejunal branch of the SMV branches from the posterior surface of the SMV, merges with the anterior inferior pancreaticoduodenal vein (AIPDV), and runs transversely from right to left behind the SMA. There is a minor variation where the first jejunal branch of the SMV arises from the surface of the left side of the SMV and runs from right to left in front of the SMA (Fig. 1.7). The inferior mesenteric vein drains into the splenic vein, SMV, or the confluence of the splenic vein and SMV (Fig. 1.8).

The draining veins of the pancreatic body and tail go to the splenic vein or to the SMV. The left gastric vein drains into the splenic vein or the portal vein. The anatomy of the portal vein and its branches for portal vein resection and reconstruction should be evaluated preoperatively. The inferior mesenteric vein and left gastric vein might be drainage vessels of the remnant pancreas and the spleen when portal vein resection without splenic vein reconstruction is planned.



Fig. 1.7 Venous drainage of the pancreatic head and variations of the inferior pancreaticoduodenal vein. The first branch of the jejunal vein runs behind the superior mesenteric artery (SMA), anastomoses the posterior inferior pancreaticoduodenal vein (PIPDV), and drains into the posterior surface of the superior mesenteric vein (SMV).

In a minor variation, the first branch of the jejunal vein runs in front of the SMA and drains into the left surface of the SMV, and the PIPDV solely drains into the SMV. (a) jejunal vein runs behind SMA, (b) jejunal vein runs in front of SMA (minor variation)

1.4 Pancreatic Ducts

The main pancreatic duct, the duct of Wirsung, arises in the tail of the pancreas and runs through

the pancreatic parenchyma. The duct of Wirsung terminates at the papilla of Vater in the duodenum with the common bile duct in Oddi's sphincter muscle (Fig. 1.9). The minor or accessory



Fig. 1.8 Variation of the merging confluence of the inferior mesenteric vein. (a) The inferior mesenteric vein drains into the splenic vein, the superior mesenteric vein, or (b) the confluence of the splenic vein and (c) the supe

rior mesenteric vein. Modified from Kimura W. Surgical anatomy of the pancreas for limited resection. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg, 2000



Fig. 1.9 Variations of the pancreatic ducts. (**a**) The ducts of Wirsung and Santorini open into the duodenum. (**b**) The duct of Santorini ends blindly in the duodenal wall. (**c**) The duct of Wirsung is smaller than the duct of

Santorini and these ducts are not connected. The duct of Santorini carries the entire secretion (pancreatic divisum). Modified from Skandalakis LJ et al. Surgical embryology and anatomy of the pancreas. Surg Clin North Am, 1993

pancreatic duct, the duct of Santorini, is smaller than the main duct. The duct of Santorini extends from the main duct to enter the duodenum at the lesser papilla. This papilla usually lies approximately 1–2 cm proximal and slightly anterior to the major papilla. The duct of Wirsung belongs to the ventral pancreas, and the duct of Santorini does the dorsal pancreas in development. The accessory pancreatic duct drains the uncinate process and inferior part of the head of the pancreas. Several variations are encountered because of the developmental origin of the two pancreatic ducts. The accessory pancreatic duct usually communicates with the main duct and both ducts open into the duodenum. There is another variation where the end of the accessory duct is closed and not open to the duodenum. In some cases, the main pancreatic duct is smaller than the accessory pancreatic duct, and the two are not connected. In those cases, the accessory duct carries most of the pancreatic juice (pancreatic divisum) (Fig. 1.9).

1.5 Duodenal Papilla

The duodenal papilla (the papilla of Vater) lies at the end of the intramural portion of the common bile duct. There is a complex of sphincter musculature that is composed of circular or spiral smooth muscle fibers surrounding the intramural portion of the common bile and pancreatic ducts (Fig. 1.10). A duodenal diverticulum lying close to the papilla may be present, and the papilla has been found in a diverticulum. The pancreatic duct and the common bile duct usually merge in the duodenal wall, and this is covered by the sphincter of ampulla and opens in the duodenal papilla (Fig. 1.10). There is a variation where the pancreatic and common bile ducts open into the duodenum at separate points. In some cases, the main pancreatic duct and the common bile duct merge outside of the duodenal wall, and the conjunct duct is covered by sphincter musculature (pancreaticobiliary maljunction) (Fig. 1.10). In these cases, pancreatobiliary juice reflux possibly causes biliary inflammation and malignancy [7].

1.6 Nerves

The pancreas is innervated by the sympathetic (the greater and lesser splanchnic nerves) and the parasympathetic (vagus nerve) nervous systems. These nerve fibers collect and form the celiac ganglia. Nerve fibers from the right and left celiac ganglia merge at the root of the celiac trunk and SMA and form the celiac plexus. The plexus originates from the celiac-superior mesenteric plexus and directly reaches the pancreatic head or uncinate process. There are no identical nerve plexuses at the pancreatic body and tail. According to the General Rules for the Study of Pancreatic Cancer by the Japan Pancreas Society, the plexus behind the pancreatic head can be differentiated into two parts (Fig. 1.11). The region that mainly includes nerve tissue that is distributed to the dorsal surface of pancreatic head and the cranial edge of the uncinate process from the right of the celiac ganglia is named the pancreatic head plexus I (PLphI). The wide plexus that is distributed to the uncinate process from the superior mesenteric ganglia is called the pancreatic head plexus II



Fig. 1.10 Diagram of the relations of the pancreatic and common bile ducts. (a) In normal anatomy, the ampulla is the common pancreaticobiliary channel below the junction of the ducts within the papilla. The pancreatic duct opens into the common bile duct at a variable distance from the orifice of the major duodenal papilla. (b) The

pancreatic duct anastomoses the common bile duct outside of the duodenal wall, and thus there is a long conjunct duct. In this case, pancreatic juice refluxes into the bile duct (pancreaticobiliary maljunction). (c) The pancreatic and common bile ducts open separately on the major duodenal papilla



Fig. 1.11 The plexus of the pancreatic head. The pancreatic head plexus I extends to the dorsal surface of the pancreatic head and the cranial edge of the uncinate process from the right of the celiac ganglia. The pancreatic head plexus II is a wide plexus that extends to the uncinate

(PLphII) (Fig. 1.11). The PLphII includes the IPDA and is continuous to the plexus of the mesojejunum. There is usually no clear septum or space between the PLphI and PLphII. Para-SMA lymph nodes are present at the ventral and dorsal sides of the plexus. In pancreaticoduodenectomy, the pancreatic head and SMA have to be removed by dissecting these pancreatic plexuses.

Areolar tissue surrounding the PLphII is considered to be anatomically consistent with the "mesopancreas" [8]. However, the concept and nomenclature of the mesopancreas is unclear and controversial. Some authors consider that the mesopancreas cannot be called a true mesentery because it does not have a fascial envelope attaching the pancreas to the posterior wall of the abdomen. Additionally, the mesopancreas does not contain all of its blood vessels and all its primary draining lymphatics and lymph nodes of the pancreas [9]. The mesopancreas or PLphII consists of not only nerve fibers but fibrous tissue, fat, lymphatics, and minor vessels.

process from the superior mesenteric ganglia. (a) a schematic diagram of pancreatic plexsus from cross section, (b) plexsus of pancreatic head and arteries. Modified from Japan Pancreas Society: The General Rules for the Study of Pancreatic Cancer. 6th ed. Kanehara, Tokyo, Japan 2013

Acknowledgment The authors thank Mr. Shinya Fukamachi for medical illustrations.

References

- Jennings RE, Berry AA, Strutt JP, Gerrard DT, Hanley NA. Human pancreas development. Development. 2015;142(18):3126–37.
- Surgical KW. anatomy of the pancreas for limited resection. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 2000;7(5):473–9.
- Kimura W, Nagai H. Study of surgical anatomy for duodenum-preserving resection of the head of the pancreas. Ann Surg. 1995;221(4):359–63.
- Murakami G, Hirata K, Takamuro T, Mukaiya M, Hata F, Kitagawa S. Vascular anatomy of the pancreaticoduodenal region: A review. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 1999;6(1):55–68.
- Ohigashi H, Ishikawa O, Eguchi H, Yamada T, Sasaki Y, Noura S, et al. Early ligation of the inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery to reduce blood loss during pancreaticoduodenectomy. Hepatogastroenterology. 2004;51(55):4–5.
- 6. Tempero MA, Malafa MP, Behrman SW, Benson AB 3rd, Casper ES, Chiorean EG, et al. Pancreatic

adenocarcinoma, version 2.2014: featured updates to the NCCN guidelines. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2014;12(8):1083–93.

- Kamisawa T, Ando H, Suyama M, Shimada M, Morine Y, Shimada H, et al. Japanese clinical practice guidelines for pancreaticobiliary maljunction. J Gastroenterol. 2012;47(7):731–59.
- Gockel I, Domeyer M, Wolloscheck T, Konerding MA, Junginger T. Resection of the mesopancreas (RMP): a new surgical classification of a known anatomical space. World J Surg Oncol. 2007;5:44.
- Sharma D, Isaji S. Mesopancreas is a misnomer: time to correct the nomenclature. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2016;23(12):745–9.



2

Overview of Resections for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer

June S. Peng and Gareth Morris-Stiff

2.1 Early Pancreatic Surgery

Surgery of the pancreas was made feasible in the 1800s with the rise of anesthesia and acceptance of antisepsis. The earliest reports involved management of pancreatic cysts through drainage and marsupialization [1].

The first intentional resections of the pancreas involved the pancreatic tail, as it was perceived to be less complex due to simpler anatomy, fewer adjacent vascular structures, and lack of need for complex reconstruction. Friedrich Trendelenburg [FIG] is widely credited with performing the first distal pancreatectomy and splenectomy in 1882 (Bonn, Germany) for a large retroperitoneal mass which pathology revealed to be a spindle cell sarcoma. The patient suffered from a wound infection and malnutrition and expired a few weeks after surgery. Early experience with distal pancreatic resection was sparse, with 24 surgeries performed by 21 surgeons between 1882 and 1905, with a mortality rate of 53% [2–4].

2.2 Pancreatic Head Resections

Despite the perceived challenges of proximal pancreatic resections, the first pancreatic head and partial duodenal resection was performed by Alessandro Codivilla [FIG] in February 1898 (Imola, Italy), published after the fact by his successor Bartolo dal Monte [5]. Codivilla at that stage of his career was interested in abdominal operations and had experience performing gastric surgeries, although he would later shift to orthopedic surgery. The patient was explored for epigastric distension and vomiting and found to have a tumor involving the distal stomach and pancreatic head. The operation necessitated resection of the distal stomach, portion of the duodenum, pancreatic head, and distal common bile duct (CBD). Reconstruction was performed with a Roux-en-Y gastrojejunostomy and cholecystojejunostomy [FIG]. The pancreatic stump was likely closed [5, Codvilla]. Pathology revealed a pancreatic cancer, and postoperatively, the patient appeared to develop a pancreatic fistula that drained via the incision. Unfortunately, the patient developed steatorrhea, hyperglycemia, and malnutrition and expired approximately 3 weeks after the operation. Although the extent of this operation was not anatomic by today's standards and was not reported to the surgical community at the time, it remains an important landmark in the history of pancreatic surgery.

J. S. Peng, MD \cdot G. Morris-Stiff, MBBCh., MD, MCh, PhD (\boxtimes)

Department of Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary Surgery, Digestive Disease and Surgery Institute, Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Cleveland, OH, USA e-mail: morrisg4@ccf.org

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_2

In the same year in the United States, William Halsted [FIG] performed the first transduodenal ampullary resection in 1898 (Baltimore, Maryland) for presumed choledocholithiasis but found to be a periampullary cancer intraoperatively [6, 7]. This cancer was excised locally with reimplantation of the pancreatic duct and CBD into the duodenum. The patient required reexploration for recurrent jaundice. Halsted was unable to pass a probe from the CBD to the duodenum and performed a cholecystoduodenostomy. The patient expired several months later with recurrent jaundice and autopsy confirmed recurrent cancer.

Early experience of periampullary excision also yielded poor outcomes with an operative mortality ranging from 30 to 70% of the 109 cases reported through 1941 [1, 8]. The management of the pancreatic duct, and usage of additional biliary drainage, was variable in this series. Overall mortality of transduodenal periampullary excisions was 29.0%, with marked improvements over time, from 43.3% prior to 1925 to 14.9% subsequent to 1925. The cumulative series also included 15 patients who underwent resection of the duodenum and pancreatic head, with a mortality of 26.6%.

The management of the pancreatic remnant provided a perplexing problem in the early era of pancreatic resections. A handful of reports described traumatic disruption and resections, where the pancreatic capsule was approximated but almost all were complicated by leaks which were anticipated and drained prophylactically [1]. Laboratory work in human cadavers by Abel Desjardins in 1907 (Paris, France) [1] and canine model by Robert Coffey in 1909 (Portland, Oregon) [9] would inform later work in live humans. Coffey noted that "the pancreas remains technically almost a stranger to the surgeon" and performed pancreatoduodenectomy (PD) in a dog model which included partial pancreatic resection with reconstruction using a two-layer invaginating pancreaticojejunostomy (PJ), choledochoduodenostomy, and loop gastrojejunostomy (GJ) [FIG].

A number of surgeons subsequently made forays into pancreatic resections. Oskar Ehrhardt in 1907 (Konigsberg, Prussia) performed a gastrojejunostomy for a patient with gastric outlet obstruction related to a pancreatic tumor [1]. When the patient developed recurrent obstruction, Ehrhardt performed a distal gastrectomy, duodenectomy of the second portion, and partial pancreatic head resection without re-approximation of the capsule. The patient had a pancreatic leak and died 5 months later of recurrent cancer.

The first successful PD was performed in two stages by Walther Kausch in 1909 (Berlin, Germany). The preference for a two-stage operation was due to the need for biliary-enteric bypass to resolve jaundice, malnutrition, and impaired coagulation in patients with long-standing jaundice, which resulted in malnutrition and coagulopathy. The first stage included a loop cholecystojejunostomy with a Braun anastomosis [FIG], and the second stage was performed 2 months later, with resection of the distal stomach, proximal duodenum, distal CBD, and portion of the pancreatic head [1, 3]. Kausch performed the reconstruction with a pancreaticoduodenostomy in two layers, closure of the CBD and a retrocolic loop gastrojejunostomy [FIG]. Pathology revealed a pancreatic adenocarcinoma. The patient developed a leak postoperatively which resolved spontaneously but subsequently died of cholangitis 9 months later.

The first successful one-stage non-anatomic PD was performed by Georg Hirschel [FIG] in 1912 (Heidelberg, Germany) for an ampullary carcinoma. The resection included portions of the duodenum, head of the pancreas, and distal CBD [6]. Reconstruction was performed with a pancreaticoduodenostomy, posterior GJ, and drainage of the CBD into the "lower duodenum by means of a rubber tube" [6, 10]. The patient died 1 year later of unclear reasons.

Ottorino Tenani in 1922 (Florence, Italy) performed a two-stage operation, similar to Whipple's initial case over a decade later. The first stage included a posterior GJ and ligation of the distal CBD, and a choledochoduodenostomy was performed. A month later, the duodenum and head of the pancreas were resected, and "the stump of the pancreatic head was implanted into the lower end of the transected duodenum" [10]. The performance of a choledochoduodenostomy by Tenani was the first, as well as the utilization of perioperative blood transfusion and postoperative enzyme replacement [11]. In total, seven partial PDs were performed by early surgeons in the era prior to Allen Whipple, with an operative mortality of 43% [1].

Allen Whipple performed his first PD in 1934 (New York City, New York). He is well known as the namesake of both the Whipple operation and Whipple's triad. He continued the work of his predecessors and was critical in transitioning the operation from the hands of the rare few into the mainstream. His work came at a critical historical time and was enabled by the experience and errors of others before him, as well as medical advances including vitamin K and blood storage and transfusions [10]. Whipple recognized the challenges of pancreatic surgery, the destructive nature of pancreatic enzymes, and the disease process itself which rendered patients jaundiced, malnourished, and prone to coagulopathy [12]. He summarized a total of 65 cases reported previously, which included 60 one-stage operations for periampullary lesions with a 38% mortality rate and 5 two-stage operations with a 16.6% mortality rate. The operative principles outlined by Whipple included a two-stage operation in order to optimize the patient. The first stage was a bypass procedure with a posterior loop gastroenterostomy, CBD ligation, and an anterior cholecystogastrostomy [FIG]. The second stage was performed 3-4 weeks later with vascular ligation of the GDA and pancreaticoduodenal arteries, resection of the second and third portions of the duodenum, partial pancreatic head resection, ligation of the ducts of Wirsung and Santorini with closure of the pancreatic capsule, and drain placement [FIG]. Whipple's first pancreaticoduodenostomy patient unfortunately died 30 hours after the second stage of operation. In a latter reflection, Whipple attributed the death to "duodenal leak with a diffusing peritonitis" presumably due to leak from the pancreaticoduodenal anastomosis [10, 13]. The three patients presented in the original 1935 series set the basis for resections of the periampullary region. Whipple highlighted the need for en bloc resection of the tumor with a margin, the benefits of a two-stage operation in order to resolve jaundice and improve nutrition, and he made a case for occlusion of the pancreatic duct, noting that the two surviving patient had relatively normal fat absorption and weight gain. His technique evolved from there, including the use of silk suture and omission of a pancreatico-enteric anastomosis for several years. Over the following years, he made several adjustments and changes based on the complications experienced. He avoided performing cholecystogastrostomy due to ascending cholangitis in his second and third patients and used a Roux-en-Y cholecystojejunostomy instead [14].

The first one-stage operation performed by Whipple was in March 1940 [10, 15]. The patient underwent exploration for a diagnosis of distal gastric carcinoma, but after transection of the mid-stomach, the mass was noted to be in the head of the pancreas. Whipple proceeded with pancreatoduodenectomy given the patient did not have jaundice and thus was not coagulopathic. Reconstruction was performed with an end-toside GJ and end-to-end choledochojejunostomy in a loop fashion and closure of the pancreatic stump [14, 15]. The pathology revealed a nonfunctioning islet cell tumor. The patient was diagnosed with liver metastases 4 years later and survived 9 years after the initial operation. Subsequently, Whipple's preference was to perform a distal gastrectomy and complete duodenectomy with resection of the head of the pancreas. Reconstruction was performed by pulling up the jejunum through the mesocolic defect, with an end-to-end choledochojejunostomy, a two-layered PJ, and an end-to-side GJ [FIG from 1946 paper].

After initially abandoning a PJ anastomosis, Whipple noted that a large number of patients developed fistulae following pancreatic stump closure [10]. In 1942, he again constructed a PJ using a duct-to-mucosa inner layer and an outer layer for invagination. By 1945, he advocated a one-stage surgery, pancreaticojejunostomy rather than occlusion, with the use of an internal stent, and choledochojejunostomy rather than cholecystogastrostomy [6, 13]. In later reflections of his work, Whipple attributes progress in pancreatic surgery to vitamin K, blood transfusion, and "other shock prevention therapy" and the use of "silk technique" [13]. Although his case series was relatively small with an operative mortality rate of 33% that well exceeds modern standards [11], he paved the way for those to follow. Perhaps his most important contribution was that he "aroused a wave of optimism among surgeons which led to an aggressive application of this operation" to overcome the "wave of pessimism of such proportion that it appeared for a while that the operation ... would abandoned entirely" [16].

Shortly after Whipple's first one-stage PD, Ridgeway Trimble in 1940 performed a onestage PD (Baltimore, Maryland). His rationale for one rather than two stages was that "all the work is done in a clean operative field as opposed to a field masked and obscured by trauma of a preliminary operation" and because it was possible "to avoid injury to these structures and to effect the delicate restorative anastomoses" with "proper vitamin therapy and ... transfusion at the very beginning of the operation" [17]. The patient underwent operative exploration for jaundice and abdominal pain and found to have an ampullary mass. An en bloc resection was performed on the pylorus, duodenum, and head of pancreas. The pancreatic stump was closed. A choledochojejunostomy was created 20 cm distal to the GJ. The patient recovered well postoperatively except for one episode of hemorrhage managed with a blood transfusion and had no long-term nutritional deficiencies related to the ligation of the pancreatic duct.

The one-stage PD became increasingly common as experience increased, with variations that brought the operation closer to the modern iteration. Verne Hunt in 1940 (Los Angeles, California) performed a one-stage PD for a patient with painless jaundice due to an ampullary cancer [8]. Hunt resected 3 in. of the second and third portions of the duodenum, distal CBD, and head of the pancreas. The pancreatic duct was ligated, and the cut parenchymal edge was closed with an omental patch. Reconstruction was performed with a posterior GJ, cholecystogastrostomy, and a T-tube was placed in the CBD. The patient developed a pancreatic fistula and bilious fluid that drained via the incision, both resolved with packing and wound care. She subsequently recovered well and was alive without recurrence at 1 year.

Hunt subsequently performed in 1941 another resection for ampullary carcinoma, this time including a total duodenectomy with resection of a portion of the pancreatic head. Reconstruction was performed by pulling the jejunum up through the mesocolic defect, and in addition he performed a pancreaticojejunostomy and choledochojejunostomy and a distal DJ [FIG].

Warren Cole and John Reynolds reported a series of five PDs in 1944 (Chicago, Illinois) [18]. Three were performed in one stage, and two were performed in two stages. The authors stressed starting the operation with an evaluation for metastatic disease, followed by kocherization of the duodenum and evaluation of venous involvement. They proceed with ligation of the gastroduodenal artery (GDA) and inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery. Four cases were performed with antrectomy, while one was pylorus preserving. In their variation, the distal duodenum or jejunum was oversewn and left in situ, a distal loop of the jejunum was brought into the right upper quadrant for reconstruction of the choledochojejunostomy most proximally, and an end-to-side GJ distal to that, with the pancreatic stump being closed. Reconstruction for the five cases varied, with three undergoing a loop GJ distal to the biliary anastomosis and two using Roux-en-Y configuration. Similar to Hunt and Child, they intentionally created the GJ distal to the biliary anastomosis, with the intention of avoiding cholangitis. Two patients developed persistent pancreatic fistulae, and there was one postoperative death. The authors also summarized the reconstructions utilized by other authors around the same time [FIG].

Many of the early PDs were non-anatomic due to concerns that the duodenum itself and pancreatic secretions were essential for life [14]. The first anatomic PD was performed in two stages by Alexander Brunschwig in 1937 (Chicago, Illinois) [19]. The first operation was a posterior loop GJ, a cholecystojejunostomy distal to the GJ, and a Braun jejunojejunostomy. The second stage was performed a few weeks later with resection of the entire duodenum and pancreatic transection at the neck over the superior mesenteric vein (SMV), with ligation of the pancreatic stump. The CBD was ligated, and no further reconstruction was required as the patient had undergone enteric and biliary bypass during the first operation. Pathology revealed pancreatic cancer. The patient developed an enteric leak, which was controlled with a drain placed into the prior drain site. The patient spent almost 3 months in the hospital and developed recurrent jaundice before he expired. Autopsy revealed carcinomatosis and ascites and confirmed a distal duodenal stump leak.

In 1944 Charles Child (New York City, New York) reported a series that included six PDs [20]. He described an end-to-end invaginating pancreaticojejunostomy, which was performed in the latter four cases, with only one pancreatic fistula. Child also advocated for reconstruction which placed the GJ distal to the biliary anastomosis.

As the anatomic definition of a PD became accepted, the evolution of pylorus-preserving PD warrants mention. Although multiple early surgeons attempted to preserve the duodenum, Whipple had advocated for a distal gastrectomy in his latter publications. It is likely that this practice stemmed from his initial one-stage PD in which he had already transected the stomach. The first modern, anatomic pylorus-preserving PD was performed in 1944 by Kenneth Watson (Surrey, United Kingdom) for ampullary cancer [21]. The operation was performed in two stages as the patient had long-standing jaundice. First, a cholecystojejunostomy was performed using a loop, followed a month later by resection. The duodenum was divided 1 inch distal to the pylorus, with reconstruction of a Roux limb to the hepaticojejunostomy (HJ) and duodenojejunostomy (DJ) and closure of the pancreatic stump. Watson intentionally avoided partial gastrectomy in order to "ensure maximal gastric digestion of protein and carbohydrate" and to "prevent the formation of an anastomotic ulcer." However, the patient had difficulty with enteral intake and required jejunostomy tube placement, as well as operative drainage of an abscess, and was hospitalized over 3 months.

Over three decades later in 1978, William Traverso and William Longmire renewed interest in pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy (PPPD) [22], especially when performing the operation for benign disease. They cited a goal to decrease the rate of marginal ulceration and improve nutrition and reported two cases of pylorus preservation with transection 4 cm distal to the pylorus. This variation was first attempted in 1977 but intraoperatively converted to a classic PD due to ischemia. Their first successful PPPD underwent the operation for an obstructing pseudocyst in the setting of acute or chronic alcoholic pancreatitis and the second patient for a duodenal cancer. Both patients gained weight after discharge, and neither reported steatorrhea although both took pancreatic enzymes. In their follow-up of 18 patients who underwent PPPD, no marginal ulcer or postgastrectomy syndrome was noted, and the operation is widely used today [23].

It is worth emphasizing that the success and acceptance of radical resections of the pancreatic head and periampullary pathology owe a great debt to the advancements in medicine and technologic advancements in other fields. The ability to provide blood transfusions for intraoperative and postoperative resuscitation made the operation remarkably safer and overcame earlier mortalities related to hemorrhage [10, 17].

The isolation and availability of vitamin K resulted from work performed by Henrik Dam and led to the recognition that it was a crucial factor for coagulation. It became widely available in 1939 [11], and this discovery would lead to a share of the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine in 1943 [24]. Whipple attributed the discovery and use of vitamin K starting in 1940 to normalize coagulation profile in jaundiced patients and attributes this discovery to the ability to transition from a two-stage to one-stage operation [10].

The isolation of both insulin and pancreatic enzyme replacement in the early 1900s enabled the management of postoperative endocrine and exocrine insufficiency associated with pancreatic resections and ligation of the pancreatic duct. For example, Tenani administered raw animal pancreas for his initial PD [11], and Whipple advocated for the use of "pancreatic extracts" as he did in those "who show fat indigestion" [14].

Improvements in surgical practice evolved with radiographic and endoscopic advancements as well. Historically, the diagnosis of periampullary cancer relied on physical exam and upper gastrointestinal studies using fluoroscopy or contrast studies. Imaging was unreliable to diagnose periampullary cancers and gave little information regarding metastases which would preclude resection [2].

Computed tomography (CT) was first performed clinically in 1971 (London, England) [25] and would become critical to the diagnosis and management of pancreatic malignancies and resections. Over the next several decades, as resolution improved, and scan time decreased, the diagnosis of periampullary diseases improved, and more critically, the ability to diagnose and treat postoperative complications without needing to reoperate enabled improving outcomes [4]. Modern pancreatic surgery relies on radiologic assistance for drainage of collections and angioembolization for hemorrhage, all of which has decreased the need for operative intervention [26].

Over the next decades, technologic advancements took a back seat to system shifts which resulted in lower mortality and morbidity. With more surgeons performing PDs, gradual improvements in outcomes were seen. Kenneth Warren at the Lahey Clinic reported 218 PDs between 1942 and 1961 with an 11.9% postoperative mortality that fell to 10.9% when total pancreatectomies were excluded [16]. High-volume centers and surgeons saw monumental improvements in outcomes with a 30-day mortality of 1.4% by surgeons such as John Cameron [FIG] at high-volume centers [27]. The benefit of centralization of expertise has been consistently demonstrated around the world [11].

As expertise and experience accumulated, the question of vascular resections took hold. The first was reported by George Moore in 1951 (Minneapolis, Minnesota) with a resection of a 3 cm segment of the SMV and primary end-toend anastomosis which was described by the authors as "supplementary and futile" [11, 28]. Reconstruction proceeded with a choledochojejunostomy, PJ, and GJ. The patient initially recovered well and was discharged on postoperative day 10 but returned over a month later with fevers and dehydration. Autopsy demonstrated carcinomatosis and large pulmonary emboli, although all anastomoses and the vein repair were intact. The authors questioned whether aggressive surgical therapy was warranted in a cancer whose biology often implied grossly undetectable metastatic disease.

Subsequently, Joseph Fortner reported in 1976 (New York City, New York) a series of 18 patients from Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center who underwent "regional pancreatectomy" which included total or subtotal pancreatectomy with vein resection and retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy [[11, 29]. The 30-day mortality was 16.6% with a 62% 1-year actuarial survival. The MD Anderson group compared isolated venous resection and found no difference in perioperative outcomes or long-term survival compared to patients who underwent PD without vein resection [30].

2.3 Current Controversies

The Achilles' heel of modern pancreatic surgery remains the pancreatic anastomosis and the high rate of postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF), which is defined by the International Study Group on Pancreatic Fistula (ISGPF) as any drain output on POD 3 with drain amylase 3 greater than the serum activity [31]. Risk factors for POPF include soft pancreatic texture, small duct size, pathology, surgeon experience, type of anastomosis, blood loss, advanced age, and coronary artery disease [26, 32]. Pancreatic fistulae often beget additional complications and a prolonged recovery. A wealth of work has been performed examining the various techniques in the pancreatic-enteric anastomosis, starting with no anastomosis in the original Whipple description to various modern variations of technique,

which will be addressed in later chapters, including pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy, duct-to-mucosa versus invaginating anastomosis, use of sealants, internal stenting versus external drainage, minimally invasive versus open, and use of somatostatin analogues.

Pancreaticogastrostomy was first reported in 1946 by John Waugh and O. Theron Clagett of the Mayo Clinic (Rochester, Minnesota) in a summary of 30 cases performed to date at their institution [33]. Their early experience, like Whipple's, involved closure of the pancreatic stump in 17 patients. Twelve patients in the latter part of the series underwent pancreaticojejunostomy, and 1 case of the 30 involved a pancreaticogastrostomy although no clear explanation was given for this deviation.

A number of randomized trials have been performed to compare PJ versus PG, and a recent meta-analysis included 7 trials with a total of 1121 patients [34]. PG was associated with fewer POPFs, grade B and C POPFs (clinically relevant POPFs, CR-POPF), and hospital length of stay, but there was no difference in overall morbidity, reoperation, or mortality. Individual series examining PG versus modified Blumgart PJ noted a significant decrease in CR-POPF for intermediate-(6 vs. 21%) and high-risk (14 vs. 47%) patients [35, 36] based on the Fistula Risk Score [32].

For surgeons who routinely perform a PJ, the technique has undergone several iterations although none has been demonstrated to be unequivocally superior. The two most common techniques are duct-to-mucosa and invagination, but the data are mixed as to the superiority of either technique [37]. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) included 5 trials with 654 patients [38] and showed no difference in POPF, delayed gastric emptying (DGE), morbidity, length of stay (LOS), or mortality comparing the two techniques. Invagination did appear to be associated with fewer CR-POPFs in two studies in which the ISGPF definition was applied.

Another topic of debate has been the role of stenting of the pancreatic duct. Internal stenting was addressed in a randomized controlled trial of 238 patients [39]. There was no statistically significant difference in POPF for the internally stented versus non-stented patients and no differences in the outcome for those who did develop a POPF. A meta-analysis of RCTs comparing external stent to no stent showed decreased POPF (RR = 0.57, 95% CI = 0.41–0.80) and decreased morbidity and length of stay with external stents [40].

A systematic review of RCTs included 1018 patients from 8 studies [41]. Meta-analysis found no difference in POPF, morbidity, or mortality but found a decreased length of hospital stay by 4 days with stenting. No difference was found when comparing internal versus external stents with regard to development of POPF or other morbidities in this review.

Recently, interest has been renewed in examining the placement of operative drains and postoperative management of drains to reduce morbidity. Several trials have demonstrated increased mortality in patients without drains despite fewer morbidities and no difference in POPF rate [37]. A protocol with omission of drains in low-risk patients based on the Fistula Risk Score and early removal of drains on POD 3 in patients with POD 1 drain amylase < 5000 U/L demonstrated lower CR-POPF rates, complications, and length of stay [42]. There is currently no consensus on the usage of drains, the number, or the optimal time for removal.

Another adjunctive therapy that has been used to reduce POPF is perioperative somatostatin usage. Eleven RCTs have been reported with mixed results and continued debate [26]. There appears to be a decrease in POPF rate with no effect on CR-POPF rate [37]. A 2013 Cochrane review of 21 trials for evaluation of prophylactic use of a somatostatin analogue included 2,348 patients and found lower morbidity in the somatostatin analogue group (RR0.70, 95% CI 0.61– 0.80) but no difference in reoperation, length of stay, or mortality [43].

Intraoperatively, fibrin sealants have been explored in a limited extent for proximal and distal pancreatic resection without substantial success [44]. Likewise, the use of the round ligament of the liver as a vascular pedicle to cover the PJ has been reported without improvement in outcomes [37, 45]. Duct occlusion likewise has not been shown to decrease morbidity or mortality but impairs exocrine function [37].

Beyond simply the technical details of pancreatic resections and perioperative management, there is consistent evidence that high-volume centers and surgeons in this demanding specialty can affect morbidity, mortality, and outcomes. Surgeon and hospital volume are widely accepted as a reliable predictor of outcomes. In a pooled analysis of 58,023 PDs, hospital volume was inversely associated with mortality in a stepwise fashion [46].

2.4 Minimally Invasive Pancreatectomy

The first laparoscopic PD was performed in 1992 by Michel Gagner and Alfons Pomp (Montreal, Canada) [47]. The patient had chronic pancreatitis involving the pancreatic head and also pancredivisum, with failure of previous atic transduodenal sphincteroplasty. The operation was performed in 10 h and completed entirely intracorporeally, with the specimen extracted via a 3 cm epigastric incision. Postoperative course was complicated by delayed gastric emptying requiring prolonged nasogastric decompression and parenteral nutrition, and jejunal ulceration was managed medically.

Robotic platforms have also proliferated in the past two decades with increasing surgeon experience in the technology. Proponents cite improved visualization with depth perception and magnification, stabilization, and improved ergonomics [48]. The first robotic PD series was reported by Cristoforo Giulianotti in 2003 (Grosseto, Italy) [49] and included eight patients. The initial experience utilized laparoscopic mobilization with robotic reconstruction, and the final two cases used full robotic mobilization and reconstruction. The pancreatic stump was closed in all cases by injection of surgical glue into the duct and suture closure, and three POPF were observed. One case was converted to an open laparotomy due to portal vein involvement, and there was a single postoperative mortality. Robotic PD compared to

open was associated with longer operative time (490 vs. 250 min) but similar length of stay (20 vs. 18 days) in this series.

A recent single institution series of 250 robotic pancreatic resections including 132 PDs demonstrated a 30-day mortality of 1.5%, major morbidity of 21% (Clavien-Dindo grade III or IV complications) with a marked improvement after 100 cases, and similar profile of pancreatectomyspecific complications compared to modern open PD series [50].

A systematic review of laparoscopic, robotic, and hand-assisted PDs of a series of at least 10 cases included 32 studies for analysis, encompassing 2209 patients [35, 36]. The weighted average operative time was 427 minutes, estimated blood loss was 289 mL, and the conversion rate was 17.8%. The rate of Clavien-Dindo grade III and higher complications was 14.3%, the rate of CR-POPF was 8.0%, and postoperative mortality was 2.3%. A series that included comparison to an open group demonstrated a longer operative time for minimally invasive PD but less blood loss and length of hospital stay. Longterm outcomes regarding recurrence and survival are accumulating and will be forthcoming to evaluate the MIS approach.

2.5 Other Pancreatic Resections

The majority of our discussion focuses on the evolution of PDs, but it is worthwhile to discuss total pancreatectomy in brief. The first successful total pancreatectomy was reported in 1943 by Eugene Rockey (Portland, OR) for a pancreatic body cancer [51]. The patient initially underwent cholecystoduodenostomy and the definitive resection delayed due to lack of blood availability for transfusion. Three days later, the patient underwent total pancreatectomy with distal gastrectomy and duodenectomy and reconstruction using a GJ and choledochojejunostomy distal to the GJ. The initial postoperative course was marred by hypoglycemia due to excessive insulin administration. The patient expired on postoperative day 15 with autopsy showing peritonitis with bilious ascites. The cause of death was thought to
be leakage from the distal CBD stump and resultant peritonitis.

The first long-term survivor of a total pancreatectomy was reported by James Priestley in 1944 (Rochester, MN) [52]. Priestley performed a total pancreatectomy for a symptomatic insulinoma. At the time of exploration, no mass was palpable in the pancreas, and the surgeon elected to perform a total pancreatectomy. A distal antrectomy was performed with resection of the first and second portions of the duodenum. A retrocolic GJ was performed, as well as a cholecystogastrostomy, and the distal duodenum was closed. Pathology revealed an 8 mm pancreatic head insulinoma. The patient was alive 16 months after the operation.

Conclusions

The history of pancreatic surgery tells a story of ingenuity born of necessity and a mentality to continually push the boundaries of what was considered possible or advisable. The Whipple operation has been changed and reshaped by many. Even the current practice in pancreatic surgery varies widely by region [53], as evidenced by a recent survey of 891 surgeons around the world. Pancreaticojejunostomy is favored by 88.7% with the majority employing a two-layered duct-to-mucosa technique, stents are utilized by 73.6% either selectively or in all cases with the majority favoring internal stents, biologic sealants are used by 34.9%, and autologous tissue reinforcement is used by 38.3%. Drains are used routinely by 59.2% and selectively by 26.9%, with one-third placing one drain and two-thirds placing two drains.

As before, the success of pancreatic surgery relies on careful diagnosis, meticulous technique, and astute postoperative management. The future of pancreatic surgery will be challenged by an emphasis on multimodal care for biologically aggressive tumors, surveillance and resection of an increasing number of premalignant pancreatic lesions, and expansion of new technologies. The technical principles have been undergoing evolution since the time of Allen Whipple, now combined with therapies tailored to patient risks and biology, and advances in chemotherapy will enable surgeons to bring about continued improvement in patient outcomes.

References

- Schnelldorfer T, Adams DB, Warshaw AL, Lillemoe KD, Sarr MG. Forgotten pioneers of pancreatic surgery: beyond the favorite few. Ann Surg. 2008;247(1):191–202.
- Reber HA. Leslie H. Blumgart historical lecture: the Whipple procedure [Internet]. 2013 [Cited 23 December 2016]. https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=3pDln3F3RfY.
- Griffin JF, Poruk KE, Wolfgang CL. Pancreatic cancer surgery: past, present, and future. Chin J Cancer Res. 2015;27(4):332–48.
- Fernandez del-Castillo C, Warshaw A. Surgical pioneers of the pancreas. Am J Surg. 2007;194(4):S2–5.
- Schnelldorfer T, Sarr MG. Alessandro Codivilla and the first pancreatoduodenectomy. Arch Surg. 2009;144(12):1179–84.
- Are C, Dhir M, Ravipati L. History of pancreaticoduodenectomy: early misconceptions, initial milestones and the pioneers. HPB (Oxford). 2011;13(6):377–84.
- Halsted WS. Contributions to the surgery of the bile passages, especially of the common bile duct. Boston Med Surg J. 1899;141:645–54.
- Hunt VC. Surgical management of the carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater and of the periampullary portion of the duodenum. Ann Surg. 1941;114(4):570–602.
- Coffey RC. Pancreato-enterostomy and pancreatectomy: a preliminary report. Ann Surg. 1909;50(6): 1238–64.
- Whipple AOA. reminiscence: pancreaticoduodenectomy. Rev Surg. 1963;20:221–5.
- Howard JM. History of pancreatic head resection the evaluation of surgical technique. Am J Surg. 2007;194:S6–S10.
- Whipple AO, Parsons WB, Mullins CR. Treatment of carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater. Ann Surg. 1935;102(4):763–79.
- Whipple AO. Observations on radical surgery for lesions of the pancreas. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1946;82:623–31.
- Whipple AO. The rationale for radical surgery for cancer of the pancreas and ampullary region. Ann Surg. 1941;114(4):612–5.
- Whipple AO. Pancreaticoduodenectomy for islet carcinoma: a five-year follow-up. Ann Surg. 1945;121(6): 847–52.
- Warren KW, Cattell RB, Blackburn JP, Nora PF. A long-term appraisal of pancreaticoduodenal resection for peri-ampullary carcinoma. Ann Surg. 1962;155: 653–62.

- 17. Trimble IR, Parsons JW, Sherman CP. A one stage operation for the cure of carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater and of the head of the pancreas. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1941;73:711–22.
- Cole WH, Reynolds JT. Resection of the duodenum and head of the pancreas for primary carcinoma of the head of the pancreas and ampulla of Vater. Surgery. 1945;18(2):133–43.
- Brunschwig A. Resection of head of pancreas and duodenum for carcinoma-pancreatoduodenectomy. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1937;65:681–5.
- Child CG. Pancreaticojejunostomy and other problems associated with the surgical management of carcinoma involving the head of the pancreas: report of five additional cases of radical pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg. 1944;119(6):845–55.
- Watson K. Carcinoma of ampulla of Vater: successful radical resection. Br J Surg. 1944;31:368–73.
- Traverso LW, Longmire WP Jr. Preservation of the pylorus in pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1978;146(6):959–62.
- Traverso LW. The Longmire I, II, and III operations. Am J Surg. 2003;185(5):399–406.
- 24. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 1943 [Internet]. 2014 [cited 5 Feb 2017]. http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/medicine/laureates/1943/
- Hounsfield GN. Computerized transverse axial scanning (tomography).
 Description of system. Br J Radiol. 1973;46(552):1016–22.
- Machado NO. Pancreatic fistula after pancreatectomy: definitions, risk factors, preventive measures, and management-review. Int J Surg Oncol. 2012;2012:602478. https://doi. org/10.1155/2012/602478.
- Cameron JL, He J. Two thousand consecutive pancreaticoduodenectomies. J Am Coll Surg. 2015;220(4): 530–6.
- Moore GE, Sako Y, Thomas LB. Radical pancreatoduodenectomy with resection and reanastomosis of the superior mesenteric vein. Surgery. 1951;30(3): 550–3.
- Fortner JG, Kim DK, Cubilla A, Turnbull A, Pahnke LD, Shils ME. Regional pancreatectomy: en bloc pancreatic, portal vein and lymph node resection. Ann Surg. 1977;186(1):42–50.
- 30. Leach SD, Lee JE, Charnsangavej C, Cleary KR, Lowy AM, Fenoglio CJ, et al. Survival following pancreaticoduodenectomy with resection of the superior mesenteric-portal vein confluence for adenocarcinoma of the pancreatic head. Br J Surg. 1998;85:611–7.
- Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, Fingerhut A, Yeo C, Izbicki J, et al. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an international study group (ISGPF) definition. Surgery. 2005;138(1):8–13.
- Callery MP, Pratt WB, Kent TS, Chaikof EL, Vollmer CM Jr. A prospectively validated clinical risk score accurately predicts pancreatic fistula after pancreatoduodenectomy. J Am Coll Surg. 2013;216(1):1–14.

- Waugh JM, Clagett OT. Resection of the duodenum and head of the pancreas for carcinoma; an analysis of thirty cases. Surgery. 1946;20:224–32.
- 34. Liu FB, Chen JM, Geng W, Xie SX, Zhao YJ, Yu LQ, Geng XP. Pancreaticogastrostomy is associated with significantly less pancreatic fistula than pancreaticojejunostomy reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a meta-analysis of seven randomized controlled trials. HPB (Oxford). 2015;17(2):123–30.
- Wang SE, Chen SC, Shyr BU, Shyr YM. Comparison of Modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy and pancreaticogastrostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. HPB (Oxford). 2016;18(3):229–35.
- Wang M, Cai H, Meng L, Cai Y, Wang X, Li Y, Peng B. Minimally invasive pancreaticoduodenectomy: A comprehensive review. Int J Surg. 2016;35:139–46.
- Søreide K, Labori KJ. Risk factors and preventive strategies for post-operative pancreatic fistula after pancreatic surgery: a comprehensive review. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2016;51(10):1147–54.
- Hua J, He Z, Qian D, Meng H, Zhou B, Song Z. Duct-to-mucosa versus invagination pancreaticojejunostomy following pancreaticoduodenectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19(10):1900–9.
- 39. Winter JM, Cameron JL, Campbell KA, Chang DC, Riall TS, Schulick RD, et al. Does pancreatic duct stenting decrease the rate of pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy? Results of a prospective randomized trial. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10(9):1280–90.
- Hong S, Wang H, Yang S, Yang K. External stent versus no stent for pancreaticojejunostomy: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. J Gastrointest Surg. 2013;17(8):1516–25.
- Dong Z, Xu J, Wang Z, Petrov MS. Stents for the prevention of pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;5:CD008914.
- 42. McMillan MT, Malleo G, Bassi C, Allegrini V, Casetti L, Drebin JA, et al. Multicenter, prospective trial of selective drain management for pancreatoduodenectomy using risk stratification. Ann Surg. 2017;265(6):1209–18.
- Gurusamy KS, Koti R, Fusai G, Davidson BR. Somatostatin analogues for pancreatic surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;4:CD008370.
- 44. Smits FJ, van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Borel Rinkes IH, Molenaar IQ. Systematic review on the use of matrix-bound sealants in pancreatic resection. HPB (Oxford). 2015;17(11):1033–9.
- 45. Iannitti DA, Coburn NG, Somberg J, Ryder BA, Monchik J, Cioffi WG. Use of the round ligament of the liver to decrease pancreatic fistulas: a novel technique. J Am Coll Surg. 2006;203(6):857–64.
- 46. Hata T, Motoi F, Ishida M, Naitoh T, Katayose Y, Egawa S, Unno M. Effect of Hospital Volume on Surgical Outcomes After Pancreaticoduodenectomy:

A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Ann Surg. 2016;263(4):664–72. doi: 10.1097/ SLA.000000000001437.

- Gagner M, Pomp A. Laparoscopic pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy. Surg Endosc. 1994;8(5): 408–10.
- Magge D, Zureikat A, Hogg M, Zeh HJ 3rd. Minimally invasive approaches to pancreatic surgery. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2016;25(2):273–86.
- 49. Giulianotti PC, Coratti A, Angelini M, Sbrana F, Cecconi S, Balestracci T, Caravaglios G. Robotics in general surgery: personal experience in a large community hospital. Arch Surg. 2003;138(7):777–84.
- Zureikat AH, Moser AJ, Boone BA, Bartlett DL, Zenati M, Zeh HJ 3rd. 250 robotic pancreatic resections: safety and feasibility. Ann Surg. 2013;258(4): 554–62.
- 51. Rockey EW. Total pancreatectomy for carcinoma: case report. Ann Surg. 1943;118(4):603–11.
- 52. Priestley JT, Comfort MW, Radcliffe J. Total pancreatectomy for hyperinsulinism due to an islet-cell adenoma survival. Ann Surg. 1944;119(2):211–21.
- McMillan MT, Malleo G, Bassi C, Sprys MH, Vollmer CM Jr. Defining the practice of pancreatoduodenectomy around the world. HPB (Oxford). 2015;17(12):1145–54.



3

Japanese Classification and Staging for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancers

Satoshi Hirano and Takahiro Tsuchikawa

3.1 General Principles of the Japanese Classification

The categories of cancers are recorded in terms of the upper-case letters T, N, and M, in accordance with the International Union Against Cancer (UICC) and American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) systems [1, 2] for pancreatic and biliary tract cancers.

Stages of disease are determined based on the assessments of three components: T, the contiguous extent of the primary tumour; N, the absence or presence of regional lymph node involvement; and M, the absence or presence of distant metastasis, including in those lymph nodes that are situated beyond regional lymph nodes. The extent of disease is expressed by the addition of Arabic numerals following the letter (e.g. T1, M0); wherever information on a specific category is unknown, "X" is used.

The clinical classification is labelled by the addition of the lower-case letter "c" as a prefix, whereas the pathological classification is denoted by the prefix "p". The clinical classification is based on the information acquired before the initiation of primary treatment, and the pathological classification is based on evidence acquired from the pathological examination of resected speci-

S. Hirano, M.D., Ph.D (⊠) · T. Tsuchikawa, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Gastroenterological Surgery II, Hokkaido University Graduate School of Medicine, Sapporo, Japan e-mail: satto@med.hokudai.ac.jp mens. The classification for pancreatic cancers has newly defined the addition of the prefixes "s" and "f" for denoting the surgical and final findings, respectively. Surgical classification is based on intraoperative findings, including results from frozen sections or cytology diagnoses; final classification is based on the comprehensive judgement of clinical, surgical, and pathological findings (Table 3.1).

When classification is performed during or following chemotherapy, including in the neoadjuvant setting, "y" is added as a prefix to indicate yielding to treatment (e.g. ycT, ypN). Recurrent tumours, when classified after disease-free intervals, are identified by the prefix "r". The clinical classification of a recurrent tumour is described using the letters "rc" as prefix, and "rp" is used to indicate the pathological classification of recurrent tumours that have been surgically resected. The prefix "a" indicates that classification was first determined at autopsy. If there is any uncertainty among the T, N, or M categories, the less advanced category should be assigned.

3.2 Japanese Classification and Staging of Pancreatic Cancers

In 2016, the Japanese Pancreas Society (JPS) published a new version of the Japanese classification of the General Rules for the Study of

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_3

	Clinical classification	Surgical classification	Pathological classification	Final classification
Data source	Physical findings	Surgical findings	Histological examination of surgically or endoscopically resected specimen	Comprehensive judgement of clinical, surgical, and pathological findings
	Imaging/endoscopic (laparoscopic) findings	Intraoperative image findings		
	Biopsy/cytology of primary site	Intraoperative biopsy/cytology findings		
	Biochemical/ biological examination			
	Others (e.g. genetic examination)			

Table 3.1 Data sources of each type of classification (reprint from [3], revised)

Pancreatic Cancer (the 7th edition) [3]. An English version of this 7th edition is described here.

3.2.1 Definition of the Anatomy of the Pancreas

The pancreas is anatomically divided into three regions, namely, the pancreas head (Ph), pancreas body (Pb), and pancreas tail (Pt). The lines dividing the Ph and Pb and the Pb and Pt are the left borders of the portal vein and aorta, respectively (Fig. 3.1).

3.2.2 Description of Primary Tumours of the Pancreas

3.2.2.1 Tumour Location

If more than one anatomical region is involved in the tumour, all regions should be recorded in the order of involvement, beginning with the region in which the bulk of the tumour is located (e.g. Phb, Pbht).

3.2.2.2 Size and Number of Lesions

The greatest dimension of each lesion should be recorded as tumour size (TSx [y mm]), per the definition shown below. For patients with multi-



Fig. 3.1 Parts of the pancreas (reprint from [3]). The pancreas is anatomically divided into three regions, namely, the pancreas head (Ph), pancreas body (Pb), and pancreas tail (Pt)

ple tumours, the number of tumours and the size of each lesion should be recorded.

TS1:	Less than 2	20 mm ($TS1 \le 2$	20 mm)	
TS2:	Between	20	and	40	mm
	(20 mm < 7	$\Gamma S2 \leq 4$	40 mm)		
TS3:	Between	40	and	60	mm
	(40 mm < 7	ΓS2≤ 6	0 mm)		
TS4:	Over 60 m	m (TS4	> 60 mi	n)	

In cases of mucinous cystadenocarcinomas, the maximum diameters of these tumours should be recorded. In cases of intraductal papillary mucinous carcinomas, the TS including the intraductal spread in the main duct type of carcinomas and the size of the dilated branch duct in the branch type should be recorded. The invasive area should be added separately to the description of TS (e.g. TS2 (35 mm), i-TS (15 mm)).

3.2.2.3 Macroscopic Types

Macroscopic types of primary tumours are classified per their morphologies into masked, nodular, infiltrative, cystic, ductectatic, mixed, and unclassifiable (Table 3.2).

3.2.2.4 Contiguous Extent of the Primary Tumour (T-Category)

As demonstrated below, the contiguous extents of the primary tumours are recorded as the T-category. The factors demonstrating the local extent of the tumours are recorded with the T-category, namely, CH, DU, S, RP, PV, A, PL, and OO.

- TX: Primary tumour cannot be assessed
- T0: No evidence of primary tumour
- Tis: Carcinoma in situ (corresponding to non-invasive mucinous cystic neoplasms, intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms, or high-grade PanIN lesions)

 Table 3.2 Macroscopic types of the pancreatic cancer (reprint from [3], revised)

Masked type	Macroscopically unidentifiable tumours
Nodular type	Tumours with clear margin
Infiltrative type	Tumours with unclear margin, invaded diffusely into surrounding tissue
Cystic type	Tumours composed by cystic structure (e.g. cystadenocarcinoma) excepting secondary cysts due to tumour necrosis, retention cysts, and pseudocysts
Ductectatic type	Tumours mainly composed with dilatation of the duct usually due to hypersecretion of mucin
Mixed type	Tumours composed with more than two macroscopic types
Unclassifiable type	Tumours that cannot be classified into any of the above types

- T1: Tumours that are localized to the pancreas and are 20 mm or less in size
 - T1a: Tumours 5 mm or less in maximum size
 - T1b: Tumours more than 5 and 10 mm or less in maximum size
 - T1c: Tumours more than 10 and 20 mm or less in maximum size
- T2: Tumours localized to the pancreas and more than 20 mm in size
- T3: Tumours extending beyond the pancreas (at least one of the following factors is positive: CH, DU, S, RP, PV, A, PL, OO) without invasion into the celiac or the superior mesenteric arteries
- T4: Tumours invading into the celiac artery, the superior mesenteric artery, or a combination of both

3.2.2.5 Factors of the Local Extent of the Tumour

Each factor is followed by "0", "1", or "X", which denotes positive, negative, or undeterminable, respectively (e.g. CH0, DU1, SX, etc.).

- CH: Infiltration into the bile duct (into the fibromuscular layer or deeper, as seen during histopathological investigation)
- DU: Infiltration into the duodenum (into the muscular layer or deeper, as seen during histopathological investigation)
- S: Infiltration into the fibrous connective tissue or the fat tissue in the ventral side of the pancreas, including the exposure of the tumour on the serous membrane of the pancreas
- RP: Infiltration into the fibrous connective tissue or the fat tissue in the dorsal side of the pancreas
- PV: Infiltration into the portal system (into the adventitia or deeper, as seen during histo-pathological investigation)
- A: Infiltration into the superior mesenteric (Asm), celiac (Ace), common hepatic (Ach), or the splenic (Asp) arteries (into the adventitia or deeper, as seen during histopathological investigation)
- PL: Infiltration into the extrapancreatic nerve plexus (Fig. 3.2), which is divided into seven anatomical regions: the plexus around the celiac artery (PLce), the plexus around the



Fig. 3.2 Extrapancreatic nerve plexuses (reprint from [3]). The extrapancreatic nerve plexuses are divided into seven anatomical regions, namely, PLce (celiac artery), PLsma (superior mesenteric artery), PLcha (common hepatic artery), PLspa (splenic artery), PLchdl (hepatoduo-denal ligament), PLph1 (first pancreatic head plexus), and PLph2 (second pancreatic head plexus)

superior mesenteric artery (PLsma), the plexus around the common hepatic artery (PLcha), the plexus around the splenic artery (PLspa), the plexus in the hepatoduodenal ligament (PLhdl), the first portion of the pancreatic head plexus (PLph1) located between the PLce and the dorsal side of the pancreatic head, and the second portion of the pancreatic head plexus (PLph2) located between the PLsma and the uncinate process

3.2.2.6 Description of Lymph Node Metastasis (N-Category)

In the Japanese classifications of cancers, lymph nodes are given station numbers per their anatomical locations as shown in Table 3.3 and Fig. 3.3. The detailed definitions of lymph nodes 12, 14, and 16 are schematically demonstrated in Figs. 3.4 and 3.5. The regional lymph nodes of the pancreas include the nodes surrounding the entire pancreas and are defined as lymph nodes 5, 6, 7, 8a, 8p, 9, 10, 11p, 11d, 12a, 12b, 12p, 13a, 13b, 14p, 14d, 17a, 17b, and 18. Cancers that have spread to lymph nodes other than the regional lymph nodes are considered distant metastases (M1) (see Sect. 3.2.4). Per this new version of the classification, the definition of regional nodes corresponding to the location of the tumour was rescinded. Instead, the total number of metastatic lymph nodes has been considered for defining the severity of lymph node metastasis (e.g. N1a, N1b), and this reflects the staging of the disease.

- NX: Regional lymph node cannot be assessed
- N0: No regional lymph node metastasis
- N1: Regional lymph node metastasis
 - N1a: 1–3 lymph node metastases in the regional lymph nodes
 - N1b: More than four lymph node metastases in the regional lymph nodes

Table 3.3 Anatomical definition of lymph node stations (reprint from [3])

No.	Definition
1	Right paracradial LNs
2	Left paracradial LNs
3	LNs along the lesser curvature of the stomach
4	LNs along the greater curvature of the stomach
5	Suprapyloric LNs
6	Infrapyloric LNs
7	LNs along the trunk of the left gastric artery
8	LNs along the common hepatic artery
8a	LNs on the anterosuperior surface
8p	LNs on the posterior surface
9	LNs around the celiac artery
10	LNs at the splenic hilum
11	LNs along the splenic artery
11p	LNs on the proximal part
11d	LNs on the distal part
12	LNs in the hepatoduodenal ligament
12a	LNs along the proper hepatic artery
12p	LNs along the portal vein
12b	LNs along the bile duct
13	LNs on the posterior surface of the head of the pancreas
13a	LNs on the cranio-posterior surface of the head of the pancreas
13b	LNs on the caudal-posterior surface of the head of the pancreas
14	LNs at the root of the superior mesenteric artery

No.	Definition
14p	Proximal LNs from the origin of the
	superior mesenteric artery to the origin a of
	the inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery
14d	Distal LNs from the origin a of the inferior
	pancreaticoduodenal artery to the origin of
	the middle colic artery
15	LNs along the middle colic artery
16	LNs along the abdominal aorta
16a1	LNs in the diaphragmatic aortic hiatus
	including infradiaphragmatic LNs
	predominantly along the subphrenic artery
16a2	LNs along between the upper border of the
	origin of the celiac artery and the lower
	border of the origin of the left renal vein
16b1	LNs between the lower border of the left
	renal vein and the upper border of the origin
	of the inferior mesenteric artery
16b2	LNs between upper border of the origin of
	the inferior mesenteric artery and the aortic
	bifurcation
17	LNs on the anterior surface of the head of
	the pancreas
17a	LNs on the cranio-anterior surface of the
	head of the pancreas
17b	LNs on the caudal-anterior surface of the
	head of the pancreas
18	LNs along the inferior border of the
	pancreatic body and tail excluding LNs at the
	root of the superior mesenteric artery (#14)

Table 3.3 (continued)

3.2.2.7 Description of Distant Metastasis (M-Category)

Metastases to distant organs and to lymph nodes other than regional lymph nodes are considered distant metastases.

M0: No distant metastasis M1: Distant metastasis

The category M1 may be further classified by the following notations: PUL (pulmonary), MAR (bone marrow), OSS (osseous), PLE (pleura), HEP (hepatic), PER (peritoneum), BRA (brain), ADR (adrenals), LYM (lymph nodes), SKI (skin), and OTH (others). In distant metastases, peritoneal and hepatic metastases are especially documented as mentioned below:

P0: No peritoneal metastasisP1: Peritoneal metastasisH0: No hepatic metastasisH1: Hepatic metastasis

The performance and the results of peritoneal cytology are described as indicated below. The positive results of these should not be treated as distant metastases.



Fig. 3.3 Lymph node station numbers in relation to the pancreas (reprint from [3])



Fig. 3.4 The locations and boundaries of lymph node stations within the hepatoduodenal ligament and along the superior mesenteric artery (reprint from [3]). The definitions of the lymph nodes 12a, 12b, and 12p are determined by their positions related to the blood vessels and the bile

duct. The boundary between the lymph nodes 14p and 14d is the midpoint of the distance between the root of the superior mesenteric artery and the origin of the middle colic artery





Fig. 3.5 The location and boundaries of lymph node stations around the abdominal aorta (reprint from [3]). The detailed definitions of lymph nodes 16a1, 16a2, 16b1, and 16b2 are determined by their positions related to the

branches of the abdominal aorta and the left renal vein. Each node should be accompanied by directional information such as "pre-", "latero-", or "retro-" or prefixing with "caval", "aortic", or "interaorticocaval"

CYX: Peritoneal cytology not performed CY0: Negative for peritoneal cytology CY1: Positive for peritoneal cytology

3.2.2.8 Stage Grouping of the Pancreatic Cancers (Table 3.4)

The new Japanese classification comprises a stage grouping that references the classification of the resectability of tumours, which can indicate therapeutic strategies rather than the prognoses of patients. The lesions diagnosed as Stage 0, I, or II are defined as "Resectable", Stage III as "Borderline resectable", and Stage IV as "Unresectable". Resectability was defined accordingly, as described in the following section.

3.2.2.9 Resectability Classification

Resectability was originally established for the new classification and is classified into three categories based on findings from the contrast enhanced, multiphasic, thin-section computed tomography images: resectable (R), borderline resectable (BR), and unresectable (UR).

Resectable (R)

- 1. Tumours without contact with the superior mesenteric (SMV) or the portal (PV) veins
- 2. Tumours in contact with SMV or PV in less than 180° without occlusion
- 3. Tumours invading the superior mesenteric (SMA), the celiac (CA), or the common hepatic (CHA) arteries

Table 3.4 Stage grouping of the pancreatic cancer (reprint from [3])

Stage 0	Tis	N0	M0
Stage1A	T1 (T1a, T1b, T1c)	N0	M0
Stage1B	T2	N0	M0
Stage IIA	Т3	NO	M0
Stage IIB	T1 (T1a, T1b, T1c), T2, T3	N1(N1a,N1b)	M0
Stage III	T4	Any N	M0
Stage IV	Any T	Any N	M1

Borderline Resectable (BR)

- BR lesions are stratified into two categories, namely, BR-PV and BR-A as described below. If the tumour has both factors, BR-PV and BR-A, the lesion is treated as BR-A.
- BR-PV: Tumours in contact with SMV or PV in 180° or more without contact with SMA, CA, or CHA. This involvement does not exceed the inferior border of the third portion of the duodenum.

BR-A

- Tumours contact or invade the SMA, the CA, or both in less than 180° without stenosis or deformity of the arteries.
- 2. Tumours contact or invade the CHA without contact nor invasion of the proper hepatic artery (PHA), the CA, or both.

Unresectable (UR)

UR lesions are stratified into two categories, namely, UR-LA and UR-M, as described below.

UR-LA

- 1. Tumours contact or invade the SMV or PV in 180° or occlude these vessels. This involvement exceeds the inferior border of the third portion of the duodenum.
- 2. Tumours contact or invade the SMA, the CA, or both in 180° or more.
- 3. Tumours contact or invade the CHA with contact or invasion of PHA or CA.
- 4. Tumours contact or invade the aorta.
- UR-M: Tumours with distant metastases, including non-regional lymph node metastases

3.2.3 Records of Surgical Procedures for Pancreatic Cancers

3.2.3.1 Surgical Procedures

Pancreatic resection

Palliative resection (bypass surgery, including choledochojejunostomy and gastrojejunostomy)

Exploratory laparotomy and laparoscopy

3.2.3.2 Types of Surgeries for Pancreatic Cancers

PHR: pancreatic head resection PD: pancreatoduodenectomy PPPD: pylorus-preserving PD SSPPD: subtotal stomach-preserving PD DPPHR: duodenum-preserving PHR PHRSD: PHR with segmental duodenectomy DP: distal pancreatectomy DP (tail/body-tail/subtotal) SPDP: spleen-preserving DP DP-CAR: DP with en bloc celiac axis resection TP: total pancreatectomy PPTP: pylorus-preserving TP PSPTP: pylorus-preserving, spleen-preserving TP DPTP: duodenum-preserving TP TPSD: TP with segmental duodenectomy

3.2.3.3 Concomitant Resections of Neighbouring Organs

The names of the concomitantly resected organs should be recorded for the duodenum, stomach, colon, spleen, portal venous system, and arteries.

3.2.3.4 Types of Reconstructions Following PD, PPPD, and SSPPD

Types of reconstructions should be recorded per the orders of anastomoses between the jejunum and the pancreas and the bile duct and the duodenum or the stomach from the oral side of the jejunal limb.

- Type I (PD1, PPPD-I, SSPPD-I) in the following order: choledochojejunostomy, pancreatojejunostomy, and duodeno- or gastrojejunostomy
- Type II (PD-II, PPPD-II, SSPPD-II) in the following order: pancreatojejunostomy, choledochojejunostomy, and duodeno- or gastrojejunostomy

Type III (PD-III, PPPD-III, SSPPD-III)

- (a) duodeno- or gastrojejunostomy, pancreatojejunostomy, and choledochojejunostomy (in order)
- (b) gastrojejunostomy, choledochojejunostomy, and pancreatojejunostomy (in order)

The types of reconstruction procedures for the residual pancreas are classified as described below. Details of anastomotic procedures include duct-to-mucosa anastomosis, invagination or dunking method, and others.

- A: pancreatojejunostomy
- B: pancreatogastrostomy
- C: pancreatoduodenostomy

3.2.3.5 Grade of Lymph Node Dissection

Lymph node grouping for the pancreas is performed per the type of pancreatectomy (Table 3.5). Grades of lymph node dissections are recorded as follows:

- D0: No lymph node dissection
- D1: Dissection of Group 1 lymph nodes
- D2: Dissection of Group 1 and 2 lymph nodes
- D3: Dissection of Group 1, 2, and 3 lymph nodes

3.2.3.6 Evaluation of Residual Tumour

After resecting the tumour, the condition of macroscopic and pathological residue of the tumour is recorded.

- RX: Unknown
- R0: No residual tumour
- R1: Microscopic residual tumour
- R2: Macroscopic residual tumour

	Total pancreatectomy	Pancreatoduodenectomy	Distal pancreatectomy
Group 1	#8a, 8p, 10, 11p, 11d, 13a, 13b, 17a, 17b, 18	#8a, 8p, 13a, 13b, 17a, 17b	#10, 11p, 11d, 18
Group 2	#5, 6, 7, 9, 12a, 12b, 12p, 14p, 14d	#5, 6, 12a, 12b, 12p, 14p, 14d	#7, 8a, 8p, 9, 14p, 14d
Group 3	#1, 2, 3, 4, 15, 16a2, 16b1	#1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 9, 10, 11p, 11d, 15, 16a2, 16b1, 18	#5, 6, 12a, 12b, 12p, 13a, 13b, 15, 16a2, 16b1, 17a, 17b

 Table 3.5
 Lymph node grouping according to pancreatectomies (reprint from [3])

Conditions of the residual tumour in the cut surface of the pancreas and the bile duct and the dissection plane are recorded using the rules described below.

Pancreatic cut end margin: PCM

- PCM0: No involvement of pancreatic cut end margin
- PCM1: Involvement of pancreatic cut end margin
- PCMX: Involvement of pancreatic cut end margin cannot be assessed

Bile duct cut end margin: BCM

- BCM0: No involvement of bile duct cut end margin
- BCM1: Involvement of bile duct cut end margin
- BCMX: Involvement of bile duct cut end margin cannot be assessed

Dissected peripancreatic tissue margin: DPM

- DPM0: No involvement of dissected peripancreatic tissue margin
- DPM1: Involvement of dissected peripancreatic tissue margin
- DPMX: Involvement of dissected peripancreatic tissue margin cannot be assessed

3.2.4 Handling the Resected Specimen of Pancreatic Cancers Obtained by Pancreatectomy

3.2.4.1 Opening of the Duodenum and the Bile Duct (Fig. 3.6)

In principle, the duodenum is opened along the longitudinal direction to observe the papilla of Vater, the accessory papilla, and the mucosa of the duodenum. The common bile duct should be opened from the posterior side.



Fig. 3.6 The handling of specimens retrieved by pancreatoduodenectomy (reprint from [3]). (a) The duodenum is opened along the longitudinal direction. The common bile duct should also be opened posteriorly. (b) The specimen

should be sectioned vertically along the longitudinal axis of the duodenum at 5-mm intervals. The centre of the accessory papilla should be divided in each specimen (Fig. 3.6)

3.2.4.2 Sectioning of the Specimen

The specimen obtained by pancreatoduodenectomy should be sectioned vertically along the longitudinal axis of the duodenum, in parallel with the Kerckring's folds, at 5-mm intervals toward the oral and anal sides. The centres of the accessory papilla should be divided in each specimen (Fig. 3.6).

Meanwhile, the specimen obtained by distal pancreatectomy should be sectioned vertically along the longitudinal axis of the pancreas at 5-mm width from the cut end.

3.2.5 Histopathological Classification of Pancreatic Cancers

The histological types of pancreatic tumours are shown in Table 3.6. If an epithelial tumour comprises more than one histological type, the predominant histological pattern should be adopted as representative.

Histological findings are further classified under the following headings: "Cancer Stromal Volume" (see Sect. 3.2.5.1), "Infiltrative Pattern" (see Sect. 3.2.5.2), "Lymph-Vascular and Neural Invasions" (see Sects. 3.2.5.3–3.2.5.5), and "Infiltration into the Main Pancreatic Duct" (see Sect. 3.2.5.3).

Table 3.6 Histologic types of pancreatic tumours and their abbreviations (reprint from [3])

[1] Epithelial neoplasms
A. Exocrine neoplasms
1. Serous neoplasms (SNs)
(a) Serous cystadenoma (SCA)
(b) Serous cystadenocarcinoma (SCC)
2. Mucinous cystic neoplasms (MCNs)
(a) Mucinous cystadenoma (MCA)
(b) Mucinous cystadenocarcinoma (MCC), non-invasive
(c) Mucinous cystadenocarcinoma (MCC), invasive
3. Intraductal neoplasms
(a) Intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms (IPMNs)
(1) Intraductal papillary mucinous adenoma (IPMA)

Table 3.6 (co

(2) Intra ductal papillary mucinous carcinoma (IPMC) non-invasive
(3) Intraductal papillary mucinous
carcinoma(IPMC), invasive
(b) Intraductal tubulopapillary neoplasms (ITPNs)
(1) Intra ductal tubulopapillary carcinoma, non-invasive
(2) Intraductal tubulopapillary carcinoma, invasive
(c) Pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PanIN)
(1) Low-grade PanIN
(2) High-grade PanIN
4. Invasive ductal carcinomas (IDCs)
(a) Adenocarcinoma
(i) Well-differentiated type (wel)
(ii) Moderately differentiated type (mod)
(iii) Poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma (por)
(b) Adenosquamous carcinoma (asc)
(c) Mucinous carcinoma (muc)
(d) Anaplastic carcinoma
(i) Anaplastic carcinoma, pleomorphic
type
(ii) Anaplastic carcinoma, spindle cell type
(iii) Anaplastic carcinoma with
osteoclast-like giant cells
5. Acinar cell neoplasms (ACNs)
(a) Acinar cell cystadenoma (ACA)
(b) Acinar cell carcinoma (ACC)
B. Neuroendocrine neoplasms (NENs)
1. Neuroendocrine tumours (NETs, G1, G2)
2. Neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC)
C. Combined neoplasms
D. Epithelial neoplasms of uncertain differentiation
1. Solid pseudopapillary neoplasm (SPN)
2. Pancreatoblastoma
E. Unclassifiable
E Miscellaneous
[2] Non-epithelial neoplasms
Hemangioma, lymphangioma, leiomyosarcoma
malignant lymphoma, paraganglioma, others

3.2.5.1 Cancer Stromal Volume

Medullary type (med): Scanty stroma Scirrhous type (sci): Abundant stroma Intermediate type (int): The quantity of stroma is intermediate between the above two types

3.2.5.2 Infiltrative (INF) Patterns of Cancers into the Surrounding Tissues

The most dominant pattern present at the invasive front of the tumour should be judged for classification.

- INFa: The tumour shows an expanding growth pattern with a distinct border from the surrounding tissue
- INFb: The tumour shows a growth pattern that is intermediate between INFa and INFc
- INFc: The tumour shows an infiltrating growth pattern with an indistinct border from the surrounding tissue

3.2.5.3 Lymphatic Invasion

- ly0: No lymphatic invasionly1: Minimal lymphatic invasionly2: Moderate lymphatic invasion
- ly3: Marked lymphatic invasion

3.2.5.4 Venous Invasion

- v0: No venous invasion
- v1: Minimal venous invasion
- v2: Moderate venous invasion
- v3: Marked venous invasion

3.2.5.5 Intrapancreatic Neural Invasion

- ne0: No neural invasion
- ne1: Minimal neural invasion
- ne2: Moderate neural invasion
- ne3: Marked neural invasion

3.2.5.6 Spread of Cancer Within the Main Pancreatic Duct

The distance of the intraductal spread within the main pancreatic duct from the border of the invasive cancer is recorded.

mpd0: No evidence of spread mpd1: Spread present mpdx: Spread cannot be assessed

3.2.6 Histologic Classification Based on the Effect of Neoadjuvant Therapies (Table 3.7)

The rate of residual cancer after undergoing preoperative chemotherapies (or radiotherapies) is classified into four grades (Grades 1–4) based on the reaction of tissues upon the destruction of cancer cells. Since the judgement is basically performed only for invasive lesions, the intraepithelial cancer residue after the completion of treatment is classified as Grade 4.

3.2.7 Japanese Classification and Staging for Cancers of the Lower Bile Duct and the Papilla of Vater

In 2015, the 3rd English edition of the Japanese classification of biliary tract cancers [4], which included cancers of the periampullary region (distal bile duct and the papilla of Vater), was released approximately 10 years after the release of the 2nd English edition. It was a near-complete translation of the 6th edition of the General Rules for Clinical and Pathological Studies on Cancer of the Biliary Tract written in Japanese and edited by Japanese Society of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery in 1913 [5].

Table 3.7 Histologic grading for the effect of neoadjuvant therapies (reprint from [3], revised)

	Response	Rate of survivable
	Response	cancer cents
Grade 1	Poor or no	≥50%
Grade1a	response	≥90%
Grade1b		≥50%, <90%
Grade 2	Moderate	≥10%, <50%
	response	
Grade 3	Marked response	<10%
Grade 4	Complete	No evidence of
	response	survivable cancer
		cell

3.2.8 Definition of the Anatomy of the Distal Bile Duct and the Papilla of Vater

3.2.9 Distal Bile Duct

The distal part of the extrahepatic bile duct (Bd) is anatomically defined by a line that divides the duct equally between the upper margin of the common hepatic duct and the point where the common bile duct enters the wall of the duodenum. This line is principally positioned at the origin of the cystic duct as a guide. The proximal bile duct is named as the perihilar region (Bp) (Fig. 3.7).



Fig. 3.7 The anatomy of the extrahepatic biliary tracts (reprint from [5], revised). The distal parts of the extrahepatic bile ducts (Bd) are anatomically defined by a line dividing each duct equally between the upper margin of the common hepatic duct and the point where the common bile duct enters the wall of the duodenum. This line is principally positioned at the origin of the cystic duct as a guide. The proximal bile ducts are named as the perihilar region (Bp). *Bd* distal bile duct, *Bh* intrahepatic bile ducts, *Bp* perihilar bile duct, *C* cystic duct, *Gb* body of the gallbladder, *Gf* fundus of the gallbladder, *Gn* neck of the gallbladder

3.2.10 Ampullary Region

The ampullary region (A) is located at the sphincter of Oddi and is composed of a channel leading from the entry point of the common bile duct into the wall of the duodenum to the major duodenal papilla (Fig. 3.8). The ampullary region is composed of four portions: the terminal segment of the common bile duct (Ab), the terminal segment of the main pancreatic duct (Ap), a common channel or an ampulla (Ac), and the major duodenal papilla (Ad). The duodenal surface of the major duodenal papilla is shown as a conical or cylindrical protuberance. A hooding fold of the mucosa that partially covers the superior or cephalad aspect of the papilla and a frenulum-like fold extending from the inferior aspect are not included in the definition of the major duodenal papilla (Fig. 3.8).

3.2.11 Description of Primary Tumour of the Distal Bile Duct

3.2.11.1 Tumour Location

Distal bile duct cancers are defined as tumours arising in the distal bile duct, as shown in Fig 3.7. When it is not possible to determine the exact site of origin, the anatomical region containing the bulk of the tumour may be judged as the primary site.

If more than one anatomical region is involved, all involved regions should be recorded in the order of their involvement, first indicating the region in which the bulk of the tumour is located (e.g. BpdC). Tumour extension into the head of the pancreas or duodenum is recorded as Ph or D. The distinct location of the primary site should be underlined.

In the extrahepatic bile duct, the cross section of the duct wall is divided into four equal parts: the right anterior wall (ra), right posterior wall (rp), left anterior wall (la), and left posterior wall (lp) (Fig. 3.9). All parts that are involved in the tumour should be recorded in the order of involvement, starting with the part in which the bulk of the tumour is located (e.g. rarp). Circumferential involvement is recorded as "circ".



b longitudinal fold of the duodenum circular fold orifice of the papilla

Fig. 3.8 The composition of the ampullary region (reprint from [5]). (a) The dotted line indicates the ampullary region that is composed of Ab, Ac, Ad, and Ap. (b) The papilla of Vater is covered by the duodenal mucosa (dotted line). *Ab* terminal segment of the common bile duct,

Ac common channel or ampulla, *Ad* major duodenal papilla, *Ap* terminal segment of the main pancreatic duct, *Bd* distal bile duct, *D* duodenum, *Ph* head of the pancreas



Fig. 3.9 Cross-sectional circumference of the bile duct wall (reprint from [5]). In the extrahepatic bile ducts, the cross-sectional areas of the duct walls are divided into four equal parts: ra, rp, la, and lp. *la* left anterior wall, *lp* left posterior wall, *ra* right anterior wall, *rp* right posterior wall

3.2.11.2 Size and Number of Lesions

For each lesion, the two greatest dimensions should be recorded. In resected specimens, the number of tumours and the two greatest dimensions for each lesion should be recorded after opening the bile duct.

3.2.11.3 Macroscopic Types

Gross tumour morphology is categorized based on either radiological or pathological findings. Macroscopic types of tumours are classified per their morphologies, their heights from the bile duct lumen, and their growth patterns as viewed from the bile duct wall (Table 3.8, Fig. 3.10).

3.2.11.4 Contiguous Extent of the Primary Tumour of the Distal Bile Duct (T-Category)

As described below, the contiguous extent of the primary tumour is recorded as the T-category. Conventional characters denoting the depth of invasion (M, FM, SS, SE [exposed on serosa], SI [invasion to other organs]) may be appended (Fig. 3.11). Lymphatic, venous, or perineural invasions as the invasive fronts are not considered as the depths of invasion.

- Tx: Primary tumour cannot be assessed
- T0: No evidence of primary tumour
- Tis: Carcinoma in situ (carcinomas in situ in the peribiliary glands should be recorded as pTis [M])
- T1a: Tumour confined to the mucosa

Papillary type	Papillary or polypoid shape, sharply demarcated from the surrounding mucosa and mainly composed of intramucosal or intraepithelial tumours. This type of tumour contains pedunculated and sessile tumours. The papillary type is subdivided into the papillary- expanding and papillary-infiltrating types according to its growth pattern
Nodular type	Nodular shape, gently continued from the surrounding mucosa and mainly composed of invasive tumours. Nodular tumours with tiny papillary structures on the surface are also included in this category. The nodular type is subdivided into the nodular-expanding and nodular- infiltrating types according to its growth pattern
Flat type	Tumours without elevation. The flat type is subdivided into the flat- expanding and flat-infiltrating types according to its growth pattern, but flat-expanding type is rare. This type implies a traditional infiltrating or diffusely infiltrating type
Others	Tumours that cannot be classified into any of the above types. An ulcerative type or cobblestone appearance can be classified in this category

Table 3.8 Macroscopic types of the bile duct cancer (reprint from [5], revised)

- T1b: Tumour confined to the fibromuscular layer
- T2: Tumour invades beyond the bile duct wall into surrounding adipose tissues
- T3a: Tumour invades the gallbladder, liver, pancreas, duodenum, or other adjacent organs
- T3b: Tumour invades the main portal vein, the inferior mesenteric vein, or the inferior vena cava
- T4: Tumour invades the celiac axis, the common hepatic artery, or the superior mesenteric artery

3.2.11.5 Definition of the Bile Duct Wall (Fig. 3.11)

The bile duct wall is composed of the mucosa (M) and the fibromuscular layer (FM) in this T-category. The depth of tumour invasion is denoted as M, FM, SS, SE, and SI.

3.2.11.6 Description of Lymph Node Metastasis (N-Category)

In cases of cancers of the bile duct, the regional lymph nodes are the nodes in the hepatoduodenal ligament (12h, a, b, p, c), the nodes along the common hepatic artery (8a, p), the nodes on the posterior surface of the head of the pancreas



cancers (reprint from [5]). The macroscopic types of tumours are classified per their morphologies, heights, and growth patterns

Fig. 3.10 The

macroscopic types of the extrahepatic bile duct

flat-expanding type

flat-infiltrating type



(13a, b), the nodes on the anterior surface of the head of the pancreas (17a, b), and the nodes at the root of the mesenteric artery (14p, d) (Fig. 3.12). The spread of cancers to lymph nodes other than these regional lymph nodes are considered distant metastases (M1). The number of metastatic nodes and the rate for total number of dissected nodes should be recorded in each station.

Nx: Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed N0: No regional lymph node metastasis N1: Regional lymph node metastasis

3.2.11.7 Description of Distant Metastasis (M-Category)

Metastasis to distant organs and to lymph nodes other than the regional lymph nodes are considered distant metastases.

M0: No distant metastasis M1: With distant metastasis

The category M1 may be further specified by using the following notations: PUL (pulmonary), MAR (bone marrow), OSS (osseous), PLE (pleura), HEP (hepatic), PER (peritoneum), BRA (brain), ADR (adrenals), LYM (lymph nodes), SKI (skin), and OTH (others).

Positive results of peritoneal cytology, which are described as "Pcy1", should not be treated as distant metastases.

3.2.11.8 Stage Grouping of the Distal Bile Duct Cancers (Table 3.9)

The Japanese classification system is composed of a seven-stage grouping that utilizes the TNM factors. It is different from the UICC classification because the T4 tumour is classified as Stage IVA, distinct from M1 in the Japanese classification.

3.2.12 Records of Surgical Procedures for the Distal Bile Duct Cancers

3.2.12.1 Surgical Procedures

The procedures that can be performed for distal bile duct cancers are listed below. The record should be accompanied by information about the performance of cholecystectomy and procedures for reconstruction.

Bile duct resection

PD: pancreatoduodenectomy

PPPD: pylorus-preserving PD

SSPPD: subtotal stomach-preserving PD

Palliative surgery for biliary decompression

Bypass surgery of alimentary tract

Exploratory laparotomy and laparoscopy

Concomitant resections of neighbouring organs

Table 3.9 Stage grouping of the distal bile duct cancer (reprint from [5])

Stage 0	Tis	N0	M0
Stage I	T1	N0	M0
Stage II	T2	N0	M0
Stage IIIA	T3	N0	M0
Stage IIIB	T1, T2, T3	N1	M0
Stage IVA	T4	Any N	M0
Stage IVB	Any T	Any N	M1

3.2.12.2 Evaluation of Surgical Margins

After each radical surgery, surgical resection margins are evaluated as positive or negative. The localization of the microscopic involvement in ductal margins should be recorded per the following notations: m (intraepithelial), w (intramural and extraepithelial), and ex (extramural). For dissected margin status, the localization of the microscopic involvement should be recorded per the following notation: PV (portal vein), HA (hepatic artery), D (duodenum), etc.

Distal Bile Duct Margin

- DMX: Involvement of the distal bile duct margin cannot be assessed
- DM0: No involvement of the distal bile duct margin
- DM1: Microscopic, but not macroscopic, involvement of the distal bile duct margin
- DM2: Macroscopic and microscopic involvement of the distal bile duct margin

Proximal Bile Duct Margin

- HMX: Involvement of the proximal bile duct margin cannot be assessed
- HM0: No involvement of the proximal bile duct margin
- HM1: Microscopic, but not macroscopic, involvement of the proximal bile duct margin
- HM2: Macroscopic and microscopic involvement of the proximal bile duct margin

Dissected Margin

- EMX: Involvement of the dissected margin cannot be assessed
- EM0: No involvement of the dissected margin
- EM1: Microscopic, but not macroscopic, involvement of the dissected margin
- EM2: Macroscopic and microscopic involvement of the dissected margin

Evaluation of Histologic Vascular Involvement Location of the invaded portal or arterial system, or both, and the depth of invasion, such as the adventitia (a), tunica media (m), and tunica intima (i), should be recorded.

Portal System Invasion Classified as T3 or T4

- PVX: Histologic portal system invasion cannot be assessed
- PV0: No histologic portal system invasion
- PV1: Histologic portal system invasion

Arterial System Invasion Classified as T3 or T4

- AX: Histologic arterial system invasion cannot be assessed
- A0: No histologic arterial system invasion observed
- A1: Histologic arterial system invasion observed

3.2.12.3 Evaluation of the Residual Tumours

After resecting the tumour, the condition of the macroscopic and pathological residues of the tumour is recorded. If the presence of carcinoma in situ is microscopically proven, it should be recorded as R1cis.

- R0: No residual tumour
- R1: Microscopic residual tumour
- R2: Macroscopic residual tumour

3.2.13 Description of Primary Tumours of the Papilla of Vater

3.2.13.1 Tumour Location

Carcinomas of the ampullary region are defined as tumours arising in the ampullary region as shown in Fig. 3.8. If it is not possible to determine the exact site of origin, tumours are assumed to be carcinomas of the ampullary region if the bulk of the tumours are present in this region.

If more than one anatomical region is involved, all involved regions should be recorded in the order of involvement, starting with the region in which the bulk of tumour is located (e.g. AcbBd). The distinct location of the primary site should be underlined.

3.2.13.2 Size and Number of Lesions

The two greatest dimensions should be recorded for each lesion. In resected specimens, the number of tumours and the two greatest dimensions for each lesion should be recorded after opening the papilla of Vater.

3.2.13.3 Macroscopic Types

Gross tumour morphology is categorized based on either radiologic or pathological findings. Macroscopic types of primary tumours are classified per the appearance of the tumours viewed from the duodenal lumen and the growth patterns viewed from the duodenal wall (Table 3.10, Fig. 3.13).

3.2.13.4 Contiguous Extent of the Primary Tumour of the Papilla of Vater (T-Category)

The contiguous extent of the primary tumour is recorded as the T-category. Conventional characters denoting the depth of invasion (M, OD) may be appended.

Table	3.10	Macroscopic	types	of	carcinoma	of	the
ampull	lary reg	gion (reprint fr	om [5]	, rev	vised)		

Protruded type	Tumours with a prominent intraluminal growth and without ulceration ^a
Mixed type	Ulcerated tumours without distinct elevation. Normal mucosa surrounds the margin of ulceration
Ulcerative	Tumours showing a coexistence of the protruded type and ulcerative type. This type of tumour is subdivided into the protruded-predominant and ulcerative- predominant types. Ulcerative tumours with raised margins, which suggest cancer invasion beyond the margin of ulceration, are included in the ulcerative predominant type
Others	Tumours that cannot be classified into any of the above types. Normal appearance, a polyp type or a unique type can be classified in this category

The protruded type is subdivided into the non-exposed protruded and exposed protruded types. Tumours with exposed protruded type can be observed from the duodenal lumen, while tumours with non-exposed protruded type are covered with mucosa of the duodenal papilla and cannot be seen from the duodenal lumen



Fig. 3.13 The macroscopic types of tumours arising in the papilla of Vater (reprint from [5]). Macroscopic types are classified per the appearance of the tumours viewed

from the duodenal lumen and the growth patterns viewed from the duodenal wall

- Tx: Primary tumour cannot be assessed
- T0: No evidence of primary tumour
- Tis: Carcinoma in situ
- T1a: Tumour confined to the mucosa
- T1b: Tumour limited to the sphincter of Oddi
- T2: Tumour invades the duodenal wall
- T3a: Tumour invades the pancreas within 5 mm depth
- T3b: Tumour invades the pancreas beyond 5 mm depth
- T4: Tumour invades the peripancreatic soft tissues or other adjacent organs or structures

3.2.13.5 Description of Lymph Node Metastasis (N-Category)

In cancers of the papilla of Vater, the regional lymph nodes are the nodes on the posterior surface of the head of the pancreas (13a, b), the anterior surface of the head of the pancreas (17a, b), at the root of the mesenteric artery (14p, d), on the posterior and the right side surfaces of the bile duct in the hepatoduodenal ligament (12b), along the common hepatic artery (8a, p), and the supra- and infra-pyloric nodes (5, 6). It is not mandatory to dissect the nodes 5 or 6 or both (Fig. 3.14). The spread of cancers to lymph nodes

other than regional lymph nodes are considered distant metastases (M1). The number of metastatic nodes and the rate of the total number of dissected nodes should be recorded in each station.

- Nx: Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed
- N0: No regional lymph node metastasis
- N1: Regional lymph node metastasis

3.2.13.6 Description of Distant Metastasis (M-Category)

Metastases to distant organs and to lymph nodes other than the regional lymph nodes are considered distant metastases.

M0: No distant metastasis M1: With distant metastasis

The category M1 may be further specified with the following notations: PUL (pulmonary), MAR (bone marrow), OSS (osseous), PLE (pleura), HEP (hepatic), PER (peritoneum), BRA (brain), ADR (adrenals), LYM (lymph nodes), SKI (skin), and OTH (others).

The positive results of peritoneal cytology which are described as "Pcy1" should not be treated as distant metastases.

Fig. 3.14 The location and number of lymph node stations related to cancers of the papilla of Vater (reprint from [5], revised). The stations of regional lymph nodes of ampullary cancers are coloured in yellow. It is not mandatory to dissect the nodes 5 or 6 or both



3.2.13.7 Stage Grouping of Cancers of the Papilla of Vater (Table 3.11)

The Japanese classification system is composed of a seven-stage grouping, using TNM factors. It has similarities with the UICC classification.

3.2.14 Records of Surgical Procedures for Cancers of the Papilla of Vater

3.2.14.1 Surgical Procedures

The procedures that could be performed for ampullary cancers are listed below. The record should be accompanied by information about the performance of cholecystectomy and procedures for reconstruction.

Endoscopic papillectomy Transduodenal papillectomy PD: pancreatoduodenectomy PPPD: pylorus-preserving PD SSPPD: subtotal stomach-preserving PD Palliative surgery for biliary decompression Bypass surgery of the alimentary tract Exploratory laparotomy and laparoscopy Concomitant resections of neighbouring organs

Table 3.11	Stage	grouping	of	cancer	of	the	papilla	of
Vater (reprin	t from	[5])						

) .)) .))

3.2.14.2 Evaluation of Surgical Margins

Margins of surgical resections are evaluated as positive or negative, after each radical surgery. Localization of the microscopic involvement in the proximal ductal margin should be recorded per the following notations: m (intraepithelial), w (intramural and extraepithelial), and ex (extramural). For the pancreatic stump margin, the localization of the microscopic involvement should be recorded per the following notations: d (intraductal) and p (pancreatic parenchyma). For the status of the dissected margin, the localization of the microscopic involvement should be recorded per the following notations: PV (portal vein), HA (hepatic artery), D (duodenum), etc.

Proximal Bile Duct Margin

- HMX: Involvement of the proximal bile duct margin cannot be assessed
- HM0: No involvement of the proximal bile duct margin
- HM1: Microscopic, but not macroscopic, involvement of the proximal bile duct margin
- HM2: Macroscopic and microscopic involvement of the proximal bile duct margin

Pancreatic Margin

- PMX: Involvement of the pancreatic margin cannot be assessed
- PM0: No involvement of the pancreatic margin
- PM1: Microscopic, but not macroscopic, involvement of the pancreatic margin
- PM2: Macroscopic and microscopic involvement of the pancreatic margin

Dissected Margin

- EMX: Involvement of the dissected margin cannot be assessed
- EM0: No involvement of the dissected margin
- EM1: Microscopic, but not macroscopic, involvement of the dissected margin
- EM2: Macroscopic and microscopic involvement of the dissected margin

3.2.14.3 Evaluation of the Residual Tumours

After resecting the tumour, the condition of macroscopic and pathological residue of the tumour is recorded. If the presence of carcinoma in situ is microscopically proved, it should be recorded as R1cis.

R0: No residual tumour

R1: Microscopic residual tumour

R2: Macroscopic residual tumour

3.2.15 Handling the Resected Specimens of the Cancers of the Distal Bile Duct and Papilla of Vater

3.2.15.1 Opening of the Duodenum and the Bile Duct (Fig. 3.15)

For a specimen obtained by pancreaticoduodenectomy, the posterior wall of the bile duct is opened from the cut end of the bile duct to the papilla of Vater. The duodenum is, in principle, opened along longitudinal direction to observe the papilla of Vater, the accessory papilla, and the mucosa of the duodenum. When the tumour is located around the confluence of the cystic duct or around the site in proximity to the common bile duct, the main pancreatic duct, and the accessory pancreatic duct, the bile duct may not be opened to assess the primary site and the extent of tumour spread.

Fig. 3.15 The handling of specimens retrieved by pancreatoduodenectomy for cancers of the lower bile duct and the papilla of Vater (reprint from [5]). For a specimen obtained by pancreaticoduodenectomy, the posterior wall of the bile duct is opened from the cut end of the bile duct to the papilla of Vater. The duodenum is opened along the longitudinal direction





3.2.15.2 Sectioning of the Specimen

The specimen obtained by pancreatoduodenectomy should be sectioned vertically along the longitudinal axis of the bile duct at 5-mm intervals. The centre of the accessory papilla should be divided in each specimen (Fig. 3.16).

3.2.16 Histopathological Classification of Biliary Tract Cancers

The histological types of biliary tract tumours are shown in Table 3.12. If an epithelial tumour comprises more than one histological type, the predominant histological pattern should be adopted as the representative histological type.

Histological findings are further classified based on criteria such as "cancer stromal volume", "infiltrative pattern", and "lymph-vascular and (peri-)neural invasions".

3.2.16.1 Cancer Stromal Volume

Medullary type (med): Scanty stroma

Scirrhous type (sci): Abundant stroma

Intermediate type (int): The quantity of stroma is intermediate between the two above types

Table 3.12 Histologic types of biliary tract tumours and their abbreviations (reprint from [5])

(A) Adenocarcinoma					
(1) Papillary adenocarcinoma (pap)					
(2) Tubular adenocarcinoma					
(i) Well differentiated (tub1)					
(ii) Moderately differentiated (tub2)					
(3) Poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma					
(i) Solid type (por1)					
(ii) Non-solid type (por2)					
(4) Mucinous adenocarcinoma (muc)					
(5) Signet-ring cell carcinoma (sig)					
(B) Adenosquamous (cell) carcinoma (asc)					
(C) Squamous cell carcinoma (scc)					
(D) Undifferentiated carcinoma (ud)					
(E) Choriocarcinoma (cc)					
(F) Carcinosarcoma (cs)					
(G) α-Fetoprotein-producing adenocarcinoma					
(H) Neuroendocrine neoplasm (NEN)					
(1) Neuroendocrine tumour (NET)					
(i) NET G1 (carcinoid)					
(ii) NET G2					
(2) Neuroendocrine carcinoma (NEC)					
(i) Large cell NEC					
(ii) Small cell NEC					
(3) Mixed adenoendocrine carcinoma (MANEC)					
(4) Goblet cell carcinoid					
(5) Tubular carcinoid					
(I) Mucinous cystic neoplasm (MCN)					
(I) Unclassified tumours (UCT)					

3.2.16.2 Cancer Infiltrative (INF) Pattern into the Surrounding Tissues

- INFa: The tumour shows an expanding growth pattern with a distinct border from the surrounding tissues
- INFb: The tumour shows a growth pattern that is intermediate between INFa and INFc
- INFc: The tumour shows an infiltrating growth pattern with an indistinct border from the surrounding tissues

3.2.16.3 Lymphatic Invasion

- ly0: No lymphatic invasion
- ly1: Minimal lymphatic invasion
- ly2: Moderate lymphatic invasion
- ly3: Marked lymphatic invasion

3.2.17 Venous Invasion

- v0: No venous invasion
- v1: Minimal venous invasion
- v2: Moderate venous invasion
- v3: Marked venous invasion

3.2.17.1 (Peri)Neural Invasion

- ne0: No (peri)neural invasion ne1: Minimal (peri)neural invasion ne2: Moderate (peri)neural invasion
- ne3: Marked (peri)neural invasion

3.2.18 Precursor Lesions of Biliary Tract Cancers

Two types of precursor lesions have been proposed for the development and progression of extrahepatic bile duct cancers and gallbladder carcinomas: intraluminal papillary neoplasms of the biliary tract (IPNB) and biliary intraepithelial neoplasia (BilIN).

These neoplasms display a spectrum from premalignant lesions to invasive carcinomas. Intraluminal papillary neoplasms showing carcinomas in situ and invasive carcinomas correspond to the papillary type of extrahepatic bile duct cancers, as defined in this manual. BillNs are further classified into BillN-1, BillN-2, and BillN-3 based on the degree of cellular and nuclear atypia. BillN-3 corresponds to carcinomas in situ.

Acknowledgement We would like to thank Editage (www.editage.jp) for English language editing.

Reprint Permission The permission to reprint was given from the Japan Pancreatic Society for "General Rules for the Study of Pancreatic Cancer", from the Japanese Society of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery for "General Rules for Clinical and Pathological Studies on Cancer of the Biliary Tract, 6th edition", and from Kanehara & Co., Ltd. the publisher of both books. The permission was given from John Wiley and Sons, Inc. for "Classification of biliary tract cancers established by the Japanese Society of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery: 3rd English edition".

References

- Sobin LH, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind CH, editors. International Union Against Cancer (UICC). TNM classification of malignant tumours. 7th ed. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell; 2010.
- Edge S, Byrd DR, Compton CC, Fritz AG, Greene FL, Trotti A, editors. American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC). Cancer staging manual. 7th ed. New York: Springer; 2010.
- Kanehara & Co. Ltd. General rules for the study of pancreatic cancer, 7th ed. Tokyo: Japan Pancreas Society; 2016. (in Japanese)
- 4. Miyazaki M, Ohtsuka M, Miyakawa S, Nagino M, Yamamoto M, Kokudo N, Sano K, Endo I, Unno M, Chijiiwa K, Horiguchi A, Kinoshita H, Oka M, Kubota K, Sugiyama M, Uemoto S, Shimada M, Suzuki Y, Inui K, Tazuma S, Furuse J, Yanagisawa A, Nakanuma Y, Kijima H, Takada T. Classification of biliary tract cancers established by the Japanese Society of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery: 3(rd) English edition. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2015;22:181–96.
- Kanehara & Co., Ltd. General rules for clinical and pathological studies on cancer of the biliary tract, 6th ed. Tokyo: Japanese Society of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery; 2013. (in Japanese)

Imaging Evaluation of Resectability

Ashish Verma

4.1 Introduction

Periampullary region of the anterior pararenal space of the retroperitoneum houses the pancreatic head and uncus, lower part of the common bile duct, ampulla of Vater, and the adjacent duodenum. Neoplasias arising from each of these have to be managed in a different way and carry radically different prognoses [1]. The focus of preoperative imaging evaluation hence remains on segregating pancreatic tumors, especially adenocarcinoma, from other periampullary cancers. An imaging-based subclassification of lesion histomorphology followed by mapping of the spleno-mesentric-portal and aorto-mesenteric vascular structures forms the basis of decision about the resectability of periampullary tumors Multi-detector computed tomography [2]. (MDCT) is the most suitable tool for evaluation of the said features, while magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) may be resorted to under specific circumstances, viz., evaluation of complex and cystic lesions [3]. A reasonable understanding of the imaging technology for a surgeon forms the basis of further evaluation and understanding of imaging results [4, 5].

4.2 Technical and Technological Aspects

4.2.1 The Pancreatic Protocol CT Scan [6–8]

A "pancreatic protocol CT scan" remains the basis for rational imaging evaluation of pancreatic and periampullary cancers in current practice [9]. Though the patient is exposed to an additional dose of radiation, the method offers a definite advantage over the conventional scanning technique not only in vascular mapping but also while characterization of lesions. The volume data generated by present day multislice CT scanner is isotropic hence reconstructions as thin as 0.1 mm in all possible anatomical planes. There is no loss of anatomical details or distortion of image morphology in this multiplanar reconstruction (MPR) [10]. Further the vascular anatomy and relation of the pathology to the same can be depicted in three-dimensional volume reconstruction which may give a surgeon a more lucid impression of the operative field. The third and most important advantage offered by the "pancreatic protocol scan" lies in the capability to image whole of the organ multiple times in a single breath-hold. This enables evaluation of the pattern of blood flow as a function of time within the pathology as well as the normal structures in the field. The evaluation of dynamic enhancement pattern of tumor is quite helpful in

Check for updates

A. Verma

Department of Radiodiagnosis and Imaging, Institute of Medical Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_4

characterization of the pathology, as this is utilized as a surrogate of tumoral neoangiogenesis. The protocol consists of a "pancreatic phase" acquired at 30-40 s after intravenous injection. This phase is most sensitive for initial diagnosis as well as for characterization of lesion within the pancreatic parenchyma, most of which remain equivocal in the pure arterial phase (15-30 s) and the portal venous phase (45 s). The field of view [FOV] in the "pancreatic phase" scanning is limited and is aimed at imaging the pancreatic fossa with a high spatial resolution. The pancreas derives arterial feeders from the splenic artery which in turn is a branch of the celiac trunk, wash-in of iodinated contrast media in the pancreatic parenchyma occurs slightly late as compared to other major organs which derive a direct aortic arterial supply, and the "pancreatic phase" is designed to achieve an optimum trade-off between a pure arterial and the venous phases [11, 12]. The biology of pancreatic tumors renders them a relatively hypo-vascular state (in early phase) in comparison to the native parenchyma of the gland due to the fact that most such lesions derive arterial supply from the pancreatic arteries. The preferential channelization of arterial flow toward native parenchyma, preceding the tumoral supply, results in a significant and diagnostic contrast difference between the two (the contrary being visible in the portal venous phase when the tumor shows more enhancement than the native gland). Second to the "pancreatic phase," a "portal venous phase" with extended field of view for detection hepatic metastases and as well as nodal involvement is taken. Further scanning in "portal venous phase" also helps in evaluation of other periampullary tumors [12]. Negative oral contrast may be administered to assist in the latter exercise as the same makes the wall of the bowel more conspicuous and distended [13]. The phasing of intravenous contrast injection is enabled by pre-synchronization of image acquisition protocol to an automated power injection system for delivery of intravenous contrast. The same is achieved either by a "test bolus" or a "smart prep" technique. Intravenous iodinated contrast media is injected optimized to body weight and surface area is

A. Verma

injected at a rate of 4 mI/sec into an antecubital vein and scanning performed at 15–20, 35–40, and 65 s with a 3-mm collimation. A delayed phase (at 120 s) may also be included to differentiate hepatic hemangiomas from metastases, not an uncommon scenario in everyday practice [14].

4.2.2 Role of Other Advanced Diagnostic Techniques

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has been utilized as the second-line modality to address certain queries that remain unattended on CT scan. Protocol similar to above can be planned for MRI as well using intravenous gadolinium injection and three-dimensional image acquisition. The modality offers superior contrast resolution than CT scan but suffers the disadvantage of having a poor spatial resolution [15, 16]. Further even in the developed world, the modality has a limited availability and high cost factor. The main indications are in patients of compromised renal function and in those where preoperative characterization of a tumor is important for surgical planning. In our experience a T1-weighted fatsuppressed MRI offers significant gain in sensitivity over contrast-enhanced CT due to the inherent natural contrast of a tumor from the native tissue [17]. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatogram (ERCP) has been classically utilized to evaluate the obstruction of the biliary tree caused by periampullary cancers. MRI sequence with a high T2 weighting known as magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatogram (MRCP) has superseded ERCP for this purpose, and the latter is now utilized only in situations where a preoperative endoscopic biliary bypass stenting has been planned. The "duct penetration sign" on MRCP, to differentiate inflammatory from neoplastic pancreatic mass, can be correlated better with axial images obtained on MRI. The advent of MRCP has obviated the need of ERCP for pure diagnostic purpose, hence reducing the incidence of procedure-associated morbidity, complications of injecting iodinated contrast in the bile ducts, and the radiation

risks. Positron emission computed tomography (PET-CT) is a staging technique in current practice performed as an adjunct to either of the above for detection of metastases and nodal involvement. The exquisite sensitivity of PET combined with anatomical mapping enabled by CT scan makes PET-CT the modality of choice for this purpose. High-grade neoplasias are "avid" for the uptake of biometabolites like 18-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) which may not be taken up as briskly and voluminously by benign lesions and inflammatory lesions. PET performs better than most other modalities (performed in isolation or in combination) for detection of distant metastases with the sensitivity and specificity approaching 100%. Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) has been reserved for evaluation of equivocal cystic tumors and for performing EUSguided fine-needle aspiration (EUS-FNA). EUS-FNA offers a sensitivity of 80–95% for the initial diagnosis of pancreatic malignancies with obstructive jaundice and chronic pancreatitis adversely affecting the accuracy. Local staging is achieved with an accuracy of 78-94%, while accuracy for nodal involvement is 64-82%. Endoscopic sonography for pancreatic lesions however suffers from a significant inter-observer and intra-observer variations in interpretations due to a high reliance on operator capabilities and expertise. Further the semi-invasive nature of EUS and invasive aspect of EUS-FNA render a risk of certain complications in 0.1-1% cases, viz., hemorrhage, perforation, complications related to anesthesia, and chances of pancreatitis [18]. *Diagnostic laparoscopy* offers a significant gain in sensitivity for detection of fine peritoneal surface metastases and hepatic metastases. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound (CEU) however offers challenge to the former for evaluation of fine metastases in solid organs. With the availability of safe intravenous microbubble sonographic contrast media, CEU has been integrated in routine protocol in high-volume centers where stringent preoperative confirmation of all aspects is mandated to justify the waiting lists for surgical procedure. Staging laparoscopy with laparoscopic ultrasound however remains the modality of choice to study the peritoneal lesions.

Indications for staging laparoscopy being an index lesion of more than 3 cm, an elevated CA 19-9 level (>1000 U/mL), and/or persistent dilemmas on CT scan. In the presence of these findings, the incidence of laparoscopic findings altering management is >10% [19].

4.3 Imaging Appearances of Pancreatic and Periampullary Tumors

Resectability criteria of pancreatic and periampullary tumors are adjudged primarily on the basis of imaging, especially "pancreatic protocol CT scan." Further, characterization of tumors enables an evidence-based approach in deciding the treatment protocol. The exercise of imaging of such tumors consists of three steps as elaborated below.

4.3.1 Initial Detection and Characterization [20]

Adenocarcinoma of the pancreas (Fig. 4.1) is the most common neoplasia causing distortion of pancreatic anatomy and occurs most of the time in the head region (90-95%). The tumor shows less wash-in of contrast media than the native pancreatic parenchyma in the pancreatic phase of CT scan. Locoregional invasion and adenopathy are the other primary signs that may help in detection and characterization of lesion in conjunction with CA 19-9 level estimations in serum [21, 22]. The secondary signs which may assist in detection of an inconspicuous tumor include an upstream pancreatic and biliary ductal dilatation with a "sharp cutoff" at the mass [23-25]. Numerous fine non-enhancing cysts which mostly remain imperceptible on imaging characterize the serous cystic pancreatic tumors [26]. Brisk enhancement of septations within the lesion in the pancreatic parenchymal phase may be noted along with a delayed enhancing central fibrous stellate scar having "sunburst" calcification. Portal phase CT scan usually reveals a "honeycomb" appearance, but a solid-looking lesion





Fig. 4.1 (a) Non-contrast and (b) contrast-enhanced CT scan showing a typical pancreatic adenocarcinoma in the body of pancreas with exfiltration to adjacent fat and fas-

cial planes. The splenic vessels are encased while the lesion is extending and involving the left diaphragmatic crura

is also not uncommon. Rarely internal hemorrhages may be characterized well on MRI, and even certain fluid levels may be seen due to evolution of the sanguineous component of such cysts [27]. These lesions are mostly located in the head of the pancreas and are rarely if ever invasive in nature. Pancreato-biliary ductal dilatation may however be not uncommonly seen, but communication with ducts is almost never visualized [28, 29]. The mucinous cystic tumors comprising of intraductal papillary mucinous tumors (IPMN) (Fig. 4.2) and mucinous cystic neoplasms (MCN) (Fig. 4.3) have larger (>20 mm) but fewer (usually <6) cysts. Since these lesions arise from the pancreatic duct epithelium, focal pancreatic duct dilatation is noted commonly in both tumors [30, 31]. The zone of origin of an IPMN is in proximity to the major ducts and the ampulla of Vater than an MCN; hence, macroscopic ductal communication is more commonly seen in IPMN than in MCN [32, 33]. Accordingly an IPMN may be classified as main duct variety, side branch variety (mostly in head and uncinate process), and combination; they may also be classified as diffuse or segmental, based on the extent of involvement [34]. As the lesion enlarges, adjacent pancreatic parenchyma is compressed to form a "pseudocapsule"; further a fallacious appearance of "internal septations" may be seen due to conglomeration of dilated ducts which may mimic a serous cystic tumor [35]. The presence of pancreatic atrophy, absence of calcification, poor enhancement of the misrepresented "septae" in all phases, and occurrence of the lesion in older men are some of the features favoring a diagnosis of IPMN [36, 37]. In advanced cases excess mucin secreted by the tumor not only fills up the duct but also extrudes through the ampulla of Vater giving a "fish eye" appearance on endoscopy, EUS, and MRI. The relation of the mucinous cystic tumors to the ductal system is well depicted on MRCP, while a possible malignant transformation may be suggested by the presence of an intralesional enhancing nodule or a thick septa, best seen on contrast-enhanced fat-suppressed T1W MRI [38]. The shift toward malignant end of spectrum is more common with MCN. Exophytic location and mural calcification though uncommon overall may be encountered in MCN (than IPMN). Hepatic metastasis may be present in malignant MCN hence a delayed phase imaging is of importance in these patients. As we notice from the above discussion, cystic tumors of the pancreas may rightly be divided into unilocular cysts (MCN, IPMN, oligocystic serous cystadenoma, lymphoepithelial cyst, and cystic pancreatic NET), microcystic lesion (serous cystadenoma), macrocystic lesions (MCN, IPMN, and lymphoepithelial cyst), and cysts with solid components (malignant MCN, IPMN, cystic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor, solid papillary neoplasm, adenocarcinoma) based on image morphology [39-43].

а

Fig. 4.2 (a, b) Contrast enhanced CT scan showing multiple cystic lesions (straight arrows) through out the pancreas with a dilated pancreatic duct (open arrow). (c, d) Endoscopic sonography shows intraductal mural nodules

The neuroendocrine tumors (NET) of the pancreas [44-46] are tumors which are rare and locally docile but have a definite metastatic potential notably to the liver. The functional tumors secrete hormones and cause specific clinical syndromes [47, 48]. The nomenclature of these lesions are according to the bioactive metabolite secreted or detected on special pathological techniques as 30-40% of such lesions are nonfunctional [49, 50]. An association with inherited genetic syndromes like MEN-1 and VHL disease should be ruled out especially when synchronous extrapancreatic tumors or multiple NET in the pancreas are seen [51]. The arterial phase of MDCT or the pancreatic parenchymal phase forms the basis of detection and characterization of these tumors and their metastases as they show brisk early enhancement and

wash-out till the venous phase. EUS may be utilized to sample the lesion by fine needle in equivocal cases. Another situation where EUS may be of importance includes location of these tumors, especially gastrinoma, within the bowel wall. A comprehensive imaging protocol as described earlier in this text should be followed to detect local invasion and metastases to the liver, adrenals, lymph nodes, bones, and lungs. Solid pseudopapillary neoplasm (SPEN/SPT) (Fig. 4.4) is a bulky tumor with late enhancement and low malignant potential. The appearance on imaging is heterogeneous due to hemorrhagic tendency of these lesions [34, 52-56]. The pancreas is one of the common organs for seeding of hematogenous metastases and non-Hodgkin lymphoma, both of which may present as multifocal mass lesions showing less

munication with one of the cysts (open arrow in d) con-

firming the possibility of IPMN







Fig. 4.3 Contrast enhanced CT scan in a case of mucinous cystic tumor in head of pancreas. Note the clear cut margin with portal vein in spite of close abutment (straight

white arrow in panel **b**–**d**). Calcified septa may (straight black arrow in panel **a**) may be seen within the lesion



Fig. 4.4 Non-contrast (left panel) and Contrast-enhanced (right panel) C.T scan showing a typical SPEN. Note the bulky yet well defined and predominantly solid nature of lesion with a speck of calcification (straight arrow)

enhancement than the native parenchyma in the pancreatic phase of CT scan or MRI and a delayed enhancement thereby [57]. Diffuse pancreatic enlargement mimicking pancreatitis is another presentation of these lesions; the absence of telltale signs of retroperitoneal inflammation may assist in imaging diagnosis of these tumors [58, 59]. *Primary pancreatic squamous cell carcinoma* is a rare diagnosis of exclusion with no specific imaging features [60–62].

As already specified, periampullary tumor is a generic name allotted to a group of tumors based on their anatomical location. These include unrelated neoplastic pathologies like the *carcinoma of* the ampulla of Vater, duodenal adenocarcinoma, duodenal gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST) and adenoma, and exfiltrating pancreaticoduodenal lymphadenopathy [63, 64]. Most lesions show a poor early enhancement on a pancreatic protocol CT scan with delayed pooling of contrast. Variable locoregional infiltration is seen depending upon the grade of the primary tumor, but the presence of the "double duct sign" is common to all lesions due to obstruction of both the pancreatic and biliary ductal systems. Further imaging signs of bowel obstruction and loss of gut signature may also be seen. Notably the malignant villous adenomas of the duodenum show enhancement on the arterial phase CT scan with invasion of the pancreas [63, 64]. Tubercular adenopathy in this region and pancreatic tuberculosis are close mimickers of pancreatic and periampullary neoplasia and should always be kept as an imaging differential. EUS-guided fineneedle aspiration and functional imaging, like PET and diffusion-/perfusion-weighted MRI, may be of help in differentiating tuberculosis from a neoplastic pathology [65].

4.4 Preoperative Imaging Work-Up [17, 66]

Surgical planning for pancreatic cancers needs good quality imaging work-up to carefully assess the relation of tumor to the locoregional arteries and spleno-portal axes [67, 68]. The common anatomical variations of arterial system should also be mentioned in the summary of imaging observations as the same is important from the point of view of the kind of vascular reconstruction that might be required in a particular patient. The TNM-AJCC classification forms the basis of reporting template during work-up of pancreatic and periampullary cancers (Table 4.1). Involvement of commonly affected lymph node groups should also be notified; nodes which are anatomically distal to the gastroduodenal artery form poor prognostic indicators [69].

Macroscopic vessel involvement (Fig. 4.5) and the presence of metastasis are the most important determinants of long-term survival after surgery, which are optimally commented upon by imaging. The celiac trunk (CA), common hepatic artery (CHA), superior mesenteric artery (SMA) with first jejunal branch, and aorta should be evaluated for the circumferential contact with the tumor. A contact of <180° with sufficient stump available for reconstruction is a parameter favorable to the surgeon; this may however not hold good if significant contact to the aorta or the first jejunal branch is present. Extraluminal tumoral contact of up to 180° with the spleno-portal axes renders the lesion borderline resectable. MDCT can exclude resectability with a positive predictive value of **[70]**. 89–100% Multiplanar reconstruction directly perpendicular to the seam of vessels is important and should be routinely evaluated to

		CT scan—tumor-vessel relationship				
Clinical stage	AJCC stage	SMA	Celiac axis	CHA	SMV-PV	
Resectable	I/II	Normal plane	Normal plane	Normal plane	Patent (\pm abutment/ encasement)	
Borderline	III	Abutment	Encasement	Abutment or short segment encasement	± short segment occlusion, reconstructable	
Locally advanced	III	Encasement	Encasement	Encased, non-reconstructable	Occluded, non-reconstructable	

 Table 4.1
 Resectability criteria of pancreatic tumors in correlatin with staging



Fig. 4.5 Contrast enhanced CT scan showing a typical case of disseminated pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Note the portal vein and extension of a tumor thrombus within the vein lumen (straight arrow). The accompanying

increase the level of confidence in subtle lesions [71]. Metastases are best evaluated by PET-CT; delayed phase of pancreatic protocol CT scan however may also detect hepatic metastases in a sizable number of cases [72].

The imaging evaluation of pancreatic and periampullary cancers begins with a good quality pancreatic protocol MDCT scan. The lesions in this region are closely located and complex in morphology; hence, assistance from other problem-solving modalities like MRI and endoscopic sonography may also be restored to in specific circumstances. The resectability criteria in current practice however largely depend on CT scan demonstrating tumoral proximity to the major vessels in the region, lymph nodal enlargement, and presence of metastases [73, 74]. Though tumor morphology is assessed mainly during the process of lesion characterization and initial diagnosis, certain cystic tumors and nonfunctional neuroendocrine tumors may be followed up biannually if diagnosed prospectively. This would not only prevent the morbidity associated with extended surgical procedures but also be cost accounting.

References

- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, et al. Cancer statistics, 2006. CA Cancer J Clin. 2006;56:106–30.
- Nikolaidis P, Hammond NA, Day K, Yaghmai V, Wood CG 3rd, Mosbach DS, Harmath CB, Taffel MT,

hepatic artery is non-visualized at the level due to complete involvement. Extension within vein is not an important consideration but arterial involvement may change the surgical planning

Horowitz JM, Berggruen SM, Miller FH. Imaging features of benign and malignant ampullary and periampullary lesions. Radiographics. 2014;34(3):624–41.

- Sarr MG, Murr M, Smyrk TC, et al. Primary cystic neoplasms of the pancreas: neoplastic disorders of emerging importance—current state-ofthe-art and unanswered questions. J Gastrointest Surg. 2003;7:417–28.
- 4. Buck JL, Elsayered AM. Ampullary tumors: radiographic-pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 1993;13:193–212.
- Sahmoun AE, D'Agostino RA Jr, Bell RA, Schwenke DC. International variation in pancreatic cancer mortality for the period 1955–1998. Eur J Epidemiol. 2003;18:801–16.
- Diehl SJ, Lehman KJ, Sadick M, et al. pancreatic cancer value of dual-phase helical CT in assessing resectability. Radiology. 1998;206:373–8.
- Vargas R, Nino-Murcia M, Trueblood W, Jeffrey RB Jr. MDCT in pancreatic adenocarcinoma: prediction of vascular invasion and resectability using a multiphasic technique with curved planar reformations. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;182:419–25.
- Walkey MM, Friedman AC, Sohotra P, et al. CT manifestations of peritoneal carcinomatosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1988;150:1035–41.
- Calculli L, Casadei R, Diacono D, et al. Role of spiral computerized tomography in the staging of pancreatic carcinoma [in Italian]. Radiol Med. 1998;95: 344–8.
- Fukushima H, Itoh S, Takada A, et al. Diagnostic value of curved multiplanar reformatted images in multislice CT for the detection of resectable pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Eur Radiol. 2006;16:1709–18.
- Boland GW, O'Malley ME, Saez M, Fernandez-del-Castillo C, Warshaw AL, Mueller PR. Pancreaticphase versus portal vein-phase helical CT of the pancreas: optimal temporal window for evaluation of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1999a;172:605–8.

- Boland GW, O'Malley ME, Saez M, Fernandez-del-Castillo C, Warshaw AL, et al. Pancreatic phase versus portal vein-phase helical CT of the pancreas. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1999b;172:605–8.
- Richter GM, Simon C, Hoffmann V, et al. Hydrospiral CT of the pancreas in thin section technique [in German]. Radiologe. 1996;36:397–405.
- Legmann P, Vignaux O, Dousset B, et al. Pancreatic tumors: comparison of dual-phase helical CT and endoscopic sonography. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1998;170:1315–22.
- Tirkes T, Sandrasegaran K, Sanyal R, Sherman S, Schmidt CM, Cote GA, Akisik F. Secretin-enhanced MR cholangiopancreatography: spectrum of findings. 2013;33(7):1889–906. https://doi.org/10.1148/ rg.337125014.
- Trede M, Rumstadt B, Wendl K, et al. Ultrafast magnetic resonance imaging improves the staging of pancreatic tumors. Ann Surg. 1997;226:393–405.
- Bipat SB, Phoa SSKS, Delden OM, et al. Ultrasonography, computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging for diagnosis and determining resectability of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2005;29:438–45.
- Varadarajulu S, Wallace MB. Applications of endoscopic ultrasonography in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Control. 2004;11(1):15–22.
- Hough DM, Stephens DH, Johnson CD, Binkovitz LA. Pancreatic lesions in von Hippel-Lindau disease: prevalence, clinical significance, and CT findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1994;162:1091–4.
- Franz VK. Tumors of the pancreas. In: Atlas of tumor pathology: fasc 27-28, ser 7. Washington, DC: Armed Forces Institute of Pathology; 1959. p. 32–3.
- Prokesch RW, Chow LC, Beaulieu CF, Bammer R, Jeffrey RB Jr. Isoattenuating pancreatic adenocarcinoma at multi– detector row CT: secondary signs. Radiology. 2002;224:764–8.
- Valls C, Andia E, Sanchez A, et al. Dual-phase helical CT of pancreatic adenocarcinoma: assessment of resectability before surgery. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2002;178:821–6.
- Lee LY, Hsu HL, Chen HM, Hsueh C. Ductal adenocarcinoma of the pancreas with huge cystic degeneration: a lesion to be distinguished from pseudocyst and mucinous cystadenocarcinoma. Int J Surg Pathol. 2003;11:235–9.
- Warshaw AL, Gu ZY, Wittenberg J, Waltman AC. Preoperative staging and assessment of resectability of pancreatic cancer. Arch Surg. 1990;125(2): 230–3.
- Weiderpass E, Partanen T, Kaaks R, et al. Occurrence, trends and environment etiology of pancreatic cancer. Scand J Work Environ Health. 1998;24:165–74.
- Yamaguchi M. Solid serous adenoma of the pancreas: a solid variant of serous cystadenoma or a separate disease entity. J Gastroenterol. 2006;41:178–9.
- 27. Tseng JF, Warshaw AL, Sahani DV, et al. Serous cystadenoma of the pancreas: tumor growth rates

and recommendations for treatment. Ann Surg. 2005;2(42):413-9.

- Bronstein YL, Loyer EM, Kaur H, et al. Detection of small pancreatic tumors with multiphasic helical CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;182:619–23.
- Perez-Ordonez G, Naseem A, Lieberman PH, Klimstra DS. Solid serous adenoma of the pancreas: the solid variant of the serous cystadenoma? Am J Surg Pathol. 1996;20:1401–5.
- Kawamoto S, Horton KM, Lawler LP, Hruban RH, Fishman EK. Intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm of the pancreas: can benign lesions be differentiated from malignant lesions with multidetector CT? Radiographics. 2005;25:1451–68; discussion 1468–70.
- Procacci C, Megibow AJ, Carbognin G, et al. Intraductal papillary mucinous tumor of the pancreas: a pictorial essay. Radiographics. 1999;19:1447–63.
- Fukukura Y, Fujiyoshi F, Sasaki M, Inoue H, Yonezawa S, Nakajo M. Intraductal papillary mucinous tumors of the pancreas: thin-section helical CT findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2000;174:441–7.
- 33. Song SJ, Lee JM, Kim YJ, Kim SH, Lee JY, Han JK, et al. Differentiation of intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms from other pancreatic cystic masses: comparison of multirow-detector CT and MR imaging using ROC analysis. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2007;26:86–93.
- Buetow PC, Buck JL, Pantongrag-Brown L, Beck KG, Ros PR, Adair CF. Solid and papillary epithelial neoplasm of the pancreas: imaging-pathologic correlation on 56 cases. Radiology. 1996;199(3):707–11.
- Yoshimi N, Sugie S, Tanaka T, et al. A rare case of serous cystadenocarcinoma of the pancreas. Cancer. 1992;69:2449–53.
- Horvath KD, Chabot JA. An aggressive resectional approach to cystic neoplasms of the pancreas. Am J Surg. 1999;178:269–74.
- Taouli B, Vilgrain V, Vullierme MP, et al. Intraductal papillary mucinous tumors of the pancreas: helical CT with histopathologic correlation. Radiology. 2000;217:757–64.
- Sahani DV, Kadavigere R, Saokar A, Fernandez-del Castillo C, Brugge WR, Hahn PF. Cystic pancreatic lesions: a simple imaging-based classification system for guiding management. Radiographics. 2005;25:1471–84.
- 39. Cohen-Scali F, Vilgrain V, Brancatelli G, Hammel P, Vullierme MP, Sauvanet A, et al. Discrimination of unilocular macrocystic serous cystadenoma from pancreatic pseudocyst and mucinous cystadenoma with CT: initial observations. Radiology. 2003;228: 727–33.
- 40. Curry CA, Eng J, Horton KM, Urban B, Siegelman S, Kuszyk BS, et al. CT of primary cystic pancreatic neoplasms: can CT be used for patient triage and treatment? AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2000;175:99–103.
- Brennen DDD, Zamboni GA, Raptopoulos VD, Kruskal JB. Comprehensive preoperative assessment

of pancreatic adenocarcinoma with 64-slice volumetric CT. Radiographics. 2007;27:1653–66.

- Demos TC, Psniak HV, Harmath C, Olson MC, Aranha G. Cystic lesions of the pancreas. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2002;179:1375–88.
- Kehagias D, Smyrniotis V, Gouliamos A, Vlahos L. Cystic pancreatic neoplasms: computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging findings. Int J Pancreatol. 2000;28:223–30.
- 44. Fidler JL, Fletcher JG, Reading CC, et al. Preoperative detection of pancreatic insulinomas on multiphasic helical CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2003;181(3):775–80.
- Mansour JC, Chen H. Pancreatic endocrine tumors. J Surg Res. 2004;120(1):139–61.
- Lewis RB, Lattin GE Jr, Paal E. Pancreatic endocrine tumors: radiologic-clinicopathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2010;30:1445–64.
- 47. Gouya H, Vignaux O, Augui J, et al. CT, endoscopic sonography, and a combined protocol for preoperative evaluation of pancreatic insulinomas. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2003;181(4):987–92.
- Semelka RC, Custodio CM, Cem Balci N, Woosley JT. Neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas: spectrum of appearances on MRI. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2000;11(2):141–8.
- Horton KM, Hruban RH, Yeo C, Fishman EK. Multidetector row CT of pancreatic islet cell tumors. Radiographics. 2006;26(2):453–64.
- Sheth S, Hruban RK, Fishman EK, et al. Helical CT of islet cell tumors of the pancreas: typical and atypical manifestations. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2002;179:725–30.
- 51. Scarsbrook AF, Thakker RV, Wass JA, Gleeson FV, Phillips RR. Multiple endocrine neoplasia: spectrum of radiologic appearances and discussion of a multitechnique imaging approach. Radiographics. 2006;26(2):433–51.
- 52. Al-Qahtani S, Gudinchet F, Laswed T, et al. Solid pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas in children: typical radiological findings and pathological correlation. Clin Imaging. 2010;34(2):152–6.
- Buetow PC, Rao P, Thompson LD. Mucinous cystic neoplasm of the pancreas: radiologic-pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 1998;18(2):443–9.
- 54. Matos J, Grützman R, Agaram NP, et al. Solid Pseudopapillary Neoplasms of the Pancreas: A Multi-institutional Study of 21 Patients. J Surg Res. 2009;57(1):e137–42.
- 55. Mirminachi B, Farrokhzad S, Sharifi AH, Nikfam S, Nikmanesh A, Malekzadeh R, Pourshams A. Solid Pseudopapillary Neoplasm of Pancreas; A Case Series and Review Literature. Middle East J Dig Dis. 2016;8:102–8. https://doi.org/10.15171/mejdd.2016.14.
- 56. Wang DB, Wang QB, Chai WM, Chen KM, Deng XX. Imaging features of solid pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas on multi-detector row

computed tomography. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15(7):829–35.

- 57. Hibi T, Ojima H, Sakamoto Y, et al. A solid pseudopapillary tumor arising from the greater omentum followed by multiple metastases with increasing malignant potential. J Gastroenterol. 2006;41:276–81.
- Francis IR, Cohan RH, McNulty NJ. Multidetector CT of the liver and hepatic neoplasms: effect of multiphasic imaging on tumor conspicuity and vascular enhancement. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2003;180:1217–24.
- Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P, Cavallini G, et al. Pancreatitis and the risk of pancreatic cancer: International Pancreatitis Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1993;328:1433–7.
- Cantisani V, Mortele KJ, Levy A, et al. MR imaging features of solid pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas in adult and pediatric patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2003;181(2):395–401.
- Choi BI, Kim KW, Han MC, et al. Solid and papillary epithelial neoplasm of the pancreas: CT findings. Radiology. 1988;166(2):413–6.
- 62. Ichikawa T, Federle MP, Ohba S, et al. Atypical exocrine and endocrine pancreatic tumors (anaplastic, small cell, and giant cell types): CT and pathologic features in 14 patients. Abdom Imaging. 2000;25(4):409–19.
- 63. Kim TU, Kim S, Lee JW, et al. Ampulla of vater: comprehensive anatomy, MR imaging of pathologic conditions, and correlation with endoscopy. Eur J Radiol. 2008;66(1):48–64.
- 64. Kim JH, Kim MJ, Chung JJ, Lee WJ, Yoo HS, Lee JT. Differential diagnosis of periampullary carcinomas at MR imaging. Radiographics. 2002;22(6): 1335–52.
- 65. Roche CJ, Hughes ML, Garvey CJ, et al. CT and pathologic assessment of prospective nodal staging in patients with ductal adenocarcinoma of the head of the pancreas. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2003;180:475–80.
- 66. Andersson R, Vagianos CE, Williamson RC. Preoperative staging and evaluation of resectability in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. HPB (Oxford). 2004;6(1):5–12.
- Holzheimer RG, Mannick JA, editors. Surgical treatment: evidence-based and problem oriented. Munich: Zuckschwerdt; 2001.
- Hassanen O, Ghieda U, Eltomey MA. Assessment of vascular invasion in pancreatic carcinoma by Multi detector CT. Egypt J Radiol Nucl Med. 2014;45:271–7.
- Clark LR, Jaffe MH, Choyke PL, et al. Pancreatic imaging. Radiol Clin North Am. 1985;23:489–501.
- Egorov IV, Yashima IN, Fedorov VA, Karmazanovsky GG, Vishnevsky AV, Shevchenko VT. Celiacomesenterial arterial aberrations in patients undergoing extended pancreatic resections: correlation of CT angiography with findings at surgery. JOP. 2010;11(4):348–57.

- Pham DT, Hura SA, Willmann JK, Nino-murcia M, Jeffrey RB Jr. evaluation of periampullary pathology with CT volumetric oblique coronal reformations. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2009;193(3):W202–8.
- Brugel M, Link TM, Rummeny EJ, Lange P, Theisen J, Dobritz M. Assessment of vascular invasion in pancreatic head cancer with multislice spiral CT: value of multiplanar reconstructions. Eur Radiol. 2004;14:1188–95.
- Lopez EN, Prendergast C, Lowy MA. Borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: definition and management. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(31): 10740–51.
- 74. Lu DSK, Reber HA, Krasny RM, et al. Local staging of pancreatic cancer: criteria for unresectability of major vessels as revealed by pancreatic-phase, thin-section helical CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1997;168:1439–43.


5

Role of Preoperative Biliary Stenting and Preoperative Preparation Before Pancreaticoduodenectomy

Rishi Batra and Chandrakanth Are

5.1 Introduction

In the United States, an estimated 53,070 new patients will be diagnosed with pancreatic cancer in 2017, of which the majority is expected to die from the disease [1]. Nearly 85% of these exocrine pancreatic cancers will be adenocarcinomas for which surgical resection is the only potentially curative treatment option. The overall 5-year survival for pancreatic cancer is dismal at 6% [2]. After pancreaticoduo-denectomy, the 5-year survival is about 25–30% for node-negative and 10% for node-positive disease [3, 4].

5.2 Biliary Stenting

Allen O. Whipple first described the need for biliary decompression in 1935 [5]. Until the late 1970s, management of malignant pancreatic and biliary obstruction in unresectable patients included surgical bypass with a choledochojejunostomy or hepaticojejunostomy. In 1974, percutaneous transhepatic cholangiography (PTC) was introduced with the use of a thin flexible 22-gauge needle (Chiba needle) by Kunio Okuda in Japan. Percutaneous transhepatic biliary decompression

Department of Surgery, University of Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE, USA e-mail: care@unmc.edu was initially reported to lower operative morbidity in patients with obstructive jaundice [6]. In 1980, Soehendra and Reynders-Frederix first described the use of endoscopic biliary stenting for decompression [7]. It has been noted by some that biliary drainage can combat the adverse effects of biliary obstruction and cholestasis such as direct hepatic injury, impaired immune function, cardiovascular, and renal dysfunction [8–10].

The role of preoperative biliary stenting has been debated extensively. Reduced mortality, less morbidity, and shorter hospital stays have been reported by some [11–14], while others have found no difference in outcomes in comparison to patients who went directly to surgery [15, 16]. Biliary stenting can be used as a bridge to surgery for pancreatic cancer [10] (to relieve jaundice and pruritus, minimize the risk of developing cholangitis, and also facilitate the administration of neoadjuvant therapy in patients with locally advanced pancreatic cancer) or for palliation in patients with unresectable disease.

A large Dutch study, DRainage vs. OPeration (DROP trial), evaluated the rate of serious complications for patients undergoing preoperative biliary drainage (PBD) for 4–6 weeks, followed by surgery, or to undergo surgery alone within 1 week after diagnosis [17, 18]. The rates of overall serious complications were significantly higher in patients who underwent PBD (74% vs. 39%, p < 0.001) compared to surgery alone. However,

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_5

R. Batra \cdot C. Are (\boxtimes)

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

there was not a significantly increased rate of surgery-related complications (47% vs. 37%, p = 0.14). It was concluded that routine PBD in patients undergoing surgery for pancreatic cancer increased the rate of serious complications. Some of the high complications can be attributed to the small plastic stents used in the study [19]. Self-expanding metallic stents (SEMSs) have been shown to be superior in terms of durability and patency. Thus, metallic stents are now preferred and recommended over plastic stents whenever PBD is indicated [20, 21].

In the most recent Cochrane review (2012) of six trials with 520 patients comparing preoperative biliary drainage (265 patients) versus no preoperative biliary drainage (255 patients), it was concluded that there is currently not sufficient evidence to support or refute routine preoperative biliary drainage for patients with obstructive jaundice [22]. Preoperative biliary drainage did not reduce mortality in patients with obstructive jaundice. It was not recommended to routinely use preoperative biliary drainage in patients with obstructive jaundice who are about to undergo surgery outside well-designed randomized clinical trials.

5.2.1 Indications

Routine preoperative biliary stenting via endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) remains controversial due to the risks associated with the procedure such as infection, pancreatitis, and bleeding. The major benefits of decompression remain relief of jaundice and to prevent complications due to cholestasis. The major indications for preoperative biliary drainage include acute cholangitis, intense pruritus, and when surgery is anticipated to be delayed for greater than 2 weeks [23] (Table 5.1, Fig. 5.1).

 Table 5.1
 Indications for biliary stenting

Acute cholangitis
Intense pruritus
Delayed surgery (>2 weeks)



Fig. 5.1 ERCP-guided stent placement (Courtesy Shailender Singh, M.D.)

5.2.2 Types of Stents: Selection

Endoscopic biliary stenting has been reported to be technically successful in >90% of attempted cases [24]. Thus, relatively few require surgical biliary-enteric bypass as a planned palliative procedure. Plastic stents made of teflon, polyurethane, or polyethylene are inexpensive and effective and can be placed without sphincterotomy [10]. Stents typically measure 5–15 cm in length and include diameter sizes ranging from 7, 8.5, 10, to 11.5 Fr. However, plastic stents are more prone to develop occlusion by sludge and/ or bacterial biofilm and are more likely to require repeated ERCPs. Plastic stent patency varies from 60 to 200 days. Self-expanding metallic stents are available as uncovered, partially covered, or fully covered. Metal stents were introduced to alleviate problems associated with plastic stents and extend the duration of stent patency [25, 26]. Initial concerns were raised that metallic foreign stents can incite inflammation and increase the difficulty or complexity of the surgical procedure. However, evidence has shown that metallic stents are safe and efficacious and can be used in the preoperative setting [27, 28] (Table 5.2).

Uncovered stents can be placed anywhere in the biliary tree but have limited removability and higher rates of tumor ingrowth [29, 30]. In contrast, the primary advantage of covered metal

WallFlex stents (Boston Scientific)
Wallstent stents (Boston Scientific)
Zilver stent (Cook Endoscopy)
FLEXXUS stent (ConMed Corporation)
ALIMAXX-B stent (MeritMedical Systems, Inc.)
X-Suit NIR biliary stent (Olympus, Inc.)
Viabil stent (The W.L. Gore & Associates, Inc.,
marketed by ConMed Corporation)
Bonastent Biliary (EndoChoice, Inc.)

Table 5.2 Types of stents

stents is the reduction of tumor ingrowth. Metallic stents can be made of stainless steel, nitinol (nickel and titanium), or Platinol. The benefits for metallic stenting include decreased rates of stent dysfunction, infectious complications such as cholangitis, and the need for re-intervention [10]. Mean patency rates of 278 days have been reported for metallic stents [31]. However, metal stents have higher costs and may not be extractable.

The most common complications associated with stenting include stent occlusion and stent migration. The rates of migration vary, however, approximately 5% of plastic stents and partially covered SEMSs are known to migrate. The highest rates of migration are noted in fully covered SEMSs that migrate at a rate of 20% [32]. Other, less common complications of biliary stent placement include pancreatitis, perforation, bleeding, infectious complications such as cholecystitis, and cholangitis [33]. The type of stent placed must be individualized to meet the needs of the patient (Fig. 5.2).

5.2.3 Tissue Diagnosis

Typically, histologic diagnosis is not required for patients with presumed pancreatic cancer when combined with appropriate imaging characteristics on high-quality pancreas protocol imaging. However, tissue biopsy is required prior to initiation of neoadjuvant therapy in patients with borderline resectable or locally advanced pancreatic cancer. Despite state of the art imaging, 20–33% of patients with presumed resectable disease were found to have unresectable disease intraoperatively [34–36]. Therefore, staging diagnostic



Fig. 5.2 Plastic stent placement (Courtesy Shailender Singh, M.D.)

laparoscopy is recommended in those with high likelihood of occult metastatic disease.

5.3 Risk Stratification

Surgical resection remains the only potentially curative treatment option for the 15-20% of patients who are candidates for pancreatectomy. If resectability is technically feasible, the patient must be evaluated and risk stratified prior to undergoing a major noncardiac surgery. Initial preoperative evaluation of patient consists of a full history and physical examination to assess the risk for cardiovascular, pulmonary, or any other complication. Symptoms such as angina, dyspnea, syncope, and palpitations should be addressed. Any positive history of heart disease including ischemic, valvular, or myopathic disease should be explored to delineate disease severity, stability, and prior treatment [37]. A history of smoking, significant alcohol use, hypertension, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, and cerebrovascular or peripheral artery disease increases the risk of serious perioperative cardiac complication [38]. Key physical examination

60

findings may include cardiac murmur suspicious for heart failure and valvular heart disease. Cardiac functional status can be appreciated in terms of metabolic equivalents (1 MET is defined as 3.5 mL O₂ uptake/kg per min). The inability to climb two flights of stairs or walk four blocks is characterized as poor functional status and increases the risk of postoperative cardiopulmonary complications after major noncardiac surgery [37]. Daily smokers (>2 cigarettes a day for 1 year) have an increased risk of pulmonary and wound healing complications [39]. Patients that have a 20 pack-year smoking history have a higher incidence of postoperative pulmonary complication [40]. Smoking cessation 1 month prior to the operation is currently recommended to reduce associated risks [41]. Given the duration of the operation (>4 h), patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy are at a higher risk of pulmonary complication [42, 43].

The risk for adverse cardiovascular event is related to patient-based risk factors and type of surgical operation. Proper identification and classification helps determine the potential morbidity and mortality associated with pursuing surgical intervention. The Revised Goldman Cardiac Risk Index estimates risk of cardiac death, nonfatal myocardial infarction, and nonfatal cardiac arrest based on the presence of any of the six independent predictors of major cardiac complications [44, 45] (Tables 5.3 and 5.4). Preoperative

 Table 5.3 Revised Goldman Cardiac Risk Index (RCRI) [44]

High-risk type of surgery (examples include vascular surgery and any open intraperitoneal or intrathoracic procedures)
History of ischemic heart disease (history of MI or a positive exercise test, current complaint of chest pain considered to be secondary to myocardial ischemia, use of nitrate therapy, or ECG with pathological Q waves; do not count prior coronary revascularization procedure unless one of the other criteria for ischemic heart disease is present)
History of HF
History of cerebrovascular disease
Diabetes mellitus requiring treatment with insulin

Preoperative serum creatinine >2.0 mg/dL

(177 µmol/L)

Table 5.4 Rate of cardiac death, nonfatal myocardial infarction, and nonfatal cardiac arrest according to the number of predictors [45]

No risk factors—0.4%	
One risk factor—1.0%	
Two risk factors—2.4%	
Three or more risk factors—5.4%	

electrocardiogram (EKG) should be obtained to serve as a baseline for diagnosing potential abnormalities postoperatively.

5.3.1 Surgical Risk Calculator

The American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program (ACS NSQIP) has developed a decision-support tool based on 20 patient risk factors and multiinstitutional clinical data which can be used to estimate the risks of most operations, including pancreaticoduodenectomy [46]. The ACS-NSQIP Surgical Risk Calculator estimates the likelihood of postoperative complications, including death after an operation. It also provides a predicted length of hospital stay tailored to the patient. The risk calculator may not capture every potential comorbidity; thus, surgeons may adjust the estimated risks within an interval if they feel the calculated risks are underestimated. The predicated risk of discharge to a nursing or rehabilitation facility can be provided to aid in preoperative planning and discussion with the patient and family. Using a predictive model is not always accurate but allows the surgeon to quantify the risks and potential complications associated with pursuing surgical intervention. Similarly, a preoperative nomogram was developed and is available to predict perioperative mortality following pancreatic resection for malignancy using common preoperative comorbidities [47].

5.4 Preoperative Preparation

Preoperative management of patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy requires thorough assessment of medical conditions and nutritional status. The patient must be optimized prior to surgery in an effort to reduce risk for postoperative complications and improve postoperative outcomes. A multidisciplinary treatment team consisting of surgeons, gastroenterologists, medical oncologists, radiation oncologists, and pain specialists can help deliver comprehensive care to patients in preparation for the operation. The thorough and complete treatment plan includes discharge planning, which begins prior to the operation.

After the patient has been risk stratified and appropriately evaluated for potential surgical intervention, the patient must be carefully counseled and perioperative expectations addressed. Surgeons have an ethical and legal duty to provide adequate information to the patient so that patients can make an informed decision on their treatment options [48]. Patients must understand their diagnosis, the proposed treatment or procedure, alternative treatment options (surgical or medical), risks and benefits of the treatment or procedure, and finally the risks of refusing treatment [49, 50]. The preoperative and postoperative expected course should be described, with an in-depth disclosure of potential complications that could occur, including death.

Nutritional support: Patients undergoing resection due to pancreatic cancer may become significantly malnourished and can rapidly develop anorexia-cachexia syndrome [51]. Greater than one third of patients with pancreatic cancer lose >10% of their initial body weight prior to diagnosis [52]. Weight loss may be due to ongoing symptoms of abdominal pain, anorexia, early satiety, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea or constipation [53]. Additionally, metabolic aberrations may lead to increased protein catabolism and increased energy expenditure [54]. Although routine use of preoperative artificial nutrition is not warranted, significantly malnourished patients may benefit with oral supplements or enteral nutrition preoperatively. Seven to 10 days of preoperative parenteral nutritional support is recommended preoperatively for severely malnourished cancer patients.

Bowel preparation: Patients should be instructed begin a clear liquid diet beginning 48 h prior to scheduled resection. A study by Lavu

et al. [54] noted no significant benefit for bowel preparation prior to pancreaticoduodenectomy. However, most surgeons still continue to use bowel preparation (mechanical or antibiotic or both) prior to pancreatic resection.

Thromboprophylaxis: The modified Caprini risk assessment model for venous thromboembolism (VTE) in general surgical patients estimates the risk of VTE [55]. Risk is further increased in patients with malignancy and in particular pancreatic adenocarcinoma [56]. Therefore, patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy are considered to be moderate to high risk for VTE, and pharmacologic thromboprophylaxis is recommended in addition to intermittent pneumatic compression devices prior to induction of anesthesia. Venous thromboembolism was found to be decreased significantly when pharmacologic thromboprophylaxis was given to patients undergoing pancreatic resection for malignancy [57].

Discharge planning: Despite predictive models and risk assessment, it is difficult to determine disposition as postoperative morbidity determines the length of stay and the final discharge disposition. Pancreatic fistula, abscesses, and delayed gastric emptying are well-studied complications that can impede discharge to home [58]. Patients aged >70 years and those with three or more preoperative comorbidities are more likely to need assistance after discharge, and nearly half the patients will require some assistance after discharge [59, 60]. The home discharge rate was found to be decreased from 68.8 to 36.0% in patients aged >70 years. This becomes more important as the proportion of older patients with resectable pancreatic malignancies has also increased [61]. Therefore, discharge planning begins prior to the operation with a patient-centered approach.

5.5 Summary

Pancreatic resections are morbid procedures that are fraught with an acceptable mortality rate, but a high morbidity rate. A thorough, systematic, and methodical approach to preoperative planning and risk stratification is mandatory to improve patient selection and optimize outcomes.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66:7–30.
- Gong Z, Holly EA, Bracci PM. Survival in population-based pancreatic cancer patients: San Francisco Bay Area, 1995-1999. Am J Epidemiol. 2011;174:1373–81.
- Grover S, Syngal S. Hereditary pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterology. 2010;139(4):1076–80, 1080.e1-2.
- Cameron JL, He J. Two thousand consecutive pancreaticoduodenectomies. J Am Coll Surg. 2015;220:530–6.
- Whipple AO, Parsons WB, Mullins CR. Treatment of carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater. Ann Surg. 1935;102(4):763–79.
- Denning DA, Ellison EC, Carey LC. Preoperative percutaneous transhepatic biliary decompression lowers operative morbidity in patients with obstructive jaundice. Am J Surg. 1981;141:61–5.
- Soehendra N, Reynders-Frederix V. Palliative bile duct drainage—a new endoscopic method of introducing a transpapillary drain. Endoscopy. 1980;12:8–11.
- Green J, Beyar R, Bomzon L, Finberg JP, Better OS. Jaundice, the circulation and the kidney. Nephron. 1984;37:145–52.
- Parks RW, Halliday MI, McCrory DC, Erwin P, Smye M, Diamond T, Rowlands BJ. Host immune responses and intestinal permeability in patients with jaundice. Br J Surg. 2003;90:239–45.
- Rodarte-Shade M, Kahaleh M. Stent placement as a bridge to surgery in malignant biliary obstruction (pancreatic cancer, distal bile duct cancer, and hilar tumors). Gastrointest Interv. 2015;4:21–6.
- Nakayama T, Ikeda A, Okuda K. Percutaneous transhepatic drainage of the biliary tract. Technique and results in 104 cases. Gastroenterology. 1978;74:554–9.
- Gundry SR, Strodel WE, Knol JA, Eckhauser FE, Thompson NW. Efficacy of preoperative biliary tract decompression in patients with obstructive jaundice. Arch Surg. 1984;119:703–8.
- Smith RC, Pooley M, George CRP, Faithful GR. Preoperative percutaneous transhepatic internal drainage in obstructive jaundice: a randomized, controlled trial examining renal function. Surgery. 1985;97:641–8.
- Robison R, Madura J, Scholten D, Lempke R, Rabe F, Glover J, Becker G, Cockerill E, Broadie T. Percutaneous transhepatic drainage for malignant biliary obstruction. Am Surg. 1984;50:329–33.
- Martignoni ME, Wagner M, Krähenbühl L, Redaelli CA, Friess H, Büchler MW. Effect of preoperative biliary drainage on surgical outcome after pancreatoduodenectomy. Am J Surg. 2001;181:52–9.
- Sewnath ME, Birjmohun RS, Rauws EAJ, Huibregtse K, Obertop H, Gouma DJ. The effect of preoperative biliary drainage on postoperative complications after pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Am Coll Surg. 2001;192:726–34.

- 17. Van Der Gaag NA, De Castro SMM, Rauws EAJ, Bruno MJ, Van Eijck CHJ, Kuipers EJ, Gerritsen JJGM, Rutten J, Greve JW, Hesselink EJ, Klinkenbijl JHG, Rinkes IHMB, Boerma D, Bonsing BA, Van Laarhoven CJ, Kubben FJGM, Van Der Harst E, Sosef MN, Bosscha K, De Hingh IHJT, Th De Wit L, Van Delden OM, Busch ORC, Van Gulik TM, Bossuyt PMM, Gouma DJ. Preoperative biliary drainage for periampullary tumors causing obstructive jaundice; DRainage vs. (direct) OPeration (DROP-trial). BMC Surg. 2007;7:3.
- 18. van dG, Rauws EAJ, van Eijck CHJ, Bruno MJ, van dH, Kubben FJGM, Gerritsen JJGM, Greve JW, Gerhards MF, de Hingh IHJT, Klinkenbijl JH, Nio CY, de Castro SMM, Busch ORC, van Gulik TM, Bossuyt PMM, Gouma DJ. Preoperative biliary drainage for cancer of the head of the pancreas. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:129–37.
- Baron TH, Kozarek RA. Preoperative biliary stents in pancreatic cancer—proceed with caution. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:170–2.
- Moss AC, Morris E, Mac Mathuna P. Palliative biliary stents for obstructing pancreatic carcinoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 25;(1):CD004200.
- 21. Tol JAMG, Van Hooft JE, Timmer R, Kubben FJGM, Van Der Harst E, De Hingh IHJT, Vleggaar FP, Molenaar IQ, Keulemans YCA, Boerma D, Bruno MJ, Schoon EJ, Van Der Gaag NA, Besselink MGH, Fockens P, Van Gulik TM, Rauws EAJ, Busch ORC, Gouma DJ. Metal or plastic stents for preoperative biliary drainage in resectable pancreatic cancer. Gut. 2016;65:1981–7.
- Fang Y, Gurusamy KS, Wang Q, Davidson BR, Lin H, Xie X, Wang C. Pre-operative biliary drainage for obstructive jaundice. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;9.
- 23. Baron TH, Petersen BT, Mergener K, Chak A, Cohen J, Deal SE, Hoffinan B, Jacobson BC, Petrini JL, Safdi MA, Faigel DO, Pike IM. Quality indicators for endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101:892–7.
- Cotton PB. Income and outcome metrics for the objective evaluation of ERCP and alternative methods. Gastrointest Endosc. 2002;56:S283–90.
- Moss AC, Morris E, Leyden J, MacMathuna P. Malignant distal biliary obstruction: a systematic review and meta-analysis of endoscopic and surgical bypass results. Cancer Treat Rev. 2007;33:213–21.
- Sawas T, Al Halabi S, Parsi MA, Vargo JJ. Selfexpandable metal stents versus plastic stents for malignant biliary obstruction: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc. 2015;82:256–267.e7.
- 27. Lawrence C, Howell DA, Conklin DE, Stefan AM, Martin RF. Delayed pancreaticoduodenectomy for cancer patients with prior ERCP-placed, nonforeshortening, self-expanding metal stents: a positive outcome. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;63:804–7.
- 28. Sun C, Yan G, Li Z, Tzeng C. A meta-analysis of the effect of preoperative biliary stenting on patients

with obstructive jaundice. Medicine (Baltimore). 2014;93(26):e189.

- 29. Loew BJ, Howell DA, Sanders MK, Desilets DJ, Kortan PP, May GR, Shah RJ, Chen YK, Parsons WG, Hawes RH, Cotton PB, Slivka AA, Ahmad J, Lehman GA, Sherman S, Neuhaus H, Schumacher BM. Comparative performance of uncoated, selfexpanding metal biliary stents of different designs in 2 diameters: final results of an international multicenter, randomized, controlled trial. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;70:445–53.
- Yang KY, Ryu JK, Seo JK, Woo SM, Park JK, Kim Y, Yoon YB. A comparison of the Niti-D biliary uncovered stent and the uncovered Wallstent in malignant biliary obstruction. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;70:45–51.
- 31. Yoon WJ, Ryu JK, Yang KY, Paik WH, Lee JK, Woo SM, Park JK, Kim Y, Yoon YB. A comparison of metal and plastic stents for the relief of jaundice in unresectable malignant biliary obstruction in Korea: an emphasis on cost-effectiveness in a country with a low ERCP cost. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;70:284–9.
- 32. Dumonceau J, Tringali A, Blero D, Devière J, Laugiers R, Heresbach D, Costamagna G. Biliary stenting: indications, choice of stents and results: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) clinical guideline. 2012;44(03):277–98.
- 33. Inamdar S, Slattery E, Bhalla R, Sejpal DV, Trindade AJ. Comparison of adverse events for endoscopic vs percutaneous biliary drainage in the treatment of malignant biliary tract obstruction in an Inpatient National Cohort. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2:112–7.
- 34. Allen VB, Gurusamy KS, Takwoingi Y, Kalia A, Davidson BR. Diagnostic accuracy of laparoscopy following computed tomography (CT) scanning for assessing the resectability with curative intent in pancreatic and periampullary cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;6;7:CD009323doi: https:// doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009323.pub3.
- Liu RC, Traverso LW. Diagnostic laparoscopy improves staging of pancreatic cancer deemed locally unresectable by computed tomography. Surg Endosc. 2005;19:638–42.
- 36. Thomson BNJ, Parks RW, Redhead DN, Welsh FKS, Madhavan KK, Wigmore SJ, Garden OJ. Refining the role of laparoscopy and laparoscopic ultrasound in the staging of presumed pancreatic head and ampullary tumours. Br J Cancer. 2006;94:213–7.
- 37. Eagle KA, Berger PB, Calkins H, Chaitman BR, Ewy GA, Fleischmann KE, Fleisher LA, Froehlich JB, Gusberg RJ, Leppo JA, Ryan T, Schlant RC, Winters WL Jr, Gibbons RJ, Antman EM, Alpert JS, Faxon DP, Fuster V, Gregoratos G, Jacobs AK, Hiratzka LF, Russell RO, Smith SC Jr. ACC/ AHA guideline update for perioperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery—executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee to Update the

1996 Guidelines on Perioperative Cardiovascular Evaluation for Noncardiac Surgery) 123. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;39:542–53.

- 38. Eagle KA, Brundage BH, Chaitman BR, Ewy GA, Fleisher LA, Hertzer NR, Leppo JA, Ryan T, Schlant RC, Spencer WH III, Spittell JA Jr, Twiss RD, Ritchie JL, Cheitlin MD, Gardner TJ, Garson A Jr, Lewis RP, Gibbons RJ, O'Rourke RA, Ryan TJ. Guidelines for perioperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery: Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines (Committee on Perioperative Cardiovascular Evaluation for Noncardiac Surgery). Circulation. 1996;93:1278–317.
- 39. Grønkjær M, Eliasen M, Skov-Ettrup LS, Tolstrup JS, Christiansen AH, Mikkelsen SS, Becker U, Flensborg-Madsen T. Preoperative smoking status and postoperative complications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Surg. 2014;259:52–71.
- Warner MA, Divertie MB, Tinker JH. Preoperative cessation of smoking and pulmonary complications in coronary artery bypass patients. Anesthesiology. 1984;60:380–3.
- Sorensen LT, Karlsmark T, Gottrup F. Abstinence from smoking reduces incisional wound infection: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg. 2003;238:1–5.
- Brooks-Brunn JA. Predictors of postoperative pulmonary complications following abdominal surgery. Chest. 1997;111:564–71.
- 43. McAlister FA, Khan NA, Straus SE, Papaioakim M, Fisher BW, Majumdar SR, Gajic O, Daniel M, Tomlinson G. Accuracy of the preoperative assessment in predicting pulmonary risk after nonthoracic surgery. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167:741–4.
- 44. Lee TH, Marcantonio ER, Mangione CM, Thomas EJ, Polanczyk CA, Cook EF, Sugarbaker DJ, Donaldson MC, Poss R, Ho KKL, Ludwig LE, Pedan A, Goldman L. Derivation and prospective validation of a simple index for prediction of cardiac risk of major noncardiac surgery. Circulation. 1999;100:1043–9.
- 45. Devereaux PJ, Goldman L, Cook DJ, Gilbert K, Leslie K, Guyatt GH. Perioperative cardiac events in patients undergoing noncardiac surgery: a review of the magnitude of the problem, the pathophysiology of the events and methods to estimate and communicate risk. CMAJ. 2005;173:627–34.
- 46. Bilimoria KY, Liu Y, Paruch JL, Zhou L, Kmiecik TE, Ko CY, Cohen ME. Development and evaluation of the universal ACS NSQIP surgical risk calculator: a decision aid and informed consent tool for patients and surgeons. J Am Coll Surg. 2013;217(5):833–42. e1-3.
- Are C, Afuh C, Ravipati L, Sasson A, Ullrich F, Smith L. Preoperative nomogram to predict risk of perioperative mortality following pancreatic resections for malignancy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2009;13:2152–62.
- Berg J, Appelbaum P, Lidz C. Informed consent: legal theory and clinical practice. New York: Oxford University Press; 2001.

- 49. Perrenoud B, Velonaki V, Bodenmann P, Ramelet A. The effectiveness of health literacy interventions on the informed consent process of health care users: a systematic review protocol. JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep. 2015;13:82–94.
- 50. Lassen K, Coolsen MME, Slim K, Carli F, De Aguilar-Nascimento JE, Schäfer M, Parks RW, Fearon KCH, Lobo DN, Demartines N, Braga M, Ljungqvist O, Dejong CHC. Guidelines for perioperative care for pancreaticoduodenectomy: enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS®) society recommendations. World J Surg. 2013;37:240–58.
- Gärtner S, Krüger J, Aghdassi A. Nutrition in pancreatic cancer: a review. Gastrointest Tumors. 2016;2(4): 195–202. https://doi.org/10.1159/000442873. Epub 2016 Jan 8.
- 52. Davidson W, Ash S, Capra S, Bauer J, Fearon KCH, von Meyenfeldt MF, Roy A, Gouma DJ, Giacosa A, Van Gossum A, Ash S. Weight stabilisation is associated with improved survival duration and quality of life in unresectable pancreatic cancer. Clin Nutr. 2004;23:239–47.
- Ferrucci LM, Bell D, Thornton J, Black G, McCorkle R, Heimburger DC, Saif MW. Nutritional status of patients with locally advanced pancreatic cancer: a pilot study. Support Care Cancer. 2011;19:1729–34.
- Andersson R, Dervenis C, Haraldsen P, Leveau P. Nutritional aspects in the management of pancreatic cancer. Ann Gastroenterol. 2000;13:221–4.
- 55. Gould MK, Garcia DA, Wren SM, Karanicolas PJ, Arcelus JI, Heit JA, Samama CM. Prevention of VTE in nonorthopedic surgical patients. Antithrombotic ther-

apy and prevention of thrombosis, 9th ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest. 2012;141:e227S–77S.

- 56. Chew HK, Wun T, Harvey D, Zhou H, White RH. Incidence of venous thromboembolism and its effect on survival among patients with common cancers. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166:458–64.
- 57. Reinke CE, Drebin JA, Kreider S, Kean C, Resnick A, Raper S, Kelz RR. Timing of preoperative pharmacoprophylaxis for pancreatic surgery patients: a venous thromboembolism reduction initiative. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:19–25.
- Winter JM, Cameron JL, Campbell KA, Arnold MA, Chang DC, Coleman J, Hodgin MB, Sauter PK, Hruban RH, Riall TS, Schulick RD, Choti MA, Lillemoe KD, Yeo CJ. 1423 Pancreaticoduodenectomies for pancreatic cancer: a single-institution experience. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10:1199–211.
- Shah BC, Smith LM, Ullrich F, Are C. Discharge disposition after pancreatic resection for malignancy: analysis of national trends. HPB (Oxford). 2012;14:201–8.
- Shah BC, Ullrich F, Smith L, Leiphrakpam P, Ly Q, Sasson A, Are C. National trends in discharge disposition after hepatic resection for malignancy. HPB (Oxford). 2011;13:96–102.
- Balcom JH IV, Rattner DW, Warshaw AL, Chang Y, Fernandez-Del Castillo C. Ten-year experience with 733 pancreatic resections: changing indications, older patients, and decreasing length of hospitalization. Arch Surg. 2001;136:391–8.

M. Tewari, M.S., M.R.C.S., Ed., M.Ch.

Division of Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary and Gastrointestinal Oncology, Department of Surgical

Oncology, Institute of Medical Sciences,

Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi,

Uttar Pradesh, India

Pancreaticoduodenectomy for Cancer: Key Steps

Mallika Tewari

6.1 Introduction

Pancreatic and periampullary cancer is a dreaded disease with poor prognosis. Cancer affecting the pancreatic head and periampullary area is often treated by pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD), a technically demanding procedure of a deepseated "active" gland. This is compounded by the fact that several arterial anomalies of the hepatic arterial system are often encountered [1]. The preceding chapters have illustrated the basic anatomy of the area and the gradual evolution of surgical resection of pancreatic/periampullary cancer. A triple-phase pancreatic protocol contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CECT) enables precise delineation of the pancreatic tumor and its relation with the surrounding structures and vessels, namely, superior mesenteric artery (SMA) and superior mesenteric vein (SMV), splenic vein (SV), celiac axis (CA), common hepatic artery (CHA), hepatic artery (HA) proper, gastroduodenal artery (GDA), portal vein (PV) and inferior vena cava (IVC), and aorta (AO). Various classification systems have evolved based on tumor-vessel interface (TVI) as seen on CECT segregating tumors as resectable,

borderline resectable, and locally advanced/irresectable [2]. Over the years pancreatic cancer surgery has come a long way, and there has been a considerable drop in mortality (<1%) in highvolume centers though the morbidity still remains high (40%) [3, 4].

6.2 The Key Steps of Open PD

The operation "PD" is classically divided into six clearly defined steps to allow safe removal of the pancreatic head, duodenum, bile duct, and gallbladder \pm distal stomach (Fig. 6.1a) [5–7]. These are (1) exposure of infrapancreatic SMV, (2) extended Kocher maneuver, (3) portal dissection, (4) stomach/pylorus/duodenum transection, (5) jejunal and ligament of Treitz transection, and (6) pancreas transection and uncinate dissection.

We follow the above steps though not exactly in the same sequence. Variations like SMA first approach and minimally invasive PD are altogether different techniques and are described in detail in separate subsequent chapters.

A diagnostic staging laparoscopy may precede a formal laparotomy in some institutions in patients with high risk for metastasis such as borderline resectable disease, those with markedly high serum CA 19-9 levels, large primary tumors, or large regional lymph nodes [2]. Intraoperative ultrasound can be used as a diagnostic adjunct during staging laparoscopy.



[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_6



Fig. 6.1 (a) The classical six steps of pancreaticoduodenectomy. (b) Midline incision and good abdominal exposure with self-retaining abdominal retractor system

6.2.1 Exposure of the Infrapancreatic SMV

The abdomen is cleaned, draped, and opened by a midline incision. A bilateral subcostal incision is also used especially in large tumors requiring venous resection and reconstruction. We prefer a midline incision over the muscle cutting subcostal incision. The abdomen is then explored for any signs of metastatic disease. In a pancreatic head/periampullary cancer, the presence of large conglomerated lymph nodes at duodenojejunal (DJ) flexure is considered as highly suspicious for advanced disease and if present they are sent for frozen section for ruling out of metastatic cancer.

Abdominal wall self-retaining retractors are next positioned to ensure adequate exposure (Fig. 6.1b).

A large choice of modern abdominal retractor systems is now available such as Thompson, Omni-Tract, and Bookwalter Retractor Systems. They are table-mounted systems with retracting blades available in various shapes and when positioned give a good and stable retraction.

The omentum is lifted from over the transverse colon and the lesser sac is entered. The middle colic and right gastroepiploic veins are followed, and they guide to SMV that is then exposed at the inferior border of the pancreas (Fig. 6.2a). The SMV is covered by a thin layer of adventitial tissue, which is incised down to the plane of Leriche on the venous wall. The middle colic vein may drain separately or may join the right gastroepiploic vein. The right gastroepiploic vein together with superior colic vein and the anterior superior pancreaticoduodenal vein form the gastrocolic trunk of Henle that drains into the SMV. We prefer to leave the middle colic vein if it's draining separately and ligate the right gastroepiploic vein/gastrocolic trunk carefully between silk sutures as it drains into the SMV (Fig. 6.2b). There may be situations wherein the middle colic has to be ligated such as large



Fig. 6.2 (a) Identification of superior mesenteric vein (SMV) while tracing the right gastroepiploic and the middle colic vein through the lesser sac. (b) Ligation of the gastrocolic trunk of Henle

uncinate tumors and in obese patients. A plane is slowly developed over the SMV/PV in full vision till the upper border of the pancreas. Blind dissection is best avoided, as occasionally there might be a small stout vein draining in to the SMV/PV on its anterior surface. This step early in course of PD helps in assessment of the TVI and hence any need for venous resection of the SMV-PV confluence.

6.2.2 Hepatoduodenal Ligament Dissection

The gastrohepatic ligament is opened close to the inferior border of the liver taking care so as not to injure an accessory or replaced left hepatic artery arising from the left gastric artery. A large lymph node lying over the CHA (station 8a) is dissected and removed exposing the CHA clearly. It is then followed distally to expose the HA and GDA. A good length of GDA is cleared and it often requires ligation of supraduodenal branch that arises on to its right. As a routine we always clamp the GDA before ligation with a bulldog clamp to ensure good blood flow in the HA ruling out CA stenosis/obstruction (Fig. 6.3a). Next the GDA is divided between silk ties. Many surgeons

would prefer to transfix the GDA stump with Prolene. GDA stump erosion and blowout is one of the causes of postpancreatectomy hemorrhage following a pancreatic leak/fistula, and hence GDA must be securely ligated. Right gastric artery and vein are also ligated (Fig. 6.3b).

The adventitial tissue over the porta hepatis is incised and all fat and fascia over the CHD/CBD are dissected down, thus taking away 12b1 and 12b2 lymph nodes. The CBD/CHD is dissected free and looped. The CBD/CHD is palpated to ensure no replaced or an accessory HA running posteriorly inadvertently missed on preoperative scans. Other major hepatic arterial anomalies are usually well identified preoperatively as is arterial involvement of GDA/HA and SMA wherein a cautious and different approach may be required. A sample of bile is collected for culture (Fig. 6.4a), cholecystectomy is performed (12c group of lymph nodes dissected en bloc), and CHD is transected. The proximal end of CHD is held in a bulldog clamp to prevent bile leakage, and the distal end is closed with silk sutures to minimize bile spill.

Following division of the CHD, the anterior wall of the PV is exposed, and all 12p group of lymph nodes are dissected down along. The fascia on the upper border of pancreatic neck is



Fig. 6.3 (a) Gastroduodenal artery (GDA) is clamped with a bulldog and pulsations checked in the hepatic artery. (b) GDA divided after ligation



Fig. 6.4 (a) Common bile duct (CBD) is looped and sample of bile is collected for culture. HA, hepatic artery; CHA, common hepatic artery. (b) The common hepatic duct

incised while retracting the CHD caudally and the GDA stump upward fully exposing the PV, thus meeting and completing the tunnel under the pancreatic neck already made during the first step of the operation. An umbilical tape is passed through this retropancreatic tunnel (Fig. 6.4b). Care is taken to protect the coronary vein (left gastric vein), if possible, as it terminates into the PV or at times at SMV-PV junction.

(CHD) proximally is clamped with a bulldog, and the distal end is ligated. The retropancreatic tunnel is completed, and an umbilical tape is passed through it. S, stomach

6.2.3 Extended Kocher Maneuver

The right hepatic flexure of the colon is mobilized inferiorly and the "C" of the duodenum is identified. IVC is exposed and the dissection continues starting behind the third portion of the duodenum sweeping all peripancreatic fat, fascia, and lymph nodes (station 13a, 13b) (Fig. 6.5a). The right gonadal vein is identified and protected.



Fig. 6.5 (a) Extended Kocher maneuver is performed, *D* duodenum. (b) Anterior attachments of the transverse mesocolon to the pancreatic head (P) are taken down. (c)

Kocherization continues to the left of the aorta up to the DJ flexure exposing the left renal vein and the origin of SMA just above it. Any suspicious inter-aorto-caval lymph nodes are sent for frozen section. Anteriorly the attachment of the transverse mesocolon to the pancreas is taken down (Fig. 6.5b) along with all fat, fascia, and lymph nodes (station 17a, 17b) taking care not to injure the middle colic and the right colic vessels, and the SMV is exposed over the third part of the duodenum. Sometimes Cattell-Braasch maneuver is required wherein all the retroperitoneal attachments of the small bowel and right colon mesentery are mobilized up to the ligament of Treitz such as in patients with large uncinate tumor that may require venous resection and reconstruction.

The jejunum and the duodenojejunal flexure are mobilized with a LigaSure device

6.2.4 Jejunal and Ligament of Treitz Transection

The transverse colon is lifted upward and the DJ flexure is exposed. The jejunum is transected with GIA linear cutter approximately 10 cm from the DJ flexure. The cut end of the jejunum is further mobilized by dividing its mesentery with a LigaSure device staying close to the jejunal wall (Fig. 6.5c). The loose attachments of the ligament of Treitz are taken down taking care to protect the inferior mesenteric vein (IMV) that lies just lateral to these attachments. The dissection continues from left to right mobilizing fourth and third part of the duodenum. The mobilized duodenum and jejunum are then reflected underneath the mesenteric vessels to the right upper abdomen.

6.2.5 Uncinate Dissection

We usually complete the uncinate dissection before proceeding with pancreatic neck and stomach/pylorus/duodenal transection, the irreversible step of PD. The transected jejunum is retracted laterally, and the SMV is gradually dissected free of the uncinate process by ligation/ clipping of small venous tributaries draining in to the SMV. The first jejunal vein is identified and protected as it curves posteromedially from the right side of the SMV coursing posterior to SMA as it enters the medial aspect of the jejunal mesentery. Rarely the jejunal branch may be found anterior to the SMA. The uncinate process must be dissected off completely from the SMV to fully mobilize the SMV-PV confluence as well as to identify the SMA.

6.2.6 Division of the Stomach/ Pylorus/Duodenum

Depending upon the tumor and the institutional policy, either the distal stomach or pylorus or first part of duodenum is transected. Thus, in a classical Whipple's (wherein antrectomy is performed by transecting the stomach at the level of the third or fourth transverse vein on the lesser curvature and at the confluence of the gastroepiploic veins on the greater curvature using a linear gastrointestinal stapler), in pylorus-resecting PD (PrPD) (wherein the stomach is divided just before the pylorus), and in pylorus-preserving PD (PPPD) (wherein the first part of the duodenum is divided 2–2.5 cm away from the pylorus), the lymph node stations 5 and 6 are removed en bloc with the specimen.

6.2.7 Pancreatic Neck Transection and Removal of the Specimen

The umbilical tape in the tunnel underneath the neck of the pancreas is lifted up to expose the PV. Four stay sutures in a figure-of-eight are taken on either side of the transection line at the superior and inferior borders of the pancreatic neck (Fig. 6.6a). These stay sutures not only stabilize the pancreas but also control bleeding from the blood vessels that run horizontally along the pancreatic borders during transection and in addition help during the pancreatico-enteric anastomosis in placement of sutures. Pancreas is next transected along the left border of the PV with either electrocautery or harmonic scalpel (Fig. 6.6b). Utmost caution is required if an electrocautery is used to transect the pancreatic neck. No metallic retractor or forceps should be in close contact with the pancreas and the PV underneath for there might be passage of current from the cautery to the PV underneath resulting in PV thermal injury and consequent hemorrhage. The pancreatic duct can be identified in most cases as it is cut. Some surgeons prefer to clamp and cut the pancreas with knife, but in our opinion it crushes the pancreas, causes bleeding, and hence may not be a good option.

The pancreatic head is retracted laterally while the PV is gently rotated medially facilitating dissection of the PV, SMV-PV junction, and SMV off the pancreas while ligating/clipping small venous tributaries carefully. One constant vein (some refer to it as posterosuperior pancreaticoduodenal vein) is always seen at the upper border of the pancreatic head behind the CBD. It should be neatly dissected and ligated/clipped as it could lead to significant hemorrhage if accidentally avulsed. Tumor involvement of SMV/SMV-PV junction/first jejunal branch can be resected en bloc with the specimen, and the technique is discussed in subsequent chapters. It is the last step of the operation wherein the tumor is left attached to the vein to be resected en bloc.

Medial retraction of the SMV-PV confluence facilitates dissection of the soft tissues adjacent to the right lateral wall of the proximal 3–4 cm of SMA (Fig. 6.7a). It is important to elevate/retract the SMV/PV with vein retractors so as to completely expose the SMA. This is the most important step in the operation from an oncologic perspective (retroperitoneal/SMA margin). The enveloping autonomic neural sheath is excised as the plane of dissection is directly on the adventitia of the SMA (lymph node stations 14a and 14b along the right lateral side of the SMA are removed). Commonly one or two inferior pancre-



Fig. 6.6 (a) Four stay sutures are applied on the pancreatic neck (P). (b) The pancreatic neck is transected exposing the portal vein (PV)



Fig. 6.7 (a) Dissection of the pancreatic head of the superior mesenteric artery (SMA) with the portal vein (PV) gently rolled medially. (b) The surgical field after

the resection and removal of the specimen. P, pancreatic remnant; SMA, superior mesenteric artery; PV, portal vein

aticoduodenal arteries (IPDAs) can be identified and are ligated/clipped at their origin from the SMA (Fig. 6.7a). This dissection can be safely performed with the help of harmonic scalpel/LigaSure/ bipolar cautery. The use of Endo GIA Stapler for this part of the operation [8] is discouraged as there remains a possibility of leaving behind some tissue and hence of a R1 resection that is best avoided. This completes the resection with fully cleared SMV/PV and the right half of the SMA (Fig. 6.7b). Frozen sections of the pancreatic neck and CHD margins should ideally be sent and dissection tailored accordingly. The PD specimen must be oriented for the pathologist and the margins identified and inked/marked.

Conclusions

The above are the basic steps of performing PD, and several variations to the technique exist. Subsequent chapters in this book focus on variations in the technique of PD (PPPD, PrPD), PD with concomitant venous resections, and the importance of specimen orientation and margins from pathologic point of view.

References

1. Noussios G, Dimitriou I, Chatzis I, Katsourakis A. The main anatomic variations of the hepatic artery

and their importance in surgical practice: review of the literature. J Clin Med Res. 2017;9(4):248–52.

- NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN Guidelines[®]) Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma Version 1.2017—Feb 24, 2017.
- Cameron JLMD, Riall TS, Coleman J, Belcher KA. One thousand consecutive pancreaticoduodenectomies. Ann Surg. 2006;244(1):10–5.
- Kawai M, Yamaue H. Analysis of clinical trials evaluating complications after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a new era of pancreatic surgery. Surg Today. 2010;40:1011–7.
- Douglas B. Evans. Whipple procedure images and illustrations. http://www.froedtert.com/upload/docs/ services/liver-pancreas-bile/whipple-illustrations.pdf
- Christians KK, Tsai S, Tolat PP, Evans DB. Critical steps for pancreaticoduodenectomy in the setting of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Surg Oncol. 2013;107(1):33–8.
- Kooby DA, Branum GD, Skandalakis LJ. Pancreas and duodenum. In: Wood WC, Staley CA, Skandalakis JE, editors. Anatomic basis of tumor surgery. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer; 2010. p. 549–601.
- Kleeff J, Friess H, Büchler MW. Dissection of the uncinate process and pancreatic head behind the portal vein using endovascular staplers. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 2007;14(5):480–3.



Pylorus-Preserving Pancreaticoduodenectomy for Pancreatic Cancer: How I Do It

Norbert Hüser, Volker Aßfalg, Matthias Maak, and Helmut Friess

Abbreviations

BDA	Biliodigestive anastomosis				
IPMN	Intraductal papillary mucinous				
	neoplasm				
PDS	Polydioxanone suture				
PJ	Pancreaticojejunostomy				
PPPD	Pylorus-preserving				
	pancreaticoduodenectomy				
SMA	Superior mesenteric artery				
SMV	Superior mesenteric vein				

7.1 Pylorus-Preserving Pancreaticoduodenectomy: Are We Spoiled for Choice?

Pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (PPPD) is the standard resection procedure for pancreatic carcinoma besides the classical Kausch-Whipple operation whenever oncologically possible. Initially upcoming queries concerning oncological radicality and postoperative morbidity and mortality could be refuted by numerous randomized controlled trials [1]. Consequently this procedure increasingly gains acceptance not least because of the negative impact of partial gastrectomy on the development of jejunal ulcer and biliary reflux. The preference of either procedure belongs to the individual surgeon's expertise, and both are recommended for tumors of the pancreatic head [2].

The pancreatic anastomosis is usually performed by a mobilized jejunal loop. There are different techniques for reconstruction of the biliary drainage and intestinal passage like retromesenteric, antecolic, and retrocolic position of the loop. Dependent on the method used, either the whole loop is placed into the upper abdomen or the loop is cut and anastomosed [3].

The main focus of the entire operation is on the anastomosis of the pancreatic duct to the jejunal loop. One reason for the numerous techniques reported in literature is the serious consequence of any complication at the pancreatic anastomo-

N. Hüser, M.D. (⊠) · V. Aßfalg · H. Friess Department of Surgery, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technische Universität München, Munich, Germany e-mail: norbert.hueser@tum.de; volker.assfalg@tum.de; helmut.friess@tum.de

M. Maak Department of Surgery, Universitätsklinikum Erlangen, Erlangen, Germany e-mail: Matthias.Maak@uk-erlangen.de

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_7

sis because of fistula, dehiscence, necrosis, or severe bleeding. Mainly two different anastomotic techniques are discussed: the so-called telescope anastomosis completely invaginates the pancreatic stump into the connected small bowel segment. This technique considers the hypothesis that fistulas generally start from the resection margin. However, the surgeon always has to bear in mind the risk that deep invagination of the pancreas may cause devascularization and ischemia because of too extended mobilization of the stump. Besides this technique, which is called pancreatojejunostomy, а distichous enlarged "duct-to-mucosa" anastomosis called pancreaticojejunostomy can be performed alternatively, as usually performed in our center. During this procedure the pancreatic duct is stitched directly to the jejunal mucosa and the slightly wider-opened intestinal wall, which is sutured to the pancreatic capsula and covers the stump's resection margin. However, no differences in regard to the occurrence of fistulas and general morbidity and mortality could be found [4]. Recently, the end-to-side anastomotic technique gains more and more attention besides the end-to-end anastomosis to meet the special requirements of an incongruity of the pancreatic resection margin and the jejunal lumen. In doing so, the anti-mesenteric cut of the priorly sealed jejunal loop can be much better adapted in regard to length and width to the cross-section of the pancreas.

A safe alternative to these techniques is the *pancreatogastrostomy* which does not show any differences in respect to fistulas, intra-abdominal colliquation, gastric emptying disorders, and overall morbidity and mortality, too [5, 6].

During the pancreatic anastomosis, there is the option for an intraluminal drainage to prevent the contact of alkaline pancreatic secretion with the anastomosis until wound healing is terminated. This drainage can either be performed by draining the jejunal loop (a drainage placed into the jejunal loop between biliodigestive anastomosis and pancreaticojejunostomy) or by a small silicone drainage (placed into the lumen of the pancreatic duct and tunneled through the jejunal wall). Numerous studies comparing these methods as well as the perioperative pancreatic duct stenting could not reveal any statistically significant advantages [7, 8] except for some specific conditions such as in the case of a small duct and soft pancreatic tissue [9]. Because of the potential risk of pancreatitis due to drainages and their uncertain effectivity and benefit, they are about to lose relevance [10, 11].

7.2 Pylorus-Preserving Pancreaticoduodenectomy: Surgical Procedure

Whenever interventional and conservative approaches failed to relieve of symptomatic duodenal, portal, pancreatic, or bile duct obstruction and especially in the case of (suspected) malignancy within the pancreatic head, partial pancreaticoduodenectomy is indicated. The most frequent diagnoses leading to this procedure are ductal pancreatic carcinoma, chronic pancreatitis, and papillary carcinoma. However, both malignant tumors like duodenal cancer or distal bile duct carcinoma and precursor lesions like intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN) may also require this surgical procedure. Of course, the necessity for an oncologically radical duodenopancreatectomy for IPMN has to be evaluated carefully in every single case. During the following explanations, we refer to the surgical steps in partial duodenopancreatectomy for pancreatic head cancer.

Hypothetically we present a patient with a suspicion for malignant lesion in the uncinate process of approximately 3.5 cm in diameter. An endo-ultrasound-guided biopsy was taken and confirmed the suspected malignancy in addition to an increased CA19-9 tumor marker serum concentration of 87 U/mL but normal CEA value. Anamnestically, the patient lost about 10 kg of body weight during the last 6 months, and the interdisciplinary tumor conference recommended surgical resection.



Fig. 7.1 Differences of classical Whipple procedure and pylorus-preserving Whipple. (a) The "classical Whipple procedure" is named after its describer and includes a total resection of the duodenum, the gallbladder and the common bile duct, the pancreatic head, and the distal third of the stomach. (b) The duodenopancreatectomy accord-

In our center, we perform the pyloruspreserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (PPPD) according to Traverso and Longmire [12] and first described by Watson [13]. With this technique the stomach remains unaffected, and the duodenum is cut 2-3 cm distal of the pylorus. The required duodenojejunostomy for reconstruction of the intestinal passage is performed by an antecolic omega loop of the first jejunal loop. A Braun's foot-point anastomosis or a Roux-en-Y reconstruction is not necessary, respectively (Fig. 7.1). All patients are informed preoperatively regarding possible surgical extensions such as (partial) portal vein resection or total pancreatectomy for complete oncological tumor resection. It is a matter of course that patients are informed in detail about general risks (bleeding, thrombosis, embolism, an injury of organs, vessels, and nerves) and specific complications and risks of complex pancreatic surgery (anastomotic leakage or fistula of the biliodigestive anastomosis or the pancreaticojejunostomy, abscess,

ing to Traverso-Longmire recommends a post-pyloric duodenal cut. Both procedures require reconstruction by hepaticojejunostomy and pancreaticojejunostomy. The reconstruction may be performed by either one or more jejunal loops. However, we favor anastomoses to the first jejunal loop

development of diabetes mellitus, exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, and arrosion bleeding).

The operative procedure can be divided into three major phases:

- Exploration and clarification of tumor resectability
- Resection
- Reconstruction

7.3 Exploration

The aim of the explorative phase is to give information on distant metastases, peritoneal carcinosis, and local resectability of the tumor, respectively. In the case of unresectable tumor spread, the strategy can be changed from the originally curative approach to a palliative procedure, e.g., a biliodigestive anastomosis or a double bypass operation with an additional gastroenterostomy [14, 15]. These are the surgical steps in detail:

- Team time-out, control of correct positioning of the patient, and application of a single-shot antibiosis approximately 15 min before skin incision.
- Skin disinfection and placing of surgical drapes.
- Longitudinal or transverse laparotomy of the upper abdomen by layer, correct dissection, opening of the abdomen and palpation of the liver, the whole small bowel, and the colon, and exclusion of peritoneal carcinosis.
- Application of a wound-edge protection device according to recent research results [16], an abdominal frame, and a retractor system (Fig. 7.2).
- Opening of the omental bursa after dissection of the gastrocolic omentum from the transverse colon and exposure of the ventral pancreatic surface. Dissection of the mesenterium of the transverse colon from both the pancreatic head and the duodenum (Fig. 7.3). This step allows for exclusion of an infiltration of both the stomach and the post-pyloric duode-





Fig. 7.2 Operating area with wound-edge protection, abdominal frame, and retractor system

the pancreas after opening of the omental bursa

Fig. 7.3 Exposition of

nal segment. Furthermore, the pancreas can now be easily explored to the left side. In case of an infiltration of the pyloric region, partial gastrectomy according to classical Whipple procedure should be considered.

• Performance of an extensive Kocher's maneuver for mobilization of the pancreatic head. Hereby exposition of the vena cava, the left renal vein, and the right ovarian/testicular vein which can be preserved. Extension of the mobilization of the duodenum and the pancreas towards the aorta and the entrance of the last duodenal part into the

peritoneal cavity at the ligament of Treitz (Fig. 7.4).

- Bimanual palpation and examination of the pancreatic head from the omental bursa and the retroperitoneal space.
- Exposition of the superior mesenteric vein (SMV) at the inferior pancreatic margin (Fig. 7.5) and careful ligation with stitches (polybutester, e.g., Novafil 4/0) of both the anterior inferior and the posterior inferior pancreaticoduodenal veins.
- Blunt preparation and tunneling under the pancreas body straight on the SMV's plane





Fig. 7.5 Exposition of the SMV (superior mesenteric vein), venous confluence, and the PV (portal vein) at the inferior pancreatic margin



upwards to the venous confluence and application of support threads (polybutester, e.g., Novafil 5/0 or 4/0) at the inferior pancreatic margin. Evaluation of the resectability at the SMV and the superior mesenteric artery (SMA), which is also dissected carefully.

- Dissection and separate labeling of the structures in the hepatoduodenal ligament, which is usually started at the hilum of the liver and continued towards the pancreatic head. Careful identification of the anatomical course of the hepatic artery and identification of the branches towards the right and the left lobe (Fig. 7.6) with special attention to a potentially aberrant vascular supply. Dissection of the right gastric artery and investigative clamping of the gastroduodenal artery to verify the preserved arterial blood flow of the liver. Dissection of the common bile duct and finally labeling of the right and left hepatic artery, portal vein, and the common bile duct.
- Change towards the upper pancreatic margin and dissection of the local lymph nodes next to the hepatic artery straight down towards the coeliac trunk. Preparation of the portal vein and tunneling of the pancreas from the upper margin to conjoin both preparation planes. A silicone tube is placed under the pancreas to enable soft lifting, and support threads (polybutester, e.g., Novafil 4/0) are

placed at the superior pancreatic margin, too (Fig. 7.7).

• Final evaluation of the resectability of the tumor when the pancreas can be tunneled completely in the portal vein's plane and arterial infiltration can be excluded.

7.4 Resection

In case of resectability, the duodenum, the gallbladder, and the pancreatic head are resected next.

- Dissection of the distal stomach and postpyloric duodenum. Clip closure of the right gastroepiploic artery and vein at the prepyloric level and the right gastric artery by use of clips or an ultrasonic dissection device.
- Cutting of the post-pyloric duodenum with a linear stapler (Fig. 7.8) and wrapping of the closed stomach into a humid abdominal bandage before it is placed into the left upper abdomen for better overview.
- Cholecystectomy: antegrade dissection of the gallbladder, identification of both the cystic duct and the cystic artery, and closure with 3/0 Prolene sutures.
- Sectioning of the bile duct above the junction with the cystic duct with the scissor (to avoid



Fig. 7.6 Identification and labeling of the structures in the hepatoduodenal ligament; CHA (common hepatic artery), PHA (proper hepatic artery), PV (portal vein), GDA (gastroduodenal artery), CV (coronary vein)



Fig. 7.8 Stapler cutting of the post-pyloric duodenum

Fig. 7.7 Tethers at the mobilized pancreas; SMV (superior mesenteric vein), PV (portal vein)



thermic damage), acquisition of a microbiological swab, and flushing of the duct towards the intrahepatic distribution. Transient closure of the cut duct with a bulldog clamp. Further preparation of the duct towards the duodenum and intraoperative frozen section investigation of a bile duct resection margin specimen. Bleeding from the bile duct can be stopped by use of 5/0 PDS stitches.

- Continuation of dissection of the hepatoduodenal ligament after resection of the small omentum.
- Finishing lymph node dissection from the liver to the duodenum by use of bipolar

pincette or ultrasonic dissection device and continuation of the dissection towards the celiac trunk including exposition of the left gastric artery and the splenic artery (Fig. 7.9).

- Sectioning of the gastroduodenal artery with three clips after investigative clamping (see exploration) to exclude an unexpected arterial blood supply of the liver via the superior mesenteric artery (Fig. 7.10).
- Dissection of the first jejunal loop after the ligament of Treitz has been dissolved and identification of the supplying mesenteric vessels by use of diaphanoscopy. Preparation

Fig. 7.9

Lymphadenectomy, exposition of the splenic artery and the celiac trunk; CHA (common hepatic artery)



Fig. 7.10 Clipping with three clips and cutting of the GDA (gastroduodenal artery); CHA (common hepatic artery), PHA (proper hepatic artery)



of the vascular arcade with an ultrasonic dissection device and finally sectioning of the jejunum with the linear stapler-cutter device at an appropriate site.

- Tubular resection with an ultrasonic dissection device of the oral jejunal loop towards the former ligament of Treitz, sub-mesenteric pull-through of the mobilized jejunal loop to the right upper abdomen, and closure of the resulting hole with polybutester, e.g., Novafil 3/0 single stitches.
- Ligation of the pancreas towards the head and surgical sectioning of the pancreatic body

over the portal vein (Fig. 7.11). Meticulous hemostasis with polybutester, e.g., Novafil 5/0 single sutures, at the left-sided resection margin and left dorsal mobilization of the pancreatic stump for approximately 2–3 cm.

- Inspection of the left resection margin and probing and flushing of the pancreatic duct with a buttoned cannula. Sending away of a frozen section for histopathologic investigation of the right resection margin.
- Radical completion of the resection of the pancreatic head and the uncinate process by use of an ultrasonic dissection device along the dorsal

Fig. 7.11 Central pancreatic ligature and sectioning with the scalpel; SMV (superior mesenteric vein)





Fig.7.12 Completion of the resection at the pancreatic head by use of a diathermia device and ligature of small vessels; PV (portal vein), SMV (superior mesenteric vein)

contact plane with the superior mesenteric artery and vein which ends on the left side of the vein (Fig. 7.12). Small vessels and the pancreaticoduodenal artery are dissected with a small Overholt and closed with clips or sutures. In case of infiltrative tumor spread into the portal vein or the superior mesenteric vein, the vessel segment can be resected en bloc together with the pancreatic head, and the blood flow can be rebuilt by direct end-to-end anastomosis with 5/0 Prolene or interposition of a vascular graft.

• Completion of the lymph node dissection around the superior mesenteric artery towards the celiac trunk. Careful inspection of the ventral and especially the dorsal resection plane at the retroperitoneal resection margin. Release of the histological specimen for pathological investigations.

7.5 Reconstruction

The reconstruction of the gastrointestinal passage is being performed during the reconstruction phase. For reconstruction of the gastrointestinal continuity, we perform the one-loop technique with a pancreaticojejunostomy (PJ) and a biliodigestive anastomosis (BDA). In detail:

- Retrocolic elevation of the stapled jejunal loop after diaphanoscopy and creation of a passage through the transverse mesocolon on the right side of the middle colic artery.
- Tension-free placement of the jejunal loop at the pancreatic stump (Fig. 7.13) and additional inverting running suture over the stapler line for more safety.
- Suture of the *pancreaticojejunostomy* in a twolayer technique (Fig. 7.14a; the colors on both the jejunal loop and the pancreatic resection margin indicate the corresponding layers of the resulting anastomosis: I, dorsal outer layer; II, dorsal inner layer; III, ventral inner layer; IV, ventral outer layer): before the first row of stitches of the posterior wall is performed, we put three stitches at the front (Fig. 7.14b) and three stitches at the posterior wall (Fig. 7.14c) of the pancreatic duct, respectively. Dependent on the diameter of the pancreas, the exit of the 5/0 PDS stitches is placed within the parenchyma or even reaches the resection margin. The direction of the stitches at the posterior wall of the duct is inside-out and at the front wall is *outside-in*, respectively. It is important to leave the needle at the thread. The ends of the threads all have the same length and each of them is being marked with a small clamp. Next a humid abdominal bandage is placed around the retractor system, and the clamps of

the front row are positioned on the bandage in a circle. To guarantee a maximum overview, a second humid bandage is placed on top, and the clamps of the posterior suture row are then placed on this bandage. In the next step, the first row of the posterior wall of the end-toside anastomosis can be performed by 5/0 PDS ventral-to-dorsal stitches at the pancreas and seromuscular stitches at the jejunum (Fig. 7.14d). The number of single stitches depends on the diameter of the organ, and the distance between them is approximately 0.4 cm (direction of the stitches: pancreas, inside-out; jejunum, outside-in). In the next step, all threads of the posterior wall are tied. Now the jejunal lumen can be opened antimesenterically over a length of approximately 0.8–1 cm (Fig. 7.14e). Afterwards the stitches of the second posterior row are performed including the initially placed three posterior ductal stitches (Fig. 7.14f). For better overview these three stitches are completed first (direction of the stitches: jejunum, outside-in; full-wall technique). Afterwards the row of stitches can be finished to both sides. The stitches are separated by clamps, and then the clamps are stringed on a large Overholt clamp before the second posterior row is tied (Fig. 7.14g). It has to be noticed that the resulting incongruence of the opening of the jejunum on the one side and the smaller pancreatic duct on the other side needs to be closed by a



Fig. 7.13 Retrocolic tunneling of the jejunal loop and positioning for anastomoses; GDA (gastroduodenal artery), PV (portal vein), IVC (inferior vena cava)



Fig. 7.14 Pancreaticojejunostomy (detailed procedure see main body)

single stitch between the pancreatic parenchyma (outside the duct) and the jejunal opening at each end of the duct-to-mucosa anastomosis (Fig. 7.14g arrow). The laterally extended lancing of the jejunal wall as compared to the diameter of the pancreatic duct ensures the direct flow of the aggressive pancreatic secretions into the bowel without resistance due to narrowing due to the sutures. After this step the first ventral row can be performed (Fig. 7.14h). The previously placed ductal sutures have to be completed at the jejunal side (direction of the stitches: jejunum, *inside-out*). Importantly, the stitches are placed again, separated with clamps, stringed by use of a large Overholt clamp, and finally tied like described before for the dorsal inner anastomotic row (Fig. 7.14i). In the last step, the second ventral row now can be performed placing stitches between the pancreatic parenchyma/ capsule and the jejunal seromuscular wall (Fig. 7.14j) until the pancreatic resection margin is completely covered by the bowel serosa (direction of the stitches: pancreas, outside-in; seromuscular jejunum, inside-out) (Fig. 7.14k).

• Biliodigestive Anastomosis (*BDA*): Approximately 8-10 cm distal of the pancreatic anastomosis, the BDA is being performed with 5/0 or 6/0 PDS single-stitch sutures (depending on the diameter and the consistency of the common bile duct's wall) after flushing the bile duct with sodium chloride 0.9%. Therefore an anti-mesenteric jejunal incision (length depends on the diameter of the bile duct) is necessary. The bile duct is usually stretched with two PDS 5/0 threads and a small clamp each at its left and right corners (Fig. 7.15a). First the two sutures at the corners of the BDA are placed (direction of the stitches: jejunum, inside-out; bile duct, outside-in; Fig. 7.15b). The two tethers can now be removed. Next, the ventral row with four to five threads is put at the jejunum (transmural; direction of the stitches: jejunum, outside-in; Fig. 7.15c). Importantly, the needle remains at the thread, and both ends of each thread are pooled with a small clamp and stringed with an Overholt clamp as described above. In the next step, four to five stitches can be performed to adjust the dorsal jejunal wall and the dorsal wall of the bile duct (Fig. 7.15d). The central stitch is put first and the row is then completed to both sides (direction of the stitches: jejunum, inside-out; transmural; bile duct outside*in*). Dependent on the size of the bile duct, additional stitches are necessary for maximum tightness. The needles can be removed after every stitch, and the two ends of each thread are, respectively, pooled with small clamps and stringed with a large Overholt clamp. When all stitches are placed, the bowel can be moved carefully towards the bile duct. During this maneuver the tension of all threads has to be controlled carefully. Now the threads of the posterior wall can be sutured, the knots are automatically placed to the inner surface, and the threads are cut except for the two corner stitches (Fig. 7.15e). Afterwards the ventral wall of the BDA can be closed by using the previously placed stitches at the jejunum (direction of the stitches: bile duct, *inside-out*; Fig. 7.15f). Note that the threads of the two corner stitches are pulled towards the opposite side, while we perform the lateral stitches of the ventral wall to ensure an invaginating effect and safe closure of the posterior suture row (Fig. 7.15f arrow). However, after this maneuver the two threads are finally cut. The knots of the ventral part of the anastomosis are placed on the outside of the BDA (Fig. 7.15g).

- Finally, we place a white compress close to the BDA to identify potential anastomotic leakage by extravasating bile.
- The antecolic side-to-side *duodenojejunostomy* • is performed with two continuous rows of PDS sutures at approximately 40 cm distal of the biliodigestive anastomosis. The stapler row at the duodenum is fixed with an Allis clamp, and the anastomosis starts with the posterior, seromuscular suture of the post-pyloric duodenum to the jejunum in end-to-side technique. Next, we perform an anti-mesenteric incision of the jejunum, which has exactly the same length as the duodenal width after resection of the GIA stapler line by use of the electric scalpel. Now the posterior wall is fixed with another Allis clamp for better overview, too. To prevent postoperative gastric emptying disorders, we insert a strong clamp into the pylorus and spread it gently. During the following step, the inner, transmural, continu-



Fig. 7.15 Biliodigestive anastomosis (detailed procedure see main body)

ous posterior suture is completed and proceeds as far as one-third of the ventral wall before the intraluminal knot is made. Afterwards the inverted, transmural suture of the ventral wall starts in the corner and is completed at the justmentioned knot. Finally, the continuous suture of the second (external) row (seromuscular– seromuscular) of the ventral wall is the last step of this anastomosis (Fig. 7.16).

- The mesenteric slit in the transverse mesocolon tunneled by the jejunal loop is then closed by several 5/0 PDS single-interrupted stitches to avoid obstruction of the jejunal loop.
- The whole procedure ends after all surgical cloths and gauze compresses are removed, the abdomen is flushed with warm saline, and in general two easy-flow drainages are placed at the pancreatic anastomosis and the bile duct anastomosis, respectively.
- The abdomen is closed by use of four continuous CTX sutures (two for the posterior and two for the anterior rectus fascia) and skin closure by a skin stapler.

Usually, the patient is monitored on the postanesthesia care unit for 12–24 h.





References

- Huttner FJ, Fitzmaurice C, Schwarzer G, Seiler CM, Antes G, Buchler MW, et al. Pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (pp Whipple) versus pancreaticoduodenectomy (classic Whipple) for surgical treatment of periampullary and pancreatic carcinoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;2:CD006053.
- Seiler CA, Wagner M, Bachmann T, Redaelli CA, Schmied B, Uhl W, et al. Randomized clinical trial of pylorus-preserving duodenopancreatectomy versus classical Whipple resection-long term results. Br J Surg. 2005;92(5):547–56.
- Sutton CD, Garcea G, White SA, O'Leary E, Marshall LJ, Berry DP, et al. Isolated Roux-loop pancreaticojejunostomy: a series of 61 patients with zero postoperative pancreaticoenteric leaks. J Gastrointest Surg. 2004;8(6):701–5.
- Bassi C, Falconi M, Molinari E, Mantovani W, Butturini G, Gumbs AA, et al. Duct-to-mucosa versus end-to-side pancreaticojejunostomy reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy: results of a prospective randomized trial. Surgery. 2003;134(5):766–71.
- Wente MN, Shrikhande SV, Muller MW, Diener MK, Seiler CM, Friess H, et al. Pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Surg. 2007;193(2):171–83.
- Bassi C, Falconi M, Molinari E, Salvia R, Butturini G, Sartori N, et al. Reconstruction by pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy following pancreatectomy: results of a comparative study. Ann Surg. 2005;242(6):767–71; discussion 71-3.
- Jacob DA, Bahra M, Langrehr JM. Jejunal loop drainage versus direct pancreatic duct drainage after pancreatic head resection. Surg Today. 2006;36(10):898–907.
- 8. Tani M, Kawai M, Hirono S, Ina S, Miyazawa M, Shimizu A, et al. A prospective randomized con-

trolled trial of internal versus external drainage with pancreaticojejunostomy for pancreaticoduodenectomy. Am J Surg. 2010;199(6):759–64.

- Pessaux P, Sauvanet A, Mariette C, Paye F, Muscari F, Cunha AS, et al. External pancreatic duct stent decreases pancreatic fistula rate after pancreaticoduodenectomy: prospective multicenter randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2011;253(5):879–85.
- Su AP, Cao SS, Zhang Y, Fu L, Zhang ZD, Hu WM, et al. Does internal stenting for pancreaticojejunostomy decrease the rate of pancreatic fistula following pancreatic resections? A meta-analysis. Hepatogastroenterology. 2013;60(121):191–6.
- Zhou Y, Zhou Q, Li Z, Chen R. Internal pancreatic duct stent does not decrease pancreatic fistula rate after pancreatic resection: a meta-analysis. Am J Surg. 2013;205(6):718–25.
- Traverso LW, Longmire WP Jr. Preservation of the pylorus in pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1978;146(6):959–62.
- Carcinoma WK. of ampulla of vater successful radical resection. Br J Surg. 1944;31:368–73.
- Assfalg V, Huser N, Michalski C, Gillen S, Kleeff J, Friess H. Palliative interventional and surgical therapy for unresectable pancreatic cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2011;3(1):652–61.
- Huser N, Michalski CW, Schuster T, Friess H, Kleeff J. Systematic review and meta-analysis of prophylactic gastroenterostomy for unresectable advanced pancreatic cancer. Br J Surg. 2009;96(7):711–9.
- 16. Mihaljevic AL, Schirren R, Ozer M, Ottl S, Grun S, Michalski CW, et al. Multicenter double-blinded randomized controlled trial of standard abdominal wound edge protection with surgical dressings versus coverage with a sterile circular polyethylene drape for prevention of surgical site infections: a CHIR-Net trial (BaFO; NCT01181206). Ann Surg. 2014;260(5): 730–7; discussion 7–9.



8

Pylorus-Resecting Pancreaticoduodenectomy: How I Do It

Manabu Kawai and Hiroki Yamaue

8.1 Introduction

Pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) has evolved since Kausch performed the first successful procedure as a two-stage operation in Germany in 1912 [1] and later developed by Dr. Allen Oldfather Whipple, the American surgeon, for the treatment of carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater in 1941[2]. Afterward, pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (PpPD), in which the whole stomach and 2.5 cm of duodenum were preserved, was described by Watson in 1944 [3] in an effort to decrease postgastrectomy syndromes in post-Whipple patients. Moreover, PpPD was popularized for the treatment of chronic pancreatitis as a modification of conventional PD reported by the American surgeons, Traverso and Longmire, in the late 1970s [4].

PpPD has been reported to reduce postgastrectomy syndromes such as dumping, diarrhea, and bile reflux gastritis or to have a better nutritional status than PD [5–9]. Therefore, PpPD has been generally accepted for surgical procedure of periampullary neoplasms such as pancreatic head cancer, cancer of ampulla of Vater, and bile duct cancer. Delayed gastric emptying (DGE) after PpPD is a frustrating and persistent complication. Moreover, it results in a prolonged hospital decrease quality of life. To preserve pylorus ring with denervation or devascularization in PpPD may cause DGE. In 2007, subtotal stomachpreserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (SSPPD), in which duodenum and the stomach 2-3 cm proximal to the pylorus ring were removed, has been reported for periampullary and pancreatic head tumors of malignancy by the Japanese surgeon Hayashibe [10]. However, the definition of SSPPD in resection site of stomach remains unclear. It has reported in 2011 that the new surgical procedure resecting just pylorus ring in pancreaticoduodenectomy was designed as pylorus-resecting pancreaticoduodenectomy (PrPD) [11]. We will focus on the technical aspects and perioperative impacts of PrPD.

stay that induces to increase hospital costs and to

8.2 Procedure of PrPD

The following shows procedure of PrPD for pancreatic cancer. Mesenteric approach is performed for pancreatic cancer located in the pancreatic head.

8.2.1 Mesenteric Approach

• Mesenteric approach is an efficient and safe approach to pancreaticoduodenectomy when SMA involvement is suspected and makes it easy to determine resectability at the beginning of the operation.

M. Kawai, M.D. · H. Yamaue, M.D. (🖂) Second Department of Surgery, School of Medicine,

Wakayama Medical University, Wakayama, Japan e-mail: yamaue-h@wakayama-med.ac.jp

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_8



Fig. 8.1 Identification of SMA and SMV at the line between the Treitz ligament and the third portion of the duodenum (dotted line)

- Early ligation of IPDA minimizes bleeding by better exposure and dissection of the posterior connective tissues of SMA-SMV.
- Useful approach in PV invasion with difficulty tunneling above PV.

First, the mesentery of the jejunum is resected at the line between the Treitz ligament and the third portion of the duodenum in order to identify the SMV and SMA at the line. SMV and SMA should be obtained using vessel loops. As the next step, the J1 and J2 branch are approached by exposing SMA (Fig. 8.1), and the inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery (IPDA) is also identified. After that, IPDA can be more readily ligated and divided. The connective tissues around the SMA and SMV are dissected completely (Fig. 8.2). If tumor is not invaded to the nerve plexus of the SMA, just lymph node dissection around the SMA is done. In this case, nerve plexus of SMA is preserved. In cases with abutment to SMA, the nerve plexus of the SMA should be resected in addition to this procedure in order to obtain negative surgical margins. The connective tissues along the SMV and SMA are dissected along its longitudinal axis toward the inferior border of the pancreatic body. On the way, the gastrocolic trunk root is ligated and divided. And then, tunneling is created between the anterior surface of the portal vein (PV) and the pancreas neck. In a case of invasion of the front side of the PV, tunneling



Fig. 8.2 The complete dissection of connective tissues of SMA and SMV via the mesenteric approach

between the anterior surface of the PV and the pancreas neck is impossible. However, in a case with invasion only of the right or left side of the PV, tunneling from the other side is possible.

8.2.2 Resection of Pylorus Ring

• The stomach is divided adjacent to the pylorus ring, and whole stomach is mostly preserved.

After mesenteric approach as artery-first approach, omentectomy is performed. The right gastric artery is dissected by the root, and the first pyloric branch is dissected around the pylorus ring. The first pyloric branch of the right gastroepiploic artery is also dissected along the greater curvature of the stomach. The pyloric branch of the vagal nerve is dissected along with lymph nodes around the pylorus ring (Fig. 8.1). In PrPD, the stomach is divided just adjacent the pylorus ring, and the nearly total stomach is preserved including antrum (Fig. 8.2).

8.2.3 Lymph Node Dissection Around Hepatoduodenal Ligament

 Precise identification and taping of the right hepatic artery to avoid injury of the right hepatic artery during exposure of the bile duct

Next, the adipose tissue around hepatoduodenal ligament is cleaned followed by the adipose tissue around the common hepatic artery. During this manipulation, gastroduodenal artery is identified, followed by common hepatic artery taping. Continuously, lymph node dissection around the proper hepatic artery from hepatoduodenal ligament is done while identifying portal vein front wall. Generally, the right hepatic artery runs behind bile duct. Therefore, it is important to identify the right hepatic artery to avoid injury of the right hepatic artery during exposure of the bile duct. After cholecystectomy, the bile duct is cut at the level of the common hepatic duct, and the margin of the bile duct is pathologically diagnosed to determine whether cancer cells are present. The bile duct margin of liver side is clamped with blood vessel forceps to prevent pollution of operative field by bile juice. After that, the origin of gastroduodenal artery is ligated and divided, and portal vein trunk is exposed.

8.2.4 Transection of the Pancreas

• The pancreas parenchyma is sharply transected with a cautery.

Before pancreatic resection, distal pancreas is gently fastened with a vessel loop to control bleeding from the remnant pancreatic stump. Caution must be used not to crush the pancreatic parenchyma during fastening by a vessel loop. The pancreas parenchyma is sharply transected with a cautery on the left side of the portal vein. Hemorrhage from the pancreatic stump of the remnant pancreas was ligated by 5-0 prolene. Preserving the blood stream of the surgical stump of the remnant pancreas is important to prevent pancreatic fistula. After complete hemostasis, 5-0 Fr pancreatic duct tube is inserted to confirm the patency and direction of the pancreatic duct.

8.2.5 Reconstruction

As the first step in reconstruction during PrPD, the proximal jejunum is brought through the trans-



Fig. 8.3 Dissection around the pylorus ring; the right gastric artery is dissected by the root, and the first pyloric branch is dissected along the lesser curvature of the stomach. The first pyloric branch of the right gastroepiploic artery is also dissected along the greater curvature of the stomach

verse mesocolon by the retrocolic route. Duct-tomucosa pancreaticojejunostomy during PrPD is done by a single layer of interrupted absorbable stitches. In seromuscular-parenchymal anastomosis, nonabsorbable interrupted stiches are placed in end to side. And then, a single layer choledochojejunostomy is constructed using interrupted stitches without a stent. Gastrojejunostomy in PrPD is performed by a two layer anastomosis via an antecolic route (Fig. 8.3). The final step is construction of the gastrojejunostomy using a twolayer anastomosis. The inner layer was 4–0 PDS-II and the outer layer used 3–0 silk for seromuscular anastomosis.

8.3 The Impact of Pylorus-Resecting Pancreaticoduodenectomy (PrPD)

DGE is a persistent complication after pancreaticoduodenectomy and results in significant prolongation of hospital stay. DGE after PpPD occurs due to several factors, such as (1) antroduodenal ischemia [12, 13], (2) gastric atony caused by vagotomy [14], (3) pylorospasm [15–17], (4) the absence of gastrointestinal hormones [18], (5) gastric dysrhythmia secondary to other complications such as a pancreatic fistula [19–21], and (6) antroduodenal congestion [22]. In particular, DGE after PpPD has been attributed to denervation and devascularization of the pyloric ring due to pylorospasms caused by injuries of the vagus nerves innervating the pyloric ring. In PrPD, the only pylorus ring is resected. The stomach is divided adjacent to the pylorus ring, and almost whole stomach is preserved. PrPD was designed with expectation in maintaining the favorable stomach pooling ability and reducing the incidence of DGE compared to PpPD [11]. The technical modification of resecting pylorus ring may provide a simple and effective method to prevent the incidence of DGE (Fig. 8.4).

Table 8.1 shows summary for comparative study between PpPD and PrPD (SSPPD)



P: pylorus ring

Fig. 8.4 Resection site of the stomach in PrPD; the stomach is divided just adjacent the pylorus ring

Authors	Study design	Years	Variable	Sample size	Definition of DGE ^a	DGE%	P value
Kurahara et al. [23]	Retrospective study	2010	PpPD	48	ISGPS ^b	34.8%	NS
			SSPPD	64		13.0%	
Kawai et al. [11]	Randomized controlled trial	2011	PpPD	64	ISGPS ^b	17.2%	0.024
			PrPD	66		4.5%	
Fujii et al. [24]	Retrospective study	2012	PpPD	33	ISGPS ^b	27.3%°	0.0012
			SSPPD	56		5.8%°	
Nanashima et al. [25]	Retrospective study	2013	PpPD	28	ISGPS ^b	46%°	<0.01
			SSPPD	27		7%°	
Hackert et al. [26]	Retrospective study	2013	PpPD	40	ISGPS ^b	42.5%	0.0066
			PrPD	40		15.0%	
Matsumoto et al. [27]	Randomized controlled trial	2014	PpPD	50	ISGPS ^b	20%	NS
			SSPPD	50		12%	

 Table 8.1
 Summary of comparative studies between PpPD and PrPD (SSPPD)

NS not significant, *PpPD* pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy, *PrPD* pylorus-resecting pancreaticoduodenectomy, *SSPPD* subtotal stomach-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy

^aDelayed gastric emptying

^bPancreatic fistula is defined according to the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) ^cThe rate of ISGPS grade B/C [11, 23–27]. There are two RCTs and five retrospective studies which compared PpPD to PrPD (SSPPD) based on DGE defined by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) [28]. RCT which compared PpPD with PrPD demonstrated that PrPD (4.5%) resulted in a significant reduction in the incidence of DGE compared with PpPD (17.2%) (P = 0.0244) [11]. On the other hand, another RCT by Matsumoto et al. reported that the incidence of DGE was 20% with PpPD and 12% with SSPPD (P = 0.414) [27]. The RCT demonstrated that no significant difference in the incidence of DGE was observed between PpPD and SSPPD. Matsumoto et al. discussed that this discrepancy between two RCTS was due to differences in the study subjects. So, in their study, pancreatic cancer was excluded because patients with pancreatic cancer underwent a more invasive surgery including portal vein resection and regional lymph node dissection than other benign or low-grade malignant lesions. However, Fujii et al. reported that SSPPD offer better perioperative and long-term outcomes for pancreatic cancer compared PpPD [24]. Two

meta-analysis comparing PrPD with PpPD reported that PrPD resulted in a significant reduction of the incidence of DGE compared to PpPD [29, 30]. As a modified anastomosis to prevent occurrence of DGE in SSPPD, Nakamura et al. demonstrated the greater curvature side-to-side anastomosis of gastrojejunostomy [31]. In the side-to-side anastomosis, the jejunal loop is anastomosed to the greater curvature 5-10 cm proximal to the closed gastric stump, and the anastomosis is just the greater curvature, not the anterior nor the posterior wall of the stomach. The study reported that the incidence of DGE in side-to-side anastomosis was in 2.5 % in side-to-side anastomosis and 21.3% in end-to-side anastomosis (P = 0.0002). It was concluded that the greater curvature side-to-side anastomosis of gastrojejunostomy significantly reduced incidence of DGE compared to the gastric stump-to-jejunal end-to-side anastomosis in SSPPD. Now, PROPP study which compares PrPD to PpPD by RCT with sample size for 89 patients per group has been proceeding by Hackert et al. in Germany [32] (Fig. 8.5).



tranśverse colon

Proximal jejunum via antecolic route



8.4 Long-Term Outcomes in PrPD

Advances in surgical techniques and perioperative management have led to a low mortality rate and long post-PD survival. Therefore, long-term outcomes after PD have been becoming a great matter of concern. In particular, nutritional status, body weight loss, dumping syndrome, or diarrhea after PD affects quality of life (QOL). The superiority of PrPD regarding long-term outcomes compared to PpPD remains still controversial. PrPD may have as an equally favorable pooling ability in the stomach as PpPD. However, PrPD with resection of the pylorus ring may result in the more frequent occurrence of dumping syndrome than PpPD. The study for 2-year follow-up period between PpPD and PrPD has shown that dumping syndrome occurred in only 1 of 66 patients (1.6%) with PrPD. The patients with dumping syndrome could be treated with dietary management alone. The study concluded that PrPD offer similar long-term outcomes with PpPD regarding QOL, nutritional status, and late complications [11]. The RCT by Matsumoto et al. also reported that SSPPD is equally effective in long-term nutritional status comparing to PpPD [27]. The study demonstrated that no significant differences were observed between PpPD and SSPPD regarding postoperative serum albumin levels, serum cholesterol levels, and body mass index during the 3-year follow-up period. On the other hand, Fujii et al. reported that serum albumin concentration and total lymphocyte count at 1 year postoperatively were significantly higher in SSPPD than in PpPD for patients with pancreatic cancer (P = 0.0303 and P = 0.0203, respectively) [24]. As the reason, they discussed that the gastric outlet diameter was larger after SSPPD than after PPPD, and this may have contributed to improved oral intake followed by more favorable nutritional status in their study.

Conclusion

PrPD is one of the procedures that may be recommended for treatment of periampullary neoplasms including pancreatic cancer. Two meta-analysis comparing PrPD with PpPD reported that PrPD resulted in a significant reduction of the incidence of DGE compared to PpPD. Further studies are required to clarify the long-term QOL and/or nutritional status resulting after the use of these techniques.

References

- Das Carnimom KW. der Papilla duodeni und seine radikale Entfernung. Beitr Klin Chir. 1912;78:439–86.
- Whipple AO, Parsons W, Mullins CR. Treatment of carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater. Ann Surg. 1935;102:763–79.
- Watson K. Carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater. Successful radical resection. Br J Surg. 1944;31: 368–73.
- Traverso LW, Longmire WJ. Preservation of the pylorus in pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1978;146:959–62.
- Traverso LW, Longmire WJ. Preservation of the pylorus in pancreaticoduodenectomy: a follow-up evaluation. Ann Surg. 1980;192:306–10.
- Jimenez RE, Femandez-del Castillo C, Rattner DW, et al. Outcome of pancreaticoduodenectomy with pylorus preservation or with antrectomy in the treatment of chronic pancreatitis. Ann Surg. 2000;231:293–300.
- Brasssch JW, Deziel DJ, Rossi RL, et al. Pyloric and gastric preserving pancreatic resection. Experience with 87 patients. Ann Surg. 1986;204:411–8.
- Hunt DR, McLean R. Pylorus-preserving pancreatectomy: functional results. Br J Surg. 1989;76: 173–6.
- van Berge Henegouwewn MI, van Gulik TM, De Wit LT, et al. Delayed gastric emptying after standard pancreaticoduodenectomy versus pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy: an analysis of 200 consecutive patients. J Am Coll Surg. 1997;185: 373–9.
- Hayashibe A, Kameyama M, Shinbo M, et al. The surgical procedure and clinical results of subtotal stomach preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (SSPPD) in comparison with pylorus preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (PPPD). J Surg Oncol. 2007;95:106–9.
- 11. Kawai M, Tani M, Hirono S, Miyazawa M, Shimizu A, Uchiyama K, et al. Pylorus ring resection reduces delayed gastric emptying in patients undergoing pancreatoduodenectomy: a prospective randomized controlled trial of pylorus-resecting versus pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy. Ann Surg. 2011;253:495–501.
- Ohwada S, Satoh Y, Kawate S, Yamada T, Kawamura O, Koyama T, et al. Low-dose erythromycin reduces delayed gastric emptying and improves gastric motility after Billroth I pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg. 2001;234:668–74.
- Park JS, Hwang HK, Kim JK, Cho SI, Yoon DS, Lee WJ, et al. Clinical validation and risk factors for delayed gastric emptying based on the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) Classification. Surgery. 2009;146:882–7.
- Itani KM, Coleman RE, Meyers WC, Akwari OE. Pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. A clinical and physiologic appraisal. Ann Surg. 1986;204:655–64.
- Gauvin JM, Sarmiento JM, Sarr MG. Pyloruspreserving pancreaticoduodenectomy with complete preservation of the pyloroduodenal blood supply and innervation. Arch Surg. 2003;138:1261–3.
- Fischer CP, Hong JC. Method of pyloric reconstruction and impact upon delayed gastric emptying and hospital stay after pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10:215–9.
- 17. Kim DK, Hindenburg AA, Sharma SK, Suk CH, Gress FG, Staszewski H, et al. Is pylorospasm a cause of delayed gastric emptying after pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy? Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12:222–7.
- Kobayashi I, Miyachi M, Kanai M, Nagino M, Kondo S, Kamiya J, et al. Different gastric emptying of solid and liquid meals after pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 1998;85:927–30.
- Räty S, Sand J, Lantto E, Nordback I. Postoperative acute pancreatitis as a major determinant of postoperative delayed gastric emptying after pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10:1131–9.
- Riediger H, Makowiec F, Schareck WD, Hopt UT, Adam U. Delayed gastric emptying after pyloruspreserving pancreaticoduodenectomy is strongly related to other postoperative complications. J Gastrointest Surg. 2003;7:758–65.
- Yeo CJ, Barry MK, Sauter PK, Sostre S, Lillemoe KD, Pitt HA, et al. Erythromycin accelerates gastric emptying following pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective, randomized placebo-controlled trial. Ann Surg. 1993;218:229–38.
- Kurosaki I, Hatakeyama K. Preservation of the left gastric vein in delayed gastric emptying after pyloruspreserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2005;9:846–52.
- 23. Kurahara H, Takao S, Shinchi H, et al. Subtotal stomach-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy

(SSPPD) prevents postoperative delayed gastric emptying. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102:615–9.

- Fujii T, Kanda M, Kodera Y, et al. Preservation of the pyloric ring has little value in surgery for pancreatic head cancer: a comparative study comparing three surgical procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:176–83.
- 25. Nanashima A, Abo T, Sumida Y, et al. Comparison of results between pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy and subtotal stomach-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy: report at a single cancer institute. Hepatogastroenterology. 2013;60:1182–8.
- Hackert T, Hinz U, Hartwig W, et al. Pylorus resection in partial pancreaticoduodenectomy: impact on delayed gastric emptying. Am J Surg. 2013a;206:296–9.
- Matsumoto I, Shinzeki M, Asari S, et al. A prospective randomized comparison between pylorus- and subtotal stomach-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy on postoperative delayed gastric emptying occurrence and long-term nutritional status. J Surg Oncol. 2014;109:690–6.
- Wente MN, Bassi C, Dervenis C, et al. Delayed gastric emptying (DGE) after pancreatic surgery: a suggested definition by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). Surgery. 2007;142:761–8.
- 29. Hanna MM, Gadde R, Tamariz L, et al. Delayed Gastric Emptying After Pancreaticoduodenectomy: Is Subtotal Stomach Preserving Better or Pylorus Preserving? J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19:1542–52.
- Huang W, Xiong JJ, Wan MH, et al. Meta-analysis of subtotal stomach-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy vs pylorus preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21:6361–73.
- Nakamura T, Ambo Y, Noji T, et al. Reduction of the Incidence of Delayed Gastric Emptying in Sideto-Side Gastrojejunostomy in Subtotal Stomach-Preserving Pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19:1425–32.
- 32. Hackert T, Bruckner T, Dörr-Harim C, et al. Pylorus resection or pylorus preservation in partial pancreatico-duodenectomy (PROPP study): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2013;14:44.

Pancreaticojejunostomy: How I Do It

Andrew C. Gagel and Matthew H. G. Katz

The past three decades have witnessed a reduction in the rate of overall mortality associated with pancreatectomy to approximately 2% at high-volume pancreatic treatment centers. Nonetheless, as many as 75% of patients who undergo pancreatectomy suffer from at least one postoperative adverse event [1]. Among these, postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF) remains the most feared. The impact of POPF may range from clinically insignificant to severe, leading to reoperation or death [2]. Indeed, total pancreatectomy was historically advocated for most patients with neoplasms in the head of the pancreas in large part to eliminate the possibility of POPF [3]. However, total pancreatectomy for adenocarcinoma is now performed only in the rarest of occasions, and pancreatoduodenectomy is favored. Management of the remnant pancreas is therefore compulsory.

Although simple ligation of the pancreatic duct was initially reported for this purpose, construction of a pancreaticoenteric anastomosis to either the jejunum or stomach is now a routine at pancreatoduodenectomy as it is associated with lower rates of POPF and exocrine dysfunction than duct ligation [4, 5]. A large number of surgical

A. C. Gagel · M. H. G. Katz (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology,

The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: mhgkatz@mdanderson.org

techniques have been devised to construct the pancreaticoenteric anastomosis-a testament that no single procedure is convincingly superior in this regard. I favor a variant of the two-layer Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy characterized by (a) transpance atic sutures that invaginate the pancreatic parenchyma into the jejunum and (b) a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis on the antimesenteric side of the bowel [6]. This technique differs from other techniques that utilize sutures tangentially placed through the capsule and are therefore subject to shear forces and are at high risk for disruption of the pancreatic parenchyma [7]. Indeed, the original technique described by Blumgart has shown to reduce leakage rates and surgical complications after pancreatoduodenectomy [8, 9]. The variant I use is simple and safe, and I have found that it can be taught relatively effortlessly to surgical trainees. And, it can be reproduced using minimally invasive approaches.

9.1 Pancreatoduodenectomy

At The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, we perform pancreatoduodenectomy using a standard technique. The six basic steps have changed little over the past two decades (Fig. 9.1) [10]:

1. The lesser sac is entered through the avascular plane between the omentum and transverse

Check for updates

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_9



colon. The right colon is mobilized at the white line of Toldt until it has been completely medialized. The infrapancreatic superior mesenteric vein is identified by following the course of the middle colic vein to the root of the mesentery. The superior mesenteric vein is dissected free craniocaudally over the third portion of the duodenum.

- 2. A Kocher maneuver is performed to mobilize the duodenum and head of the pancreas to the level of the left renal vein.
- 3. A meticulous portal dissection is performed to expose the common hepatic artery both proximal and distal to the origin of the gastroduodenal artery. The gastroduodenal artery is then ligated and divided. The gallbladder is dissected from the liver, and the common hepatic duct is transected just cephalad to its junction with the cystic duct. The portal vein is exposed by dividing the common hepatic duct and performing cephalad retraction of the common hepatic artery. All lymphatic tissue is swept caudally.
- 4. If the pylorus is to be preserved, the duodenum is transected 1–2 cm distal to the pylorus to preserve a cuff for anastomosis. Otherwise, a standard antrectomy is performed.
- 5. The jejunum is transected approximately 10 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz. The jejunal and duodenal mesenteries are sequentially ligated and divided to the level of the aorta. The duodenum and jejunum are

then rotated beneath the mesenteric vessels.

6. The pancreas is transected at the level of the portal vein. The specimen is separated from the superior mesenteric vein by ligating and dividing the small venous tributaries to the uncinate process and the pancreatic head. The superior mesenteric artery is completely exposed, and the lateral aspect of the vessel is skeletonized in the periadventitial plane to its origin at the aorta. This step is crucial for achieving a negative superior mesenteric artery margin, which is one of the main drivers of good oncologic outcome. The specimen is then removed from the abdomen.

Reconstruction is initiated in a similar, but reverse, stepwise fashion. Three anastomoses are constructed: (a) end-to-side pancreaticojejunostomy, (b) end-to-side hepaticojejunostomy, and (c) end-to-side duodenojejunostomy or gastrojejunostomy. The pancreaticojejunostomy/ gastrojejunostomy are typically constructed sequentially along the jejunum, which is brought into the upper abdomen in a retrocolic position for this purpose. Occasionally, I use a Rouxen-Y reconstruction to isolate the duodenojejunostomy/gastrojejunostomy from the other anastomoses in the setting of a pancreas at high risk for POPF.

Fig. 9.1 Six steps of pancreatoduodenectomy as performed at the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center

9.2 Technique of Pancreaticojejunostomy

The pancreaticojejunostomy is constructed in two layers. Organization of the sutures placed in the anastomosis may be facilitated by the use of suture retainers. In the absence of these devices, Kelly clamps fastened upright to the surgical drapes can be used to organize rubber-shodded hemostats attached to each suture. I typically fasten one Kelly clamp to the upper right and one to the upper left of the incision (Fig. 9.2).

The stapled jejunal limb is oversewn using Lembert sutures of 3-0 silk, and it is then brought into the upper abdomen through a rent in the transverse mesocolon. The limb is positioned adjacent to the pancreatic remnant, and the length of the pancreatic surface is mapped with a marking pen onto the limb of the jejunum to assist with suture placement. The anastomosis is then constructed in the following steps (Fig. 9.3):

 Starting at the cephalad aspect of the anticipated anastomosis and working caudally, seromuscular sutures of pledgeted, doublearmed, 4-0 prolene are placed in the jejunal limb. The needle is placed perpendicular to the long axis of the jejunum to create each mattress stitch; typically two or three sutures are placed cephalad and two or three caudad to the pancreatic duct. Care must be taken to avoid piercing the pancreatic duct with medial



Fig. 9.2 Kelly clamps fastened upright to the surgical drapes are used to organize sutures during construction of the pancreaticojejunostomy (photograph)

sutures, a pitfall that may be particularly likely in the setting of a large and "floppy" duct and atrophic gland. Once all of these sutures are placed in the jejunum, each is sequentially passed through and through the pancreas approximately 0.5–1 cm distal to its cut surface. They are then pulled taut so the jejunal limb and deep surface of the pancreas are well-approximated (Fig. 9.3 (1)).

- 2. The sutures on the pancreatic side of the anterior wall of the duct-to-mucosa layer are placed next, again starting cephalad and moving caudally. I use 5-0 prolene for this purpose; precise suture placement, particularly in the setting of a small duct, is facilitated by the use of double-armed sutures, so bites can be taken from the inside of the pancreatic duct outward toward its transected surface (Fig. 9.3 (2)). Once these sutures have been placed, they are "hung" on the suture retainer so that the duct is held wide open. The posterior layer of the duct-to-mucosa anastomosis can thus be fashioned with greater precision.
- 3. A small jejunotomy is created just opposite the pancreatic duct opening using electrocautery, and the posterior aspect of the duct-tomucosa is then created (Fig. 9.3 (3)). Bites are initiated through the pancreatic duct and out the deep surface of the pancreas, then brought through the jejunal limb and out through the jejunotomy. Care must be taken to obtain a full-thickness bite of jejunum that includes mucosa. The orientation of the sutures should be carefully placed in a clockface orientation like "spokes on a wheel" in such a way that they appear to radiate out from the epicenter of each orifice. The posterior sutures are then tied down in a manner that is simultaneously gentle and firm. The completed knots will lie inside the anastomosis (Fig. 9.3 (4)).
- 4. The hanging anterior sutures are then passed into the jejunotomy and out the surface of the jejunum, again "like spokes on a wheel", and sequentially tied down. The duct-to-mucosa anastomosis is now complete (Fig. 9.3 (4)).



Visual Art: © 2016 The University of Texaz MD Anderson Cancer Center

Fig. 9.3 Steps of pancreaticojejunostomy

- 5. Finally, the first double-arm suture is then used to make a mattress stitch on the anterior side of the jejunum, again with the needle placed perpendicular to the long axis of the bowel. The jejunum is then rolled over the pancreatic remnant, invaginating the pancreatic parenchyma and the duct-to-mucosa anastomosis. Each mattress suture is passed through a pledget and is then tied down (Fig. 9.3 (5)).
- 6. We place a single Jackson-Pratt drain to drain the pancreaticojejunostomy given randomized data that it is beneficial [11].

9.3 Perioperative Care

We utilize two distinct clinical pathways for the postoperative care of patients who undergo pancreatoduodenectomy based on their risk for POPF [12]. Preoperative clinical factors—histopathologic diagnosis, pancreatic duct diameter and body mass index-are used to estimate risk for clinically significant POPF as very low (~0%), low (~10%), high (~30%), or very high (~60%). Patients at very low or low risk for POPF are targeted for a hospital length of stay of 6 days or fewer and are accelerated through their hospitalization by removing the nasogastric tube on day 2 and removing the surgical drain on day 3. Pharmacologic prophylaxis against POPF is not utilized in this group of patients. In contrast, patients at high or very high risk for POPF are treated more conservatively. Their hospital length of stay is targeted for 10 days, and they receive pasireotide in the perioperative period in an attempt to reduce clinically significant POPF [13].

I favor this technique and use it irrespective of gland texture or duct diameter because successful management of the pancreatic remnant depends on the surgeon's concentration and on his/her familiarity and experience with technique [14]. However, as long as the basic tenets of a safe anastomosis are met—careful handling of the tissues, tension-free adaptation, good perfusion, and an absence of distal obstruction—any pancreaticoenteric anastomotic technique can have a good outcome.

References

- Schwarz L, Bruno M, Parker NH, et al. Active surveillance for adverse events within 90 days: the standard for reporting surgical outcomes after pancreatectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:3522–9.
- Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, et al. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an international study group (ISGPF) definition. Surgery. 2005;138:8–13.
- Moossa AR. Surgical treatment of pancreatic cancer. In: Moossa AR, editor. Tumors of the pancreas. Baltimore: Williams and Wikins; 1980. p. 446.
- Tran K, Van Eijck C, Di Carlo V, Hop WC, Zerbi A, Balzano G, et al. Occlusion of the pancreatic duct versus pancreaticojejunostomy: a prospective randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2002;236:422–8.
- Bassi C, Falconi M, Molinari E, Salvia R, Butturini G, Sartori N, et al. Reconstruction by pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy following pancreatectomy: results of a comparative study. Ann Surg. 2005;242:767–71.
- Friess H, Ho CK, Kleef J, Büchler MW. Pancreaticoduo-denectomy, distal pancreatectomy, segmental pancreatectomy, total pancreatectomy, and transduodenal resection of the papilla of vater. In: Blumgart LH, editor. Surgery of the liver, biliary tract, and pancreas. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2007. p. 877–903.
- Warren KW, Cattell RB. Basic techniques in pancreatic surgery. Surg Clin North Am. 1956;36:707–24.

- Kleespies A, Rentsch M, Seeliger H, Albertsmeier M, Jauch KW, Bruns CJ. Blumgart anastomosis for pancreaticojejunostomy minimizes severe complications after pancreatic head resection. Br J Surg. 2009;96(7):741–50.
- Mishra PK, Saluja SS, Gupta M, Rajalingam R, Pattnaik P. Blumgart's technique of pancreaticojejunostomy: an appraisal. Dig Surg. 2011;28(4):281–7.
- Bose B, Katz MH, Fleming JB. Pancreatic cancer. In: Berger DH, Feig BW, editors. The MD Anderson surgical oncology handbook. 3rd ed. Crawfordville: R.R. Donnelley; 2012.
- 11. Van Buren G 2nd, Bloomston M, Hughes SJ, Winter J, Behrman SW, Zyromski NJ, Vollmer C, Velanovich V, Riall T, Muscarella P, Trevino J, Nakeeb A, Schmidt CM, Behrns K, Ellison EC, Barakat O, Perry KA, Drebin J, House M, Abdel-Misih S, Silberfein EJ, Goldin S, Brown K, Mohammed S, Hodges SE, McElhany A, Issazadeh M, Jo E, Mo Q, Fisher WE. A randomized prospective multicenter trial of pancreaticoduodenectomy with and without routine intraperitoneal drainage. Ann Surg. 2014;259(4):605–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.000000000000460.
- Denbo JW, Slack RS, Bruno M, et al. Selective perioperative administration of pasireotide is more cost-effective than routine administration for pancreatic fistula prophylaxis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2017;21(4):636–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11605-016-3340-7.
- Allen PJ, Gönen M, Brennan MF, Bucknor AA, Robinson LM, Pappas MM, Carlucci KE, D'Angelica MI, DeMatteo RP, Kingham TP, Fong Y, Jarnagin WR. Pasireotide for postoperative pancreatic fistula. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(21):2014–22. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1313688. Erratum in: N Engl J Med. 2014;371(1):94. . PMID: 24849084.
- Trede M, et al. Personal observations, opinions, and approaches to cancer of the pancreas and periampullary are. Surg Clin North Am. 2001;81:595–610.



Invaginating Pancreaticojejunostomy: How I Do It

Carrie D. Walsh, Charles J. Yeo, and Harish Lavu

10.1 Introduction

In the early years of pancreatic surgery, PD was associated with a high rate of mortality. However, with the effort of many surgeons working to improve the operative technique, in addition to advances in postoperative care, there has been a marked improvement in patient outcomes—with a typical perioperative mortality rate in highvolume centers of less than 2% [1].

Developments in the treatment of pancreatic disorders began as early as 1898, when Alessandro Codivilla, an Italian surgeon, performed the first partial resection of the pancreas, duodenum, stomach, and bile duct for treatment of carcinoma of the pancreas. Unfortunately, Codivilla's patient died from cachexia resulting from steatorrhea 18 days post-op [2]. It was not until 1912 when Walther Kausch, a German surgeon in Berlin, successfully performed a resection of the pancreas, in addition to a partial resection of the duodenum [3]. Like many surgeons operating at the beginning of the twentieth century, Kausch believed that the duodenum was vital for patient survival, and therefore his procedure did not include a complete duodenectomy. However, in

C. D. Walsh · C. J. Yeo · H. Lavu (🖂)

1918 Dragstedt et al. [4] disproved this misconception, demonstrating that dogs could survive following a duodenal resection, thereby setting the stage for Allen Oldfather Whipple to perform the first reported total duodenectomy in 1935 [5].

Building upon the findings of Kausch, Dragstedt, and others, Whipple and his resident John Hawk conducted a series of experiments on dogs, which allowed them to conclude that reimplantation rather than ligation of the pancreatic duct was an important step in reconstruction and could reduce the incidence of pancreatic fistula formation. Additionally, their experimental PJ showed that the connection between the epithelium of the pancreatic duct and the mucosa of the jejunum could heal within a 24-h period [1].

It was in 1935 that Whipple first published a report of three patients who underwent a twostage procedure at Columbia-Presbyterian Hospital in New York [5]. The operation included the complete resection of the duodenum and a large portion of the pancreas. Unfortunately one of the patients died within 30 h of the procedure due to problems with anastomotic breakdown. The second and third survived for 9 and 24 months when they died of cholangitis and liver metastasis, respectively.

In 1946, Whipple published a second report, which addressed his 10-year experience in radical pancreatic and duodenal resection, and suggested changes to his original report [6]. This publication advocated for a one-stage procedure,

Department of Surgery, Jefferson Pancreas Biliary and Related Cancer Center, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: harish.lavu@jefferson.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_10

following the discovery that vitamin K could correct the hypocoagulability associated with malabsorption of fat-soluble vitamins secondary to chronic biliary obstruction. It was in this second report that Whipple emphasized three central aspects of the operation: (1) the complete resection of the head of the pancreas and duodenum, (2) anastomosis of the pancreatic duct to a jejunal loop, and (3) a choledochoenterostomy in place of a cholecystoenterostomy. Aside from one significant variation that was described by Traverso and Longmire in 1978—the pylorus-preserving modification (PPPD) [7]—the current PD differs relatively little from the procedure described by Whipple in 1946.

The two most common PJ techniques currently in practice around the world are the invaginated and the duct-to-mucosa anastomoses. An advantage of the invaginated technique over the duct-to-mucosa is that the cut edges of the pancreas are invaginated or "dunked" into the jejunal lumen. This allows for the apposition of the pancreatic capsule to the jejunal serosa. Additionally, the technique can be applied even in a patient with a very small pancreatic duct [8] or a soft pancreatic texture [9]. However, despite its advantages, "dunking" requires the entire cut surface of the pancreas to be exposed to bileactivated pancreatic juice, which has the potential to lead to anastomotic breakdown [10]. The ductto-mucosa technique does not require a large jejunotomy to facilitate pancreatic invagination. However, it can be difficult to perform in a patient with a small pancreatic duct and may leave the patient with an anastomosis that is prone to obstruction [10].

A number of prospective, randomized controlled trials have been conducted to attempt to compare the invaginated and duct-to-mucosa techniques (Table 10.1). The most recent study was performed by Xu et al. in Shanghai, China, in 2015 [10]. The primary variable under consideration was the occurrence of postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF)—as defined by the International Study Group on Pancreatic Fistula (ISGPF). Although the Xu et al. study observed a slight superiority for the invaginated PJ technique, the authors emphasize that the risk of POPF remains multifactorial. The patient's BMI, the experience of the surgeon, operating time, and the texture of the pancreas are but some of the variables affecting patient outcomes. The most significant results favoring the invaginated technique were for patients with soft pancreas texture and a non-dilated main pancreatic duct, showing a POPF rate of 9.6% for the "dunking" technique in contrast to 27.3% for the duct-tomucosa technique (p = 0.001) [10]. This finding is consistent with a dual-institutional prospective randomized controlled trial reported in 2009 by Berger et al. at Thomas Jefferson University and Indiana University, which showed a 12% POPF rate for the invaginated technique vs. a 24% rate (p = 0.04) for the duct-to-mucosa group [11]. A prospective randomized trial by Bassi et al. in 2003 showed no statistically significant differences between the two methods in patients with a soft pancreatic texture—with a 15% POPF rate for the invaginated approach and a 13% POPF rate for the duct-to-mucosa technique [13].

Despite these findings, the most important factors in anastomotic success are generally considered to be the proficiency and experience of the surgeon for the given technique that they favor.

10.2 Technique for Pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD): Resectional Phase [14, 15]

 The operation is conducted with the patient in the supine position. Following abdominal exploration, a cholecystectomy is performed using the "dome down" technique, and the cystic duct and artery are ligated. The Kocher maneuver is then executed to release the duodenum from its retroperitoneal attachments and mobilize the pancreatic head, leaving the exposed tumor accessible for palpation. Dissection is then carried out within the gastrohepatic ligament. The common hepatic duct is encircled and transected. The gastroduodenal artery (GDA) is test clamped to ensure adequate proper hepatic artery flow before the vessel is controlled with 2-0 silk

		Incidence of POPF Grade (when provided)	
Author/year	Number of points	Total: 14 (9%)	Total: 31 (20%)
Xu et al. (2015) [10] Study: October 2012–June 2014	<i>N</i> = 308		
	N = 155: invaginated (104 = soft/non-dilated duct 51 = hard/dilated duct)	Grade A: 13*	Grade A: 18*
	N = 153: duct-to-mucosa (95 = soft/ non-dilated duct 58 = hard/dilated duct)	Grade B/C: 1*	Grade B/C: 13*
Berger et al. (2009) [11] Study: August 2006–May 2008	<i>N</i> = 197	Total: 12 (12%)	Total: 23 (24%)
	N = 100 (51%) invaginated	Grade A: 5 (5%)	Grade A: 6 (6%)
	N = 97 (49%) duct-to-mucosa	Grade B: 5 (5%)	Grade B: 14 (14%)
		Grade C: 2 (2%)	Grade C: 3 (3%)
*Langrehr et al. (2005)[12]Study: July 1999–December 2000	<i>N</i> = 113	2 (3.5%) 2 (3	2 (3.6%)
	N = 57: invaginated/mattress suture technique		
	N = 56: duct-to-mucosa/Cattell anastomosis		
Bassi et al. (2003) [13] Study: 1999-2001	<i>N</i> = 144	11 (15%) 9 (13%)	9 (13%)
	N = 72: invaginated		
	N = 72: duct-to-mucosa		

Table 10.1 Prospective, randomized controlled trials comparing the invaginated PJ to the duct-to-mucosa technique

Key: *p <0.05; #underpowered study-no p-values provided

ties and a 3-0 silk suture ligature. The duodenum is transected 2–3 cm below the pylorus with a stapler. A Penrose drain is passed underneath the pancreatic neck overlying the superior mesenteric vein (SMV). This allows for safe transection of the pancreatic neck with electrocautery.

2. Using the base of the transverse mesocolon as an anatomic landmark, the ligament of Treitz is exposed and lysed. At a distance of 15-20 cm distal to the ligament, the jejunum is divided using a stapler, and the distal jejunal staple line is imbricated with 3-0 silk Lembert sutures. The proximal jejunum is then divided from its mesentery and moved to the right side of the surgical field by passing it under the base of the mesocolon and the superior mesenteric vessels. Working along the lateral border of the superior mesenteric artery (SMA) and SMV, the retroperitoneal margin of the uncinate process is dissected out, and all pancreatic tissue adjacent to the artery is separated from the perivascular plane. The specimen is removed and a hemostatic agent is applied to the retroperitoneal margin to promote clotting. A series of interrupted 3-0 silk sutures is used to close the defect previously created at the ligament of Treitz, with care taken not to injure the inferior mesenteric vein (IMV).

10.3 Technique for the Invaginated PJ [14, 15]

- Just to the right of the middle colic vessels, a defect is introduced into the transverse mesocolon, and the proximal jejunum is carried through this defect.
- 2. The pancreatic remnant is mobilized for a distance of 2–3 cm from the underlying splenic vein (Fig. 10.1).

10.4 Posterior Outer Row of PJ [14, 15]

 The PJ is constructed end-to-side, with an interrupted posterior outer row of 3-0 silk mattress sutures placed between the posterior aspect of the pancreatic remnant and the jejunum. In a patient with a characteristic "soft" pancreas, we find that the sutures hold best when placed in a horizontal mattress fashion (Fig. 10.2).



Fig. 10.1 The pancreatic remnant is mobilized for a distance of 2–3cm from the underlying splenic vein

Fig. 10.2 The PJ is constructed end-to-side, with an interrupted posterior outer row of 3-0 silk sutures placed between the posterior aspect of the pancreatic remnant and the jejunum. In a patient with a characteristic "soft" pancreas, we find that the sutures hold best when placed in a horizontal mattress fashion



- 2. Once the sutures are secured and tied down (Fig. 10.3), electrocautery is used to perform the jejunotomy, and a vein retractor is used to expose the jejunal mucosa.
- Care should be taken to ensure that the jejunotomy is shorter than the width of the cut surface of the pancreas, as the small bowel will stretch during construction of the anastomosis.

10.5 Inner Rows of PJ [14, 15]

 A 5 French pediatric feeding tube is placed within the pancreatic duct to ensure that the duct is not inadvertently ligated during the construction of the anastomosis (Fig. 10.4). For larger pancreas ducts, an 8 French pediatric feeding tube can be used.





Fig. 10.4 A 5 French pediatric feeding tube is placed within the pancreatic duct to ensure that the duct is not inadvertently ligated during the construction of the anastomosis



- Two 3-0 Polysorb[™] sutures are then placed in a running-locking fashion in the inferior corner of the anastomosis. One stitch is used in running-locking fashion to complete the posterior inner layer.
- The posterior inner layer is joined together and tied to the anterior portion of the anastomosis with the second 3-0 PolysorbTM suture. The anterior inner layer remains unlocked (Fig. 10.5).

10.6 Outer Anterior Row of PJ [14, 15]

 An outer anterior row of interrupted 3-0 silk sutures is placed in a vertical mattress fashion to complete the pancreatic anastomosis. The vertical sutures are designed to roll the jejunum over the anterior inner layer, and the tension is dispersed by crossing each suture over

Fig. 10.5 The posterior inner layer is joined together and tied to the anterior portion of the anastomosis with the second 3-0 Polysorb[™] suture. The anterior inner layer remains unlocked



Fig. 10.6 An outer anterior row of interrupted 3-0 silk sutures is placed in a vertical mattress fashion to complete the pancreatic anastomosis. The vertical sutures are designed to roll the jejunum over the anterior inner layer, and the tension is dispersed by crossing each suture over the preceding suture



the preceding suture while they are being tied (Fig. 10.6).

2. Figure 10.7 demonstrates the completed invaginated PJ.

10.7 Hepaticojejunostomy (HJ) [14, 15]

1. The HJ is constructed several centimeters distal to the PJ in an end-to-side fashion, with a single layer of interrupted 5-0 polydioxanone (PDS[®]) sutures.

10.8 Duodenojejunostomy (DJ) [14, 15]

1. The DJ is constructed in a two-layer hand-sewn technique—20–40 cm distal to the HJ.

10.9 Drainage and Closure [14, 15]

1. Two Jackson-Pratt drains are positioned on either side of the abdomen as a precaution against the occurrence of fistula. The right



Fig. 10.7 The completed invaginated PJ is demonstrated

drain is positioned within the subhepatic space, posterior to the right upper quadrant (RUQ) jejunal loop, which we term the neoduodenum. The left drain is placed posterior to the stomach through the gastrocolic ligament and superior to the PJ. #2 Nylon suture in a running fashion is used to close the fascia, and the subcutaneous tissue and skin are closed with 3-0 and 4-0 VicrylTM sutures, respectively.

References

- Are C, Dhir M, Ravipati L. History of pancreaticoduodenectomy: early misconceptions, initial milestones and the pioneers. HPB (Oxford). 2011;13(6):377–84.
- Sauve L. Des pancreatectomies et spécialment de la pancréatectomie céphalique. Rev Chir. 1908;37:113– 52, and 335-85
- Kausch W. Das Carcinom der Papilla duodeni und seine radikale Entfernung. Beitrage zur Klinische. Chirurgie. 1912;78:439–86.
- Dragstedt LR, Dragstedt C, McClintock JT, Chase CS. Extirpation of the duodenum. Am J Physiol. 1918;46:584–90.
- Whipple AO, Parsons WB, Mullins CR. Treatment of carcinoma of the ampulla of vater. Ann Surg. 1935;102(4):763–79.
- Whipple AO. Observations on radical surgery for lesions of the pancreas. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1946;82:623–31.
- Garonzik-Wang J, Majella Doyle M. Pylorus preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. Clin Liver Dis. 2015;5(3):54–8.

- Kennedy E, Yeo CJ. Dunking pancreaticojejunostomy versus duct-to-mucosa anastomosis. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2011;18(6):769–74.
- Gómez T. Reconstruction after pancreatoduodenectomy: Pancreatojejunostomy vs pancreatogastrostomy. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2014;6(9):369.
- Xu J, Zhang B, Shi S, Qin Y, Ji S, Xu W, et al. Papillary-like main pancreatic duct invaginated pancreaticojejunostomy versus duct-to-mucosa pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: A prospective randomized trial. Surgery. 2015;158(5):1211–8.
- Berger A, Howard T, Kennedy E, Sauter P, Bower-Cherry M, Dutkevitch S, et al. Does type of pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy decrease rate of pancreatic fistula? A randomized, prospective, dual-institution trial. J Am Coll Surg. 2009;208(5):738–47.
- Langrehr J, Bahra M, Jacob D, Glanemann M, Neuhaus P. Prospective randomized comparison between a new mattress technique and Cattell (ductto-mucosa) pancreaticojejunostomy for pancreatic resection. World J Surg. 2005;29(9):1111–9.
- Bassi C, Falconi M, Molinari E, Mantovani W, Butturini G, Gumbs A, et al. Duct-to-mucosa versus end-to-side pancreaticojejunostomy reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy: results of a prospective randomized trial. Surgery. 2003;134(5):766–71.
- 14. Lavu H, Brumbaugh J, Yeo CJ. Pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy with invaginating pancreaticojejunostomy. In: Asbun HJ, Fuchshuber PR, editors. ACS multimedia atlas of surgery: pancreas surgery volume. 1st ed. Woodbury: Cine-Med; 2016.
- Lavu H. Invaginated pancreaticojejunostomy (Whipple Reconstruction) by Harish Lavu | CSurgeries [Internet]. Csurgeries.com. 2016 [cited 31 December 2016]. https://www. csurgeries.com/video/invaginated-pancreaticojejunostomy-(whipple-reconstruction)/ ouyyb9jyj1



Through-and-Through Transpancreatic Duct-to-Mucosa (Blumgart) Pancreaticojejunostomy

Rohit Chandwani and William R. Jarnagin

11.1 Introduction (Literature Review)

Pancreatic fistula (PF) remains a common and significant source of postoperative morbidity in patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy. While mortality following the Whipple procedure has improved substantially to rates close to 1% in several large Western centers [1, 2], morbidity remains high with rates of 30–40% [3]. Whereas for most operative interventions surgical complications typically include anastomotic leak, hemorrhage, and wound infection, it is the pancreatic leak or fistula that is the most common source of perioperative morbidity. Classified by the International Study Group on Pancreatic Fistula (ISGPF) criteria, the clinically relevant Grade B and C fistulae historically required reoperation and now are commonly addressed by percutaneous or endoscopic techniques [4]. These technical advances notwithstanding, pancreatic fistulae remain an intractable source of morbidity following pancreaticoduodenectomy.

The risk factors for pancreatic fistula have been well studied. These include pancreas-

Department of Surgery, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: jarnagiw@mskcc.org specific features [type of pathology, soft texture to the pancreatic parenchyma, or small duct size (often occurring when there is a lack of antecedent pancreatic ductal obstruction)] and patientspecific features [intraoperative blood loss, poor blood supply, diabetes, obesity] that either make the technical reconstruction or wound healing, respectively, considerably more challenging [5]. In patients with both pancreas- and patientspecific risk factors, the incidence of clinically significant postoperative pancreatic fistula approaches 30% [6]. However, even in those patients with low fistula risk scores, the risk of PF remains upward of 6% [7].

Several approaches have been undertaken to prevent pancreatic fistulae. The pharmacologic approach has sought to minimize pancreatic secretions, typically through the use of somatostatin analogues such as octreotide. The extensive data on octreotide are mixed, with a recent Cochrane review suggesting a decreased rate of pancreatic fistula (RR 0.66; 95% CI 0.55-0.79; n = 2206) and postoperative complications (RR 0.70; 95% CI 0.61–0.80; n = 1903) with the use of octreotide. These findings, however, were not significant in those studies using ISGPF criteria to determine clinical relevance (RR 0.69; 95% CI 0.38-1.28; n = 292) [8]. Pasireotide, a somatostatin analog with a longer half-life than octreotide, was shown in a randomized controlled trial performed at our institution to decrease the incidence of clinically significant pancreatic fistulae following pancreaticoduodenectomy as compared

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_11

R. Chandwani, M.D., Ph.D. · W. R. Jarnagin, M.D. (⊠) Hepatopancreatobiliary Service,

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

to placebo (10% vs. 21%; p = 0.04) [9]. Several subsequent studies have since suggested that this intervention is cost-effective [10–12].

Other factors that have been evaluated have been the type of suture material, the use of fibrin sealants (to better secure the pancreaticojejunal anastomosis), and the use of external and internal pancreatic stents. One retrospective comparison study has evaluated the outcomes following the use of absorbable and nonabsorbable sutures, finding no difference between suture types [13]. Similarly, fibrin sealants appear to offer no benefit in terms of perioperative morbidity and mortality, with an incidence of pancreatic fistula following pancreatic resection across several randomized studies of 29.6% when fibrin sealants were used and 31.0% in control groups (RR 0.93; 95% CI 0.71-1.21; p = 0.58 [14]. With respect to stent placement, internal stenting across the pancreaticojejunal anastomosis does not reduce the rate of PF formation [15], but there does appear to be a risk reduction with externalized stents (6% stent vs. 22% no stent; p = 0.04) [16]. However, systematic review does not support the use of either external or internal stenting [17].

Perhaps the most abundantly researched in the effort to lower the incidence of pancreatic fistulae has been the specific technique of pancreatic anastomosis. Among the many established approaches are the typical duct-to-mucosa pancreaticojejunostomy (with or without parenchymal sutures), invagination into the jejunum, and pancreaticogastrostomy [18]. Despite extensive study, the literature fails to offer clarity on which approach is associated with improved outcomes. Recent randomized controlled trials have suggested a superiority of pancreaticogastrostomy over pancreaticojejunostomy when subjected to meta-analysis with rates of PF reduced from 18.7% to 11.2% [19]. Another contemporaneous meta-analysis showed similar findings across seven randomized controlled trials, with a reduction in PF among pancreaticogastrostomy patients (10.6% vs. 18.5%; p = 0.0002). Subgroup analysis restricted to those studies in which ISGPF criteria were used also showed a significant difference (8.3% vs. 20.5%; p < 0.00001) [20]. Additional meta-analyses have also sug-

gested a decreased incidence of PF with pancreaticogastrostomy and a modest impact on overall morbidity [21–23]. However, a more recent multicenter German randomized controlled trial (RECOPANC) included 320 patients in an intentto-treat analysis, finding no difference in the incidence of Grade B/C pancreatic fistulae between pancreaticogastrostomy and pancreaticojejunostomy (20% vs. 22%; p = 0.617) [24], and a greater number of postoperative hemorrhage in the PG group. In the end, while the preponderance of data suggests that pancreaticogastrostomy should be preferred over pancreaticojejunostomy, it is crucial to note that the pancreaticojejunostomy techniques employed in the aforementioned studies were invariably heterogeneous.

Indeed, the outcomes following alternative methods of pancreaticojejunostomy can be quite varied. In an early randomized trial comparing invagination to a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis, the former was associated with a lower rate of pancreatic fistula formation (12% vs. 24%; p < 0.05 [25]. This contrasts with the prior randomized trial from Italy showing no difference in outcomes between the two techniques, including a similar incidence of pancreatic fistula (13% for duct-to-mucosa anastomosis and 15% for invagination; p = ns) [26]. Additional trials showing conflicting data regarding these methods have since followed [27], and a recent meta-analysis showed no significant difference (OR = 1.23 for duct-to-mucosa vs. invagination; p = 0.38) across the published studies [28].

At our institution, we utilize an altogether different reconstructive method-the Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy-that combines a ductto-mucosa anastomosis with transpancreatic sutures. Because the jejunum is imbricated over the entire transected pancreatic parenchymal surface, this technique essentially couples a duct-tomucosa anastomosis to the proposed advantages of invagination. Performed over the last 25 years at our institution and by hundreds of trainees across the world, this technique has become our preferred means of pancreaticojejunal anastomosis. Here we discuss the critical aspects of the surgical technique and review the literature regarding its use in the reconstruction following pancreaticoduodenectomy.

11.2 Surgical Technique

Resection is performed in the standard fashion, with removal of the head of the pancreas and the duodenum. Pylorus preservation can be performed as dictated by the indication for operative intervention. During pancreatic transection, four stay sutures-typically consisting of a 3-0 monofilament absorbable suture (such as PDS)-are placed at the superior and inferior aspect of the pancreas on both sides of the intended line of transection. Two of these remain on the pancreatic remnant following extirpation of the specimen. At this point, the remnant is prepared by dissecting it free of the splenic artery and vein for a length of 1-2 cm. The jejunal limb is then brought through a defect in the transverse mesocolon that is created to the right of the middle colic vessels, such that the proximal jejunal end sits to the right of the inferior aspect of the pancreatic remnant. Absorbable stay sutures are placed in the jejunum approximately 10-15 cm apart-representing the full extent of the jejunum incorporated into the future anastomosis-in order to splay out the small intestine during the creation of the retrocolic pancreaticojejunostomy.

The critical component of the through-andthrough (Blumgart) approach is the careful placement of several transpancreatic U-sutures. At our institution, we use 3-0 braided absorbable sutures (such as VICRYL) that are placed in interrupted fashion beginning at the superior aspect of the pancreatic remnant. The first suture is placed adjacent to the superior 3-0 PDS stay suture, taking care to avoid the pancreaticoduodenal vessels. As with all the transpanceeatic sutures, this stitch is first placed in the anterior surface of the pancreas and brought out the posterior aspect. A horizontal seromuscular stitch in the jejunum-approximately 1 cm of travel along the longitudinal axis of the bowel and well-posterior to the anticipated duct-to-mucosa anastomosis (i.e., closer to the posterior mesentery)-is then placed, with the stitch then taken back through the pancreas posterior to anterior, exiting about 0.5 cm from the initial entry of the stitch on the anterior surface. Six of these 'U' horizontal mattress stitches are placed-three cranial and three caudal to the pancreatic duct-taking extreme care on the interior two stitches to avoid placing the stitch through the duct itself. (A plastic stent can be inserted into the duct to avoid this issue.) Each stitch travels along the length of the bowel, incorporating a total of 8–10 cm of jejunum into the anastomosis. The stitches are not tied, and the needles are left on all six stitches; importantly, the jejunum is not approximated to the pancreas at this time. It is critical in the placement of these sutures to maintain organization for later completion (Fig. 11.1).

The duct-to-mucosa anastomosis is then performed. A small enterotomy using the needlepoint on the electrocautery is made in the jejunum, between the third and fourth 'U' stitches and exactly on the antimesenteric side of the jejunum. The full anastomosis will usually consist of 6–8 interrupted monofilament absorbable sutures (usually 4-0 or 5-0 PDS) for larger ducts and 4–6 sutures for smaller ducts. Invariably, the first stitch is placed in the 6 o'clock position on the inside of the pancreatic duct, exiting through the posterior aspect of the remnant and then full thickness through the jejunum, from the serosa to the lumen



Fig. 11.1 Placement of transpancreatic sutures





Fig. 11.3 Apposition of the pancreas to the jejunum

Fig. 11.2 Placement of posterior row of duct-tomucosa sutures

(Fig. 11.2). Adjacent sutures are then placed in the 3 and 9 o'clock positions (for small ducts) or in the 4 and 8 o'clock positions (for normal or larger ducts). As with the initial duct-to-mucosa suture, the needle is first passed from the lumen of the pancreatic duct out the posterior parenchyma and then from serosa to mucosa on the jejunal side.

At this point, the jejunum is parachuted down to the pancreatic remnant, and the transpancreatic U-sutures are tied (with the needles left on). This approximates the jejunum to the posterior face of the pancreatic remnant and decreases tension on the stitches of the duct-to-mucosa anastomosis. The 6 o'clock duct-to-mucosa suture is then tied, followed by the additional posterior stitches (4 and 8 o'clock or 3 and 6 o'clock, as dictated by duct size) (Fig. 11.3). To complete the duct-to-mucosa anastomosis, the anterior set of stitches are then placed in similar fashion —except the 12 o'clock stitch, for which the needle is first placed on the anterior pancreatic parenchymal surface, brought through the duct and then from mucosa to serosa on the jejunal side. These sutures are tied as they are placed.

With the duct-to-mucosa inner layer complete, attention is turned to the completion of the transpancreatic sutures. The needle of the most cranial transpancreatic suture is taken, and two seromuscular bites are taken through the jejunum. The first of these is transversely from the posterior mesenteric side (incorporated in the first part of the anastomosis) to the anterior mesenteric side. The second is parallel to the longitudinal axis of the bowel. This represents the corner transpancreatic U-suture, and the stitch is tied so that the jejunum forms a wrap over the anterior surface of the pancreas at its most superior aspect. The next four transpancreatic sutures are completed by



Fig. 11.4 Placement of anterior seromuscular jejunal sutures

taking 1 cm travel seromuscular stitches in the jejunum (again along the longitudinal axis of the bowel), close to the anterior mesentery so that there is adequate distance from the duct-tomucosa anastomosis. Each of these is tied so that the jejunum is brought over the anterior surface of the pancreatic parenchyma (Fig. 11.4). The last transpancreatic suture is also a corner stitch with two bites taken—the first is longitudinally on the bowel and the second transversely such that the final needle exit on the jejunum is 0.5 cm from the suture taken through the posterior surface of the jejunum.

The final result of the anastomosis is depicted in Fig. 11.5, showing the entire transected surface of the pancreas completely covered by jejunal serosa. While the Cattell-Warren pancreaticojejunostomy and most other technical approaches do also cover the transected surface, the Blumgart anastomosis differs in that the pancreatic remnant should appear imbricated into the jejunum.



Fig. 11.5 Completed Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy

11.3 Results

As with the multitude of measures described in the foregoing, the through-and-through duct-tomucosa (Blumgart) pancreaticojejunostomy has been the subject of extensive clinical investigation. In a multi-institution report of 187 consecutivelv treated patients, the Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy described herein was associated with a 6.9% incidence of Grade B and C pancreatic fistula (by ISGPF criteria). Perioperative mortality was low at 1.6%, and the incidence of reoperation was 5.3%; notably, neither mortality nor reoperation occurred in a patient with a postoperative pancreatic fistula [29]. There was a 13.4% incidence of Grade A pancreatic fistula not altering clinical management. Compared with other retrospective studies employing the ISGPF criteria, this report compares favorably with the results of other technical approaches. Similarly, a group in India applied this technique in 98 consecutive patients, finding an incidence of Grade B and C pancreatic fistula of 7.14%, with only one patient requiring reexploration due to leak [30]. As various contemporaneous retrospective studies examining the outcomes of other reconstruction techniques have shown an incidence of Grade B and C fistulae of 10–15%, the outcomes following Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy in these two studies represent a significant improvement [31, 32].

Several studies have provided higher quality evidence by comparing the Blumgart technique directly with other technical methods. One such study employed a before-after retrospective design from a single institution in Germany examining the outcomes following the Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy versus a Cattell-Warren anastomosis. The Blumgart anastomosis was performed in the fashion described herein, while the latter consisted of interrupted anterior and posterior rows of sutures between the seromuscular jejunum and the anterior and posterior pancreatic capsule, respectively (in conjunction with a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis). The authors of this study observed a statistically significant decrease in operative time and a trend toward decreased blood loss in the Blumgart anastomosis group. Importantly, the rate of surgical complications and the rate of Grade B and C pancreatic fistula were statistically significantly lower (4% vs. 13%; p = 0.032). Finally, in a multivariate analysis, the type of anastomosis (Blumgart vs. Cattell-Warren) was a significant predictor of both major local complications and systemic complications [33]. In another line of evidence, a second German group published similar findings in a randomized study comparing a transpancreatic mattress suture anastomosis the conventional Cattell-Warren to pancreaticojejunostomy. Their technique, representing a variation on the Blumgart anastomosis, employed transpancreatic U-sutures, not in conjunction with a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis, but with the invagination of the entire cut surface of the pancreas into a large jejunal opening; in their hands, there was a trend toward fewer complications in the group using transpancreatic mattress sutures with invagination compared to a group in whom Cattell-Warren anastomoses were performed [34]. In both studies, the authors theorize that the shear forces on the pancreatic parenchyma are lessened by the transpancreatic sutures, as knot-tying compresses the full-thickness parenchyma rather than generates perpendicular force that in the soft pancreas tears through the tissue.

More recently, further evidence to support the use of the Blumgart anastomosis has been offered by additional comparison studies. In one, a Japanese group compared the Kakita method (interrupted full-thickness pancreatic sutures + a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis) to the transpancreatic mattress method described here. Of note, externalized pancreatic stents were employed in all patients with a pancreatic duct of less than 3mm in diameter. In this single-institution matched historical control study with 120 patients in each arm, the Blumgart technique was associated with a significantly lower rate of Grade B and C pancreatic fistula (2.5% vs. 36%; p < 0.001), shorter duration of drain placement, and shorter postoperative stay [35]. Another Japanese group also examined in a retrospective fashion the outcomes of the Kakita method with the Blumgart anastomosis, finding a lower rate of Grade B and C fistula in the through-and-through mattress method (20.5% vs. 37.2%; p = 0.033) [36]. It should be noted that the rate of clinically significant fistulae was quite high in this report and does well exceed those described in Western centers for most methods of reconstruction.

An important piece of evidence has also been recently offered from a Taiwanese group comparing the outcomes of the Blumgart anastomosis with that of pancreaticogastrostomy. Given that several studies have compared various methods of pancreaticojejunostomy with pancreaticogastrostomy and that there is suggestion that the latter may be superior, this comparison is an important one. In a retrospective analysis of a prospectively maintained database, the Taiwanese study examines 206 matched patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy and either Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy or pancreaticogastrostomy. In this series, the former was associated with a decreased incidence of clinically relevant pancreatic fistulae (7% vs. 20%; p = 0.007), shorter hospital stay, and decreased perioperative mortality (0% vs. 4.9%; p = 0.03) [37]. Taken together, the largely retrospective series throughout the literature do concur that there are fewer complications, and specifically a decreased rate of clinically significant pancreatic fistulae, when the method of reconstruction is that described here.

Despite the foregoing, there remains a paucity of high-level clinical evidence to delineate the optimal method of pancreaticojejunostomy. To address this issue, the PANasta trial has been announced. A multicenter, double-blinded, randomized controlled trial, PANasta, aims to evaluate if the Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy is superior to the Cattell-Warren anastomosis. The primary endpoint of the study will be the rate of pancreatic fistula, and secondary endpoints include mortality, surgical complications, nonsurgical complications, hospital stay, and completion of adjuvant chemotherapy. Aiming to enroll 253 patients per study arm, the study is powered to detect a 10% absolute risk reduction in the rate of pancreatic fistula and is expected to be completed following an enrollment period of 3 years and a 1-year follow-up [38]. However, in the absence of level I clinical evidence, the literature supports the use of the transpancreatic Blumgart anastomosis over alternative methods of pancreaticojejunostomy with respect to clinical outcomes.

Final considerations in support of the Blumgart anastomosis are the technical advantages for the operating surgeon. The transpanceeatic mattress method provides a suitable window for creation of the duct-to-mucosa portion of the anastomosis, as the jejunum is not apposed to the cut surface of the pancreas until the latter is completed. In the Cattell-Warren anastomosis, the jejunum is in apposition with the pancreas when the posterior row of duct-to-mucosa sutures is placed, rendering visualization more difficult. Finally, the transpance atic method has in our institutional experience proven to be facile to teach to trainees. That many MSKCC-trained surgeons continue to employ this method of reconstruction described herein supports the notion that the anastomosis is reproducible in the hands of surgeons both nationally and internationally.

Conclusions

As surgical complications and specifically pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy are a considerable source of perioperative morbidity, a large body of clinical research has centered on the various pharmacologic and technical measures that can be employed to decrease the incidence of postoperative PF. While the role for several interventions is limited by a paucity of clinical evidence, there are several reports supporting the use of a through-and-through transpancreatic duct-tomucosa pancreaticojejunostomy, also known as the Blumgart anastomosis. Technically facile, this technique is associated with lower rates of pancreatic fistula across several institutions and in comparison to alternative methods. In the absence of high-level clinical evidence, there remains of preponderance of data to support widespread use of the Blumgart anastomosis as the reconstruction method of choice in patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy.

References

- Grant F, Brennan MF, Allen PJ, DeMatteo RP, Kingham TP, D'Angelica M, Fischer ME, Gonen M, Zhang H, Jarnagin WR. Prospective randomized controlled trial of liberal vs restricted perioperative fluid management in patients undergoing Pancreatectomy. Ann Surg. 2016;264:591–8.
- Zureikat AH, Postlewait LM, Liu Y, Gillespie TW, Weber SM, Abbott DE, Ahmad SA, Maithel SK, Hogg ME, Zenati M, Cho CS, Salem A, Xia B, Steve J, Nguyen TK, Keshava HB, Chalikonda S, Walsh RM, Talamonti MS, Stocker SJ, Bentrem DJ, Lumpkin S, Kim HJ, Zeh HJ 3rd, Kooby DA. A multiinstitutional comparison of perioperative outcomes of robotic and open pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg. 2016;264:640–9.
- Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, Fingerhut A, Yeo C, Izbicki J, Neoptolemos J, Sarr M, Traverso W, Buchler M, International Study Group on Pancreatic Fistula Definition. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an international study group (ISGPF) definition. Surgery. 2005;138:8–13.
- Tilara A, Gerdes H, Allen P, Jarnagin W, Kingham P, Fong Y, DeMatteo R, D'Angelica M, Schattner M. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided transmural drainage of postoperative pancreatic collections. J Am Coll Surg. 2014;218:33–40.

- House MG, Fong Y, Arnaoutakis DJ, Sharma R, Winston CB, Protic M, Gonen M, Olson SH, Kurtz RC, Brennan MF, Allen PJ. Preoperative predictors for complications after pancreaticoduodenectomy: impact of BMI and body fat distribution. J Gastrointest Surg. 2008;12:270–8.
- Callery MP, Pratt WB, Kent TS, Chaikof EL, Vollmer CM Jr. A prospectively validated clinical risk score accurately predicts pancreatic fistula after pancreatoduodenectomy. J Am Coll Surg. 2013;216:1–14.
- Miller BC, Christein JD, Behrman SW, Drebin JA, Pratt WB, Callery MP, Vollmer CM Jr. A multiinstitutional external validation of the fistula risk score for pancreatoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2014;18:172–9; discussion 179-80.
- Gurusamy KS, Koti R, Fusai G, Davidson BR. Somatostatin analogues for pancreatic surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013:CD008370.
- Allen PJ, Gönen M, Brennan MF, Bucknor AA, Robinson LM, Pappas MM, Carlucci KE, D'Angelica MI, DeMatteo RP, Kingham TP, Fong Y, Jarnagin WR. Pasireotide for postoperative pancreatic fistula. N Engl J Med. 2014;370:2014–22.
- Abbott DE, Sutton JM, Jernigan PL, Chang A, Frye P, Shah SA, Schauer DP, Eckman MH, Ahmad SA, Sussman JJ. Prophylactic pasireotide administration following pancreatic resection reduces cost while improving outcomes. J Surg Oncol. 2016;113:784–8.
- Goyert N, Eeson G, Kagedan DJ, Behman R, Lemke M, Hallet J, Mittmann N, Law C, Karanicolas PJ, Coburn NG. Pasireotide for the prevention of pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Ann Surg. 2017;265:2–10.
- Ma LW, Dominguez-Rosado I, Gennarelli RL, Bach PB, Gonen M, D'Angelica MI, DeMatteo RP, Kingham TP, Brennan MF, Jarnagin WR, Allen PJ. The cost of postoperative pancreatic fistula versus the cost of pasireotide: results from a prospective randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2017;265:11–6.
- Andrianello S, Pea A, Pulvirenti A, Allegrini V, Marchegiani G, Malleo G, Butturini G, Salvia R, Bassi C. Pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: Suture material and incidence of post-operative pancreatic fistula. Pancreatology. 2016;16:138–41.
- Cheng Y, Ye M, Xiong X, Peng S, Wu HM, Cheng N, Gong J. Fibrin sealants for the prevention of postoperative pancreatic fistula following pancreatic surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;2:CD009621.
- 15. Winter JM, Cameron JL, Campbell KA, Chang DC, Riall TS, Schulick RD, Choti MA, Coleman J, Hodgin MB, Sauter PK, Sonnenday CJ, Wolfgang CL, Marohn MR, Yeo CJ. Does pancreatic duct stenting decrease the rate of pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy? Results of a prospective randomized trial. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10:1280–90; discussion 1290
- Motoi F, Egawa S, Rikiyama T, Katayose Y, Unno M. Randomized clinical trial of external stent drainage of the pancreatic duct to reduce postoperative pancreatic fistula after pancreaticojejunostomy. Br J Surg. 2012;99:524–31.

- Dong Z, Xu J, Wang Z, Petrov MS. Stents for the prevention of pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016:CD008914.
- Yeo CJ, Cameron JL, Maher MM, Sauter PK, Zahurak ML, Talamini MA, Lillemoe KD, Pitt HA. A prospective randomized trial of pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg. 1995;222:580–8; discussion 588-92.
- Menahem B, Guittet L, Mulliri A, Alves A, Lubrano J. Pancreaticogastrostomy is superior to pancreaticojejunostomy for prevention of pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy: an updated metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Ann Surg. 2015;261:882–7.
- Liu FB, Chen JM, Geng W, Xie SX, Zhao YJ, Yu LQ, Geng XP. Pancreaticogastrostomy is associated with significantly less pancreatic fistula than pancreaticojejunostomy reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a meta-analysis of seven randomized controlled trials. HPB (Oxford). 2015;17:123–30.
- Clerveus M, Morandeira-Rivas A, Picazo-Yeste J, Moreno-Sanz C. Pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Gastrointest Surg. 2014;18:1693–704.
- 22. Hallet J, Zih FS, Deobald RG, Scheer AS, Law CH, Coburn NG, Karanicolas PJ. The impact of pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy reconstruction on pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. HPB (Oxford). 2015;17:113–22.
- 23. Xiong JJ, Tan CL, Szatmary P, Huang W, Ke NW, Hu WM, Nunes QM, Sutton R, Liu XB. Meta-analysis of pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2014;101:1196–208.
- 24. Keck T, Wellner UF, Bahra M, Klein F, Sick O, Niedergethmann M, Wilhelm TJ, Farkas SA, Börner T, Bruns C, Kleespies A, Kleeff J, Mihaljevic AL, Uhl W, Chromik A, Fendrich V, Heeger K, Padberg W, Hecker A, Neumann UP, Junge K, Kalff JC, Glowka TR, Werner J, Knebel P, Piso P, Mayr M, Izbicki J, Vashist Y, Bronsert P, Bruckner T, Limprecht R, Diener MK, Rossion I, Wegener I, Hopt UT. Pancreatogastrostomy Versus Pancreatojejunostomy for RECOnstruction After PANCreatoduodenectomy (RECOPANC, DRKS 00000767): Perioperative and Long-term Results of a Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. Ann Surg. 2016;263:440–9.
- 25. Berger AC, Howard TJ, Kennedy EP, Sauter PK, Bower-Cherry M, Dutkevitch S, Hyslop T, Schmidt CM, Rosato EL, Lavu H, Nakeeb A, Pitt HA, Lillemoe KD, Yeo CJ. Does type of pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy decrease rate of pancreatic fistula? A randomized, prospective, dual-institution trial. J Am Coll Surg. 2009;208:738– 47; discussion 747-9.
- Bassi C, Falconi M, Molinari E, Mantovani W, Butturini G, Gumbs AA, Salvia R, Pederzoli P. Duct-

to-mucosa versus end-to-side pancreaticojejunostomy reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy: results of a prospective randomized trial. Surgery. 2003;134:766–71.

- 27. El Nakeeb A, El Hemaly M, Askr W, Abd Ellatif M, Hamed H, Elghawalby A, Attia M, Abdallah T, Abd EWM. Comparative study between duct to mucosa and invagination pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective randomized study. Int J Surg. 2015;16:1–6.
- Hua J, He Z, Qian D, Meng H, Zhou B, Song Z. Duct-to-mucosa versus invagination pancreaticojejunostomy following pancreaticoduodenectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19:1900–9.
- Grobmyer SR, Kooby D, Blumgart LH, Hochwald SN. Novel pancreaticojejunostomy with a low rate of anastomotic failure-related complications. J Am Coll Surg. 2010;210:54–9.
- Mishra PK, Saluja SS, Gupta M, Rajalingam R, Pattnaik P. Blumgart's technique of pancreaticojejunostomy: an appraisal. Dig Surg. 2011;28:281–7.
- Pratt WB, Callery MP, Vollmer CM Jr. Risk prediction for development of pancreatic fistula using the ISGPF classification scheme. World J Surg. 2008;32:419–28.
- 32. Reid-Lombardo KM, Farnell MB, Crippa S, Barnett M, Maupin G, Bassi C, Traverso LW, Pancreatic Anastomotic Leak Study Group. Pancreatic anastomotic leakage after pancreaticoduodenectomy in 1,507 patients: a report from the Pancreatic Anastomotic Leak Study Group. J Gastrointest Surg. 2007;11:1451–8; discussion 1459.
- Kleespies A, Rentsch M, Seeliger H, Albertsmeier M, Jauch KW, Bruns CJ. Blumgart anastomosis for

pancreaticojejunostomy minimizes severe complications after pancreatic head resection. Br J Surg. 2009;96:741–50.

- 34. Langrehr JM, Bahra M, Jacob D, Glanemann M, Neuhaus P. Prospective randomized comparison between a new mattress technique and Cattell (ductto-mucosa) pancreaticojejunostomy for pancreatic resection. World J Surg. 2005;29:1111–9; discussion 1120-1.
- 35. Fujii T, Sugimoto H, Yamada S, Kanda M, Suenaga M, Takami H, Hattori M, Inokawa Y, Nomoto S, Fujiwara M, Kodera Y. Modified Blumgart anastomosis for pancreaticojejunostomy: technical improvement in matched historical control study. J Gastrointest Surg. 2014;18:1108–15.
- 36. Oda T, Hashimoto S, Miyamoto R, Shimomura O, Fukunaga K, Kohno K, Ohshiro Y, Akashi Y, Enomoto T, Ohkohchi N. The tight adaptation at pancreatic anastomosis without parenchymal laceration: an institutional experience in introducing and modifying the new procedure. World J Surg. 2015;39:2014–22.
- Wang SE, Chen SC, Shyr BU, Shyr YM. Comparison of Modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy and pancreaticogastrostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. HPB (Oxford). 2016;18:229–35.
- 38. Halloran CM, Platt K, Gerard A, Polydoros F, O'Reilly DA, Gomez D, Smith A, Neoptolemos JP, Soonwalla Z, Taylor M, Blazeby JM, Ghaneh P. PANasta Trial; Cattell Warren versus Blumgart techniques of pancreatico-jejunostomy following pancreato-duodenectomy: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2016;17:30.



12

Binding Pancreaticojejunostomy: How I Do It

Jiang Tao Li, Shu You Peng, and Yuan Quan Yu

12.1 Introduction

Pancreatic leakage after pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) is the main complication which contributes to prolonged hospitalization and increased costs significantly, even causing death. The incidence of pancreatic leakage of conventional pancreaticojejunostomy ranged from 9.9 to 28.5%, and the mortality due to pancreatic fistula was as high as 20–50% [1]. The efforts have been made to minimize the occurrence of this complication after PD. Bundles of techniques have been proposed for the reconstruction of pancreatic digestive tract continuity, while the best procedure is still controversial.

The leakage from a pancreatic digestive anastomosis can be developed at a site where the needle inadvertently penetrates the pancreatic ductule, or a suture cuts the fragile pancreatic parenchyma on suturing or on tying the knot. The minor leak of pancreatic juice gradually leads to a gross anastomotic leakage as a consequence of autodigestion around the anastomosis. Based on this hypothesis, we designed a novel technique of pancreatic digestive reconstruction, which was reported as intraseromuscular sheath pancreaticojejunostomy for the first time in 1996 [2]. Because of the substitution of suture with binding, this surgical technique has been named as binding pancreaticojejunostomy (BPJ) finally. [3, 4] Till 2003, 227 consecutive patients underwent using this technique; none of the cases developed a pancreatic anastomotic leak [5].

With the increasing of clinical applications and the development of surgical technique of binding pancreatic digestive reconstruction, we simplified the surgical procedure in 2002 [6, 7]. In 2003, the reliability of BPJ was verified by animal experiment [8]. In 2004, we evaluated the advantage of BPJ and the appropriate degree of tightness of binding from the view of tolerance pressure of the anastomotic stoma [**9**]. Considering to the disadvantage of BPJ, in 2009 we developed binding pancreaticogastrostomy [10]. In 2011, binding pancreatic duct-to-mucosa anastomosis [11] and end-to-side BPG was developed [12], respectively. Therefore a series of binding pancreatic digestive reconstructions have been developed, and the application is expanded depending on the characteristics of the pancreas, even in the laparoscopic surgery, while the rate of pancreatic anastomotic leak remains low [13, 14].

From 1996 up to now, a total of 172 publications have been searched via the Wanfang Data (Chinese database), Web of Science, and PubMed using the term "binding pancreaticojejunostomy," including Chinese and English.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_12

J. T. Li, M.D., F.A.C.S. (🖂) ·

S. Y. Peng, M.D., F.A.C.S. (Hon.) · Y. Q. Yu Department of Surgery, The Second Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Zhejiang, China

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018 M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*,

12.2 Surgical Procedure [4, 5, 15, 16]

12.2.1 Preparation of the Jejunum for Binding Anastomosis

The stump of the jejunum is everted for 3 cm; this can be achieved by suturing the jejunal cut edge to a site at the jejunum 6 cm from the edge (Fig. 12.1). Two such sutures are done and tied knots loosely, rendering 3 cm of the jejunum everted with its mucosa exposed, which then is destroyed by electric coagulation or by 10% carbolic acid and rinsed immediately with 75% alcohol and normal saline (Figs. 12.2 and 12.3).

12.2.2 Preparation of the Pancreatic Stump

The residual end of the pancreas is isolated for a length of 3 cm; usually two to three small branches of splenic vein (SV) between the pancreas and the splenic vein were divided and ligated. After the adequate isolation, the isolated pancreatic remnant can be lifted upward; thus the splenic artery and vein can be seen and sepa-



Fig. 12.1 The cut end of the jejunum is prepared for eversion



Fig. 12.2 The everted mucosa is daubed with 10% carbolic acid and rinsed immediately with 75% alcohol and normal saline



Fig. 12.3 A rim of intact mucosa is left for anastomosis

rated by a small area of pancreas which is the point for fixing the posterior cut edge of the jejunum.

12.2.3 Two Stumps Sutured

The end of the residual pancreas and everted jejunum are brought together and sutured continuously or intermittently in a circular fashion; care is taken to suture the mucosa only and to avoid penetrating the muscular and serosa layers of the jejunum. The anterior or posterior lip of the pancreatic duct should be involved in the anterior or posterior row of sutures, respectively, whenever possible (Fig. 12.4).

12.2.4 Intussusceptions

The two sutures on the everted jejunum are removed before the everted jejunum stump is restored to its normal position, so as to wrap over the residual end of the pancreas. The cut end of the jejunum by a few stitches is fixed onto the pancreas. Special attention is paid to the posterior fixing point as mentioned above.

12.2.5 Binding

At 1.5–2 cm from the cut edge of the jejunum, a 3-0 absorbable tie is looped around the jejunum circumferentially together with the intussuscepted pancreas (Fig. 12.5). The tip of a hemostatic clamp can be passed underneath the binding



Fig. 12.4 Mucosa and muscularis mucosa of the jejunum are sutured to the cut end of the pancreas

ligature to verify the tightness. The blood supply to the jejunum distal beyond the binding ligature is ensured by preserving several vessels for that segment of jejunum. The thread for making the binding ligature is placed through a hole at the jejunal mesentery between the last two groups of vessels near the cut edge.

12.2.6 Jejunostomy

When the anastomosis was finished, a catheter is inserted into the jejunum through the site where choledochojejunostomy is intended to be constructed, for injection of saline to test for a watertight closure. Jejunostomy through the defunctionalized loop with a catheter left in about 12 cm distal to the choledochojejunostomy is performed for decompression or X-ray study postoperatively.

12.2.7 Drainage

A Jackson-Pratt drainage tube is placed near the pancreatic digestive anastomosis. The volume and amylase content of the drainage fluid are measured on day 1 and 3 after operation. The definition of pancreatic leakage was used according to the International Study Group for Pancreatic Fistula (ISGPF), pancreatic fistula is defined as output via an operatively placed drain



Fig. 12.5 The remnants of the pancreas in the lumen of the jejunum are looped and ligated together

(or a subsequently placed percutaneous drain) of any measureable volume of drain fluid on or after postoperative day 3, with an amylase content greater than 3 times the upper normal serum value [1].

12.3 Comment

Pancreaticojejunostomy anastomotic leak rate of 0% was reported at the initial series with BPJ technique [16]. Strictly speaking, pancreaticojejunostomy anastomotic leak rate should be referred to the grade B or grade C pancreatic fistula depending on the ISGPF. The mechanism of BPJ including (1) the sutures of jejuna is only limited to the jejunal mucosa, not different from traditional reconstruction which the whole layer of jejunal was sutured; thus, no possibility of needle hole leakage can be developed; this is called the first line of defense. (2) The jejunum mucosa which secretory function was destroyed is wrapped over the residual end of the pancreas; this close contact could accelerate the healing between the jejunum and the pancreas. Once the leakage was presented, like a circular defense line, a binding ligature can prevent the pancreatic juice from leaking on the gap between these two organs. (3) Beyond the binding ligature, one branch of mesenteric vessel to the jejunal cut end should be preserved so there would be enough blood supply for the anastomosis site. The 3 cm of remnant pancreas usually was isolated, the blood supply of the cut end of pancreas was also guaranteed, and the abundant blood supply for the jejunal and the remnant pancreas is the prerequisite of healing for pancreaticojejunostomy. [17] These three principles are the main mechanisms for BPJ compared with the traditional pancreaticojejunostomy.

One of the tricks of BPJ is how to define the tightness of the binding ligature by different surgeons. If the tie is too loose, the pancreatic juice is easy to leak from anastomosis site. If the tie is too tight, inadequate blood supply to the distal pancreas will be developed and easy to compress the pancreatic duct by tight ligature. Depending on the results of our previous animal study, the anastomosis for a watertight seal could be tested by instilling saline dyed with methylene blue at a pressure of 40 cmH₂O [9]. A dent of 1–2 mm can be preserved in the jejunum under the ligature, so the tip of a vascular clamp should be able to pass; close contact between the jejunum and the remnant pancreas can be developed, and ischemic necrosis due to being too tight was avoided. The results of animal experiments showed that no structure pancreatic duct can be formed by this level of tightness of binding ligature [18, 19].

In 2010, a French prospective study conducted by Bue reported a rate of pancreatic fistula of 8.9% including 45 sequential patients with soft pancreas and non-dilated main pancreatic duct using BPJ technique, which is lower than previously published by the same institution (17.6%) [20]. In addition, it is one of the lowest ever published when soft pancreatic parenchyma and non-dilated main pancreatic duct are involved. However, in the situation in which the diameter of cut edge of remnant pancreas and jejunum is not matched, it may be considered as a contraindication for BPJ. In 2011, Yang et al. from China reported a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials with regard to the methods of reconstruction of pancreatic digestive continuity after PD [21]. In 2014, a Korean research group reported a lower rate of pancreatic fistula using BPJ than that of conventional pancreaticojejunostomy [22]. The results were not associated with the texture of the pancreatic parenchyma or dilatation of the pancreatic ducts. The above study supports and reproduces the excellent results of Peng's BPJ. In addition, BPJ is also a suitable procedure for patients without pancreatic duct dilatation.

Though none of the anastomosis techniques could be suitable to all kinds of pancreatic remnants and to avoid pancreatic fistula in the past 100 years' history of pancreatic digestive tract reconstruction. As a new technique, BPJ successfully decreased the rate of pancreatic anastomosis fistula. It is verified as a safe procedure for pancreatic anastomosis, especially in case of soft texture of the remnant pancreas. Similarly, like traditional pancreaticojejunostomy, expertise in surgical procedure, operation volume, and other management parameters are also important factors for BPJ. In China, the practice by broad hospitals including teaching hospitals as well as primary hospitals provides the reliable results using BPJ [23, 24]. We concluded that BPJ is an easy technique for manipulation and popularization.

References

- Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, Fingerhut A, Yeo C, Izbicki J, Neoptolemos J, Sarr M, Traverso W, Buchler M. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an international study group (ISGPF) definition. Surgery. 2005;138(1):8–13.
- Peng SY, Mou YP, Jiang XC, Peng CH, Cai XJ, Zhao GL, Wu YL, Wang JH, Li JD, Lu SC, Xu MK, Jin CS, Xu JR. Intraseromuscular sheath pancreaticojejunostomy: 11 cases. Chin J Pract Surg. 1996;16(10):596–7.
- Peng SY, Wu YL, Peng CH, Jiang XC, Mou YP, Wang JH, Cai XJ, Li JD, Lu SC, Xu MK. Binding pancreaticojejunostomy: 28 cases. Chin J Surg. 1997;03:31–2.
- Peng SY, Mou YP, Cai XJ, Peng CH. Binding pancreaticojejunostomy is a new technique to minimize leakage. Am J Surg. 2002;183(3):283–5.
- Peng SY, Mou YP, Liu YB, Su Y, Peng CH, Cai XJ, Wu YL, Zhou LH. Binding pancreaticojejunostomy: 150 consecutive cases without leakage. J Gastrointest Surg. 2003;7(7):898–900.
- Peng SY, Wang JW, Hong DF, Liu YB, Wang YF. Binding pancreaticoenteric anastomosis: from binding pancreaticojejunostomy to binding pancreaticogastrostomy. Updates Surg. 2011;63(2):69–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13304-011-0067-6.
- Peng SY, Liu YB, Mou YP, Cai XJ, Peng CH, Wu YL, Fang HQ, Fan MM, Shen HW. Compared study on type I and II binding pancreaticojejunostomy. Chin J Pract Surg. 2002;22(5):279–80. https://doi. org/10.3321/j.issn:1005-2208.2002.05.010.
- Bai MD, Peng SY, Liu YB, Chen XP, Shi LB, Pan JF, Xu JM, Meng XK, Cheng XD, Wang Y, Sun JM, Fan MM, Tang Z. Wound healing after pancreaticojejunostomy in piglets: a comparison between anastomotic methods. Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi. 2003;41(6):458–61. https://doi.org/10.3760/j:i ssn:0529-5815.2003.06.017.
- Mou YP, Xu XW, Zheng X, Zhu LH, Peng SY. [The measurement of pre-binding and post-binding tolerance pressure in binding pancreaticojejunostomy]. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2004 2;84(11):904–6. [Article in Chinese].
- Peng SY, Hong DF, Liu YB, Tan ZJ, Li JT, Tao F. Binding pancreaticogastrostomy. Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi. 2009;47(2):139–42. https://doi.org/10.3760/ cma.j.issn.0529-5815.2009.02.019.

- Peng SY, Li JT, Cao LP, Zhu LH, Hong DF, Li N, Liu YB, Wang YF, Yu YQ. Binding pancreatic duct to mucosa anastomosis. Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi. 2011;49(9):834–8. https://doi.org/10.3760/cma.j.i ssn.0529-5815.2011.09.018.
- Huang CY, Peng SY, Zhu JH, Wu QS, Zhao JF, Zhang XL. End-to-side binding pancreaticojejunostomy. J Surg Conc Pract. 2011;16(5):452–4. [Article in Chinese]
- Hong DF, Peng SY. [Establishment and individual application of the system of binding pancreaticojejunostomy and binding pancreaticogastrostomy]. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2014;94(24):1841–3. [Article in Chinese]
- 14. Hong D, Liu Y, Peng S, Sun X, Wang Z, Cheng J, Shen G, Zhang Y, Huang D. Binding pancreaticogastrostomy in laparoscopic central pancreatectomy: a novel technique in laparoscopic pancreatic surgery. Surg Endosc. 2016;30(2):715–20. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00464-015-4265-z.
- Peng SY, Wang JW, Li JT, Mou YP, Liu YB, Cai XJ. Binding pancreaticojejunostomy—a safe and reliable anastomosis procedure. HPB (Oxford). 2004;6(3):154– 60. https://doi.org/10.1080/13651820410016598.
- Peng SY, Wang JW, Lau WY, Cai XJ, Mou YP, Liu YB, Li JT. Conventional versus binding pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2007;245(5):692–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla.0000255588.50964.5d.
- Liu YB, Peng SY. Mechanisms of binding pancreaticojejunostomy to prevent pancreatic leakage. World Chin J Digestol. 2003;11(5):596–7. https://doi. org/10.3969/j.issn.1009-3079.2003.05.030.
- Liu Y, Zhu J, Wang J, Li J, Kong Y, Ma X, Wang X, Peng S. A reliable anastomosis procedure to minimize pancreatic leakage-binding pancreaticojejunostomy: supported by animal experiments. Pancreas. 2008;36(2):210–2. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. mpa.0000311839.50430.18.
- Bai MD, Rong LQ, Wang LC, Xu H, Fan RF, Wang P, Chen XP, Shi LB, Peng SY. Experimental study on operative methods of pancreaticojejunostomy with reference to anastomotic patency and postoperative pancreatic exocrine function. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14(3):441–7.
- Buc E, Flamein R, Golffier C, Dubois A, Nagarajan G, Futier E, Pezet D. Peng's binding pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a French prospective study. J Gastrointest Surg. 2010;14(4):705–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-009-1125-y.
- Yang SH, Dou KF, Sharma N, Song WJ. The methods of reconstruction of pancreatic digestive continuity after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. World J Surg. 2011;35(10):2290–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00268-011-1159-7.
- 22. Kim JM, Hong JB, Shin WY, Choe YM, Lee GY, Ahn SI. Preliminary results of binding pancreaticojejunostomy. Korean J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 2014;18(1):21–5. https://doi.org/10.14701/ kjhbps.2014.18.1.21.

- 23. Wang WC, Sheng XM, Pan RF. Experience in the application of modified Peng's binding technique II on pancreaticojejunostomy in the primary hospital. Anhui Med J. 2012;33(5):567–8. https://doi. org/10.3969/j.issn.1000-0399.2012.05.019.
- 24. Qin RY, Cao XY, Zhu F, Wang X. Efficacy of simplified binding pancreaticojejunostomy. Chin J Dig Surg. 2011;10(2):129–31. https://doi.org/10.3760/ cma.j.issn.1673-9752.2011.02.015.



Pancreaticogastrostomy: How I Do It

R. Mahendran and H. S. Shukla

13.1 Introduction

Pancreaticogastrostomy (PG) was first described by Waugh and Clagett from Mayo Clinic in 1946 [1]. Flaunter et al. popularized the technique and published their series in 1985 [2, 3]. Numerous theoretical and technical advantages are attributed to PG to explain the apparent safety of this procedure [4] including (1) the inactivation of pancreatic enzymes due to the low pH of the gastric lumen and lack of enterokinase in the gastric mucosa; (2) the alkaline pancreatic secretions that may help protect the pancreaticogastric anastomosis against marginal ulceration; (3) the anatomical proximity of the posterior gastric wall to the pancreatic remnant that allows for a very secure anastomosis without tension; (4) the thick gastric wall with its excellent blood supply that holds sutures very well; and (5) postoperative gastric decompression that is easily performed and provides constant removal of pancreatic and gastric secretions, thereby allowing less tension on the pancreaticogastric anastomosis.

PG has commonly been performed either by invagination [5], binding [6] method or by duct-to-mucosa method [7] with some modifications.

Observational individual studies have consistently reported lower overall leak rates with PG when compared to pancreaticojejunostomy (PJ) [8–17]. Single-center nonrandomized studies are often flawed by insufficient sample size, selection bias, lack of uniform definitions of various outcomes such as postoperative pancreatic fistula (PF), and other possible confounding factors such as surgeon's preferences.

Several randomized controlled trials and meta-analysis [18–25] have been conducted to compare the two most preferred techniques (PJ vs. PG). A large majority favor PG over PJ. However a great heterogeneity exists between the studies regarding pancreatic texture, disease pathology, pancreatic duct size, use of somatostatin, etc. The recently published International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) position statement [26] also states that "currently, no specific technique can eliminate development of clinically relevant postoperative pancreatic fistula."

Pancreatic intraluminal hemorrhage [25] and pancreatic exocrine insufficiency [27] are however reported to be more common with PG reconstruction than with PJ reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) for malignancy.

R. Mahendran, M.S., M.Ch. (Surg. Oncol.)

H. S. Shukla, M.S., F.R.C.S., Ph.D. (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, Institute of Medical Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, UP, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018 M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_13

13.2 Anterior Gastrostomy and PG and Our Experience

This technique of fashioning PG accessed through anterior gastrostomy has been reported by a few authors before with excellent outcomes [13, 28–31]. We have a personal experience with this technique of over 10 years and have published our early results in 2005 [32].

We prefer constructing the PG after classical Whipple's/pylorus-resecting PD by retracting the cut end of the stomach and by creating an anterior gastrostomy after a pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (PPPD).

13.3 Preparation of Pancreatic Stump for PG

The cut end of the pancreas is examined carefully and hemostasis is secured by applying loops of 4'0' PDS sutures. The pancreatic duct is identified, and a small feeding tube is inserted into its lumen. It serves as a guide for the pancreatic duct and helps in placing stiches without accidentally taking a bite in the duct. A 2.5–3 cm length of the pancreatic stump is mobilized from all around taking care on the superior and posterior part to safeguard the splenic vein. The pancreatic stump already has two stay sutures at its two ends. We apply these using 2'0' silk sutures before dividing the neck of the pancreas during PD (Fig. 13.1).

Silk stay sutures



Fig. 13.1 Mobilization of 2.5–3 cm of the pancreatic remnant that is held in stay sutures; temporary nasogastric tube as stent in the pancreatic duct

13.4 Preparation of the Stomach

- (a) For PG after PPD: An 8-cm-long anterior gastrostomy is made along the longitudinal axis of the stomach. Next a 3-cm-long incision (approximately half the width of the pancreatic remnant) is made perpendicular to the long axis of the stomach, on its posterior wall. Hemostasis is secured (Fig. 13.2).
- (b) For PG after PD: The clamps on the cut end of the stomach are opened. Anterior cut end of the stomach is retracted. A 3-cm-long incision (approximately half the width of the pancreatic remnant) is made perpendicular to the long axis of the stomach on its posterior wall. Hemostasis is secured at each step (Fig. 13.2).

13.5 Method of PG

A pair of long artery forceps is passed through the posterior gastrostomy, and the stay sutures on either end of the pancreatic remnant are grasped. The mobilized cut end of the pancreatic remnant is then lightly held and steadied as the stomach is pushed around the pancreas. The stump of the pancreas is now within the lumen of the stomach (Fig. 13.3). Interrupted silk 2'0' sutures are applied from within the stomach in single layer. Each stitch is taken through full thickness of the stomach (ensuring that serosa is taken) and a good bite of the pancreatic parenchyma of the pancreatic remnant all around at 1 cm interval (Fig. 13.4). Care is taken not to include the pancreatic duct in the suture line with the help of the identifying nasogastric tube in the duct. Taking bites through the cut end of the pancreatic remnant is avoided. All sutures are next tied avoiding undue tension or tightening (tension causes sutures to cut through the friable pancreas and tightening may result in stump pancreatitis). The cut end of the pancreas protrudes in the lumen of the stomach (Fig. 13.5). The pancreatic duct is checked before closure, using a fine probe, to ensure that the pancreatic duct is patent. Hemostasis is again checked. The anterior gastrostomy is closed in case of PPD and the



Fig. 13.2 (a) Anterior gastrostomy followed by posterior gastrostomy after PPD; (b) posterior gastrostomy following pylorus-resecting PD



Stay sutures held in artery forceps through a posterior gastrotomy

Stomach pushed around the pancreatic remnant

Fig. 13.3 Stay sutures on the pancreatic remnant held in the two artery forceps introduced through the posterior gastrostomy, and then the stomach is pushed around the remnant seating it well inside the stomach lumen



Fig. 13.4 Full thickness bites are taken in the stomach wall and good bites in the pancreatic remnant so that the needle does not come through the cut end of the pancreas



PG completed; P, Pancreatic remnant; S, Stomach

Fig. 13.5 The completed PG with the pancreatic cut end well inside the stomach lumen; hemostasis ensured

duodenal end (or cut end of the stomach in PD) anastomosed to jejunum.

13.6 Discussion

This technique has the following advantages:

- The anastomosis is carried out under direct vision, is technically easier to construct, and ensures adequate hemostasis of the suture line, thereby preventing suture line hemorrhage that may result in life-threatening postoperative gastrointestinal bleed or predispose to leak.
- 2. The technique obviates the need for blind invagination of the pancreas that can result in uncontrolled or disproportionate tension on the suture line, accidental inclusion of the pancreatic duct, or undue tightening. It is well known that undue tension at the time of invagination of the pancreatic stump can result in cutting of sutures through the friable pancreas, and stump pancreatitis has been attributed to a tight anastomotic technique or due to accidental occlusion of the pancreatic duct by suture. By testing for ductal patency after construction of PG, which is possible only by the antetechnique, rior gastrostomy one can cross-check patency.
- 3. The total operating time required is also reduced.

Ultimately however, the choice of the pancreatic anastomosis PG or PJ largely rests with the surgeon and his experience with a particular technique.

A Fistula Risk Score (FRS) was devised and presented at the American College of Surgeons 97th Annual Clinical Congress, San Francisco, CA, on October 2011 and later published in 2013 [33]. Its aim is to help the surgeon assess the risk of clinically relevant postoperative pancreatic fistula. This original risk score (ranges from 0 to 10) incorporates several operative variables (gland texture, pathology, pancreatic duct diameter, and intraoperative blood loss) that cannot be easily determined prior to a surgical procedure or are difficult to measure accurately, such as intraoperative blood loss. To overcome the shortcomings of the FRS, a modified FRS was developed using the National Surgical Quality Improvement Program (NSQIP) Pancreatic Demonstration Project. The modified FRS (ten-point model) is based on five significant predictors of clinically relevant postoperative pancreatic fistula, namely, sex, BMI, preoperative total bilirubin, pancreatic ductal diameter, and gland texture [34]. These scores may help and guide the surgeons toward the likely complications and hence in determining the anastomotic technique.

Conclusion

This technique of PG is easy, safe, and quick. It ensures a good anastomosis under direct vision.

References

- 1. Waugh JM, Clagett OT. Resection of the duodenum and head of the pancreas for carcinoma. Surgery. 1946;20:224–32.
- Flautner L, Tihanyi T, Szecseny A. Results in 101 cases of pancreaticoduodenectomy in the management of chronic pancreatitis. Method of pylorus preservation versus Whipple's operation. Orv Hetil. 1985;126(48):2943–9.
- Flautner L, Tihanyi T, Szecseny A. Pancreaticogastrostomy: an ideal complement to pancreatic head resection with preservation of pylorus in the treatment of chronic pancreatitis. Am J Surg. 1985;150(5):608–11.
- Delcore R, Thomas JH, Pierce GE, et al. Pancreaticogastrostomy: a safe drainage procedure after pancreatoduodenectomy. Surgery. 1990;108:641–7.
- Mackie JA, Rhoads JE, Park CD. Pancreaticogastrostomy: a further evaluation. Ann Surg. 1975;181:541–5.
- Peng SY, Wang JW, Hong DF, Liu YB, Wang YF. Binding pancreaticoenteric anastomosis: from binding pancreaticojejunostomy to binding pancreaticogastrostomy. Updates Surg. 2011;63(2):69–74. Epub 2011 Mar 26
- Telford GL, Mason GR. Pancreaticogastrostomy: clinical experience with a direct pancreaticduct-to-gastric-mucosa anastomosis. Am J Surg. 1984;147:832–7.
- Miyagawa S, Makuuchi M, Lygidakis NJ, Noguchi T, Nishimaki K, Hashikura Y, et al. A retrospective

comparative study of reconstructive methods following pancreaticoduodenectomy - pancreaticojejunostomy vs pancreaticogastrostomy. Hepatogastroenterology. 1992;39:381–4.

- Baumel H, Huguier M, Manderscheid JC, Fabre JM, Howry S, Fagot H. Results of resection for cancer of the exocrine pancreas: a study from the French Association of Surgery. Br J Surg. 1994;81:102–7.
- Mason GR, Freeark RJ. Current experience with pancreaticogastrostomy. Am J Surg. 1995;169:217–9.
- Tuech JJ, Pessaux P, Duplessis R, Villapadierna F, Ronceray J, Arnaud JP. Pancreaticojejunal or pancreatogastric anastomosis after cephalic duodenopancreatectomy. A comparative retrospective study. Chirurgie. 1998;123:450–5.
- Arnaud JP, Tuech JJ, Cervi C, Bergamaschi R. Pancreaticogastrostomy compared with pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Eur J Surg. 1999;165:357–62.
- Takano S, Ito Y, Oishi H, Kono S, Yokoyama T, Kubota N, et al. A retrospective analysis of 88 patients with Pancreaticogastrostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Hepatogastroenterology. 2000;47:1454–7.
- Arkossy P, Toth P, Kovacs I, Sapy P. New reconstructive surgery of remnant pancreas in cases of cancer of Vater's papilla. Hepatogastroenterology. 2002;49:255–7.
- Schlitt HJ, Schmidt U, Simunec D, Jager M, Aselmann H, Neipp M, et al. Morbidity and mortality associated with pancreatogastrostomy and pancreatojejunostomy following partial pancreatoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2002;89:1245–51.
- Aranha GV, Hodul P, Golts E, Oh D, Pickleman J, Creech S. A comparison of pancreaticogastrostomy and pancreaticojejunostomy following pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2003;7:672–82.
- Oussoultzoglou E, Bachellier P, Bigourdan JM, Weber JC, Nakano H, Jaeck D. Pancreaticogastrostomy decreased relaparotomy caused by PF after pancreaticoduodenectomy compared with pancreaticojejunostomy. Arch Surg. 2004;139:327–35.
- Guerrini GP, Soliani P, D'Amico G, Di Benedetto F, Negri M, Piccoli M, Ruffo G, Orti-Rodriguez RJ, Pissanou T, Fusai G. Pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: an up-to-date meta-analysis. J Invest Surg. 2016;29(3):175–84.
- Que W, Fang H, Yan B, Li J, Guo W, Zhai W, Zhang S. Pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Surg. 2015;209(6):1074–82.
- Zhang X, Ma L, Gao X, Bao H, Liu P, Aziz A, Wang Z, Gong P. Pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy reconstruction after pancreaticoduo-denectomy: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Surg Today. 2015;45(5):585–94.

- 21. Chen Z, Song X, Yang D, Li Y, Xu K, He Y. Pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a meta-analysis of randomized control trials. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(10):1177–85.
- 22. Xiong JJ, Tan CL, Szatmary P, Huang W, Ke NW, Hu WM, Nunes QM, Sutton R, Liu XB. Meta-analysis of pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2014;101(10):1196–208.
- 23. Hallet J, Zih FS, Deobald RG, Scheer AS, Law CH, Coburn NG, Karanicolas PJ. The impact of pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy reconstruction on pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. HPB (Oxford). 2015;17(2):113–22.
- Ma S, Li Q, Dai W, Pan F. Pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy. J Surg Res. 2014;192(1):68–75.
- Clerveus M, Morandeira-Rivas A, Picazo-Yeste J, Moreno-Sanz C. Pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Gastrointest Surg. 2014;18(9):1693–704.
- 26. Shrikhande SV, Sivasanker M, Vollmer CM, Friess H, Besselink MG, Fingerhut A, International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS), et al. Pancreatic anastomosis after pancreatoduodenectomy: a position statement by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). Surgery. 2017;161(5):1221–34.
- 27. Roeyen G, Jansen M, Ruyssinck L, Chapelle T, Vanlander A, Bracke B, et al. Pancreatic exocrine insufficiency after pancreaticoduodenectomy is more prevalent with pancreaticogastrostomy than with pancreaticojejunostomy. A retrospective multicentre observational cohort study. HPB (Oxford). 2016;18(12):1017–22.
- Hyodo M, Nagai H. Pancreatogastrostomy (PG) after pancreatoduodenectomy with or without duct to mucosa anastomosis for the small pancreatic duct: short and long term results. Hepatogastroenterology. 2000;47:1138–41.
- Takano S, Iwai S, Tanaka T. Improved technique for pancreaticogastrostomy with implantation method after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Int Surg. 1998;83:128–30.
- Takada T, Yasuda H, Uchiyama K, Hasegawa H, Misu Y, Iwagaki T. Pancreatic enzyme activity after a pylorus preserving PD reconstructed with pancreaticogastrostomy. Pancreas. 1995;11:276–82.
- Yamamoto J, Shimamura Y, Nakahara H, Koishi Y, Kougo M, Ohtani H, et al. Simple technique for pancreaticogastrostomy and histologic findings of pancreaticogastric anastomosis. Arch Surg. 1997;132: 785–8.

- Tewari M, Shukla HS. Anterior gastrostomy technique of fashioning pancreaticogastrostomy following pancreatico-duodenectomy for pancreatic head and periampullary cancer. Indian J Surg. 2005;67:339–41.
- Callery MP, Pratt WB, Kent TS, Chaikof EL, Vollmer CM Jr. A prospectively validated clinical risk score accurately predicts pancreatic fistula after pancreatoduodenectomy. J Am Coll Surg. 2013;216(1):1–14.
- 34. Kantor O, Talamonti MS, Pitt HA, Vollmer CM, Riall TS, Hall BL, Wang CH, Baker MS. Using the NSQIP pancreatic demonstration project to derive a modified fistula risk score for preoperative risk stratification in patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Am Coll Surg. 2017;224(5):816–25.



Pancreaticogastrostomy: How I Do it

Pietro Addeo and Philippe Bachellier

14.1 Introduction

Despite overall improvements in surgical technique and perioperative care, morbidity after pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) remains high ranging between 30 and 50% [1]. Pancreatic fistula (PF) and its related clinical consequences remain the most dreaded complications after PD with a reported incidence up to 40% [2]. Patient-, pancreas-, and surgeon-related factors have been identified as potential risk factors for PF's occurrence [3]. The ideal pancreaticoenteric reconstruction after PD should be easy to perform, reproducible, and characterized by the lowest fistula rate. Much debate exists about the best reconstruction method after PD. Pancreaticojejunostomy (PJ) and pancreaticogastrostomy (PG) with many technical variants have been described and are actually used in different pancreatic centers. Still, the choice of one method of reconstruction over the other seems to be based on surgeon's experience and preference rather than on robust scientific evidence. However, several retrospective studies and three randomized controlled trials have reported a statistically sig-

P. Addeo, M.D. · P. Bachellier, M.D. (⊠) Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary Surgery and Liver transplantation, Pôle des Pathologies Digestives, Hépatiques et de la Transplantation, Hôpital de Hautepierre-Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg, Université de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France e-mail: philippe.bachellier@chru-strasbourg.fr nificantly lower rate of PF after PG compared with PJ [1, 4–8]. Still much criticism exists about the superiority of PG over PJ because other randomized trials showed equality or inferiority of PG compared with PJ. This could be certainly attributed to the high heterogeneity of surgical techniques used to perform PJ and PG in these studies making a homogenous analysis of the results and its applicability in the clinical practice difficult to achieve.

From a theoretical point of view, a PG carries several advantages over PJ. These include the natural contiguity of the pancreatic body to the posterior wall of the stomach, the greater thickness of the gastric wall compared with the jejunum, the excellent blood supply of the stomach, the neutralization of pancreatic enzyme by the acid secretion, and the possibility to easily decompress the PG anastomosis by nasogastric suction [9]. In 1990 Delcore et al. described a double-layer telescoped PG in which 2-3 cm of the pancreatic remnant are telescoped into the pancreatic lumen with a very low rate of PF [10]. These results were further confirmed by a retrospective comparative study that showed that this type of telescoped anastomosis decreased the postoperative PF and re-laparotomy rates compared with PJ [7]. However, the classical PG telescoped techniques require two layers of transfixing sutures between the posterior gastric wall and the pancreatic stump which still can be the source of technical troubles especially in the

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_14
presence of soft and fatty pancreatic remnant. Suturing a friable pancreatic remnant can be the source of postoperative pancreatitis and leaks. Therefore in 2010 we modified the original technique toward the creation of a "sutureless" PG using a purse-string technique [9]. The rationale behind this technique is to reduce all the manipulations of the pancreatic remnant that can be the source of postoperative pancreatitis while preserving the safety of this technique in terms of minimal postoperative PF rate. Later on the technique of the so-called double purse-string PG has been further modified in the "triple purse-string" technique in order to make its fashioning easier and maximize the reproducibility of the technique in other centers. The advantages of this technique rely in its easiness to perform, its reproducibility, and its near zero PF rate.

14.2 The Triple Purse-String Telescoped PG: A "Sutureless" Pancreatico-Enteric Anastomosis

The preliminary steps of a PD have been reported previously [9]. As a general recommendation, in the case of a classical Whipple procedure, a limited (5-6 cm) partial gastrectomy is performed in easily order to perform а telescoped PG. Transection of the pancreatic distal stump is performed at the pancreatic neck or body depending on the tumor's location. The cut surface is checked for adequate hemostasis by multiple polypropylene sutures. The Wirsung's duct is left opened by putting several stiches that fix the Wirsung's mucosa to the pancreatic parenchyma. The pancreatic edge is then transfixed at its cranial and caudal edge with two 3/0 polypropylene stiches. A crucial step for performing a safe telescoped PG is to achieve adequate mobilization of the pancreatic neck and body over the arterial and venous splenic axis. The pancreatic body should be separated from the splenic vessels right to the left over a 5 cm length (Fig. 14.1). Small branches of the splenic artery and vein are



Fig. 14.1 Intraoperative view of a PD with a combined venous and arterial resection; the pancreatic stump has been dissected over the venous and arterial axis for 5 cm. The splenic vein has been reimplanted into the left renal vein

selectively controlled by suture ligation with 6/0 polypropylene stiches. Generally the dissection is pursued until one reaches the groove impressed by the splenic artery on the pancreatic body. This point generally marks a reduction in the diameter of the pancreatic body. At that point a transversal incision is made on the posterior wall of the stomach at 5–7 cm from the transection line. The diameter of the gastric incision is calibrated to be 1 cm less than the transversal diameter of the pancreatic stump. A first concentric mucosal purse-string suture of Monocryl 4/0 is applied followed by two seromuscular purse-string sutures of 3/0 Monocryl in concentric fashion around the posterior gastric incision (Figs. 14.2, 14.3, and 14.4). The mucosal purse-string suture is passed into the gastric cavity, either by the open distal gastric stump or by an anterior gastrostomy in case of pylorus-preserving PD. Then, the pancreatic remnant is invaginated into the gastric cavity through the posterior gastrostomy by progressive traction on the two stay sutures (Fig. 14.5). Ideally the pancreatic remnant should protrude into the gastric cavity around 3 cm, and invagination should be pursued until reaching the point where the pancreatic body changes in its diameter (splenic groove). The two concentric seromuscular purse-string sutures are tightened



Fig. 14.2 Intraoperative view of fashioning the triple purse-string telescoped PG. The first seromuscular purse-string suture has been applied





Fig. 14.3 Intraoperative view of fashioning the triple purse-string telescoped PG. The second seromuscular purse-string suture has been applied

with minimal tension in order to avoid pancreatic duct occlusion and postoperative pancreatitis (Fig. 14.6). Through the gastric stump, the mucosal purse-string suture is tightened over the invaginated pancreatic stump (Fig. 14.7). This last suture guarantees appropriate hemostasis of

Fig. 14.4 Intraoperative view of fashioning the triple purse-string telescoped PG. The mucosal purse-string suture has been applied



Fig. 14.5 Invagination of the pancreatic stump into the gastric cavity

the gastric mucosa. In all cases an omentoplasty is performed around the PG. Two abdominal drains should be placed close the PG through the foramen of Winslow (right drain) and the lesser sac (left drain). The drains are removed at the fifth postoperative day in the absence of pancreatic fistula (Fig. 14.8).







Fig. 14.7 Tightening of the mucosal purse-string suture



Fig. 14.8 Clinical scenario of a patient with massive fatty infiltration of the pancreas who underwent PD with the triple purse-string technique. A 5 french stent is in place juste to show the diameter of the Wirsung, however stent are never used with this technique. (a) Preoperative CT

scan showing a diffuse fatty infiltration of the pancreas; (**b**) intraoperative picture of a fatty infiltration of the pancreas; (**c**) abdominal CT scan at postoperative day 10 showing the normal appearance of the PG with the invaginated pancreatic remnant

14.3 Postoperative Care and Management of Complications

All patients should have a gastric decompression by a NG tube until postoperative day 5, at that time NG is removed and oral intake is progressively introduced. At postoperative day 7, all patients should have a CT scan examination of the abdomen in order to detect any form of abdominal complications early. The most frequent complication of this type of anastomosis remains the upper GI bleeding that is seldom a consequence of inappropriate pancreatic stump hemostasis and appears in the 2 first postoperative days. Late GI bleeding is rather the consequence of pancreatic stump erosion by pancreatitis. This kind of bleeding is frequently massive and sudden and can be associated with inhalation pneumonia and hemorrhagic shock. A prompt endoscopic and/or surgical treatment should be carried out. The compliance of the gastric cavity can accommodate a great quantity of the blood and clots; very rarely conservative measures can manage this type of bleeding. Delay in prompt management of this type of complications is a source of mortality. When endoscopic treatment is not feasible or not available, laparotomy with direct hemostasis of the pancreatic stump by an anterior gastrostomy easily manages this type of complication.

Conclusions

We describe an easy, reproducible, and safe technique used to perform an invaginated PG which minimizes the rate of PF after PD. The basic principles of this technique are based on the large mobilization of the pancreatic stump over the splenic vessels, the adequate invagination of the pancreatic remnant into the gastric cavity, and the absence of transfixing stiches with only purse-string sutures. Because of its easiness of creation and reproducibility, this technique should be compared in a prospective trial with conventional PJ techniques.

References

- Addeo P, Delpero JR, Paye F, Oussoultzoglou E, Fuchshuber PR, Sauvanet A, Sa Cunha A, Le Treut YP, Adham M, Mabrut JY, Chiche L, Bachellier P, French Surgical Association (AFC). Pancreatic fistula after a pancreaticoduodenectomy for ductal adenocarcinoma and its association with morbidity: a multicentre study of the French Surgical Association. HPB (Oxford). 2014;16(1):46–55.
- Pessaux P, Sauvanet A, Mariette C, Paye F, Muscari F, Cunha AS, Sastre B, Arnaud JP, Fédération de Recherche en Chirurgie (French). External pancreatic duct stent decreases pancreatic fistula rate after pancreaticoduodenectomy: prospective multicenter randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2011;253(5):879–85.
- Yeo CJ, Cameron JL, Sohn TA, Lillemoe KD, Pitt HA, Talamini MA, Hruban RH, Ord SE, Sauter PK, Coleman J, Zahurak ML, Grochow LB, Abrams RA. Six hundred fifty consecutive pancreaticoduodenectomies in the 1990s: pathology, complications, and outcomes. Ann Surg. 1997;226(3):248–57; discussion 257–60.
- Fernández-Cruz L, Cosa R, Blanco L, López-Boado MA, Astudillo E. Pancreatogastrostomy with gastric partition after pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy versus conventional pancreatojejunostomy: a prospective randomized study. Ann Surg. 2008;248(6):930–8.
- Topal B, Fieuws S, Aerts R, Weerts J, Feryn T, Roeyen G, Bertrand C, Hubert C, Janssens M, Closset J, Belgian Section of Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic Surgery. Pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic or periampullary tumours: a multicentre randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(7):655–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70126-8. Epub 2013 May 2.
- Figueras J, Sabater L, Planellas P, Muñoz-Forner E, Lopez-Ben S, Falgueras L, Sala-Palau C, Albiol M, Ortega-Serrano J, Castro-Gutierrez E. Randomized clinical trial of pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy on the rate and severity of pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2013;100(12):1597–605. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bjs.9252.
- Oussoultzoglou E, Bachellier P, Bigourdan JM, Weber JC, Nakano H, Jaeck D. Pancreaticogastrostomy decreased relaparotomy caused by pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy compared with pancreaticojejunostomy. Arch Surg. 2004;139(3):327–35.
- Schlitt HJ, Schmidt U, Simunec D, Jäger M, Aselmann H, Neipp M, Piso P. Morbidity and mortality associated with pancreatogastrostomy and pancreatojejunostomy following partial pancreatoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2002;89(10):1245–51.

- Addeo P, Rosso E, Fuchshuber P, Oussoultzoglou E, Souche R, Nobili C, Jaeck D, Bachellier P. Double purse-string telescoped pancreaticogastrostomy: an expedient, safe, and easy technique. J Am Coll Surg. 2013;216(3):e27–33.
- Delcore R, Thomas JH, Pierce GE, Hermreck AS. Pancreatogastrostomy: a safe drainage procedure after pancreatoduodenectomy. Surgery. 1990;108(4):641–5; discussion 645–7.



15

Portal Vein Resection: How I Do It

Alexis Ulrich, Pietro Contin, and Thilo Hackert

Venous tumor infiltration of the portal vein (PV) or superior mesenteric vein (SMV) by pancreatic adenocarcinomas (PDAC)—although ductal classified as a borderline resectable finding-is not a contraindication for curative resection. This practice is widely accepted, looking at the guidelines of the International Study Group on Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) [1], which is mainly influenced by the recommendations of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) [2] However, venous infiltration can cause irresectability when the remaining diameter of the vein-mostly at the site of the superior mesenteric vein (SMV)-is too small to ensure adequate drainage of the blood from the small bowel to the liver. A good impression of the resectability can be achieved by preoperative contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CE-CT). Characteristic findings of venous infiltration are a reduced diameter or occlusion of the PV or SMV lumen as well as the extension of contact between the tumor and the vein circumference of $>180^{\circ}$. In the majority of cases, the necessity for venous resection can be expected and planned preoperatively by evaluation of the CE-CT.

Department of General, Visceral and Transplantation Surgery, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany e-mail: Alexis.Ulrich@med.uni-heidelberg.de Several factors have to be considered before attempting a venous resection.

- 1. Are the diameters of the remaining cut ends of the vein—after resection—appropriate for anastomosis, allowing blood flow from the small bowel to the liver?
- 2. Can the splenic vein (SV) be preserved?
- 3. Is there a need for interposition of an allograft/ patch, or can an end-to-end anastomosis without interposition be performed?
- 4. Which allograft/patch—if required—is the most appropriate one in the individual situation?

The most common limitation for SMV/PV resection occurs in cases where the tumor invades the mesentery of the small bowel which may lead to technical irresectability, as the remaining SMV or its branches would be too small for a technically and functionally safe anastomosis.

During the operation, it is of paramount importance to be prepared for resection as the time of vein clamping should be as short as possible. During the clamping time, venous congestion of the small bowel can occur, impairing the healing of the latter anastomoses (pancreaticojejunostomy, hepatico-jejunostomy, and gastrojejunostomy). In doubt, simultaneous clamping of the superior mesenteric artery (SMA) might be an option to avoid excessive congestion and subsequent bowel edema after reperfusion.

A. Ulrich $(\boxtimes) \cdot P$. Contin $\cdot T$. Hackert

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_15

The SV is involved in the tumorigenic infiltration on the level of the venous confluence in many cases, requiring its partial resection. Due to collaterals, the SV not necessarily has to be reinserted into the PV in most patients. However, in case of venous congestion of the spleen, a splenectomy or reinsertion of the SV into the PV is of benefit. The reinsertion, however, should not create too much lateral tension on the PV/SMV anastomosis as this could lead to a narrowing of the vessel lumen with a higher risk of postoperative thrombosis. Attention should also be given to the gastric coronary vein (CV), which might be the only venous drainage of the stomach, if the SV has to be resected, most commonly in patients who undergo total pancreatoduodenectomy combined with splenectomy. Anatomically, the CV can drain into the SV or the PV which should be clarified intraoperatively to evaluate the possibility of CV preservation or of reinsertion, if necessary.

For restoration of continuity of the PV/SMV axis, in the majority of cases, no interposition is required to bridge the defect after PV/SMV resection, and an end-to-end-anastomosis is feasible. However, tension should be avoided as it increases the risk of thrombosis. Therefore, the right hemicolon and the mesenteric root of the small bowel should be completely dissected from the retroperitoneum, the lateral side wall, and the major vessels (aorta, vena cava, Cattell-Braasch maneuver). This creates the necessary flexibility to lift the small bowel together with the mesentery root toward the upper abdomen.

If the distance remains to be too long for a direct anastomosis, a graft interposition has to be used. Various options are available and are discussed later. If possible, autologous material should be chosen, as the risk of thrombosis and infection is reduced compared to synthetic materials.

According to the ISGPS guidelines, four types of resection and reconstruction are used [1].

In case of only short segmental attachment of the tumor to the vein, a tangential resection might be oncologically sufficient. The vein can be clamped with a Satinsky (or any other vascular) clamp and the tumor be resected. Afterwards, the vein integrity is reconstructed by running a suture with, e.g., 5-0 polypropylene threads (type 1 reconstruction) (Figs. 15.1 and 15.2). Attention has to be put on the

Fig. 15.1 Anatomy of the right upper abdominal quadrant with accentuation of portal (PV), splenic (SV), and superior mesenteric vein (SMV)

diameter of the vein, as this type of reconstruction could lead to a stenosis of the vein, impairing the drainage of the venous blood from the small bowel. To avoid this narrowing, the longitudinal venous defect may be closed transversally (Fig. 15.3), according to the technique known for pyloroplasty. This closure is appropriate for defects up to 2 cm in length and preservation of at least half of the circumference. The possibility for this type of closure, however, may be limited by the possibility of venous kinking that can occur. An alternative in this situation would be the closure of the defect with a patch (type 2) (Fig. 15.4). Besides bovine or artificial patches, autologous material is suitable for patch creation. Autologous venous patches can be taken from the left renal vein (close to the vena cava under preservation of the respective ovarian/testicular vein to ensure

preservation of venous renal drainage), from the cava itself, or from the jugular vein. A recent publication suggested the creation of the patch from the parietal peritoneum [3]. A part of the peritoneum is harvested from the lateral abdominal wall together with the dorsal fascia of the rectus muscle. The patch is placed onto the PV/SMV defect with the peritoneal side positioned toward the lumen and fixed by running sutures (i.e., polypropylene 5-0).

Frequently, a part of the PV/SMV is completely obstructed by the tumor, and a complete segment has to be resected. In the majority of cases, a direct anastomosis of the both ends of the vein is feasible (type 3). As mentioned above, the root of the small bowel and the right hemicolon should be mobilized for more flexibility. If possible, the SV should be preserved, if necessary, by a diagonal cut of the PV/SMV even if the



Fig. 15.2 Partial resection of the SMV (**a**), appearance of the defect (**b**), and closure of defect by running suture (**c**) without interposition (type 1 resection according to ISGPS)



Fig. 15.3 Partial resection of SMV (**a**), lateralization of the side walls of the defect (**b**), and closure of the venous defect transversally (**c**)



Fig. 15.4 Partial resection of SMV (**a**), appearance of the defect (**b**), and closure of the venous defect by insertion of a patch (**c**) (type 2 resection according to ISGPS))



Fig. 15.5 Segmental resection of the SMV (**a**) with a defect that has to be bridged (**b**) and closure by end-to-end anastomosis (**c**) (type 3 resection according to ISGPS)

diameter of the PV end exceeds the diameter of the SMV end by factor of 2 or 3. The vessels can be clamped with vascular clamps of each kind. However, it has to be resected so that both vein ends are not twisted. If large distances have to be bypassed, larger vascular clamps are helpful to pull the SMV together with the mobilized bowel toward the upper abdomen. Afterwards the two cut ends are connected. We normally use a 5-0 polypropylene, double-armed, running suture, starting with the posterior wall from the median to the lateral edge. In case of fragile veins and a large distance to bridge, the first suture line should be created in a parachute technique and approximated, when the thread of the complete posterior wall is set up. The anterior wall is also sutured with a new double-armed thread starting from the lateral border to the middle of the vein. The same is done from the median edge using the remaining end of the first thread. In the middle of the vein, the both ends are tied with a loose knot of up to 1 cm, after the clamps are opened (Fig. 15.5). Thereby, a narrowing of the anastomosis can be prevented as the loose knot allows the elastic vessel wall to adapt to the increasing diameter after reperfusion. Potential minor bleedings at the suture line usually stop without further measures.



Fig. 15.6 Segmental resection of the SMV and SV (\mathbf{a}) with a defect that has to be bridged (\mathbf{b}), closure by end-to-end anastomosis of PV and SMV (\mathbf{c}), and reinsertion of the SV into the PV (\mathbf{d})

As mentioned before, sometimes the SV cannot be preserved. If a reconnection is necessary and feasible (tension), the PV/SMV is clamped again after completion and opening of the first end-to-end anastomosis and a lateral incision of the PV/SMV are made according to the width of the SV. The posterior and anterior walls are sutured with 5-0 polypropylene running stitches (Fig. 15.6).

A type IV reconstruction with interposition of the PV/SMV has to be regarded as an absolute exception, as it is just rarely necessary. As material for interposition, the following can serve:

- · Saphenous vein
- Internal jugular vein
- Left renal vein (close to the vena cava)
- · External iliac vein
- Gonadal vein
- · Peritoneal patch
- Bovine patch
- PTFE prosthesis

The advantage of autologous material is the reduced risk of infection; however, it is associated with more surgical efforts and should be harvested before clamping of the PV/SMV to avoid a prolonged ischemia time of small bowel and liver. If no suitable autologous vein segment is available, a tubular interposition graft can also be created from a peritoneal or bovine patch, which is placed around a suction tube or tubular instrument of the required diameter (Fig. 15.7).

The insertion technique is the same as for a direct end-to-end anastomosis with the exception that two anastomoses have to be performed (Fig. 15.8). Loose knots at the end of the anastomosis are recommended, again, if autologous material is used. In PTFE prostheses, this is not required or recommendable as the synthetic material has a fixed diameter and shows no adaptive potential.

To evaluate patency of the reconstructed PV/ SMV, routine duplex ultrasound examinations are performed postoperatively, and serum liver enzymes are closely monitored to recognize potential venous flow impairments immediately. In doubtful duplex findings suggesting stenosis or occlusion of the anastomosis, a CE-CT is the diagnostic method of choice to clarify the situation and allow decision-making for the further management.

In general, no further specific anticoagulation is required after venous resection. We use low dose heparin for 6 weeks after the operation that can be stopped thereafter without ongoing anticoagulation.



Fig. 15.7 Removal of peritoneal side wall and creation of a tubular interposition graft around a suction tube or tubular instrument (**a**). Segmental resection of the SMV (**b**)

with a defect that has to be bridged (\boldsymbol{c}) and interposition with the newly created graft (\boldsymbol{d})



Fig. 15.8 Segmental resection of the SMV (\mathbf{a}) with a defect that has to be bridged (\mathbf{b}) and interposition of autologous material or a PTFE prosthesis (\mathbf{c}). (Type 4 resection according to ISGPS)

References

- Bockhorn M, Uzunoglu FG, Adham M, Imrie C, Milicevic M, Sandberg AA, Asbun HJ, Bassi C, Büchler M, Charnley RM, Conlon K, Cruz LF, Dervenis C, Fingerhut A, Friess H, Gouma DJ, Hartwig W, Lillemoe KD, Montorsi M, Neoptolemos JP, Shrikhande SV, Takaori K, Traverso W, Vashist YK, Vollmer C, Yeo CJ, Izbicki JR, International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery. Borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: a consensus statement by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). Surgery. 2014;155(6):977–88.
- 2. Tempero MA, Malafa MP, Behrman SW, Benson AB 3rd, Casper ES, Chiorean EG, Chung V, Cohen

SJ, Czito B, Engebretson A, Feng M, Hawkins WG, Herman J, Hoffman JP, Ko A, Komanduri S, Koong A, Lowy AM, Ma WW, Merchant NB, Mulvihill SJ, Muscarella P 2nd, Nakakura EK, Obando J, Pitman MB, Reddy S, Sasson AR, Thayer SP, Weekes CD, Wolff RA, Wolpin BM, Burns JL, Freedman-Cass DA. Pancreatic adenocarcinoma, version 2.2014: featured updates to the NCCN guidelines. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2014;12(8):1083–93.

 Dokmak S, Aussilhou B, Sauvanet A, Nagarajan G, Farges O, Belghiti J. Parietal peritoneum as an autologous substitute for venous reconstruction in hepatopancreatobiliary surgery. Ann Surg. 2015;262(2):366–71.

16

Pancreaticoduodenectomy with Venous Resection: How I Do It

Pietro Addeo and Philippe Bachellier

16.1 Introduction

The establishment of tertiary referral centers and the well timely management of postoperative complications have largely contributed to the reduction of postoperative mortality of pancreatic resections. These improvements combined with the advances in chemotherapy regimens have let pancreatic surgeons to the development of extensive resection in case of pancreatic tumors abutting or infiltrating the major peripancreatic vessels. In case of pancreatic adenocarcinoma, a local extension with a various degree of infiltration to the superior mesenteric and/or coeliac venous and arterial vessels is a common finding in about one-third of the newly diagnosed cases. The infiltration of the coeliac trunk and the superior mesenteric artery is classically considered as a synonymous of unresectable locally advanced disease. In such circumstances various combinations of neoadjuvant chemotherapy or radiochemotherapy regimens are used for tumor's downstaging. In these circumstances resection will be therefore considered only in some selected patients showing stable or responding disease

Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary Surgery and Liver Transplantation, Pôle des Pathologies Digestives, Hépatiques et de la Transplantation, Hôpital de Hautepierre-Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg, Université de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France e-mail: philippe.bachellier@chru-strasbourg.fr [1]. On the contrary the infiltration of the splenomesenterico-portal (SMP) venous axis is nowadays no more considered as contraindication to a curative resection [2, 3]. The rationale behind such extensive resection is to obtain a marginfree resection without additional postoperative morbidity and mortality compared with a standard pancreatectomy. Whether patients with venous infiltration should undergo upfront resection or neoadjuvant treatment with secondary resection in case of good response to preoperative treatment remains at the moment debated [4]. It is more likely that with the advent of FOLFIRINOX[®] regimens which showed a higher rate of pathological response compared with previous gemcitabine-based chemotherapy, all patients presenting with resectable or locally advanced pancreatic cancer will receive preoperative chemotherapy in the near future [5]. Nevertheless the prognostic value related to the presence of a histologically proven venous invasion remains unclear because of the small size of the cohort analyzed, heterogeneity in patients' population, and the lack of information regarding the presence and/or the depth of the venous wall invasion in different comparative studies reported [4, 6]. Some authors identified venous invasion as a consequence of pure tumor localization [7], while others identified venous invasion as a poor prognostic factor [4, 6]. Other studies pointed out the importance of tumor depth infiltration into the venous wall, identifying intimal invasion as a

Check for updates

P. Addeo, M.D. · P. Bachellier, M.D. (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_16

poor prognostic factor [8]. In the modern era of pancreatic surgery, different single-center and multicenter studies have shown the safety of pancreatectomy with venous resection. Morbidity and mortality of pancreatectomy with venous resection are not different from those of standard resection in pair comparison [2, 4]. However there is still a lack of a standardized surgical technique described that may limit the diffusion and reproducibility of the good results reported by tertiary centers in different environments. The present chapter will describe a standardized surgical technique used to perform a "safe" pancreaticoduodenectomy with venous resection.

16.2 The "Safe" Venous Resection

The concept of safe venous resection was developed at our center during the last 20 years and refers to a technique that is devoted to minimizing intraoperative bleeding, maintaining an optimal blood flow to the liver and the bowel, and

achieving an oncologic radical resection [9–12]. This surgical strategy entails the fact that venous resection should be planned before surgery or at least anticipated early in the course of a pancreatic resection, and venous resection should be performed as en bloc procedure as the last step of the resection phase (Fig. 16.1). This technical issue has several potential advantages. First, it avoids eventual manipulations on a newly constructed vascular anastomosis that can end up to its disruption in the case of venous resection performed before the detachment of the pancreatectomy specimen from the coeliomesenteric arterial axis. Second, it allows for a complete clearance of the retroportal lamina with consequent complete devascularization of the specimen and correct oncologic resection. Third, the complete clearance of the retroportal lamina from the coeliac trunk and the superior mesenteric artery allows for a correct and tension-free venous anastomosis. All attempts made in order to dissect an adherence between the SMP axis and a PD specimen should be proscribed because



Fig. 16.1 Intraoperative view of a pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) with resection of the SMP venous axis. The PD specimen is left attached only to the venous axis as the

final step before venous resection. The SMA and the CT have been previously completely cleared of the retroportal lamina

source of a life-threatening bleeding and of tumoral seeding. At the same time, wedge resection, in our opinion, should be avoided because of their limited oncologic and technical value. Lateral venous resection can be performed in very few cases when tumoral infiltration does not encompass more than 90° of the venous axis circumference and no more than 2 cm of length. Beyond these particular conditions, a lateral venous resection carries a high risk of venous axis distortion, uncertain oncologic margins, and increased risk of thrombosis. In our experience this type of resection is therefore generally avoided, and segmental resections are routinely performed.

16.3 Planning a Safe Venous Resection

Accurate preoperative imaging by CT scan with venous phase is helpful in correctly detailing the presence and the extent of venous invasion in case of periampullary malignancy. The extension of venous invasion can be therefore classified according to Nakao et al. or Ishikawa et al.

[13, 14]. However, even with the best available modern imaging, up to 40% of venous axis tumoral abutments are currently diagnosed intraoperatively [15]. Distortions of the venous axis, unilateral or bilateral abutments, are common finding which may anticipate preoperatively venous infiltration. The length and the location of the future venous resection are then planned by the tumor's location. Isolate resection of the portal vein is quite uncommon in pancreatic adenocarcinoma and more often observed in distal cholangiocarcinoma as a consequence of massive perineural infiltration. For pancreatic adenocarcinoma invasion is more frequent at the level of the SMP venous confluence as a consequence of tumor location in the medial aspect of the pancreatic head. For pancreatic adenocarcinoma located in the uncinate process, infiltration is more frequent at the level of the superior mesenteric vein up to the ileocolic and jejunal branch confluence. We use a simple classification (Fig. 16.2) that can guide the performance of a venous resection according to the type of segment invaded: Type I, tumors infiltrating the portal vein; Type II, tumors infiltrating the SMP venous confluence; Type III,



Fig. 16.2 A simple and easy-to-use classification for localization of venous resection according to the type of resected segment

tumors infiltrating the origin of the SMV vein; and Type IV, tumors infiltrating the venous branches at the origin of the SMV [16]. In some cases the extension of invasion to the venous SMP axis can be a combination of the least two types as generally seen in case of locally advanced tumors.

16.4 Common Surgical Steps

Some authors have raised questions about the maximal length of venous segment that can be safely resected during a pancreatectomy [17]. It is more likely that in a common Whipple's procedure, such as originally described, the resection of even 2 cm of the portal vein appears as difficult to be achieved without tension and potential difficulties. For these reasons most of these authors describe and prefer lateral resections of the SMV axis and/or in case of segmental resection the use of graft replacement of the resected segment [4]. In our experience there are no limits in the maximal length of the venous axis to be resected, and graft replacement is not needed in case of pancreaticoduodenectomy or total pancreatectomy when some basic surgical maneuvers are performed.

First, the entire right colon and the insertion of the mesentery are taken down up to Treitz ligament (Cattel-Braasch maneuver). This maneuver allows for an easy and safe lifting of the entire bowel that will facilitate greatly the venous reconstruction. In order to approximate in a better way, the two venous ends to be anatomized in further length can be gained by mobilizing the right liver. However the same effect can be also obtained just by putting some gauze between the segment 8 and the diaphragm. One key point in order to avoid problems of venous approximation without tension is to completely clear the lymphatic tissues by performing an extensive lymphadenectomy. In our experience the lymph node clearance removes all the lymphatic tissues around the hepatic pedicle and the common

hepatic artery and around the coeliac trunk and the superior mesenteric artery. In the particular case of tumors located in the uncinate process, the isolation of the superior mesenteric vein is performed low in the mesentery. This dissection begins below the transverse mesocolon that is sectioned far from the anastomotic arcades and left attached to the future specimen (Fig. 16.3). The middle colic and the right superior colic veins as well as the gastrocolic venous trunk of Henle are systematically sectioned in case of resection of the SMP confluence or of the SMV. The middle colic artery is generally sectioned as well, and its section is well tolerated and allows for a good lifting of the entire mesentery toward the liver. A final technical note is directed toward the splenic vein. The optimal surgical management of the splenic vein, in case of segmental resection of the SMP confluence, remains debated (see below). Nevertheless, when the splenic vein is sectioned and not implanted into a SMP neoconfluence, the section of this vessel by itself allows for a good lifting of the SMV toward the portal vein that avoids the use of venous graft [16].

16.5 Abdominal Exploration and Preliminary Steps

Adequate exposure of the operative field is crucial in order to perform a safe radical PD with venous resection. We prefer a bilateral subcostal incision with midline extension. This kind of incision, with an autostatic retractor, provides excellent exposure of the operative field. The abdominal cavity is carefully explored to rule out previously undiagnosed peritoneal carcinomatosis or small subcapsular liver metastasis. A Cattle-Braasch maneuver is first performed and followed by an extensive Kocher maneuver up to the left border of the aorta. Dissecting the greater omentum from the transverse mesocolon enters the lesser sac. The superior mesenteric artery (SMA) is isolated and dissected at its origin just Fig. 16.3 Intraoperative view of the final aspect of a PD with resection of the SMP confluence. Blue arrows indicate the complete section of the transverse mesocolon and the low section of the mesenteric root. The marginal arcades of the colon have been respected, while the middle colic artery has been sectioned at its origin; the vascularization of the transverse colon is optimal



above the left renal vein. The first 5 cm of the SMA is easily accessed and dissected by this approach. Lymph node sampling in the interaortico-caval area below the left renal vein is performed and sent for frozen section. Next the dissection of the plane between the pancreatic neck and the SMV venous axis is performed. At this moment, the decision to proceed with a venous resection will be made. However, this is classically the case of a small venous involvement localized on the lateral wall of the SMP axis (Type II). In these cases the classical tunnel behind the pancreatic neck can be easily made without any risk. On the contrary when venous involvement reaches the anterior face of the SMP confluence, the origin of the portal vein, or the SMV, this step will not be technically possible (Fig. 16.1). In these cases the creation of a retropancreatic tunnel will be performed on the pancreatic body and delayed until the entire retroportal lamina is sectioned. This approach known also as the Whipple at the splenic artery (WATSA) has been fully described by Strasberg et al. [18]. Moreover when venous involvement is

detected at the level of the SMV, the dissection will begin, as detailed above, below the transverse mesocolon. The MCV, RSCV, and the middle colic artery will be sectioned into the mesocolon while respecting the anastomotic arcades that run close to the colonic wall.

16.6 Lymphadenectomy

The procedure will start with the lymphadenectomy that will remove the lymphatic tissues and nodes along the hepatic pedicle, the common hepatic artery, and the right side of the coeliac trunk and circumferentially on the SMA. The procedure starts with a cholecystectomy. The common hepatic duct will be isolated and charged on a tape below its confluence with the cystic duct. The pedicular posteroinferior and retropancreatic lymph nodes are isolated and dissected on the right border of the hepatic pedicle. The right branch of the hepatic artery is isolated and taped. Dissection proceeds along the anterior face of the hepatic pedicle, the left branch of the hepatic artery is dissected and taped, and the right gastric artery is ligated at its origin on the proper hepatic artery. The origin of the proper hepatic artery is isolated. Lymph node clearance proceeds on the left side of the hepatic pedicle by removing all the lymphatic tissues between the posterior aspect of the proper hepatic artery and the anterior aspect of the portal vein. At the end of the CBD, the portal vein and the proper hepatic artery, along with its right and left branches, have been isolated and completely freed. Next, the common hepatic artery in front of the upper border of the pancreas is also freed, and the lymphadenectomy is pushed until the origin of the splenic artery. The dissection plane changes and follows the celiac trunk to reach the anterior surface of the abdominal aorta to the right of the diaphragmatic crura. Care should be taken to identify a median arcuate ligament that by this lateral approach can be easily sectioned. Once the anterior surface of the CT and its right border are cleaned, the dissection will move to the SMA. The GDA is generally sectioned at this time of the operation and the stomach sectioned by gastrointestinal stapler. In case of type I tumors, isolation of the SMV is generally performed above the transverse mesocolon. However, in case of type 2, 3, and 4 tumors, the isolation of the SMV will be performed below the transverse mesocolon after having sectioned the MCV, RSCV, and the middle colic artery. Once isolated the SMV is taped. Further dissection is performed to the left of the superior mesenteric vein, removing lymph nodes from the origin of the mesenteric root. The SMA trunk is isolated to the left of the SMV low into the mesentery. The dissection will follow the anterior surface of the SMA trunk; the MCA will be taped and preserved or sectioned according to the tumor's location (see above). The ligament of Treitz is sectioned between ligatures, and a mechanical stapler sections 15 cm below the ligament of Treitz the first jejunal loop. The dissection will follow the left border of the SMA up

to its origin on the aorta. The first jejunal arterial branch will be sectioned on the left border of the SMA. The SMA trunk is taped and a gentle traction is put toward the left side; by this approach the dissection will completely clear the right border of the SMA with ligation of the inferior pancreaticoduodenal arteries. The dissection, by this mesenteric left approach, will provide optimal exposure on the inferior and posterior pancreatic veins and the first jejunal venous branches that will be ligated and sectioned as well. At that time the future specimen will remain attached only on the SMP venous axis.

16.7 Preparation for a Safe Mesentericoportal Vein Resection

At this point of the operation, attention is directed toward the pancreatic body. Differently from a classical Whipple, the section of the pancreas will not be performed on the neck in order to reduce the possibilities of tumor breakout and venous injuries. We prefer to section the pancreas on the body at the distance from the neck that is dictated by the tumor location. In case of type 2, 3, and 4 tumors, the section is performed on the superior part of the body on the origin of the splenic artery or by an inferior approach which is quite easier in our opinion. The inferior border of the transverse mesocolon is sectioned far from tumoral attachments, a retropancreatic tunnel is created, and the pancreatic body is taped and lifted. This maneuver ensures optimal control of the splenic vein in case of injury. Then the pancreatic body is dissected progressively from the splenic vein, and both are separately taped. During the separation of the SV from the pancreas, care should be taken in order to avoid injuries to the small venous branches draining the pancreatic body into the SV. These are easily sectioned and sutured, especially, if this dissection has been done far from the area of tumor

infiltration. Once the SV has been taped, the pancreatic body is sectioned, and a frozen section is sent for analysis. The CBD is sectioned just below the hilar plate. At that point according to the type of tumors (see above), the dissection will proceed differently.

16.8 Venous Resection

When an isolated resection of the portal vein is planned, which is quite uncommon in case of pancreatic adenocarcinoma, the dissection is directed from the splenic vein toward the SMP confluence. The anterior surface of the SMP confluence is easily dissected, and the portal vein just below its bifurcation is taped. Next the splenic vein and the SMV will be taped. After having clamped the SMA, the SMV, the SV, and the PV, the section of a short venous segment (generally between 1 and 2 cm long) will complete the demolition phase. Reconstruction will be achieved by reimplanting the basis of the portal vein on the PV pedicular trunk by an end-to-end anastomosis.

Resection of the SMP confluence (type 2 tumors) represents by far the most frequent venous resection performed in case of pancreatic adenocarcinomas. This type of resection poses the problem of the management of the splenic vein. For this kind of resection after having sectioned the pancreas, the pancreatic body is progressively dissected from the splenic vein and artery toward the left at 4-5 cm. All venous and arterial branches will progressively be ligated by selective stiches of 5-6/0 polypropylene sutures. This is necessary in our experience for two reasons. Firstly, we exclusively perform an invaginated telescoped pancreaticogastrostomy, as a pancreaticoenteric reconstruction method. A length of 4-5 cm is necessary to achieve a tension-free anastomosis. Secondly, this dissection will provide enough length of the splenic vein in the case in which this will be reimplanted on the left renal vein (Fig. 16.4).



Fig. 16.4 Intraoperative view of the final aspect of a PD with resection of the SMP confluence and of the SMP. The SMV has been reimplanted on the PV, and the SV has been anastomosed in an end-to-side fashion on the left renal vein

At this point the splenic vein, the SMV, and the PV are taped. The dissection is directed toward the SMP confluence, but seldom its anterior surface is not exposed. For a segmental resection of the SMP confluence, the management of the SV will depend by several factors.

Simple ligation of the SV has been associated with the development of sinistral portal hypertension and hypersplenism on the long term. We favor all measures that can be adopted in order to avoid this phenomenon. Ligation of splenic vein without reconstruction can be performed when the natural confluence between the IMV and the SV is preserved and/or when the LGV or the MCV is preserved (Fig. 16.5). This ensures adequate venous drainage of the splenic vein into the portal system. Still secondary portal hypertension has been described using this technique [19].

The creation of an IMV-SV end-to-end anastomosis, which mimics a natural confluence, can be an alternative when the IMV drains directly into the SMV [10]. This can be performed by tailoring the IMV stump to the SV stump by some forms of venoplasty (Fig. 16.6).

Direct reimplantation of the SV vein stump into a newly constructed SMV-PV confluence is in our opinion feasible only when 1-2 cm of the splenic vein is resected (Fig. 16.7). However this type of venous reconstruction can lead, in our experience, to venous axis distortion and potential thrombosis. The interposition of a graft can be a solution in these conditions; the internal jugular vein or the left renal vein can be used with this aim. An easier and more physiologic method is represented by reimplantation of the SV into the left renal vein. This method presents several advantages. The left renal vein runs just below the axis of the SV, and direct reimplantation is quite straightforward. Secondly, the anterior surface of the LRV can easily accommodate the SV stump without any problem of caliber's incongruences. Thirdly this method avoids completely the development of any form of portal hypertension (Fig. 16.4).



Fig. 16.5 Intraoperative view of the final aspect of a PD with resection of the SMP confluence. The SV has been ligated while preserving the natural confluence between the SV and the IMV

Fig. 16.6 Intraoperative view of the final aspect of a PD with resection of the SMP confluence; the SV has been anastomosed in an end-to-end fashion to the IMV





Fig. 16.7 Intraoperative view of the final aspect of a PD with resection of the SMP confluence. The SV has been anastomosed in an end-to-end fashion to the PV after having been sutured side to side to the SMV

156

Whatever the method chosen to manage the SV stump, the SV is at this moment sectioned. The SMA, the SMV, and the PV are clamped and sectioned, and the specimen is sent for pathology. Direct reconstruction by an end-to-end anastomosis between the SMV and the PV is fashioned by polypropylene running 6/0 sutures with a growth factor. Care should be taken in order to avoid twisting of the two ends to be anastomosed. This can be easily avoided just by marking with colors, before clamping and sectioning venous axis, the correct direction of the venous axis. This has been adopted at our unit for more than 25 years.

In case of type 3 tumors, the resected venous segment involves the origin of the SMV vein.

According to the precise tumor location, the previous dissection in the mesentery has isolated either the origin of the SMV trunk or the jejunal or the ileocolic branches or both at its origin. The dissection, which follows exactly the rules described above, allows dissecting the anterior surface of the SMP venous confluence since the infiltration is seldom located on the posterior surface of the SMV by tumors of the uncinate process. At that point of the dissection, the SV, PV, SMV origin or its branches, and the SMA will be clamped. The specimen will be excised en bloc with a segment of the SMV. Reconstruction will be achieved by a direct end-to-end reconstruction with polypropylene running 6/0 sutures with a growth factor



Fig. 16.8 Intraoperative view of the final aspect of a PD with resection of the SMV trunk. The origin of the SMV has been anastomosed in an end-to-end fashion to SMP venous confluence

(Fig. 16.8). When the SMV tract resected encompasses the origin of its trunk, the jejunal and the ileocolic branches will be joint together by a side-to side anastomosis on their medial aspect in a new confluence and the anastomosed in an end-to-end fashion to the basis of the SV-PV confluence. Figures 16.9 and 16.10 depict a short intraoperative breakout of a "safe" PD with resection of the SMP venous confluence and fashioning of the venous anastomosis.

After venous anastomosis, the digestive reconstruction will follow according to surgeon's preference.



Fig. 16.9 Intraoperative view of a "safe" venous resection of the SMP confluence; (a) The PD specimen has been left attached to the venous axis. The splenic vein has been previously ligated and the confluence between the IMV and the SV respected. The dissection of the retropor-

tal lamina around the CVT and the SMA is already completed; (\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{c}) the venous axis orientation is marked with ink in order to have correct orientation of the venous anastomosis; (\mathbf{c}) The superior mesenteric artery is clamped and the venous end are transected



Fig. 16.10 Fashioning the venous anastomosis; The SMV and the PV are sutured in an end to end fashion. (a) The back wall is performed first using a 6-0 running polypropylene suture; Stays sutures are applied on the anterior wall in order to give excellent exposure of the posterior

wall. (b) the anterior wall is performed using the same technique; (c) the two tunning sutures are knotted togheter with a "growth" factor. (d) the SMA and the venous anastomosis have been unclamped. There are no discrepancies in caliber nor in orientation

Conclusions

We describe a standardized technique used to perform a safe pancreaticoduodenectomy with venous resection, which has been used for performing more than 400 various types of pancreatectomy combined with vascular resection at our unit. The basic principles of this technique are based on the large mobilization of the mesentery, the complete clearance of the retroportal lamina around the arterial mesenteric and coeliac axis, and the optimal management of the splenic vein. These technical refinements allow the safe performance of PD with venous resection without graft interposition. PD with venous resection should be performed in high-volume HPB tertiary referral centers by surgeons with extensive experience in standard pancreatectomy and vascular reconstruction.

References

- Addeo P, Rosso E, Fuchshuber P, Oussoultzoglou E, De Blasi V, Simone G, Belletier C, Dufour P, Bachellier P. Resection of borderline resectable and locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinomas after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Oncology. 2015;89(1):37–46.
- Ravikumar R, Sabin C, Abu Hilal M, et al. Portal vein resection in borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: a United Kingdom multicenter study. J Am Coll Surg. 2014;218(3):401–11.

- Ramacciato G, Nigri G, Petrucciani N, et al. Pancreatectomy with mesenteric and portal vein resection for borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: multicenter study of 406 patients. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(6):2028–37.
- 4. Delpero JR, Boher JM, Sauvanet A, et al. Pancreatic adenocarcinoma with venous involvement: is up-front synchronous portal-superior mesenteric vein resection still justified? A survey of the Association Française de Chirurgie. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(6):1874–83.
- Hackert T, Sachsenmaier M, Hinz U, et al. Locally advanced pancreatic cancer: neoadjuvant therapy with folfirinox results in resectability in 60% of the patients. Ann Surg. 2016;264(3):457–63.
- Ouaissi M, Hubert C, Verhelst R, et al. Vascular reconstruction during pancreatoduodenectomy for ductal adenocarcinoma of the pancreas improves resectability but does not achieve cure. World J Surg. 2010;34(11):2648–61.
- Rehders A, Stoecklein NH, Güray A, et al. Vascular invasion in pancreatic cancer: tumor biology or tumor topography? Surgery. 2012;152(3 Suppl 1):S143–51.
- Fukuda S, Oussoultzoglou E, Bachellier P, et al. Significance of the depth of portal vein wall invasion after curative resection for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Arch Surg. 2007;142(2):172–9; discussion 180.
- Bachellier P, Rosso E, Fuchshuber P, Addeo P, David P, Oussoultzoglou E, Use LI. of a temporary intraoperative mesentericoportal shunt for pancreatic resection for locally advanced pancreatic cancer with portal vein occlusion and portal hypertension. Surgery. 2014;155(3):449–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. surg.2013.09.003. Epub 2014 Jan 21.
- Ferreira N, Oussoultzoglou E, Fuchshuber P, Ntourakis D, Narita M, Rather M, Rosso E, Addeo P, Pessaux P, Jaeck D, Bachellier P. Splenic vein-inferior mesenteric vein anastomosis to lessen left-sided portal hypertension after pancreaticoduodenectomy with concomitant vascular resection. Arch Surg. 2011;146(12):1375–81.
- Bachellier P, Nakano H, Oussoultzoglou PD, Weber JC, Boudjema K, Wolf PD, Jaeck D. Is

pancreaticoduodenectomy with mesentericoportal venous resection safe and worthwhile? Am J Surg. 2001;182(2):120–9.

- Bachellier P, Rosso E, Lucescu I, Oussoultzoglou E, Tracey J, Pessaux P, Ferreira N, Jaeck D. Is the need for an arterial resection a contraindication to pancreatic resection for locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma? A case-matched controlled study. J Surg Oncol. 2011;103(1):75–84.
- Ishikawa O, Ohigashi H, Imaoka S, et al. Preoperative indications for extended pancreatectomy for locally advanced pancreas cancer involving the portal vein. Ann Surg. 1992;215:231–6.
- 14. Nakao A, Kanzaki A, Fujii T, Kodera Y, Yamada S, Sugimoto H, Nomoto S, Nakamura S, Morita S, Takeda S. Correlation between radiographic classification and pathological grade of portal vein wall invasion in pancreatic head cancer. Ann Surg. 2012;255(1):103–8.
- Porembka MR, Hawkins WG, Linehan DC, Gao F, Ma C, Brunt EM, Strasberg SM. Radiologic and intraoperative detection of need for mesenteric vein resection in patients with adenocarcinoma of the head of the pancreas. HPB (Oxford). 2011;13(9):633–42.
- Addeo P, Nappo G, Felli E, Oncioiu C, Faitot F, Bachellier P. Management of the splenic vein during a pancreaticoduodenectomy with venous resection for malignancy. Updates Surg. 2016;68(3):241–6.
- Zhang J, Qian HG, Leng JH, Cui M, Qiu H, Zhou GQ, Wu JH, Yang Y, Hao CY. Long mesentericoportal vein resection and end-to-end anastomosis without graft in pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2009;13(8):1524–8.
- Strasberg SM, Sanchez LA, Hawkins WG, Fields RC, Linehan DC. Resection of tumors of the neck of the pancreas with venous invasion: the "Whipple at the Splenic Artery (WATSA)" procedure. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(5):1048–54.
- Ono Y, Matsueda K, Koga R, Takahashi Y, Arita J, Takahashi M, Inoue Y, Unno T, Saiura A. Sinistral portal hypertension after pancreaticoduodenectomy with splenic vein ligation. Br J Surg. 2015;102(3):219–28.



17

Pancreaticoduodenectomy with the Superior Mesenteric Artery Approach: How I Do It

Takayuki Anazawa, Kyoichi Takaori, Toshihiko Masui, and Shinji Uemoto

17.1 Introduction

Previously, challenges to pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) had arisen during the reconstruction procedure to secure the pancreatico-enteric anastomosis. Introduction of new techniques, such as duct-to-mucosa anastomosis and improved perioperative management, has improved safety, and PD became feasible. Recently, surgeons have faced other challenges, such as achievement of negative margins in case of borderline and locally advanced pancreatic cancer. After neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapies for such locally extended diseases, operative procedures became even more difficult than up-front surgery owing to adhesion, fibrotic changes, and others.

The superior mesenteric artery (SMA) is the most common site of positive margins after PD; hence, the SMA approach to PD is extremely important for early determination of the feasibility of achieving negative margins. In addition, ligation of the feeding arteries, including the inferior pancreaticoduodenal (IPDA) and gastroduodenal artery (GDA) arteries, before division of the pancreas can reduce blood loss during surgery and is a reasonable approach for performing oncologic

T. Anazawa · K. Takaori (⊠) · T. Masui · S. Uemoto Division of Hepatobiliary-Pancreatic Surgery and Transplantation, Department of Surgery, Kyoto University Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto, Japan e-mail: takaori@kuhp.kyoto-u.ac.jp resection. This technique has promoted the development of an "artery-first" approach. In this chapter, we introduce our techniques of "artery-first" PD with a review of the literature.

17.1.1 History of "Artery-First" PD

To our knowledge, the mesenteric approach established by Nakao et al. in the 1990s was the first to include dissection around the SMA and superior mesenteric vein (SMV) and utilize a portal vein (PV) bypass catheter as needed. It was based on the concept of "isolated pancreatectomy," which cuts blood flow of pancreatic head cancers by ligating the feeding arteries [1]. They described the "mesenteric approach" from the mesentery of the jejunum at the base of the transverse mesocolon. This approach allowed for early ligation of the IPDA and meticulous exposure and dissection along the SMA. The "mesenteric approach" evolved to the concept of the "artery-first approach," which was later proposed by Weitz et al. [2], and its international understanding becomes widespread. To date, many surgeons have advocated several methods of the "artery-first" approach to PD (Fig. 17.1) [3]. A common feature of these surgical procedures is first dissection around the SMA before committing an irreversible step in the operation. Pancreatic head carcinomas, especially those originating in the ventral pancreatic area, often

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_17



Fig. 17.1 Diagram of the six approaches to the SMA. M, mesenteric approach; S, superior approach; A, anterior approach; P, posterior approach; L, left posterior approach; R, right/medial uncinate approach; L, left posterior approach. This figure was reproduced from Reference [4]

invade from the nerve tissue around the IPDA to the periphery of the SMA. As a result, whether resection for cure or complete remission (R0 resection) is possible can be confirmed by early surgical operation, which is useful for improving the surgical indication and increasing the R0 ratio. In addition, with simultaneous GDA transection, the artery flowing into the pancreatic head becomes the transverse pancreatic artery alone, effectively reducing the amount of bleeding. Majority of general surgeons choose standard PD via the Kocher maneuver to begin mobilization. However, "artery-first" PD is performed more frequently by pancreatic surgeons.

17.1.2 Advantages of "Artery-First" PD

Advantages of "artery-first" approaches include reduction of intraoperative blood loss by blocking the arterial inflow, early judgment of arterial involvement, and achievement of negative margins along the arteries. In a case-matched study that compared "artery-first" PD (n = 21) with standard PD (n = 21), the "artery-first" PD group had significantly less intraoperative blood loss and a shorter operative time. No significant differences were found in the two groups regarding morbidity and mortality rates, overall survival, and survival according to tumor type [4]. In another series, no significant differences were found in terms of operating time, blood loss, or overall morbidity between groups undergoing "artery-first" PD (n = 40) and standard PD (n = 35). However, the "artery-first" PD group had fewer recurrences and improved survival rates than the standard PD group [5]. A recent systematic review, which included one randomized controlled trial (RCT) and 13 nonrandomized comparative studies involving 640 patients undergoing "artery-first" and 514 undergoing standard PD, concluded that "artery-first" PD was associated with better perioperative outcomes, such as blood loss, transfusion requirements, pancreatic fistula, and delayed gastric emptying. Although the overall survival rate was not superior, "artery-first" PD had lower local and metastatic recurrence rate [6]. RCTs are necessary to demonstrate the potential advantages of "artery-first" PD.

17.1.3 Demands for "Artery-First" PD

"Artery-first" PD has been advocated for over two decades by several pancreatic surgeons [3]. Recent changes in pancreatic cancer treatment have increased the demands for this method. The attempt to resect tumors with extensive local involvement has helped in the recognition of borderline resectable pancreatic cancer. Katz et al. classified borderline resectable cancer into three categories (groups A-C) based on anatomic extension and clinical features. Group A comprised patients with tumor abutment of the visceral arteries or short-segment occlusion of the SMV. Group B patients had findings suggestive but not diagnostic of metastasis. Group C patients had a marginal performance status [7]. Currently, much effort has been focused on the anatomic criteria (Katz group A), and the consensus was that operative exploration and resection may be indicated, in high-volume centers with surgical

and multidisciplinary expertise, in cases with SMV and/or PV involvement, but not in those with arterial involvement [8]. Therefore, assessing the arterial involvement at an early stage of operation became necessary, and "artery-first" PD became the operation of choice in the setting of borderline resectable pancreatic cancer.

The introduction of neoadjuvant chemotherapy and chemoradiation therapy has helped some initially unresectable pancreatic cancers become resectable. In addition, patients who underwent surgical resection after neoadjuvant therapies for locally advanced pancreatic cancer can survive as long as those with initially resectable pancreatic cancer [9]. However, the fibrotic tissue remains even after a good pathological response with a significant reduction of cancer cells; thus, predicting the pathological involvement of an artery after neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy by diagnostic imaging alone is difficult. During surgical explorations after neoadjuvant therapies, surgeons must attempt dissection around the major arteries, such as the SMA and GDA, and determine whether to proceed with surgical resection for pancreatic cancer. In such case, "artery-first" PD is useful. Furthermore, meticulous dissection of the SMA by this approach may better achieve negative margins [10]. Accordingly, in the era of neoadjuvant therapies for locally extended pancreatic cancer, "artery-first" PD is an essential procedure.

17.2 Surgical Techniques

To perform "artery-first" PD, surgeons should be comfortable with the techniques. They are responsible for choosing appropriate techniques and should be familiar with them. Specifically, identifying the SMA in the mesentery in obese patients is difficult, and the inability to locate the SMA may hamper the safety of "artery-first" PD. We developed surgical techniques with which surgeons can easily palpate and locate the SMA even in obese patients. In our institution, we routinely use these techniques for "arteryfirst" PD so that surgeons in training would be



Fig. 17.2 "Tora-no-Ana" approach. The transverse colon is lifted upward, and the ligament of Treitz is divided along the lateral margin of the upper jejunum

able to understand the principles of the "arteryfirst" approach and practice it safely on their own. Our surgical techniques are presented hereafter.

1. "Tora-no-Ana" approach

We use the "Tora-no-Ana" approach in pancreatic cancer cases. The term meant to indicate an opening (= Ana) through a division of the ligament of Treitz (= Tora).

The ligament of Treitz is divided along the lateral margin of the upper jejunum, while the transverse colon is retracted upward (Fig. 17.2). The "Tora-no-Ana" is created by entering the retroperitoneal space. Then, paraaortic lymph node sampling with frozen section examination is performed. The surgeon palpates the SMA and its branches by grasping the mesentery of the upper jejunum (Fig. 17.3). In this way, regardless of how obese the patient is, the surgeon can accurately grasp the position of the SMA. During dissection, palpation may be repeated to confirm the location of the SMA. The adipose tissue of the mesentery is divided at the base of the transverse mesocolon (Fig. 17.4). The middle colic artery (MCA) may be divided at its origin for better dissection of the SMA (Fig. 17.5). The SMV and the first jejunal vein (FJV) are identified and taped to avoid incidental bleeding (Fig. 17.6).



Fig. 17.3 Palpation of the SMA. The surgeon inserts his or her fingers into the "Tora-no-Ana" and palpates the SMA and its branches



Fig. 17.5 Division of the MCA. The MCA is divided at its origin for better exposure of the SMA



Fig. 17.4 Mesenteric approach. The peritoneum of the mesentery is divided between the inferior duodenum angle and upper jejunum

FJV SMV

Fig. 17.6 Taping of the SMV and FJV. The SMV and FJV are exposed and taped. Avoiding incidental injury to the FJV is important

2. Division of the transverse mesocolon

The gastrocolic ligament is divided, and the lesser sac is entered. The middle colic and right aberrant colic veins are divided. The transverse mesocolon is divided along the anterior inferior margin of the pancreatic head and body for en bloc resection of a portion of the mesentery of the transverse colon (Fig. 17.7). Moreover, preservation of the arcade of vessels along the transverse colon is mandatory to prevent ischemia of the colon.

3. Hanging maneuver of the pancreatic body An avascular area on the left side of the left gastric artery and superior to the splenic artery is dissected by lifting the stomach body upward, in preparation for later passage of a Penrose drain. Large Kelly forceps are inserted into the dissection plane between the pancreatic body and SMA and then advanced toward the avascular area (Fig. 17.8). The forceps are advanced without any resistance under the fusion fascia of Treitz. Advancing the forceps between the pancreatic body and splenic artery to avoid injury to the splenic vessels or dorsal pancreatic artery is not preferable. A hanging maneuver is practiced by lifting the Penrose drain passed with the large Kelly forceps, which hangs the pancreatic body and the splenic artery and vein simultaneously (Fig. 17.9). The hanging maneuver



Fig. 17.7 Opening of the transverse mesocolon. The transverse mesocolon is divided along the anterior inferior margin of the pancreas



Fig. 17.9 Hanging maneuver. The pancreatic body is lifted upward by the Penrose drain. This hanging maneuver provides a better view of the proximal part of the SMA



Fig. 17.8 Passage of large forceps. Large Kelly forceps are advanced toward the avascular area above the splenic artery. The avascular area located to the left of the origin of the left gastric artery and superior to the splenic artery should be dissected before passage of the large Kelly forceps

exposes the inferior vena cava well toward the opposite direction of that seen with the Kocher maneuver, and the left renal vein is exposed through the "Tora-no-Ana."

4. Division of first jejunal artery (FJA) and IPDA The jejunum is divided using a stapler. Metastatic lymph nodes have been reported to exist along the FJA [11]. Therefore, we usually dissect the proximal part of the FJA with the regional lymph nodes. The mesentery is divided along the FJA; then dissection around the SMA is advanced. Note that the nerve plexus around the SMA should be preserved. The FJA and IPDA are divided at their origin



Fig. 17.10 Identification of the IPDA. The SMA is retracted anteriorly, and the IPDA is identified as a string between the SMA and uncinate process and then divided

from the SMA. The IPDA often forms a common trunk with the FJA [12], and in some cases, there are two IPDAs. If identifying the IPDA is difficult, the SMA may be retracted anteriorly by the tape, and the IPDA is identified as a string arising from the posterior wall of the SMA toward the uncinate process of the pancreas (Fig. 17.10). When the IPDA arises from the SMA close to its root, the hanging maneuver of the pancreatic body may help to identify the origin of the IPDA.

5. Division of the GDA

The stomach or duodenum is divided using a stapler. The left hepatic artery, proper hepatic artery (PHA), common hepatic artery (CHA), and GDA are taped (Fig. 17.11). If the vascular wall of the GDA is fragile, for instance, in patients after neoadjuvant chemoradiation or cancer extending close to the origin of the GDA, ligation of the GDA may be avoided. Instead, the CHA, PHA, and GDA are occluded temporally with clamps, the GDA is transected sharply, and the stump is closed with two-way running sutures.

6. Division of the pancreas

The splenic vein is taped, and the Penrose drain for the hanging maneuver is passed inside the splenic artery and vein so that the Penrose drain holds the pancreatic body. The



Fig. 17.11 Dissection around the CHA, PHA, and GDA. The lymph nodes around the CHA, PHA, and GDA are dissected, and these arteries are taped



Fig. 17.12 Division of the pancreatic body. The pancreatic body is divided through cautery. During division, cold saline is sprayed onto the cutting surface to reduce thermal damage to the pancreatic duct by cautery

cutting line of the pancreas is usually between the origin of the splenic artery and left border of the SMA (Fig. 17.12). We consider that the portion of the SMA margin should be removed with the entire specimen because the SMA margin is the most common site of positive margins. This extensive cutting line does not cause significant deterioration of the endocrine and exocrine functions of the remnant pancreas. Strasberg et al. [13] advocate performing a whipple at the splenic artery, and our concept is similar with theirs. In cases requiring segmental resection of the PV or SMV, we do not attempt to free the splenic vein from the pancreatic parenchyma. After division of the pancreas, the splenic vein is clamped with two pairs of vascular forceps and then divided (Fig. 17.13). The distal stump of the splenic vein is closed with a running suture.

7. Division of the common bile duct

The common bile duct is divided above the confluence of the cystic duct. A drainage tube is inserted into the upper intrahepatic bile duct for intraoperative bile drainage to avoid cholestasis (Fig. 17.14). For neoadjuvant treatments, we encourage our endoscopic colleagues to use metallic stents for better drainage and ask them to place the stents below the bifurcation of the right and left hepatic ducts to enable division at the upper margin of the stent.



Fig. 17.13 Division of the splenic vein. After division of the pancreatic parenchyma, the splenic vein is clamped with two pairs of vascular forceps and then divided

8. En bloc resection

The duodenum and upper jejunum are fully mobilized and pulled into the right side of the SMA and SMV. The nerve plexus between the pancreas head and celiac artery is divided, and the specimen is fully mobilized except for the SMV and PV (Fig. 17.15). The SMV and PV are divided between two pairs of vascular forceps when tumor invasion to PV/SMV is suspected (Fig. 17.16) and the entire specimen is removed (Fig. 17.17). The SMV and PV are anastomosed end-to-end with continuous suture (Fig. 17.18). Interposition grafts are



Fig. 17.16 Division of the SMV. The SMV is isolated using vascular forceps. The specimen side also is occluded with a clamp. The SMV is divided along the clamp



Fig. 17.14 Division of the common bile duct. The common bile duct is divided above the bifurcation of the cystic duct. A drainage tube, albeit optional, is inserted into the intrahepatic bile duct for intraoperative bile drainage. CHD, common hepatic duct; GB, gallbladder



Fig. 17.17 Specimen removal. The PV is clamped with vascular forceps and divided in the same way as the SMV, and the specimen is removed



Fig. 17.15 Specimen after dissection. The specimen, including the pancreatic head, is dissected free from the surrounding organs and tissues except for the SMV and PV



Fig.17.18 PV reconstruction. End-to-end anastomosis of the SMV and PV is performed

sometimes necessary if the cutting distance of PV/SMV is long to avoid late-onset stenosis. When the confluence of the SMV and splenic vein has tumor involvement, the distal splenic vein is usually left divided and never reconstructed.

17.3 Discussion

The SMV can be safely resected in PD for periampullary pancreatic cancer. A contraindication for resection is arterial involvement [14]. With the standard dissection approach, SMA involvement is often identified at the end of the operation, which often results in resection with positive margins [15].

In our series with routine utilization of the "artery-first" approach, the ratio of R0 resection was 88%, and the average intraoperative blood loss was 1245 mL. Initial diagnoses of Union for International Cancer Control Stages III and IV were made in 13% and 5% of patients, respectively, and the pathological T classifications were T3 and T4 in 76 and 1.3%, respectively [16]. Evaluating the extent of contribution of "artery-first" PD to reduce blood loss is difficult because new vessel sealing system also seems to contribute to reduce the blood loss. In this cohort, we also could not determine whether "artery-first" PD contributed to patient survival because of better locoregional control.

We have learned so much from the disappointing results of previous RCTs, which compared extended versus standard resections [17]; hence, our present concept is to preserve the nerve plexus around the SMA to avoid intractable diarrhea. In case of suspected invasion into the nerve plexus, we use high fractions of neoadjuvant intensity-modified radiation therapy combined with full-dose gemcitabine. Following this concept of preserving the nerve plexus around the SMA has helped us manage postoperative diarrhea in all our patients.

After neoadjuvant chemoradiation, inflammatory reactions may occur around the irradiated tissues. In such a difficult situation, "artery-first" PD may contribute to reduce blood loss and develop an appropriate dissection plane. Using the "Tora-no-Ana" approach, the SMA was easily palpable even in obese patients. The hanging maneuver of the pancreatic body also contributes to make a good operative view around the SMA even in obese patients. In conclusion, the present technique of "artery-first" PD is feasible if the surgical principles of the "Tora-no-Ana" approach and the hanging maneuver of the pancreatic body are followed.

References

- Nakao A, Takagi H. Isolated pancreatectomy for pancreatic head carcinoma using catheter bypass of the portal vein. Hepatogastroenterology. 1993;40(5):426–9.
- Weitz J, Rahbari N, Koch M, Büchler MW. The "artery-first" approach for resection of pancreatic head cancer. J Am Coll Surg. 2010;210(2):e1–4.
- Sanjay P, Takaori K, Govil S, Shrikhande SV, Windsor JA. "Artery-first" approaches to pancreatoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2012;99(8):1027–35.
- Dumitrascu T, David L, Popescu I. Posterior versus standard approach in pancreatoduodenectomy: a case-match study. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2010;395(6):677–84.
- Kurosaki I, Minagawa M, Takano K, Takizawa K, Hatakeyama K. Left posterior approach to the superior mesenteric vascular pedicle in pancreaticoduodenectomy for cancer of the pancreatic head. JOP. 2011;12(3):220–9.
- Negoi I, Hostiuc S, Runcanu A, Negoi RI, Beuran M. Superior mesenteric "artery-first" approach versus standard pancreaticoduodenectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2017;16(2):127–38.
- Katz MH, Pisters PW, Evans DB, Sun CC, Lee JE, Fleming JB, et al. Borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: the importance of this emerging stage of disease. J Am Coll Surg. 2008;206(5):833–46; discussion 46-8.
- Bockhorn M, Uzunoglu FG, Adham M, Imrie C, Milicevic M, Sandberg AA, et al. Borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: a consensus statement by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). Surgery. 2014;155(6):977–88.
- Gillen S, Schuster T, Meyer Zum Büschenfelde C, Friess H, Kleeff J. Preoperative/neoadjuvant therapy in pancreatic cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis of response and resection percentages. PLoS Med. 2010;7(4):e1000267.
- Katz MH, Wang H, Balachandran A, Bhosale P, Crane CH, Wang X, et al. Effect of neoadjuvant chemoradiation and surgical technique on recurrence of localized pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(1):68– 78; discussion -9.

- Makino I, Kitagawa H, Ohta T, Nakagawara H, Tajima H, Ohnishi I, et al. Nerve plexus invasion in pancreatic cancer: spread patterns on histopathologic and embryological analyses. Pancreas. 2008;37(4):358–65.
- Hering BJ, Cozzi E, Spizzo T, Cowan PJ, Rayat GR, Cooper DK, et al. First update of the International Xenotransplantation Association consensus statement on conditions for undertaking clinical trials of porcine islet products in type 1 diabetes—Executive summary. Xenotransplantation. 2016;23(1):3–13.
- Strasberg SM, Sanchez LA, Hawkins WG, Fields RC, Linehan DC. Resection of tumors of the neck of the pancreas with venous invasion: the "Whipple at the Splenic Artery (WATSA)" procedure. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(5):1048–54.
- Pessaux P, Varma D, Arnaud JP. Pancreaticoduodenectomy: superior mesenteric "artery-first" approach. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10(4):607–11.

- Pallisera A, Morales R, Ramia JM. Tricks and tips in pancreatoduodenectomy. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2014;6(9):344–50.
- Takaori K, Uemoto S. "Artery-first" approaches to pancreaticoduodenectomy. In: Katz MHG, Ahmad SA, editors. Multimodality management of borderline resectable pancreatic cancer. Cham: Springer; 2016. p. 223–36.
- 17. Nimura Y, Nagino M, Takao S, Takada T, Miyazaki K, Kawarada Y, et al. Standard versus extended lymphadenectomy in radical pancreatoduodenectomy for ductal adenocarcinoma of the head of the pancreas: long-term results of a Japanese multicenter randomized controlled trial. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2012;19(3):230–41.



18

RAMPS Procedure for Adenocarcinoma of the Body and Tail of the Pancreas: How I Do It

Suefumi Aosasa, Makoto Nishikawa, Mayumi Hoshikawa, Takuji Noro, and Junji Yamamoto

18.1 Introduction

Radical antegrade modular pancreatosplenectomy (RAMPS) is performed for cancers of the body and tail of the pancreas, and Strasberg et al. first reported it [1, 2]. This procedure enables surgeons to achieve negative posterior margins more frequently than the traditional left-to-right surgical approach, by facilitating good visibility, dissection of lymph nodes, and tumor isolation following early arterial severance. Kitagawa et al. [3] reported a satisfactory survival rate for modified RAMPS when approaching the anterior renal fascia from the left side. During RAMPS, the dissection commences and advances from right to left, with early division of the neck of the pancreas and splenic vessels. The superior mesenteric artery (SMA) is then dissected from right to left up to its origin at the aorta after tilting the pancreatic stump to the right. Therefore, determination of SMA involvement is impossible without first performing these irreversible operative steps, despite the fact that SMA involvement generally indicates unresectable disease [4, 5].

Our method [6] involves an infra-mesocolic SMA first approach for trial dissection of the

S. Aosasa ($\boxtimes) \cdot M.$ Nishikawa \cdot M. Hoshikawa

T. Noro · J. Yamamoto

Department of Surgery, National Defense Medical College, Saitama, Japan e-mail: suaosasa@ndmc.ac.jp SMA. This method is useful for estimating resectability by exposing and taping the SMA prior to the division of the neck of the pancreas.

18.2 Procedure

18.2.1 Incision

Usually, the abdomen is accessed via a median incision in the upper to middle abdomen. An L-shaped incision is also suitable in obese patients.

18.2.2 SMA First Approach

After the abdominal cavity has been explored to exclude extrapancreatic metastases, the omentum and transverse colon are superiorly retracted. The small intestine is retracted to the right, and the peritoneum is incised at the duodenal recess (Fig. 18.1). After dissecting the mesocolon and left retroperitoneum, the aorta, inferior vena cava, and left renal vein are exposed by mobilizing and rotating the fourth portion of the duodenum and the uncinate process of the pancreas. These procedures expose the left aortic wall and left adrenal gland. The mesentery base is then incised, the ligament of Treitz is opened on the left and anterior side of the mesenteric root, and the duodenojejunal flexure is pulled down. After

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_18

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018



Fig. 18.1 The omentum and transverse colon are superiorly retracted, and the small intestine is retracted to the right. The peritoneum is incised at the duodenal recess (*broken line*)



Fig. 18.2 The ligament of Treitz is opened and divided on the left and anterior side of the mesenteric root, and a vessel loop is passed around the superior mesenteric

artery (SMA). The dissection proceeds up to the origin of the SMA. *LAV* left adrenal vein, *LRV* left renal vein

border of the pancreas to the right, the SMV is

exposed, and the mesocolon is opened on the left

side of the SMA. The middle colic vein is severed

these procedures, the SMA is identified, and a vessel loop is passed around the SMA. Then, the dissection of the SMA proximally proceeds to its origin (Fig. 18.2), and the tumor-SMA relationship is assessed.

18.2.4 Dissection of the Gastroduodenal Lymph Nodes and Division

of the Pancreas

if the tumor has invaded this vessel.

The transverse colon is pulled downward, and the anterior layer of the gastrocolic ligament is incised, opening the omental bursa. The stomach is then lifted anteriorly. By dissecting the inferior

18.2.3 Exposure of the Superior

Mesenteric Vein (SMV)

After opening the lesser omentum, by dissecting the lymph nodes along the common hepatic artery (CHA) toward the celiac axis (CA), the origin of


Fig. 18.3 A vessel loop is passed around the common hepatic artery (CHA). The portal vein is exposed along the superior border of the pancreas, and the neck of the

pancreas is tunneled above the superior mesenteric vein (SMV). *IMV* inferior mesenteric vein

the splenic artery is confirmed, and the artery is divided at its origin. After lymphadenectomy with skeletonization of the CHA and distal CA, the portal vein is exposed and the neck of the pancreas is tunneled above the SMV (Fig. 18.3). After evaluation using intraoperative ultrasonography to ensure an appropriate pancreatic transection line, the pancreas is divided using a linear stapler with bioabsorbable felt, and the splenic vein is identified and divided at its origin. The distal stump of the pancreas is turned over to the left in order to facilitate lymph node dissection around the CA. The anterior surface of the exposed SMA is located, and if necessary, the vessel is proximally dissected until reaching its origin (Fig. 18.4).

18.2.5 Mobilization of the Left Kidney and Dissection of the Retropancreatic Tissue

The parietal peritoneum at Monk's white line is incised, and the left kidney along with the

left side of the colon, left side of the pancreas, and spleen are mobilized en masse. The mobilization is performed until the left side of the lumbar vertebra can be reached. A good surgical view is obtained by placing surgical towels behind the left kidney [7]. The stump of the distal pancreas is retracted to the left, and the dissection along the SMA is extended toward the left side to the aorta and the left renal vein. Retroperitoneal dissection is partially performed in advance during the initial procedures via an infra-mesocolic approach. The surgeon should be able to easily locate the right plane and complete the dissection from the aorta, adrenal gland, kidney, diaphragm, and retroperitoneal muscles. The inferior mesenteric vein is severed if it connects to the splenic vein. The dissection line depends on whether the left adrenal gland is preserved (Fig. 18.5). After the Gerota's fascia is cut and the retropancreatic soft tissues, including the lymph nodes, are dissected, the resection is completed.



Fig. 18.4 After the division of the splenic artery (SA) at its origin, the pancreas is divided using a linear stapler with bioabsorbable felt and is tilted to the left. The splenic vein (SV) is divided at its origin. The anterior surface of

the superior mesenteric artery (SMA) is already exposed. *CHA* common hepatic artery, *SMV* superior mesenteric vein, *IMV* inferior mesenteric vein



Fig. 18.5 Transverse view schema showing the dissection line of the combined resection (*solid line*) and the preservation (*broken line*) of the left adrenal gland (LAG).

SMA superior mesenteric artery, *IVC* inferior vena cava, *LKD* left kidney

Conclusion

Our method provides an approach for critical dissection in order to determine resectability. Dissection furthers up along the aorta to expose the left renal vein, and the left adrenal gland can help prepare the RAMPS right dissection plane in advance. The infra-mesocolic SMA first approach provides a reliable and safe introduction to RAMPS.

References

- Strasberg SM, Linehan DC, Hawkins WG. Radical antegrade modular pancreatosplenectomy procedure for adenocarcinoma of the body and tail of the pancreas: ability to obtain negative tangential margins. J Am Coll Surg. 2007;204(2):244–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2006.11.002.
- Strasberg SM, Drebin JA, Linehan D. Radical antegrade modular pancreatosplenectomy. Surgery. 2003;133(5):521–7. https://doi.org/10.1067/ msy.2003.146.
- Kitagawa H, Tajima H, Nakagawara H, Makino I, Miyashita T, Terakawa H, Nakanuma S, Hayashi H, Takamura H, Ohta T. A modification of radical antegrade modular pancreatosplenectomy for adenocarcinoma of the left pancreas: significance of en bloc resection including the anterior renal fascia. World J Surg. 2014;38(9):2448–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00268-014-2572-5.

- Kawabata Y, Hayashi H, Takai K, Kidani A, Tajima Y. Superior mesenteric artery-first approach in radical antegrade modular pancreatosplenectomy for borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: a technique to obtain negative tangential margins. J Am Coll Surg. 2015;220(5):e49–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jamcollsurg.2014.12.054.
- Bockhorn M, Uzunoglu FG, Adham M, Imrie C, Milicevic M, Sandberg AA, Asbun HJ, Bassi C, Buchler M, Charnley RM, Conlon K, Cruz LF, Dervenis C, Fingerhutt A, Friess H, Gouma DJ, Hartwig W, Lillemoe KD, Montorsi M, Neoptolemos JP, Shrikhande SV, Takaori K, Traverso W, Vashist YK, Vollmer C, Yeo CJ, Izbicki JR. Borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: a consensus statement by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). Surgery. 2014;155(6):977–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2014.02.001. [pii] S0039-6060(14)00050-6
- Aosasa S, Nishikawa M, Hoshikawa M, Noro T, Yamamoto J. Inframesocolic superior mesenteric artery first approach as an introductory procedure of radical antegrade modular pancreatosplenectomy for carcinoma of the pancreatic body and tail. J Gastrointest Surg. 2016;20(2):450–4. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11605-015-3034-6.
- Sato T, Saiura A, Inoue Y, Takahashi Y, Arita J, Takemura N. Distal pancreatectomy with En bloc resection of the celiac Axis with preservation or reconstruction of the left gastric artery in patients with pancreatic body cancer. World J Surg. 2016;40(9):2245–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-016-3550-x.



19

The Modified Appleby Procedure for Locally Advanced Pancreatic Body/Tail Cancer: How I Do It

Aaron Lewis, Hans F. Schoellhammer, and Gagandeep Singh

19.1 Introduction

Tumors of the body and tail account for approximately one-third of pancreatic cancers, and up to three-quarters of body and tail tumors are deemed unresectable on presentation [1]. Unresectability is a result of liver metastases, carcinomatosis, or local invasion of major vascular structures. Although pancreatectomy in the presence of metastatic disease has not proven beneficial, resection of locally advanced pancreatic cancer to negative margins may improve survival [2]. Treatment of locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma with arterial involvement remains controversial; however, 30% of patients with locally advanced, Stage III pancreatic cancer will die without evidence of metastatic spread [3]. As such, this group of patients is most likely to benefit from an aggressive surgical approach. Neoadjuvant therapy has allowed for more careful selection of patients that may benefit from pancreatectomy with arterial resection.

Whereas locally advanced pancreatic head adenocarcinoma may invade the superior mesenteric artery, locally advanced cancers of the body and tail of the pancreas will often first

invade the celiac axis or common hepatic artery. Under carefully selected circumstances, patients may undergo the modified Appleby procedure for celiac axis or common hepatic artery involvement. The Appleby procedure was originally proposed in 1953 as a treatment for locally advanced gastric cancer with bulky celiac lymphadenopathy, and consisted of en bloc resection of the celiac axis, total gastrectomy, and distal pancreatectomy with splenectomy [4]. Nimura et al. [5] in Japan first modified the procedure for advanced pancreatic cancer of the body/tail in 1976. The modified procedure consisted of distal pancreatectomy with celiac axis resection (DP-CAR). Pancreatectomy with en bloc arterial resection was introduced in the Western world by Fortner [6] around the same time; however, poor long-term survival and high morbidity led this technique to fall out of favor. It wasn't until the early 2000s that the modified Appleby procedure was endorsed in the Western world. Our group, Gagandeep et al. [7], previously demonstrated that resection of the celiac axis with or without reconstruction could be done safely with acceptable postoperative mortality. The procedure has gained more favor in recent years as morbidity with pancreatic surgery has improved, selection criteria have improved, and several major centers have shown promising results [8–10]. Furthermore, patients with locally advanced pancreatic body/tail cancer involving the celiac plexus may suffer severe

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_19

A. Lewis, M.D. · H. F. Schoellhammer, M.D.

G. Singh, M.D. (🖂)

Division of Surgical Oncology,

Department of Surgery, City of Hope Comprehensive Cancer Center, Duarte, CA, USA e-mail: gsingh@coh.org

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

pain, leading to a poor quality of life. The modified Appleby procedure may palliate symptoms of pain in addition to potentially providing a survival benefit.

19.2 Diagnosis

Preoperative imaging is paramount for determining resectability of pancreatic cancer and for properly planning the appropriate operation for a pancreatic mass. Computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with multiphase pancreatic protocol is preferred for evaluation of local invasion associated with a pancreatic mass (Fig. 19.1). The role of positron emission tomography (PET)/CT currently is not clear in the staging of pancreatic adenocarcinoma, and PET/CT is not a mandatory examination for staging; however it may be used after performance of pancreas protocol CT imaging in high-risk patients to evaluate for metastatic disease [11]. For patients in whom neoadjuvant therapy is being considered, biopsy for proof of malignancy is required; however biopsy proof of malignancy is not mandatory if initial surgical resection is being entertained.

Special attention should be paid to the celiac axis and the superior mesenteric artery (SMA) on imaging. The liver not only receives arterial blood flow from the common hepatic artery



Fig. 19.1 Locally advanced pancreatic body adenocarcinoma on preoperative CT scan. The celiac axis is invaded by tumor (*arrow*)

from the celiac axis but also receives collateral blood flow through the head of the pancreas from the inferior pancreaticoduodenal arteries coming from the SMA flowing through the gastroduodenal artery (GDA). The SMA should be widely uninvolved, and the celiac axis must have a sufficient segment of normal artery to allow for safe transection at the takeoff from the aorta (Fig. 19.2). In addition, the common hepatic artery must have enough space to before the takeoff of the GDA. Replaced hepatic vessels should be noted prior to surgery to plan accordingly.

The patient's presenting symptoms may also suggest involvement of adjacent structures by disease, and this can be confirmed on imaging. Gastric outlet obstruction or back pain may suggest a locally aggressive tumor with invasion of the stomach or the celiac plexus/retroperitoneum, respectively.

19.3 Patient Selection

The indication for the modified Appleby procedure is involvement of the celiac axis by a pancreatic body tumor without involvement of the head of the pancreas or SMA. In general, only a minority of patients are candidates for this aggressive operation. In our series, the modified Appleby procedure was performed in only 2% of patients undergoing pancreatectomy during the study period; however, the frequency of the operation has increased with time at other institutions [7, 12]. With proper selection, surgery may be successfully performed in up to 87% of patients preoperatively deemed resectable with a modified Appleby procedure [8]. Patients are selected based on their likelihood of obtaining negative margins, response to neoadjuvant therapy, lack of distant metastases, and functional capacity.

The treatment of pancreatic adenocarcinoma may require multiple modalities, and a component of patient selection may also involve the use of neoadjuvant therapy. By using a neoadjuvant treatment approach, patient selection may be further refined to those patients who will most



Fig. 19.2 (a) Illustration of a locally advanced tumor of the body of the pancreas. Tumor involves the celiac axis. (b) Anatomy after modified Appleby procedure. Ligation of the common hepatic artery and celiac axis are required. Blood flood to the liver is based on collaterals from the

benefit from a major resection. Approximately 20% of patients with locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma are considered surgical candi-

superior mesenteric artery to the gastroduodenal artery. *CBD* common bile duct, *GDA* gastroduodenal artery, *PD* pancreaticoduodenal, *IVC* inferior vena cava, *IMV* inferior mesenteric vein, *SMA* superior mesenteric artery, *SMV* superior mesenteric vein

dates using this strategy, thus eliminating those patients who would not benefit from a major operation [8].

19.4 Surgical Technique

A safe and efficient operation is ensured by adequately selecting the ideal patient for a modified Appleby procedure. Locally advanced pancreatic cancers are at risk of undiagnosed metastases; therefore, a diagnostic laparoscopy is advisable at the time of the planned resection. A laparotomy incision is made once the liver and the peritoneal surfaces have been examined without evidence of metastatic disease. We prefer a bilateral subcostal incision because this allows access to the pancreas in its entirety, the spleen, and the porta hepatis; however, a midline incision may also be used.

19.4.1 Determining Resectability

Diagnostic laparoscopy is usually not enough to provide enough information to determine resectability. The pancreas must be fully examined by opening the lesser sac and performing an extended Kocher maneuver. The pancreas is examined to appreciate the mass in relation to vital structures, with particular attention paid to the celiac axis, SMA, and GDA. The fundamental principle underlying the operation requires flow to the liver from collaterals through the pancreatic head from the SMA to the GDA (Fig. 19.2). In our early experience, we would perform an angiogram to confirm good collateral circulation; however, we subsequently feel that angiography is not necessary after observing very little variation in the well-preserved blood supply through the head of the pancreas. Once adequate exposure is obtained, resectability is ultimately determined by clamping the common hepatic artery and verifying blood flow to the proper hepatic artery and liver via the GDA. In the case of poor blood flow, the common hepatic artery may be reconstructed to restore blood flow if the tumor can still be safely removed off of the aorta.

19.4.2 Dissection of the Celiac Trunk

The celiac trunk is accessed both anteriorly and posteriorly. By performing a cholecystectomy and portal node dissection, the proper hepatic artery, GDA, and common hepatic artery can be identified and traced to the level of tumor involvement. Once the common hepatic artery is isolated with a vessel loop, the common hepatic artery is clamped to verify flow from the GDA into the proper hepatic artery. It is at this point that the extent of celiac axis involvement is often appreciated.

Attention is then turned to separation of the transverse mesocolon from the omentum by entering the lesser sac. The gastrocolic ligament is divided followed by the lienocolic ligament allowing for caudal retraction of the colon. The peritoneum along the inferior border of the pancreas is incised, and the pancreas and spleen are lifted up from the retroperitoneum in the avascular plane. We divide the distal splenic artery early to allow the spleen to decompress. The dissection of the pancreatic body/tail starts at the inferior border of the spleen, followed by division of the lienorenal and lienophrenic ligaments, and then this dissection is carried over until the pancreas is completely freed from the retroperitoneum up to the superior mesenteric vein (SMV) and PV.

Posteriorly, the celiac artery is approached in one of two ways. If the PV can be completely freed from the neck of the pancreas, the pancreas may be divided allowing access to the base of the celiac trunk. The surgeon should be committed to the operation prior to dividing the pancreas. Taking down the attachments of the spleen and distal pancreas may also expose the aorta and takeoff of the celiac trunk. The spleen and distal pancreas are rotated medially while separating the avascular plane posterior to the pancreas. From here, both the celiac artery and SMA are identified. The SMA is examined for any tumor involvement and then freed from any attachments to the body of the pancreas. The celiac artery is examined for extent of tumor involvement and is completely encircled. A vascular clamp is placed across the base of the celiac artery, and blood flow to the liver and stomach are again assessed.

Following this, fluorescein is injected intravenously, and the perfusion of the liver and stomach are visualized using fluorescent imaging. This can be done at any point where the operation is deemed at a point of no return. There must be a small cuff of uninvolved celiac artery to allow for safe ligation. In preparation for ligation, the pancreas is divided anterior to the PV and SMV with a stapler if this has not already been done. Any involved stomach should be resected en bloc with the specimen.

19.4.3 Vascular Division

Division of the celiac axis is the last step of the operation. In addition to division of the pancreas, the splenic vein is clamped, transected, and oversewn with 5-0 polypropylene suture. This maneuver allows full visualization of the celiac trunk. A clamp is placed across the takeoff at the aorta, and the celiac artery is divided and oversewn with 5-0 polypropylene sutures. Following this, the common hepatic and left gastric arteries are ligated and oversewn, again with 5-0 polypropylene suture. The specimen is removed at this point and sent for frozen section (Fig. 19.3). The stump of the pancreas is oversewn with 4-0 polypropylene sutures. Alternatively, the vessels may be transected using a stapler if there is enough room on the artery to allow for this technique.



Fig. 19.3 Intraoperative images after resection. *PANC* pancreas (cut), *SMA* superior mesenteric artery, *SMV* superior mesenteric vein, *PV* portal vein, *RA* left renal vein

The blood flow to the liver and stomach are again assessed. If either structure appears ischemic, vascular reconstruction should be performed. Fluorescein may be injected again to reassess for ischemia after vascular division. Ischemia should usually be evident in the time it takes for pathologic margin assessment.

Vascular reconstruction may be done in a number of ways. Primary anastomosis between the left gastric artery or the common hepatic artery and the celiac stump is performed if mobilization of the vessels allows for a tension-free anastomosis. A reconstruction with saphenous vein graft may be preferred if a primary anastomosis is not possible. The area should be well drained to prevent pancreatic enzymes from sitting around the vascular anastomoses.

19.5 Complications

Complications associated with the modified Appleby procedure include the risks inherent to pancreatic surgery as well as risks specific to arterial resection [13]. Major complications may reach 35–41% [12–14]. The most common complication is pancreatic fistula. Nakamura et al. [13] reported a fistula rate, grade B or C, of 33%. In comparison, pancreatic fistula may be seen in up to 30% of patients undergoing distal pancreatectomy [15]. This is followed by ischemic gastropathy (29%), which in the most serious of circumstances may lead to perforation (6%). The usual result of gastric ischemia is delayed gastric emptying. Ischemia of the liver may lead to hepatic infarction and ultimately liver abscess. To minimize the risk of ischemic complications, perfusion of the liver and stomach may be assessed in two ways: (1) injection of fluorescein and (2) assessment of mean arterial pressure (MAP) from the hepatic and left gastric stumps, alth ough t his is more tedious than fluoroscein. A drop in MAP of >25% is used by some as criteria for arterial reconstruction to minimize ischemia [16]. While complications may be minimized, patients should be extensively counseled preoperatively to understand the inherent risks associated with DP-CAR.

19.6 Outcomes

Vascular resection for pancreatic adenocarcinoma was first introduced in the 1970s in the both the East and West [5, 6]. Enthusiasm from Western surgeons was initially lacking, and vascular resection fell out of favor due to high perioperative mortality. More recent institutional series have reported more favorable outcomes (Table 19.1). A meta-analysis from Mollberg et al. in 2011 reported higher perioperative mortality and worse oncologic outcomes with DP-CAR compared with DP alone [17], but more recent series in the era of neoadjuvant therapy have reported improved results [8, 9, 12, 13]. This likely reflects a refinement in the patient selection process, selecting patients who are fit and who have responded well to neoadjuvant therapy without the development of progressive and/or metastatic disease. A limitation of the meta-analysis was study heterogeneity. The evaluation included patients who were operated on over a three-decade period, with most operations performed prior to 2000, who underwent both venous and arterial resection, and included patient having undergone SMA resection and reconstruction. In contrast, the largest, singleinstitutional series from Nakamura and colleagues of 80 patients undergoing arterial resection reported 30-day mortality of 1.3% and in-hospital mortality of 5% [18]. The report included patients treated with and without chemotherapy both in the adjuvant and the neoadjuvant setting. The largest studies to date using neoadjuvant therapy are by Christians et al. [8] and Peters et al. [12] (Table 19.1). There were no perioperative deaths in these series of 15 and 17 patients, respectively, showing that DP-CAR can be safely performed in patients who are properly selected.

A recent analysis of data from National Surgical Quality Improvement Project (NSQIP) Pancreatectomy Demonstration Project reviewed survival across multiple treatment settings. In patients undergoing DP-CAR, mortality with celiac arterial resection was as high as 10% compared to 1% in patients undergoing DP alone [14]. While 10% mortality is not prohibitively high for an otherwise fatal condition, the high mortality in comparison to DP alone underscores the importance of performing the operation in a tertiary, multidisciplinary center. In the properly selected patient, perioperative risk may be minimized, and more aggressive surgery may be warranted in the setting of neoadjuvant chemotherapy.

First author	Year	Number of patients undergoing AR	30-day mortality (%)	Follow-up/survival	Comments
Cesaretti [9]	2008–2013	7	0	Median survival 24 months (5 patients who underwent surgery)	7/7 (all patients also underwent CA coiling, 2 patients progressed)
Nakamura [13]	1998–2015	80	1.3 (5) ^a	Median survival 30 months	11/80 preoperative chemotherapy
Christians [8]	2011–2013	15	0	Median follow-up 21 months (9–38 months). Five recurrences, all AWD	2 patients unresectable, 14/15 preoperative chemotherapy
Peters [12]	2004–2016	17	0	Median survival 20 vs 19 months (DP-CAR vs DP, p = 0.76)	15/17 preoperative chemotherapy
Mollberg (meta-analysis) [17]	1974–2009	366 (12.6) ^b	0-45	Median survival 8.5–20 vs 12–25 months (DP-CAR vs DP)	Significant heterogeneity and bias

Table 19.1 Reported series of modified Appleby procedure in the setting of neoadjuvant therapy

^aNakamura et al. report 30-day mortality of 1.3% and mortality during initial hospitalization of 5% ^bThe meta-analysis included a total of 366 patients from 26 studies, with a median of 12.6 patients per study *DP-CAR* distal pancreatectomy, celiac axis resection, *DP* distal pancreatectomy, *CA* celiac axis, *AR* arterial resection, *AWD* alive with disease

Long-term survival after R0 resection with the modified Appleby procedure is improved compared with patients treated with chemotherapy alone. The median survival of patients with unresectable locally advanced disease ranges from 8.4 to 13 months [19-22]. The prognosis of patients with unresectable locally advanced pancreatic cancer is similar to patients with metastatic disease. The median survival in patients with metastatic disease treated with FOLFIRINOX chemotherapy is approximately 11 months [23]. In a study comparing gemcitabine and nab-paclitaxel to gemcitabine alone, which included patients with locally advanced disease, median overall survival for the study group was 8.5 months [24].

Long-term survival after pancreatectomy with arterial resection is similar to patients with resectable disease treated with pancreatic resection, with median survival as high as 31 months in the Japanese literature [18]. The median survival in the most recent Western series consisting of patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy is between 20 and 24 months, with some data limited by short follow-up periods (Table 19.1) [8, 9, 12, 25]. In comparison, similar survival is seen in patients with resectable pancreatic cancer treated with adjuvant therapy. The ESPAC-1, CONKO-001, ESPAC-3, RTOG-9704, and GISTG trials report a median survival of 20.5-24.5 months in patients with resectable pancreatic cancer treated with or without adjuvant chemotherapy after pancreatic resection [26-30]. With multimodal treatment for locally advanced pancreatic cancer, including the modified Appleby procedure, long-term survival may be achieved in patients undergoing a margin negative resection, similar to other patients with resectable pancreatic cancer. These data suggest that patients undergoing DP-CAR do benefit oncologically from an aggressive operation despite the higher perioperative mortality.

Conclusions

Arterial resection in patients with body or tail pancreatic adenocarcinoma should be reserved for carefully selected patients with vascular involvement limited to the celiac axis or common hepatic artery. Preoperative scans should be carefully examined for collateral blood flow to the liver via the SMA and GDA. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy is advisable in all patients considered for the modified Appleby procedure (DP-CAR) with locally advanced pancreatic cancer to select those patients most likely to benefit from a major aggressive resection. With this approach, survival may be similar to patients undergoing a standard pancreatic resection.

References

- Lillemoe KD, Kaushal S, Cameron JL, Sohn TA, Pitt HA, Yeo CJ. Distal pancreatectomy: indications and outcomes in 235 patients. Ann Surg. 1999;229(5):693–8. discussion 698-700
- Khushman M, Dempsey N, Maldonado JC, et al. Full dose neoadjuvant FOLFIRINOX is associated with prolonged survival in patients with locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Pancreatology. 2015;15(6):667–73.
- Al Efishat M, Wolfgang CL, Weiss MJ. Stage III pancreatic cancer and the role of irreversible electroporation. BMJ. 2015;350:h521.
- Appleby LH. The coeliac axis in the expansion of the operation for gastric carcinoma. Cancer. 1953;6(4):704–7.
- Nimura Y, Hattori T, Miura K, Nakashima N, Hibi M. Resection of advanced pancreatic body-tail carcinoma by Appleby's operation. Shujutu. 1976; 30:885–9.
- Fortner JG. Regional resection of cancer of the pancreas: a new surgical approach. Surgery. 1973;73(2): 307–20.
- Gagandeep S, Artinyan A, Jabbour N, et al. Extended pancreatectomy with resection of the celiac axis: the modified Appleby operation. Am J Surg. 2006; 192(3):330–5.
- Christians KK, Pilgrim CH, Tsai S, et al. Arterial resection at the time of pancreatectomy for cancer. Surgery. 2014;155(5):919–26.
- Cesaretti M, Abdel-Rehim M, Barbier L, Dokmak S, Hammel P, Sauvanet A. Modified Appleby procedure for borderline resectable/locally advanced distal pancreatic adenocarcinoma: a major procedure for selected patients. J Visc Surg. 2016; 153(3):173–81.
- Smoot RL, Donohue JH. Modified Appleby procedure for resection of tumors of the pancreatic body and tail with celiac axis involvement. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(11):2167–9.
- Rijkers AP, Valkema R, Duivenvoorden HJ, van Eijck CH. Usefulness of F-18-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography to confirm suspected pancreatic cancer: a meta-analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(7):794–804.

- Peters NA, Javed AA, Cameron JL, et al. Modified Appleby procedure for pancreatic adenocarcinoma: does improved neoadjuvant therapy warrant such an aggressive approach? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(11):3757–64.
- Nakamura T, Hirano S, Noji T, et al. Distal pancreatectomy with en bloc celiac axis resection (modified Appleby procedure) for locally advanced pancreatic body cancer: a single-center review of 80 consecutive patients. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(Suppl 5):969–75.
- Beane JD, House MG, Pitt SC, et al. Distal pancreatectomy with celiac axis resection: what are the added risks? HPB (Oxford). 2015;17(9):777–84.
- Schoellhammer HF, Fong Y, Gagandeep S. Techniques for prevention of pancreatic leak after pancreatectomy. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr. 2014;3(5):276–87.
- Mittal A, de Reuver PR, Shanbhag S, et al. Distal pancreatectomy, splenectomy, and celiac axis resection (DPS-CAR): common hepatic arterial stump pressure should determine the need for arterial reconstruction. Surgery. 2015;157(4):811–7.
- Mollberg N, Rahbari NN, Koch M, et al. Arterial resection during pancreatectomy for pancreatic cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Surg. 2011;254(6):882–93.
- Nakamura T, Hirano S, Noji T, et al. Distal pancreatectomy with en bloc celiac axis resection (modified Appleby procedure) for locally advanced pancreatic body cancer: a single-center review of 80 consecutive patients. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:969.
- 19. Chauffert B, Mornex F, Bonnetain F, et al. Phase III trial comparing intensive induction chemoradiotherapy (60 Gy, infusional 5-FU and intermittent cisplatin) followed by maintenance gemcitabine with gemcitabine alone for locally advanced unresectable pancreatic cancer. Definitive results of the 2000-01 FFCD/SFRO study. Ann Oncol. 2008;19(9):1592–9.
- 20. Cohen SJ, Dobelbower R Jr, Lipsitz S, et al. A randomized phase III study of radiotherapy alone or with 5-fluorouracil and mitomycin-C in patients with locally advanced adenocarcinoma of the pancreas: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group study E8282. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;62(5):1345–50.
- 21. Li CP, Chao Y, Chi KH, et al. Concurrent chemoradiotherapy treatment of locally advanced pancreatic

cancer: gemcitabine versus 5-fluorouracil, a randomized controlled study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2003;57(1):98–104.

- 22. Shinchi H, Takao S, Noma H, et al. Length and quality of survival after external-beam radiotherapy with concurrent continuous 5-fluorouracil infusion for locally unresectable pancreatic cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002;53(1):146–50.
- Conroy T, Desseigne F, Ychou M, et al. FOLFIRINOX versus gemcitabine for metastatic pancreatic cancer. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(19):1817–25.
- Von Hoff DD, Ervin T, Arena FP, et al. Increased survival in pancreatic cancer with nab-paclitaxel plus gemcitabine. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(18):1691–703.
- 25. Denecke T, Andreou A, Podrabsky P, et al. Distal pancreatectomy with en bloc resection of the celiac trunk for extended pancreatic tumor disease: an interdisciplinary approach. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2011;34(5):1058–64.
- 26. Neoptolemos JP, Stocken DD, Bassi C, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy with fluorouracil plus folinic acid vs gemcitabine following pancreatic cancer resection: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2010;304(10):1073–81.
- 27. Oettle H, Post S, Neuhaus P, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy with gemcitabine vs observation in patients undergoing curative-intent resection of pancreatic cancer: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2007;297(3):267–77.
- Neoptolemos JP, Stocken DD, Friess H, et al. A randomized trial of chemoradiotherapy and chemotherapy after resection of pancreatic cancer. N Engl J Med. 2004;350(12):1200–10.
- 29. Regine WF, Winter KA, Abrams RA, et al. Fluorouracil vs gemcitabine chemotherapy before and after fluorouracil-based chemoradiation following resection of pancreatic adenocarcinoma: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2008;299(9):1019–26.
- 30. Moertel CG, Frytak S, Hahn RG, et al. Therapy of locally unresectable pancreatic carcinoma: a randomized comparison of high dose (6000 rads) radiation alone, moderate dose radiation (4000 rads + 5-fluorouracil), and high dose radiation + 5-fluorouracil: The Gastrointestinal Tumor Study Group. Cancer. 1981;48(8):1705–10.



Laparoscopic Pancreaticoduodenectomy: How I Do it

Alessandro Paniccia and Barish H. Edil

20.1 Introduction

Minimally invasive pancreaticoduodenectomy (MIPD) is one of the most challenging abdominal operations currently being performed; it demands excellent surgical technique and requires a steep learning curve [1]. Despite the introduction of MIPD in 1994 by Gagner and Pomp [2], this technique remains sparsely utilized-mainly in large academic centers-and no randomized controlled trial exists that compares MIPD with open pancreaticoduodenectomy (OPD). Furthermore, several interpretations of MIPD can be found in the surgical literature, spanning from total minimally invasive techniques (when both the dissection and the reconstruction phase are performed totally laparoscopically) to the most commonly reported hybrid techniques (when the dissection phase is performed laparoscopically and the reconstruction phase is performed via minilaparotomy) [3-10].

The steep learning curve associated with MIPD is often the biggest challenge faced by the surgeon and surgical team [11]. Speicher et al. demonstrated that the operative time correlates closely to the technical difficulties encountered in the first—steep part—of the learning curve.

Although this represents the biggest obstacle for the first 10 cases, a significant reduction in operative time is experienced within the first 50 cases after which operative time and estimated blood loss were consistently lower than open pancreaticoduodenectomy [11].

It is apparent that a global trend toward minimally invasive oncologic surgeries is on the rise, and hepatobiliary surgeons—especially in an academic center of excellence—will need to be familiar with the various aspects of minimally invasive pancreaticoduodenectomy.

20.2 Patient Selection

Most patients with pancreatic, ampullary, or biliary pathologies who require a pancreaticoduodenectomy are eligible for a laparoscopic approach. One limitation is represented by patients with locally advanced pathologies (i.e., locally advanced or borderline resectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma) with involvement of the mesenteric vasculature due to the inherent technical difficulties with laparoscopic vascular resection and reconstruction (although a few specialized centers occasionally offer TLP in this setting) [7, 8].

Adequate preoperative imaging is paramount—and its importance cannot be stressed enough—especially in defining any aberrant vascular anatomy, as tactile sensation is lost during a

A. Paniccia, M.D. · B. H. Edil, M.D., F.A.C.S (⊠) Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, University of Colorado, Aurora, CO, USA e-mail: Barish-Edil@ouhsc.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_20

laparoscopic procedure. Therefore, having ample anatomic knowledge of the case at hand (e.g., aberrant or replaced right hepatic artery and alike) will avoid intraoperative catastrophe or need for laparotomy.

20.3 Procedure

20.3.1 Dissection Phase

The patient is placed supine on the operating table, and care is taken to properly secure the patient with a thigh belt to the operating table. Care is taken to ensure proper patient positioning and stability, as the table will be tilted at different stages during the procedure to help with organ exposure during tissue dissection and reconstruction. The upper extremity bony prominences are covered with soft pads; both arms are extended to no more than 60° (to avoid injury to the brachial plexus).

The surgeon is positioned on the left side of the patient, the first assistant is positioned on the right side of the patient, and the second assistant stands on the left side of the patient, next to the surgeon. However, it is worth noting that operating is done from both sides of the patient as the procedure moves through its different phases.

The procedure can be performed using five trocars, including a Hassan optical trocar, two 12 mm trocars, and two 5 mm trocars.

The Hassan optical trocar is positioned at the umbilicus (to be used for a 10 mm 30° or 45° angled laparoscope), two 12 mm trocars are placed along both left and right hemiclavicular line approximately 2 cm below the inferior costal margins (these are the two main working ports), one additional 5 mm trocar is placed on the right side of the umbilicus (to provide lateral traction as needed), and an additional 5 mm trocar can be placed on the left of the umbilicus if needed.

The peritoneal cavity is carefully accessed, and the abdomen is thoroughly explored for evidence of metastatic disease; following this mandatory first step, the attention is turned to the identification of the lesser sac. An ultrasonic dissector is used to divide the gastrocolic ligament, below the gastroepiploic vessels, allowing access to the retroperitoneal area and ultimately leading to direct visualization of the pancreas (Fig. 20.1).

Subsequently the assistant provides cephalad traction on the stomach (by grasping the stomach antrum or body with an atraumatic laparoscopic grasper), therefore facilitating the identification of any adhesions present between the posterior surface of the stomach and the anterior surface of the pancreas. These adhesions can then be sharply divided gaining full exposure of the anterior surface of the pancreas.

The dissection of the porta hepatis is initiated, and the gastroduodenal artery (GDA) lymph node is identified and removed. The removal of the GDA lymph node facilitates the visualization of the GDA origin; care is taken to verify that the GDA is properly skeletonized and removed of all surrounding soft tissue in order to ensure full ligation with the surgical clips. During this phase, extreme care is taken to avoid avulsion of the superior anterior pancreaticoduodenal artery.

It is the authors' practice to perform a complete dissection of the common and proper hepatic artery—prior to transection of the gastroduodenal artery—as test occlusion of the gastroduodenal artery and palpation of the proper hepatic are not possible. This extra step will facilitate proper recognition of the GDA and its origin from the common hepatic artery, and it will prevent erroneous and catastrophic ligation of the common hepatic artery.

The GDA can now be ligated; the authors prefer a suture ligation of the proximal GDA that is additionally reinforced with two medium surgical clips, proximally and distally, prior to its sharp division (Fig. 20.2a, b).



Fig. 20.1 Identification and access to the lesser sac

Attention is then turned to the inferior pancreatic border to identify the superior mesenteric vein (SMV). Blunt dissection is carried on along the SMV anterior surface, progressively separating the posterior aspect of the pancreatic neck from the SMV and eventually leading to the identification of the confluence between the SMV vein and the splenic vein (Fig. 20.3a, b). During this step, the laparoscopic approach offers a tremendous advantage represented by the magnified visualization of the "tunnel" created between the pancreatic neck and the SMV-splenic vein confluence; this is a clear advantage compared to a traditional open procedure.

The hepatic flexure and the transverse colon are mobilized inferiorly after division of the colohepatic peritoneum exposing the second and third portion of the duodenum. An extended Kocher maneuver is performed to allow for medialization of the duodenum, and the plane between the duodenum and the retroperitoneum is identified and dissected using either blunt or energy dissection, ultimately leading to the identification of the inferior vena cava, the aorta, and the superior mesenteric artery.

The gallbladder is identified, the Calot's triangle is exposed, and the cystic duct and the cystic artery are dissected and doubly ligated with surgical clips prior to being sharply divided. A cholecystectomy is then completed in a standard laparoscopic fashion, and the dissected gallbladder is placed in the right abdomen for later removal.

The stomach can then be transected just proximal to the pylorus using a laparoscopic stapling device (the pylorus should be clearly identified prior to the transection to prevent stapling across the pylorus). The gastric remnant can now be mobilized into the left upper abdomen allowing for improved exposure of the pancreas.

The pancreatic neck is then divided along the previously created pancreatic tunnel (with the use of electrocautery), and the pancreaticoduodenal arteries are controlled (with the use of an energy device) for hemostasis (Fig. 20.4a). The pancreatic duct is identified, and an appropriately



Fig. 20.2 (a) Identification and (b) ligation of the gastroduodenal artery (GDA)



Fig. 20.3 (a) Identification and blunt dissection along the anterior surface of the superior mesenteric vein (SMV), (b) retropancreatic tunnel with identification of the confluence of the SMV and splenic vein



Fig. 20.4 (a) Division of the pancreatic neck, (b) identification and cannulation of the pancreatic duct with a silicone (4 to 8 Fr) feeding tube

sized pediatric feeding tube (usually ranging from 4 to 8 French) is inserted in the pancreatic duct; this will function as a temporary stent and will aid with the subsequent reconstruction (Fig. 20.4b).

The common bile duct is then identified, dissected free from the surrounding tissues, and its proximal aspect is secured with a surgical bulldog clamp; this will avoid spillage of bile during the remaining steps of the procedure. Electrocautery is then used to transect the common bile duct approximately 2–3 cm above the superior pancreatic border.

The authors use a laparoscopic stapler to divide the jejunum to 50% of its width at the site chosen for the future definitive transection; the division of only half of the jejunum allows for easier rotation of the jejunum through the ligament of Treitz and under the mesenteric vessels.

Alternatively, the jejunum can be completely transected, and the two jejunal free ends can be held together by a stay suture that will eventually allow for easy jejunal rotation under the mesenteric vessels.

Bringing the jejunum through the ligament of Treitz—instead than through a defect in the transverse mesocolon—avoids jejunal twisting that can be easily overlooked laparoscopically and provides a tension-free loop for reconstruction.

The ligament of Treitz is identified and mobilized from its retroperitoneal attachments, using blunt dissection and an energy device. Once the dissection is completed, the duodenum and the jejunum can be safely rotated under the mesenteric vessels. A window is created in the mesen-



Fig. 20.5 Dissection of the uncinate process from the superior mesenteric vein (SMV)

tery, approximately 15–20 cm distal to the duodenojejunal flexure, and the jejunal vascular arcades are serially divided with the use of an energy device.

Attention is then turned to the pancreatic neck with the ultimate goal to expose and to dissect free the uncinate process. The assistant applies gentle cephalad and lateral traction to the pancreatic head (toward the patient's right); this allows the surgeon to perform a blunt dissection along the SMV-portal vein confluence achieving complete separation between these structures and the posterior surface of the remaining pancreas (Fig. 20.5).

At this stage, the uncinate process can be dissected free from the superior mesenteric artery using an energy device; however, occasionally it will require clips or suture ligature. A laparoscopic suctioning device can be used to gently retract the superior mesenteric vein laterally (toward patient's left side) allowing for complete visualization of the attachment between the SMA and the uncinate process. It is paramount to simultaneously visualize both vessels (SMV and



Fig. 20.6 End-to-side, duct-to-mucosa pancreaticojejunostomy construction: (**a** and **b**) posterior row, (**c**) pancreatic duct to jejunal mucosa anastomosis, (d) anterior row

SMA) during this delicate dissection to avoid catastrophic venous or arterial injuries.

Ultimately, the jejunum can be completely transected (at the site of the previous partial transection) using a laparoscopic stapling device.

This final step completes the dissection portion of the procedure, and the specimens, including the previously dissected gallbladder, can be safely removed using a laparoscopic endobag and extracted through the umbilical port site. Commonly, the fascial defect at the umbilical port sites needs to be enlarged to measure 3–4 cm; this defect is promptly sutured—following the extraction of the surgical specimen—and the Hassan trocar is reinserted through its original site prior to the reestablishment of the pneumoperitoneum.

20.3.2 Reconstruction Phase

The reconstruction commences with the creation of a duct-to-mucosa pancreaticojejunostomy. The free end of the jejunum is brought in close proximity to the pancreatic remnant in preparation for an end-to-side, duct-to-mucosa pancreaticojejunostomy. The anastomosis begins with the construction of the posterior anastomotic row, which is fashioned using a single-layered running 4.0 barbing suture; this eliminates the need for knots to secure suture lines therefore minimizing pancreatic manipulations (Fig. 20.6a, b). Then, a 2–3 mm jejunostomy is made to allow for a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis. After securing the pancreatic duct to the jejunal mucosa with a 5.0 synthetic nonabsorbable suture, the pancreatic duct stent is passed through the jejunal defect, and a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis is completed using, depending on duct size, five or six additional 5.0 synthetic nonabsorbable sutures in an interrupted fashion (Fig. 20.6c). Finally, a singlelayered running anastomosis is performed using a barbed suture on the anterior side (Fig. 20.6d).

The completion of a pancreaticojejunostomy is followed by the creation of an end-to-side choledochojejunostomy. The previously transected CBD is gently dilated with the use of a laparoscopic Maryland dissector instrument (by gentle separation of the instrument jaws) to allow for an easier anastomosis. Then, a jejunostomy is performed on the antemesenteric portion of the free jejunal end with the use of a laparoscopic electrocautery; this site is again gently dilated with a laparoscopic Maryland dissector to approximately match the size of the previously transected choledocho. An end-to-side duct-to-mucosa choledochojejunostomy anastomosis is performed using interrupted 4-0 synthetic absorbable sutures; the posterior row of the anastomosis is fashioned first and usually requires three to four interrupted sutures (Fig. 20.7a–d). Once the posterior row of the anastomosis is completed, a 6 to 8 French silicone tube (usually a pediatric feeding tube) can be customized to serve as a temporary biliary stent and inserted through the anterior opening of the choledochojejunostomy (Fig. 20.7e); this is followed by completion of the anterior row of the anastomosis in a similar fashion (Fig. 20.7f).

To minimize the tension of the choledochojejunostomy anastomosis, the authors routinely anchor the free end of the jejunal limb to the hilar plate using one or two interrupted 3-0 synthetic absorbable sutures.

In situations when the visualization of the transected bile duct is difficult, the authors use a looped suture around the base of a mobilized falciform ligament through a poke incision at the distal edge of the xiphoid to lift the liver cephalad (i.e., toward the abdominal wall); this allows for a wider working space and for an increased visualization of the transected bile duct, therefore, facilitating the construction of the choledochojejunostomy.

A jejunal loop is brought closer to the gastric remnant in preparation for an antecolic gastrojejunostomy; two 3-0 silk sutures are placed proximally and distally along the length of the future

Fig. 20.7 End-to-side, duct-to-mucosa choledochojejunostomy construction: (**a**-**d**) posterior row, (**e**) placement of a 6 to 8 Fr silicone tube traversing the choledochojejunal anastomosis, (**f**) anterior row



anastomosis to serve as anchoring sutures so as to facilitate the alignment of the jejunal segment to the stomach remnant (Fig. 20.8a). The assistant can now hold the tail of the proximal anchoring suture up toward the abdominal wall while applying gentle tension to the distal jejunal limb; at the



Fig. 20.8 Gastrojejunal anastomosis, (**a**) placement of two silk anchoring sutures to facilitate the alignment of the jejunal segment to the stomach remnant, (**b**) stapled gastrojejunostomy, (**c**) closure of the common enterotomy

same time, the surgeon applies gentle cephalad tension to the stomach remnant; this maneuver stabilizes the gastrojejunal unit, and two enterotomies (a gastrotomy and a jejunostomy) can be easily created using an energy device.

A gastrojejunostomy is then completed using a stapling device (Fig. 20.8b); the resulting common enterotomy defect is closed with interrupted 3-0 silk sutures (Fig. 20.8c).

Finally, the abdomen is explored for evidence of bleeding, bile leakage, or remaining enterotomy defects; one surgical drain is placed posteriorly to the pancreaticojejunostomy (Fig. 20.9a) and one anterior to the choledochojejunostomy (Fig. 20.9b). The abdominal wall fascial defects are finally closed with the use of a Carter-Thomason needle suture passer.

20.4 Outcomes

Notwithstanding the undeniable interest of the international surgical community in pursuing minimally invasive techniques for pancreaticoduodenectomy, the overall benefit of this surgical approach remains a topic of debate and controversy.

Moreover, despite multiple case reports, case series, and retrospective cohort studies comparing MIPD to open pancreaticoduodenectomy as stated earlier in this chapter—no randomized clinical trial exists comparing MIPD vs. OPD.

In an attempt to address the lack of level 1 data, several authors have conducted systematic reviews and meta-analysis of the available literature on MIPD [12–14].



Fig. 20.9 Placement of trans abdominal surgical drains, (a) posterior to the pancreaticojejunostomy, (b) anterior to the choledochojejunostomy

The data emerging from these analyses share several common characteristics, and, in particular, the majority of published studies agree on the safety and feasibility of MIPD. Interesting results have been reported by Zhao et al.: the authors conducted a meta-analysis including 27 studiesfrom 9 countries in America, Europe, and Asiawith 2237 cases of MIPD and 11,854 cases of OPD. In their study, a subgroup analysis of laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy (LPD) demonstrated that there were no significant differences between the two procedures (LPD vs. OPD) in terms of patient (i.e., age, sex, BMI, ASA) and tumor (i.e., tumor size and cancer diagnosis) preoperative characteristics, pancreatic postoperative fistula (grade B/C) rates, tumor size, reoperation, total cost, and 5-year survival rate. Furthermore, LPD was associated with decreased estimated blood loss (WMD [weight mean difference] = -341.61 mL, 95% CI = -578.57, -104.65 mL, P < 0.01), decreased delayed gastric emptying (OR [odds ratio] = 0.67, 95% CI = 0.49-0.90, P < 0.01), increased R0 resections (OR = 1.37, 95% CI = 1.11 - 1.67, P < 0.01),reduced length of hospital stay (WMD = -2.47 days, 95% CI = -3.77,-1.17 days, P < 0.01), and reduced postoperative cost but was associated with increased operative time (WMD = 60.25 minutes, 95% CI = 17.16– 103.34 minutes, P < 0.01), significantly increased operative cost, and increased mortality (OR = 1.46, 95% CI = 1.15–1.85, P < 0.01) [13].

The results of this study must be critically reviewed, and in particular two of the findings deserve further discussion: (a) although the preoperative patient and tumor characteristics were similar, the majority of the analyzed studies lacked clear selection criteria for choosing MIPD vs. OPD, and it is reasonable to think that the most challenging cases were still performed via OPD; (b) the finding of increased mortality with MIPD appears troublesome; perhaps this is a function of the steep learning curve necessary to master this procedure, and it is directly correlated with the complications occurring during the initial learning phase [1].

Several authors have attempted to define a cutoff number of cases—during the learning phasethat would indicate proficiency with the technique; Baker et al. and Sharpe et al. suggested ten cases as a cutoff that resulted in resolution of the apparent increase in operative mortality [11, 15].

However, one must be cognizant that the time interval needed to achieve proficiency with this technique may be strongly influenced by preexistent familiarity with pancreatic procedures, dexterity with laparoscopic techniques, and hospital volume capable of providing a steady access to surgical cases amenable to MIPD.

In fact, as shown by Speicher and colleagues, a significant reduction in operative time approaching that of OPD can be observed after 10 cases; however it was not until 50 cases—over 3 years—that outcomes started to plateau [11]. Some of the most interesting results advocating for the use of MIPD over OPD were presented by Langan et al. and Croome et al. separately, as both authors suggested that MIPD was associated with a more rapid recovery compared to OPD which could lead to improved quality of life which may ultimately translate into earlier access to adjuvant systemic therapy [16, 17]. However, these findings remain to be corroborated by larger and more rigorous studies, and the debate between open versus minimally invasive pancreaticoduodenectomy is yet to be settled.

Conclusions

As the debate on the utility and perhaps superiority of MIPD vs. OPD carries on among academic circles, it is worth emphasizing that introducing a new MIPD program requires proper patient selection (e.g., small duodenal or ampullary lesions, small pancreatic lesions rather than large pancreatic masses with vascular involvement), especially in the steep first phase of the learning curve, a dedicated team (including surgeons, first assistant, and operating room nursing personnel), familiarity and proficiency with the open pancreaticoduodenectomy technique, and a baseline understanding that conversion to laparotomy may be necessary-particularly in the early learning phase-in order to avoid suboptimal outcomes.

References

- Sharpe SM, Talamonti MS, Wang CE, Prinz RA, Roggin KK, Bentrem DJ, et al. Early national experience with laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy for ductal adenocarcinoma: a comparison of laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy and open pancreaticoduodenectomy from the National Cancer Data Base. J Am Coll Surg. 2015;221(1):175–84.
- Gagner M, Pomp A. Laparoscopic pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy. Surg Endosc. 1994;8(5): 408–10.
- Paniccia A, Schulick RD, Edil BH. Total laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy: a single-institutional experience. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(13):4380–1.
- Zureikat AH, Breaux JA, Steel JL, Hughes SJ. Can laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy be safely implemented? J Gastrointest Surg. 2011;15(7):1151–7.
- Asbun HJ, Stauffer JA. Laparoscopic vs open pancreaticoduodenectomy: overall outcomes and severity of complications using the accordion severity grading system. J Am Coll Surg. 2012;215(6):810–9.
- Tan C-L. Outcome and costs of laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy during the initial learning curve vs laparotomy. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(17): 5311–0.
- Croome KP, Farnell MB, Que FG, Reid-Lombardo KM, Truty MJ, Nagorney DM, et al. Pancreaticoduodenectomy with major vascular resection: a comparison of laparoscopic versus open approaches. J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19(1):189–94. discussion194
- Kendrick ML, Sclabas GM. Major venous resection during total laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy. HPB (Oxford). 2011;13(7):454–8.
- 9. Wellner UF, Küsters S, Sick O, Busch C, Bausch D, Bronsert P, et al. Hybrid laparoscopic versus open

pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy: retrospective matched case comparison in 80 patients. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2014;399(7):849–56.

- Liang S, Jayaraman S. Getting started with minimally invasive pancreaticoduodenectomy: is it worth it? J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2015;25(9):712–9.
- Speicher PJ, Nussbaum DP, White RR, Zani S, Mosca PJ, Blazer DG, et al. Defining the learning curve for team-based laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(12):4014–9.
- Merkow J, Paniccia A, Edil BH. Laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy: a descriptive and comparative review. Chin J Cancer Res. 2015;27(4):368–75.
- Zhao Z, Yin Z, Hang Z, Ji G, Feng Q, Zhao Q. A systemic review and an updated meta-analysis: minimally invasive vs open pancreaticoduodenectomy. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):2220.
- 14. Pędziwiatr M, Małczak P, Pisarska M, Major P, Wysocki M, Stefura T, et al. Minimally invasive versus open pancreatoduodenectomy—systematic review and meta-analysis. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2017;8(xi):1–11.
- Baker MS, Sharpe SM, Talamonti MS, Wang E, Roggin KK, Bentrem DJ, et al. The learning curve is surmountable: in reply to Fong and colleagues. J Am Coll Surg. 2016;222(2):210–1.
- Langan RC, Graham JA, Chin AB, Rubinstein AJ, Oza K, Nusbaum JA, et al. Laparoscopic-assisted versus open pancreaticoduodenectomy: early favorable physical quality-of-life measures. Surgery. 2014;156(2):379–84.
- Croome KP, Farnell MB, Que FG, Reid-Lombardo KM, Truty MJ, Nagorney DM, et al. Total laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: oncologic advantages over open approaches? Ann Surg. 2014;260(4):633–8. discussion638–40



Laparoscopic Distal Pancreatectomy: How I Do It

21

Bergthor Björnsson and Per Sandström

21.1 Introduction

Laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy was first described in the mid-1990s, and in the beginning its evolution was slow, driven by enthusiasts within the field [1]. Initially this approach was found to be suitable for benign and premalignant lesions in the body and the tail of the pancreas. The advantages found compared to traditional open surgery are reduced blood loss, shortening of hospital stay, as well as higher proportion of spleen-preserving procedures [2, 3]. After the millennium, the application of this method in the case of pancreatic adenocarcinoma has increased. Although laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy has not yet been prospectively compared to its open counterpart, reviews of small series indicate that the new method is not inferior to the golden standard open surgery when it comes to oncological outcomes [4, 5].

The aim of this chapter is to describe a technique of laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy that can be applied in malignant lesions.

21.2 Preoperative Workup

As pancreatic adenocarcinoma is often a rapidly progressing disease, the preoperative radiology should be done. In this regard a rule of no more than 4 weeks from radiology to operation may reduce the risk of unexpected findings during operation. A computed tomography of the pancreas, liver, and lungs or a magnetic resonance image of the pancreas and liver accompanied by computed tomography of the lungs should be considered minimum for preoperative staging.

The diagnosis of pancreatic adenocarcinoma can most often be strongly suspected from adequately performed radiological examination, and therefore histological verification is seldom needed for the decision to do a distal pancreatectomy. In cases were preoperative pathological diagnosis is needed, percutaneous biopsy should be avoided as this procedure is known to spread the disease [6]. Biopsy or fine needle aspiration with endoscopic ultrasound through the stomach may have a lower risk of tumor spread but should not be disregarded. We strongly advocate resection based on the radiological findings and refrain from any diagnostic biopsy in this setting.

Resectability for standard laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy is assessed by judging the distance of the tumor from the organs surrounding the pancreas (the stomach, left adrenal and kidney, proximal jejunum) and from the major vessels in the proximity (celiac trunk, left gastric

B. Björnsson (🖂) · P. Sandström

Department of Surgery and Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden e-mail: bergthor.bjornsson@liu.se

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_21

artery, hepatic artery, superior mesenteric artery and vein, portal vein). In addition, the proximal part of the splenic artery should be free allowing for placement of clips as should the distal part of the splenic vein, allowing for the use of vascular stapler. Provided that no organ is involved and the major vessels do not have to be resected and the tumor does not reach the gastroduodenal artery, local resectability is present.

An additional information to look for in the preoperative radiology workup is the arterial and venous anatomy in the operation field. For instance, the drainage of the inferior mesenteric vein should be noted as a complete left-sided pancreatic resection may interfere with the vein.

Given that local resectability is present according to above and no sign of metastasis is found, the disease is deemed resectable with laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy and splenectomy.

Previous open surgery should not be considered contraindication for laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy although it may be wise to invest some additional time in the schedule of the procedure.

21.3 Preoperative Preparation

As with all laparoscopic procedures, the patient should be thoroughly informed about the risks of surgery, including the risk of conversion to open surgery. Anticoagulation prophylaxis should be started on the day before operation and continued postoperatively for 4 weeks [7]. The use of prophylactic antibiotics should be according to local routines and microbiology flora. When the surgery is planned in the outpatient's clinic, the patient is strongly recommended to stop smoking and keep up daily physical activities to reduce the risk of postoperative complications. Also, alcohol consumption should be evaluated and if in excess should be helped to reduce for the same reason.

21.4 Anesthesia

The patient is fasted at least 2 h before surgery. Intubation anesthesia with gas and musclerelaxing agent is used. The patient receives a urinary catheter before surgery. Prophylactic medication against postoperative nausea and vomiting is given as indicated based on assessment by the anesthesiologist. We advocate intravenous patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) for control of postoperative pain, with morphine 1 mg/ml. This is used for the first two postoperative days, and thereafter paracetamol is often sufficient.

21.5 Patient Position and Trocars

The patient is placed in a supine position with the right arm at 90° from the body and the left arm along the side (Fig. 21.1). This allows for the operating surgeon and the first assisting surgeon to come close to the patient. While the supine position gives somewhat limited access to the tail of the pancreas and the spleen, placing the patient with the left side up limits the access to the right side of the pancreatic body. In order to improve the accessibility to the tail of the pancreas, the spleen, and the upper part of the greater curvature of the stomach, support is placed against the rib cage in the right axillary area as well as against the right hip. With these properly in place, the operation table can be tilted to the right allowing for better access to the abovementioned organ parts. Similarly support is placed under the patient's feet, and thereby reverse Trendelenburg position can be applied, further improving the access to the upper part of the greater curvature as well as the superior pole of the spleen.

The first trocar (10–15 mm) is placed directly above the umbilicus with open technique. As this trocar will be used for stapling the pancreas, it is important to use a trocar that allows the use of up to 15 mm stapler should this be needed. The second trocar (10-12 mm, used for camera) is placed laterally to the left rectus abdominis muscle in height with the umbilicus. Both the first trocars should be placed somewhat higher in the epigastric/right subcostal area if the patient is unusually tall as placing these around the umbilicus of tall patients will result in difficulties reaching the most cranial part of the dissection area and at the same time the angle for the dissection of the caudal border of the pancreas will be less than optimal.



Fig. 21.1 Table and setup for laparoscopic operation of pancreatic body and tail

A 5 mm trocar is placed in the midline, in the epigastrium below the xiphoid process, and an additional 5 mm trocar beneath the ribs on the left side in anterior axillary line (Fig. 21.2).

21.6 Surgeons and Monitors

The main surgeon stands on the patient's right side cranially to the first assisting surgeon who steers the camera. The scrub nurse and the instrument table are on the patient's left side. Provided there is a second assisting surgeon, he or she is on the patient's left side, cranial to the scrub nurse (Fig. 21.1). Having a second assisting surgeon relieves the burden of working with instrument over the patient from the first assisting surgeon and allows for steering the camera with two hands that increases the quality of the camera work.



Fig. 21.2 Placement of ports for laparoscopic operation of pancreatic body and tail

Monitors are placed at the level of the patient's shoulder, on each side, and angled to fit the surgeons' need. When deciding the height of the monitors, care should be taken not to place these too high as this will result in non-ergonomic position of the surgeons. The video processor, gas insufflator, and energy for dissection instrument (see below) are placed on the patient's right side, caudally (Fig. 21.1).

21.7 Instruments

In addition to the trocars already mentioned, the following instruments should be included in the container: a forceps for the surgeon's nondominant hand, where the existence of locking mechanism should be decided upon based on the surgeon's preference. This forceps will be used on both bowel and the pancreas and thus should be atraumatic. Forceps of the same type should be included for the assistant surgeon to use in the 5 mm trocar placed laterally on the left side; again, the use of locking mechanism should be decided upon by the surgeon using the instrument. A dissection instrument based on either bipolar energy, ultrasonic energy, or the combination of both is used with the leading surgeon's dominant hand throughout the operation. A right angle forceps should be available in order to facilitate dissection around vascular structures as well as the pancreas. A curved dissector may also be helpful for parts of the resection. A needle holder will be needed for the sutures placed on the stomach.

21.8 Laparoscopic Distal Pancreatectomy with Splenectomy: Step by Step

After gaining access to the abdominal cavity and inflation of carbon dioxide to 12 mmHg (15 may be used in case of obesity), the remaining trocars are placed under direct vision. With forceps and an energy device, any adhesions interfering with the surgical field are first divided. Next, the left colonic flexure, the proximal part of the descending colon, and the distal part of the transverse colon are mobilized. A gentle traction in medial direction will allow for the appearance of caudal part of the spleen.

The first step of the distal pancreatectomy is to mobilize the left colonic flexure and proximal part of the left colon. This is done by a medial traction of the colon allowing for the peritoneal fold laterally (white line of Toldt) to be visualized and opened. After mobilizing the colon, the superficial part of the splenocolic ligament is divided in order to avoid inadvertently damaging the spleen during the later steps of the resection (Fig. 21.3). The third step is to divide the gastrocolic ligament caudally to the gastroepiploic vessels. Care must be taken not to interfere with the colonic mesentery as there might be adhesions from the tumor or previous inflammation. This will provide access to the greater sack and the anterior aspect of the pancreas. This dissection typically starts on the right side of the antrumcorpus level and is extended cranially by also dividing the short gastric vessels until the left diaphragmatic crus is reached and the stomach has



Fig. 21.3 The anatomic relationship between the pancreas, the spleen and the left colonic flexure

been completely separated from the spleen (Fig. 21.4). To the right side, the division of the gastrocolic ligament reaches the origin of the gastroepiploic vessels in order to allow for broad access to the pancreatic gland. After mobilization of the stomach, it is sutured against the anterior abdominal wall. This is done with monofilament suture, preferably size 2-0, on a straight needle. First the needle is inserted through the abdominal wall on the right side of the xiphoid process; when inside the abdominal cavity, the needle is passed through the posterior wall of the stomach and then through the abdominal wall again. By doing this, the stomach can be lifted anteriorly and cephalad, and the access to the celiac trunk as well as the superior border of the pancreas is improved.

The left gastric artery is now identified going from the celiac trunk in an anterior direction to the stomach. Following the left gastric artery in proximal direction, taking care not to injure the coronary vein will allow for the identification of the origin of the splenic artery and the hepatic artery. Lymph nodes along the common hepatic artery are dissected toward the celiac trunk and the origin of the splenic artery. After this the splenic artery is encircled with a rubber band. By initially following the left gastric artery and then



Fig. 21.4 The anatomic relationship between the stomach and the pancreas

doing the lymphadenectomy along the hepatic artery, the branches of the celiac trunk are securely identified. The dissection of the common hepatic artery lymph node exposes the portal vein at the cranial border of the pancreas. Depending on the angle, a curved dissector or right angle dissector will be needed to isolate the splenic artery. When the splenic artery has been isolated and encircled, the dissection behind the pancreas starts. Circulating the splenic artery before the dissection behind the pancreas adds safety in case of accidental injury to the splenic vein. However dissection of the splenic vein is easier to perform when filled than collapsed, and therefore the splenic artery should not be divided until the splenic vein has also been isolated. The transverse mesocolon is mobilized from the inferior border of the pancreas. Initially a curved dissector is used to lift the peritoneum, and an energy device is used to develop the plane of dissection. When the plane of dissection has been established, atraumatic forceps are used to apply gentle pressure, in cranial and anterior direction, to the pancreas, while the assisting surgeon pulls the transverse mesocolon in caudal and posterior direction. The direct branches to the splenic vein from the pancreas are divided with the energy device; no clips or ties are needed for this stage. In cases were the dissection plane between the pancreas and the splenic vein is hard to define, it may be helpful to initially dissect behind the splenic vein and around the pancreas that then can be anteriorly displaced while the splenic vein is released from the pancreas. When faced with a splenic vein that is difficult to detach from the pancreas, it should be remembered that dividing both structures at the same time is a safe option [8]. When the splenic vein has been isolated, the splenic artery is closed with locking clips and divided. After division of the splenic artery, the splenic vein may be divided although pancreatic division is preferably performed first in order to improve the access to the vein.

After division of the splenic artery, the dissection of the superior and posterior part of the pancreas is continued until a rubber band can be placed around it. The rubber band is then used to lift the gland, while a stapler is placed around it. There are some different staplers that can be used, and while none has been shown to be superior regarding the risk of postoperative pancreatic fistula, the stapler with the shortest/lowest possible stapler height should probably be used. When the stapler is placed around the pancreas, great care should be taken not to include the remaining branches of the celiac trunk in the stapling line, and this should be visually confirmed after the stapler has been closed but not fired. Firing the stapler is done slowly to compress the pancreatic tissue in order to reduce the risk of rupturing the gland along the stapler line. The use of reinforcement in the stapler line has not been shown to reduce the risk of postoperative pancreatic fistula.

After division of the pancreas, the splenic vein is stapled using vascular staplers. Care should be taken not to apply excessive lateral traction to the vein as this may result in tilting of the confluence against the superior mesenteric vein and subsequently narrowing it with the stapler. When the splenic vessels and the pancreas have been divided, the dissection is continued in an antegrade manner releasing the surgical specimen from the Gerota's fascia behind, making sure to follow the plane of the fascia and not to leave any lymphatic tissue behind. Should the preoperative radiology leave any doubt about involvement of the Gerota's fascia, the plane of dissection is kept behind the fascia in order to secure radicality of the posterior resection margin.

In cases were the inferior mesenteric vein drains to the splenic vein, care is taken to thoroughly close it with the energy device used for the dissection. As the dissection proceeds in distal direction, the deeper part of the splenocolic ligament is divided. When the dissection of the posterior border of the pancreas along with the splenic vein reaches the spleen, the splenorenal ligament is divided in caudo-cranial direction. In order to facilitate this, the operating table can be tilted to the patient's right side. The final step of the resection is to divide the cranial part of the splenorenal ligament. When the surgical specimen is free from the surroundings, a bag is introduced through the trocar above the umbilicus, and the specimen is placed in it. In cases with large tumors or splenomegaly, the bag may be introduced through a short Pfannenstiel incision in order to reduce postoperative pain. Before extracting the specimen, forceps are introduced through the 5 mm trocar in the epigastrium and through the 5 mm trocar subcostally on the left side. The subcostal trocar is removed, and a drain is pulled into the abdominal cavity with the forceps.

The drain is placed with its tip at the division line of the pancreas, and then the stomach is released from the stay suture. When the drain has been placed and secured to the skin, the incision cranially to the umbilicus (or a Pfannenstiel incision) is prolonged to allow for the extraction of the bag and the specimen. In order to optimize the work for the pathologist, the specimen is preferably sent fresh on ice. The larger incisions are closed with sutures in the fascia to reduce the risk of hernia formation.

The patient is taken to the recovery area for a few hours to see that there are no immediate complications. Drain amylase is evaluated on the first and third postoperative day; if elevated more than three times the upper limit, the drain should be kept until the leakage subsides.

21.9 Intraoperative Difficulties and Conversion to Open Distal Pancreatectomy

There are several situations that may call for conversion to open surgery. The major possible ones are bleeding, uncertain tumor margin or involvement of adjacent organs, and inability to dissect the whole circumference of the pancreatic gland at the site of division.

First of all patient safety should always be the first priority, and bleedings that can't be controlled laparoscopically may necessitate conversion. Before conversion for venous bleeding, increased abdominal pressure along with supplementary hemostatic agents may be used in order to control the bleeding. Venous bleeding can be at times substantially reduced if the splenic artery is closed. Should the situation still call for conversion pressure on the bleeding vessel either by gauze or forceps will reduce blood loss during opening of the abdominal cavity.

Conversion because of advanced tumors needing additional organ or vascular resection may be needed, and the decision should be based on the particular surgeon's experience with advanced laparoscopy. Again, patient safety and the oncological adequacy of the operation are the key factors to consider. When faced with this situation, it may however facilitate the open part of the procedure to complete parts of the operation laparoscopically before conversion. This pertains especially to the division of the splenorenal ligament that is usually easier to perform laparoscopically than it is during open surgery.

Inability to safely dissect the whole circumference of the pancreatic gland may occasionally occur. Before converting to open surgery for this cause, lateral extension of the dissection at the inferior border of the pancreas may prove to be helpful, provided that this can be done without interfering with the tumor area. At times it may be difficult to isolate the splenic vein from the posterior aspect of the pancreas. Conversion only for this reason is however not needed as the splenic vein can be divided along with the pancreas [8].

21.10 Postoperative Care

Pain relief is obtained with patient-controlled analgesia for the first two postoperative days. In addition oral pain medication is supplied and continued for about 2 weeks postoperatively.

Mobilization is started at the recovery unit and continued at the ward. The patient is instructed to mobilize as much as possible directly after surgery, but heavy lifting is discouraged for the first six postoperative weeks. Per oral intake of liquids is encouraged already at the recovery unit and at the surgical ward, about 6 h after surgery intake of solid food is allowed.

Sick leave is granted for 2–4 weeks depending on the nature of work performed by the patient. Provided that the work does not include heavy physical duties, 2 weeks is found appropriate, while those with more physical demanding work may need longer recovery.

References

- Cuschieri A, Jakimowicz JJ, van Spreeuwel J. Laparoscopic distal 70% pancreatectomy and splenectomy for chronic pancreatitis. Ann Surg. 1996;223(3):280–5.
- Ueno T, Oka M, Nishihara K, Yamamoto K, Nakamura M, Yahara N, et al. Laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy with preservation of the spleen. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 1999;9(4):290–3.
- Vezakis A, Davides D, Larvin M, McMahon MJ. Laparoscopic surgery combined with preservation of the spleen for distal pancreatic tumors. Surg Endosc. 1999;13(1):26–9.
- Bjornsson B, Sandstrom P. Laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy for adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(37):13402–11.
- Jin T, Altaf K, Xiong JJ, Huang W, Javed MA, Mai G, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of studies comparing laparoscopic and open distal pancreatectomy. HPB (Oxford). 2012;14(11):711–24.
- Clarke DL, Clarke BA, Thomson SR, Garden OJ, Lazarus NG. The role of preoperative biopsy in pancreatic cancer. HPB (Oxford). 2004;6(3):144–53.
- Rasmussen MS, Jorgensen LN, Wille-Jorgensen P, Nielsen JD, Horn A, Mohn AC, et al. Prolonged prophylaxis with dalteparin to prevent late thromboembolic complications in patients undergoing major abdominal surgery: a multicenter randomized openlabel study. J Thromb Haemost. 2006;4(11):2384–90.
- Patterson EJ, Gagner M, Salky B, Inabnet WB, Brower S, Edye M, et al. Laparoscopic pancreatic resection: single-institution experience of 19 patients. J Am Coll Surg. 2001;193(3):281–7.



22

Robotic-Assisted Pancreaticoduodenectomy: How We Do It

Ammar A. Javed, Aslam Ejaz, and Matthew J. Weiss

22.1 Introduction

Over the last two decades, improvements in surgical techniques and introduction of modern technology have led to the advent of minimally invasive surgery [1]. As such, laparoscopic and robotic approaches have been adopted for many routine abdominal procedures [1, 2]. Robotic surgery is now considered to be the primary approach for multiple general surgical, urological, and gynecological procedures. Due to the complexity of the operation, adoption of a robotic approach for pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) has been slow [2]. This can be attributed to several reasons related to the complexity of the procedure including complex anatomy, the need for multiple complex anastomoses, sparse data on the impact on short- and long-term oncological outcomes, and the lack of training facilities [3-8]. However, some highvolume centers that are now performing robotic pancreaticoduodenectomy (RPD) have reported numerous potential benefits of using this approach including earlier postoperative oral intake, reduced operative blood loss, and decreased postoperative pain resulting in earlier recovery and shorter length of stay. A minimally invasive approach also

A. A. Javed, M.D. · A. Ejaz, M.D., M.P.H

M. J. Weiss, M.D., F.A.C.S. (🖂)

Department of Surgery, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: mweiss5@jhmi.edu potentially results in faster time to adjuvant therapy in patients with malignant disease.

The aim of the current chapter was to discuss patient selection, surgical techniques, and the current literature available on RPD.

22.2 Patient Selection and General Considerations

Given the technically challenging nature of RPD, patient selection is crucial. The extent of the disease should be evaluated using a pancreas protocol CT or MRI and serum CA 19-9 levels. If the pancreatic lesion is amenable to surgical resection, a preoperative assessment by an anesthesiologist is recommended. At our institute, RPD is performed for patients with benign, premalignant, and malignant lesions in the head and neck of the pancreas. As opposed to benign lesions, malignant tumors have the potential of vascular involvement requiring resection and reconstruction, which is technically challenging but possible when using a robotic approach. At smaller centers currently introducing RPD at their institute, it may be beneficial to initially perform this procedure in patients with benign or premalignant conditions until the learning curve has been achieved [9]. Furthermore, these centers should be cognizant of the fact that patients requiring multivisceral resections or those with large amounts of intra-abdominal adiposity may be

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_22

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

poor candidates for RPD as in our experience the risk of conversion to an open procedure is high.

22.3 Surgical Technique

A comprehensive robotic surgical team is required to effectively perform RPDs including an anesthesiologist, nursing staff familiar with the robotic instruments and setup, an operating console surgeon, and a bedside surgical assistant for port placement, instrument exchange, and, perhaps most importantly, retraction and suctioning. Both the bedside scrub nurse and room circulator should be proficient at robotics to facilitate instrument setup and exchange.

Patients are positioned in a supine position with legs spread on a split-leg operating table and arms out at 90°. Peripheral intravenous access, an arterial monitoring line, and a Foley catheter are placed, and a nasogastric tube is inserted for decompression of the stomach. Monitors are placed over both the left and right shoulders of the patient to allow adequate view to the surgical assistants and scrub technician. The first assistant stands between the legs of the patients, while another assistant and the scrub nurse stand to the left of the patient. The abdomen is prepped and draped in the standard manner. The abdomen is then entered using either a Hasson or Veress technique and is insufflated to a pressure of 15 mmHg. A camera port is then placed in the supraumbilical position (12 mm), and the abdominal cavity is examined to rule out any iatrogenic injury as well as metastatic disease. If needed, an ultrasound of the liver can be performed to evaluate any metastatic disease in the liver. Subsequently two 8 mm ports each are placed in the right and left lower quadrant under direct visualization. Port placement is dependent on the type of robot being used, i.e., Si or Xi (da Vinci® Surgical Systems). At our institution, we commonly utilize the Xi robot (da Vinci[®] Surgical Systems), and the ports are placed in a straight line perpendicular to the midline. An accessory port (12 mm) can be placed in the right midclavicular line inferior to the robotic ports if needed. Once the ports have been placed, the robot is then docked from the

patient side or over the head of the patient depending on the type of robotic system being used.

22.4 Exposure and Resection

Upon entering the abdomen, the hepatic flexure is carefully dissected, and the liver and gallbladder are pulled superiorly and cephalad to improve exposure. This is achieved by dissecting the ligamentum teres and encircling it using an Endoloop stitch. This is then suspended through the abdominal wall through a small stab incision in the subxiphoid area. A 3-0 prolene suture is placed around the infundibulum of the gallbladder in a figure-of-eight manner and similarly suspended through the abdominal wall at the right subcostal margin. The lesser sac is entered by dividing the gastrocolic ligament along the greater curvature of the stomach using a robotic vessel sealer (Fig. 22.1). This allows for adequate exposure of the anterior surface of the pancreas and is aided by superior retraction of the stomach by the third robotic arm. The neck and body of the pancreas are identified, and careful dissection is performed on the inferior margin of the pancreas until the superior mesenteric vein (SMV) can be visualized (Fig. 22.2).

Attention is then turned to the dissection of the porta hepatis. The common bile duct (CBD) is dissected and encircled with a vessel loop; care is taken to avoid injuring a replaced right hepatic artery if present. The right gastric artery is divided between clips. The common hepatic artery (CHA) is then identified, and the hepatic artery lymph node is removed which facilitates identification of the gastroduodenal artery (GDA) and the portal vein at the superior border of the pancreas. The GDA, proper hepatic artery (PHA), and CHA are carefully identified (Fig. 22.3). The GDA is test clamped to confirm adequate blood flow to the PHA via the CHA. In cases where the blood flow is potentially inadequate, a Doppler can be used to further confirm adequate hepatic blood flow. The GDA is then divided between Hem-o-Lok clips as well as a 2-0 silk tie. The CBD is then identified, and a Hem-o-Lok clip is



Fig. 22.1 Division of the gastrocolic ligament to enter the lesser sac



Fig. 22.2 Dissection at the inferior margin of the pancreas to identify the superior mesenteric vein and tunnel under the pancreas

then placed on the proximal margin of transection. This allows for dilation prior to reconstruction as well as prevents gross spillage of bile in the abdomen. The bile duct is then divided with electrocautery just below the Hem-o-Lok clip,



Fig. 22.3 Identification of common hepatic artery (CHA), proper hepatic artery (PHA), and gastroduodenal artery (GDA)



Fig.22.4 Use of umbilical tape to suspend the pancreatic neck after completion of tunneling

and a portion is sent to pathology for frozen section. The stomach is then divided just proximal to the pylorus using an Endo GIA stapler after confirming that the nasogastric tube is not incorporated.

Attention is then turned toward the superior margin of the pancreas, and dissection is performed until the portal vein (PV) is identified. Subsequently, blunt tunneling is performed behind the neck of the pancreas and anterior to the PV in a cephalad direction. Prior to tunneling, the garstro-epiploic vein is identified and divided between two Hem-o-Lok clips. Once the tunnel is complete, an umbilical tape is looped around the neck of the pancreas and clamped using two Hem-o-Lok clips (Fig. 22.4). The umbilical tape around the pancreatic neck is then used to suspend the neck moving it in the superior-lateral direction, away from the PV, and a cautery is used to divide the pancreas (Fig. 22.5). A separate pancreatic neck margin is cut and sent for frozen section. It is crucial to perform this division under direct visualization as the underlying PV/SMV/splenic vein complex is at high risk of injury. A Kocher maneuver is then performed and the duodenum is then dissected to just left of the aorta. The ligament of Treitz is sharply divided, and the first portion of the jejunum is then brought to the right upper quadrant and divided using the Endo GIA stapler. The mesentery of the small intestine is then divided using the vessel sealer device. At this point the Whipple specimen is left hanging from the uncinate process. The vessel sealer is used to carefully dissect the uncinate process off of the superior mesenteric artery in an inferior to superior direction (Fig. 22.6). Once the specimen has been completely extricated, it is placed in an EndoCatch bag and placed over the



Fig. 22.5 Dissection of the pancreatic neck to expose the portal vein and superior mesenteric vein



Fig. 22.6 Dissection of the uncinate process from the superior mesenteric artery

right side of the liver. The cystic duct and artery are then identified and divided between Hem-o-Lok clips, and the gallbladder is dissected off of the cystic plate with electrocautery. The gallbladder is placed in the EndoCatch bag with the Whipple specimen. The specimen is extracted either through an extension of the supraumbilical incision or through a separate Pfannenstiel incision.

22.5 Reconstruction

The reconstruction of the pancreaticojejunostomy (PJ), hepaticojejunostomy (HJ), and gastrojejunostomy (GJ) is performed in a similar manner as that in the open procedure in a counterclockwise fashion. The PJ is performed 2–3 cm away from the blind end of the jejunum. The posterior aspect of the pancreatic neck is sutured to the jejunal limb in a running fashion using a 3-0V-Loc[™] suture (Fig. 22.7). Once this is complete, an enterotomy is made in the jejunal limb, and the main pancreatic duct (MPD) is identified for a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis. The duct-to-mucosa anastomosis is performed with simple interrupted suture (5-0 PDS). For smaller ducts, we frequently utilize a pediatric feeding tube as an internal stent (3-8 Fr). The number of sutures required for the duct-mucosa layer is dependent on the size of the MPD, but usually four to six stitches are adequate (Fig. 22.8). Finally, an anterior layer between the pancreatic neck and the jejunum is completed using a separate 3-0V-Loc[™] suture in a running fashion (Fig. 22.9). In cases where the MPD is too small to be visualized or a pediatric feeding tube cannot be introduced, an invagination PJ can be performed.

Following the completion of the PJ anastomosis, the HJ is then performed. A small enterotomy is made in the jejunal limb, as far distally from the PJ as possible without creating redundancy in the bowel. Given that a Hem-o-Lok clip is placed on the CBD earlier in the procedure prior to division, considerable dilation of the duct is achieved, thus making it easier to perform the HJ anastomosis. The Hem-o-Lok clip is removed, and approximately eight to ten interrupted sutures (5-0 PDS) (posterior row followed by anterior row) are placed between the bile duct and the jejunum to complete the HJ anastomosis in a ductto-mucosa manner (Figs. 22.10 and 22.11). Of note this anastomosis should not be under any



Fig. 22.7 Posterior layer of pancreaticojejunostomy

tension, and the number of sutures is dependent on the size of the hepatic duct.

The GJ anastomosis is then performed in an end-to-side manner in a hand-sewn fashion. A 3-0 V-LocTM suture is placed between the distal stapled end of the stomach and the antecolic jejunal limb in a running manner, 5-10 mm away and parallel to the staple line. Once the posterior layer is complete, an opening is made in the stomach by removing a segment of the staple line (4-5 cm). An enterotomy similar in length to the opening in the stomach is then made in the jejunal limb. The posterior wall of the stomach with mucosa is then sutured to the posterior wall of the enterotomy in a running manner using a 3-0V-LocTM suture, taking care to assure mucosa-tomucosa apposition. Similarly, the anterior layer of the GJ anastomosis is completed in a running fashion between the anterior wall of the stomach and the enterotomy. Finally, another 3-0V-LocTM suture is placed to complete the second anterior



Fig. 22.8 Duct-to-mucosa anastomosis with stent placement



Fig. 22.10 Posterior layer of hepaticojejunostomy



Fig. 22.9 Anterior layer of pancreaticojejunostomy



Fig. 22.11 Anterior layer of hepaticojejunostomy



Fig. 22.12 Completion of gastrojejunostomy

layer of the GJ anastomosis (Fig. 22.12). Similarly, an Endo GIA-stapled anastomosis can be performed followed by a two-layer closure of the enterotomy site.

The abdomen is then thoroughly irrigated, and two drains are placed, anterior and posterior to the PJ anastomosis site, exiting through the lateral port sites. The EndoCatch bag is removed and all ports are removed under direct visualization. The abdomen is desufflated and the fascia used for port extraction is closed.

22.6 Current Literature on Outcomes of Robotic PD

Since the first human robotic surgery which was performed by Himpens et al., this approach has been adopted by multiple specialties [10]. Currently, many common procedures such as gastric bypass and Nissen fundoplication are frequently performed robotically. One of the first surgeons to report a robotic PD was Narula, who reported a case series of five patients who underwent a hybrid PD [11]. As compared to other abdominal procedures, the adaptation of RPD has still been slow due to the complexity of the operation, inherent instrument limitations, and the steep learning curve [2, 9, 11]. Initially, data on the benefits of a robotic approach was limited, but recent data from high-volume centers have shown favorable short- and long-term outcomes following PD [2, 12]. As there have been no level 1 randomized trials evaluating the impact of robotic vs. open PD, selection bias remains among the available literature. Furthermore, most case series and reports arise from highvolume centers and surgeons [1]. Despite this, appropriate patient selection is crucial for this complex procedure. In fact, some centers recommend that RPD should only be performed in patients with low-grade tumors with limited invasion and not those with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) [13, 14]. It is our experience and that of other centers, however, that RPD is an acceptable choice for patients with PDAC as well [15–20].

The technique of RPD still remains heterogeneous and is primarily dependent on the surgeon performing it. A hybrid approach can be utilized if it is felt that it would increase surgical safety, especially in cases where complex dissection around large vessels is required. Literature comparing hybrid and purely robotic approaches suggests no improvement in the operative time and outcomes based on the type of technique used [14]. Regardless of the type of RPD, an open pancreaticoduodenectomy (OPD) is associated with shorter operative time [6, 14]. Overcoming the learning curve and having a good team in the operating room have been identified as factors that can lead to a significant reduction in the length of these operations [21-24]. Furthermore, RPD is associated with a significant decrease in estimated blood loss and length of stay; however, the overall morbidity and mortality remain similar [1]. In a recent review by Wang et al., the rate of complications after a minimally invasive pancreaticoduodenectomy (MIS-PD) was found to range from 3.8% to 33.0%, which is comparable to that reported for open PD [1, 25, 26]. The most commonly reported complication was postoperative pancreatic fistula, and no decrease was observed in patients undergoing MIS-PD when compared to OPD [6]. These findings can however be confounded by both patient selection and the learning curve of RPD.

An important consideration when evaluating the efficacy of RPD is the rate of conversion to an open procedure. A recent review of current literature on minimally invasive PD by Wang et al. reported that the overall rate of conversion is 17.8%. Common reasons for conversion include tumor adherence, positive margin, unanticipated bleeding, and limited operative space [1, 14]. While conversion of RPD is considered by some to be an indicator to assess the quality of surgery, conversion should not be considered to be a failure of the procedure. It demonstrates the surgeon's keen judgment and can help avoid adverse outcomes.

In terms of oncological outcomes, Wang et al. reported the weighted average of resected lymph nodes to be 17.9, which according to existing literature on adequate lymphadenectomy is sufficient to provide optimal staging of disease [1, 27]. The reported rates of R0 resections for RPD ranged from 60% to 100%, which suggests that a RPD can help achieve similar oncological outcomes as compared to OPD [17, 20, 28, 29].

In conclusion RPD is increasingly becoming common and is a safe and feasible option for patients undergoing PD if performed by experienced surgeons at a high-volume center in a multidisciplinary setting.

Acknowledgment Grant support: Drs. Keith and Valda Kaye Research Fund.

References

- Wang M, Cai H, Meng L, et al. Minimally invasive pancreaticoduodenectomy: a comprehensive review. Int J Surg. 2016 Nov;35:139–46.
- Walsh RM, Chalikonda S. How I do it: hybrid laparoscopic and robotic pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2016;20(9):1650–7.
- Stauffer JA, Asbun HJ. Minimally invasive pancreatic surgery. Semin Oncol. 2015;42(1):123–33.
- Matsuoka L, Parekh D. The minimally invasive approach to surgical management of pancreatic diseases. Gastroenterol Clin N Am. 2012;41(1):77–101.
- Kendrick ML. Laparoscopic and robotic resection for pancreatic cancer. Cancer J. 2012;18(6):571–6.
- Wang Y, Bergman S, Piedimonte S, Vanounou T. Bridging the gap between open and minimally invasive pancreaticoduodenectomy: the hybrid approach. Can J Surg. 2014;57(4):263–70.
- Boggi U, Signori S, De Lio N, et al. Feasibility of robotic pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2013;100(7):917–25.
- Rosales-Velderrain A, Bowers SP, Goldberg RF, et al. National trends in resection of the distal pancreas. World J Gastroenterol. 2012;18(32):4342–9.

- Boone BA, Zenati M, Hogg ME, et al. Assessment of quality outcomes for robotic pancreaticoduodenectomy: identification of the learning curve. JAMA Surg. 2015;150(5):416–22.
- Himpens J, Leman G, Cadiere GB. Telesurgical laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Surg Endosc. 1998;12(8):1091.
- Narula VK, Mikami DJ, Melvin WS. Robotic and laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy: a hybrid approach. Pancreas. 2010;39(2):160–4.
- Corcione F, Pirozzi F, Cuccurullo D, et al. Laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy: experience of 22 cases. Surg Endosc. 2013;27(6):2131–6.
- Ammori BJ, Ayiomamitis GD. Laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy and distal pancreatectomy: a UK experience and a systematic review of the literature. Surg Endosc. 2011;25(7):2084–99.
- Boggi U, Amorese G, Vistoli F, et al. Laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy: a systematic literature review. Surg Endosc. 2015;29(1):9–23.
- Kim EY, Hong TH. Total laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy using a new technique of pancreaticojejunostomy with two transpancreatic sutures with buttresses. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2016 Feb;26(2):133–9.
- Piedimonte S, Wang Y, Bergman S, Vanounou T. Early experience with robotic pancreatic surgery in a Canadian institution. Can J Surg. 2015;58(6):394–401.
- 17. Mendoza AS 3rd, Han HS, Yoon YS, Cho JY, Choi Y. Laparoscopy-assisted pancreaticoduodenectomy as minimally invasive surgery for periampullary tumors: a comparison of short-term clinical outcomes of laparoscopy-assisted pancreaticoduodenectomy and open pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2015;22(12):819–24.
- Baker EH, Ross SW, Seshadri R, et al. Robotic pancreaticoduodenectomy: comparison of complications and cost to the open approach. Int J Med Robot. 2016;12(3):554–60.
- Adam MA, Choudhury K, Dinan MA, et al. Minimally invasive versus open pancreaticoduodenectomy for cancer: practice patterns and short-term outcomes among 7061 patients. Ann Surg. 2015;262(2):372–7.
- 20. Croome KP, Farnell MB, Que FG, et al. Total laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: oncologic advantages over open approaches? Ann Surg. 2014;260(4):633–8. discussion 8-40
- Speicher PJ, Nussbaum DP, White RR, et al. Defining the learning curve for team-based laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(12):4014–9.
- Kuroki T, Kitasato A, Adachi T, et al. Learning curve for laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy: a single surgeon's experience with consecutive patients. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2014;61(131):838–41.
- Wang M, Meng L, Cai Y, et al. Learning curve for laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy: a CUSUM analysis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2016;20(5):924–35.

- 24. Bailey MB, Davenport DL, Vargas HD, Evers BM, McKenzie SP. Longer operative time: deterioration of clinical outcomes of laparoscopic colectomy versus open colectomy. Dis Colon Rectum. 2014;57(5):616–22.
- 25. Javed AA, Aziz K, Bagante F, Wolfgang CL. Pancreatic fistula and delayed gastric emptying after pancreatectomy: where do we stand? Indian J Surg. 2015;77(5):409–25.
- Strijker M, van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, et al. Robot-assisted pancreatic surgery: a systematic review of the literature. HPB (Oxford). 2013;15(1):1–10.
- 27. Yeo CJ, Cameron JL, Sohn TA, et al. Pancreaticoduodenectomy with or without extended

retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy for periampullary adenocarcinoma: comparison of morbidity and mortality and short-term outcome. Ann Surg. 1999;229(5):613–22. discussion 22-4

- Lai EC, Yang GP, Tang CN. Robot-assisted laparoscopic pancreaticoduodenectomy versus open pancreaticoduodenectomy—a comparative study. Int J Surg. 2012;10(9):475–9.
- Asbun HJ, Stauffer JA. Laparoscopic vs open pancreaticoduodenectomy: overall outcomes and severity of complications using the accordion severity grading system. J Am Coll Surg. 2012;215(6):810–9.



23

Enucleation and Transduodenal Surgical Ampullectomy for Pancreatic and Periampullary Neoplasms: How I Do It

J. Kaiser, P. Contin, and O. Strobel

23.1 Introduction

The formal anatomical pancreatic resections, partial pancreaticoduodenectomy, distal pancreatectomy, and total pancreatectomy are the standard surgical procedures for malignant neoplasms of the pancreas. Nowadays these procedures are associated with low mortality but still with a considerable morbidity of up to 40% in high-volume centers [1, 2]. In addition standard pancreatic resections usually result in an important loss of normal pancreatic parenchyma with impairment of the exocrine and/or endocrine function of the pancreatic gland. In recent years there has been an increase in the diagnosis of benign neoplasms of the pancreas with the potential of progression to cancer [3, 4]. Many of these lesions are found incidentally during cross-sectional imaging for other purposes. Given the cumulative risk of malignant transformation over time, surgical resection may also be indicated for many of these incidental pancreatic lesions. However, given the high morbidity and the functional impairment after pancreatic resections and a lack of data on the true risk of malignancy in the natural history of theses tumors, there is an ongoing controver-

sial debate on surgical resection versus observation of these lesions [5–7]. Together with other advances in pancreatic surgery, parenchyma sparing and less invasive types of pancreatic resections such as enucleation have been developed and increasingly used in recent years for benign and premalignant pancreatic tumors that do not require oncologically radical resections [8–11]. According to nonrandomized comparative studies and meta-analysis, these parenchymasparing procedures are associated with reduced severe morbidity and better long-term functional results if compared to standard resections [8, 11-13]. Several limited resections have been introduced for isolated or multiple pancreatic lesions. Two important parenchyma-sparing surgical procedures in pancreatic and duodenal surgery are enucleation for solid and cystic pancreatic tumors and transduodenal surgical ampullectomy for several diseases of the ampulla of Vater [8, 10, 11, 14].

23.2 Pancreatic Enucleation

23.2.1 Indications

Enucleation of pancreatic tumors can be a technically challenging intervention with high demands for preoperative diagnostics and perioperative management. Therefore, enucleations are mainly performed at high-volume

J. Kaiser · P. Contin · O. Strobel (🖂)

Department of General Surgery, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany e-mail: oliver.strobel@med.uni-heidelberg.de

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_23
centers experienced in pancreatic surgery [8, 9], 11, 15–17]. Enucleation involves shelling out the tumor without or with only minimal loss of surrounding normal pancreatic parenchyma. Enucleation has become a standard procedure for insulinoma and is by many considered a good option for other pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors [18, 19]. Others and we have shown that enucleation may also be the procedure of choice for small cystic pancreatic neoplasms such as branch-duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms (BD-IPMN) without main pancreatic duct involvement [9, 11]. Enucleation is a good option for benign pancreatic lesions that do not involve the pancreatic duct. However, larger tumors located deep within the pancreas, especially in the pancreatic head, are less suitable for enucleation. Enucleation is not adequate for malignant tumors. With the advancement of minimally invasive techniques and instruments, laparoscopic and robotic enucleations are increasingly performed and appear to be safe [17].

23.2.2 Diagnostic Workup

For preoperative workup and exact localization of the tumor, computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans are routinely performed. Prior to operation of cystic pancreatic lesions, all patients should undergo MRI with MR cholangiopancreatography [20]. Endosonography can be of additional use if performed by the experienced endoscopist. This preoperative diagnostic workup should allow defining if a lesion is suitable for enucleation. However, despite modern cross-sectional imaging, the most important tool to decide on tumor enucleation versus formal resection remains the intraoperative experience of the surgeon during exploration [21–23]. Furthermore intraoperative ultrasonography might be useful for reconfirmation, even with successful preoperative localization of the tumor [24].

23.2.3 Open Enucleation: How We Do It

The most important steps of open enucleation for small nonmalignant pancreatic tumors are described below. The particularities to consider in enucleation of solid versus cystic lesions addressed were necessary. Many of the steps described here for open surgery may also be applicable in a minimally invasive approach.

Step 1: Access and exposure. A median laparotomy is best in patients without previous abdominal surgery. The abdominal cavity is examined for any abnormalities, and previously undetected metastatic disease is ruled out. Dependent on the location of the lesion within the pancreas, a focused exploration and exposure of the pancreas can be performed. To examine the entire pancreas, the exploration continues with opening of the lesser sac by dividing the gastrocolic ligament close to the transverse colon. The right colic flexure is mobilized to expose the head of the pancreas. Pancreatic head and duodenum are mobilized by Kocherization. For lesions in the body and tail, mobilization of the spleen and pancreatic tail may be necessary for precise assessment, particularly in obese patients.

Step 2: Localization of the lesion, assessment of the pancreas, and exposure for enucleation. Thorough assessment of the pancreas should include the exact localization of the lesion within the pancreas and the exclusion of additional lesions. Dependent on the superficial or deep location of the lesion, its localization is achieved by vision, palpation (transpancreatic palpation is facilitated by mobilization of the pancreas), and intraoperative ultrasound. In order to assess the possibility of safe enucleation, the exact localization of the tumor within the pancreas with a special focus on its relation to the pancreatic main duct (head, body, and tail) and additionally to the bile duct (head) has to be assessed. In case of doubt, intraoperative ultrasound is the best tool for this assessment. The portion of the pancreas

in which the tumor is located is further mobilized. In tumors of the body and tail, a plane is developed between pancreas and portal/splenic vein. It is helpful to use vessel tapes to lift up the segment of the pancreas containing the tumor and facilitates manipulation during the enucleation itself (Fig. 23.1). Dependent on the exact anatomy, it may be necessary to mobilize the splenic artery away from the superior border of the pancreas.

Step 3: Decision-making for enucleation. Enucleation is a good alternative for benign pancreatic tumors, but not adequate for malignant tumors. If the exploration reveals any signs suspicious for malignancy, these need to be addressed by further evaluation (e.g., by sending enlarged lymph nodes for evaluation by intraoperative frozen section). Enucleation is only feasible if the lesion does not directly involve the pancreatic main duct or the bile duct, as assessed by preoperative imaging and/or intraoperative ultrasound.



Fig. 23.1 Open enucleation, exposure for enucleation. Operative view after exploration and exposure for enucleation of a lesion in the pancreatic body/tail. The lesser sac was opened by separating the gastrocolic ligament. After localization of the lesion in the pancreatic body/tail, the pancreas is lifted up from the portal and splenic veins by two vessel loops placed on both sides of the tumor

While a location in the pancreatic body and tail and in the ventral aspect of the pancreatic head is ideal for enucleation, tumors located in the dorsal aspect of the pancreatic head and close to the mesopancreas/superior mesenteric artery are less suitable for enucleation. If the lesion is located far left in the pancreatic tail, a limited distal pancreatectomy may be a good alternative with comparable sparing of parenchyma. With the same rational lesions in the uncinate process may be addressed by uncinate process resection.

Step 4: Enucleation (sensu stricto). The enucleation itself should be performed by meticulous preferably blunt dissection and separation of the capsule/wall of the lesion and the surrounding pancreatic parenchyma. Enucleation should not be performed as removal of the lesion covered by a thin layer of normal parenchyma as this is not necessary for nonmalignant lesions but does increase trauma and risk of postoperative pancreatic fistula. The often thin parenchyma covering the lesion can be divided using a fine-tipped bipolar cautery. Once the lesion is exposed, mobilization continues by blunt dissection using closed small scissors or an endarterectomy spatula. For solid tumors such as pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms, a traction suture can be placed in the tumor to lift it up and allow exposure of the dissection plane (Fig. 23.2a). Cystic tumors (Fig. 23.2b) are more difficult to handle. Here, traction should be applied by blunt instruments carefully avoiding rupture of the cyst and spilling of the cyst content. Small feeding vessels can be addressed by small surgical clips or thin monofilament sutures. Bipolar coagulation may be used for superficial preparation but should be strictly avoided in the deep parts of the dissection plane to avoid a lesion of the ductal system. In solid tumors without relation to the ductal system, the dissection can be completed as described above (Fig. 23.3a). In contrast, in cystic lesions a communication with the ductal system has to be carefully assessed and addressed during the dissection. This is of utmost importance for enucle-



Fig. 23.2 Dissection during enucleation. (a) Enucleation of the solid tumor. A traction suture allows atraumatic handling of the lesion and exposure of the dissection plane during enucleation. (b) Enucleation of a branchduct IPMN. Cystic lesions need to be handled carefully with blunt instruments avoiding leakage and rupture. The tumor is enucleated by careful separation of its capsule and the surrounding pancreatic parenchyma, preferentially by careful blunt dissection. Small vessels are divided between small surgical clips or monofilament stitches. Bipolar coagulation is used preferentially at the surface, but strictly avoided near the pancreatic duct

ation of branch-duct IPMN that are of course characterized by a communication to the main duct. This communicating branch duct has to be identified and is divided between small surgical clips (use two toward the main duct) close to the main duct but without compromising its lumen (Fig. 23.3b). Ideally the resection margin of the



Fig. 23.3 Last steps of the dissection. (a) In solid tumors care has to be taken not to compromise the main duct during the last steps of dissection. (b) During enucleation of branch-duct IPMN, the connecting duct to the main duct has to be identified and to be specifically addressed. As last step of enucleation, the connecting duct is divided between surgical clips close to the main duct but avoiding compromising the main duct lumen

connecting duct is marked with a suture for specific evaluation by the pathologist.

As enucleation is not adequate for invasive lesions, immediate pathologic evaluation by intraoperative frozen section should be routinely performed, especially in suspected IPMN. When high-grade dysplasia or malignancy is found on frozen section, the operation should be converted to a formal pancreatic resection.



Fig.23.4 Assessment of the enucleation site. Assessment for bleeding, major leaks, and integrity of the pancreatic main duct should be performed after any enucleation of solid (a) and cystic lesions (b). If in doubt, the integrity of the main pancreatic duct can be assessed by intraoperative ultrasound. After enucleation of branch-duct IPMN, the connecting duct should be identified and safely closed

Step 5: Inspection of the enucleation site. Once enucleation is completed, the enucleation site should be carefully inspected for bleeding and a lesion of the ductal system. Some authors recommend secretin stimulation to identify major leaks, but this is not routinely used in our institution. Ultrasound can be very helpful to confirm integrity of the pancreatic main duct after enucleation (Fig. 23.4a). Identification and safe closure of the connecting ducts is crucial to prevent major leaks after enucleation of branch-duct IPMN (Fig. 23.4b). In case of a major leak or a lesion of the main duct, a conversion to formal resection is recommended.

Step 6: Suture, coverage, and drainage. Dependent on the location and size of the enucleation site, the resulting parenchymal effect can be addressed by coverage with a serosal patch and by parenchymal sutures or can be just left as it is. For coverage of enucleation sites in the pancreatic head, body, and proximal tail, a serosal patch using the teres hepatic ligament is a good option, similar to its use for coverage of the pancreatic remnant after distal pancreatectomy (Fig. 23.5) [25, 26]. In case of



Fig. 23.5 Coverage of the enucleation site by serosal patch. The teres hepatic ligament flap is a good option for coverage of the enucleation site with a serosal patch

parenchymal sutures, any impairment of the main duct by compression or kinking has to be strictly avoided. For both parenchymal sutures and flap coverage, thin (5-0) monofilament sutures are used. There is no evidence for efficacy of any of the methods described above to reduce postoperative pancreatic fistula [10]. Soft passive drains are placed close to the enucleation site.

A clinical example of an enucleation performed for a small pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor is provided in Fig. 23.6. In our experience, enucleation for solid lesions is safe even if the lesion is located in direct vicinity to the pancreatic main duct. However, any coagulation or vessel-sealing device should be strictly avoided near the main duct. This may have implications for the decision for an open versus minimally invasive approach in the context of tumor localization. In Fig. 23.7 an example for enucleation of a large branch-duct IPMN is



Fig. 23.6 Enucleation of a pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm (pNEN). (**a**, **b**) Preoperative contrast-enhanced computed tomography scan (arterial phase) in axial orientation (**a**) and coronary reconstruction (**b**) showing a hypervascular lesion (pNEN) in the pancreatic body

provided. These lesions are often located superficially or even "exophytic" like in this case and are very suitable for enucleation. However, many lesions suspected to be branchduct IPMN are indeed mixed-type IPMN extending to the main duct [27]. Therefore, high-quality preoperative imaging and thorough evaluation during the operation are important. In lesions with a wide connecting duct, an extension to the main duct has to be expected, and this can be addressed by frozen section. In tumors located in the uncinate process, an uncinate process resection can be a good parenchyma-sparing alternative, as highlighted in Fig. 23.8.

(*arrow*) in direct vicinity to the main pancreatic duct. (c) Operative image after enucleation showing the enucleation site with the intact pancreatic main duct (*arrow*). Two vessel tapes are placed around the pancreatic body. (d) Enucleated small pNEN with typical appearance

23.2.4 Postoperative Management

A fast-track regimen with mobilization as well as free fluid and solid food intake starting on the first day after enucleation is feasible and should be enforced. Postoperative laboratory tests on the first view postoperative days should include pancreatic amylase levels is serum and drainage outflow to detect the development of postoperative pancreatic fistula and pancreatitis as possible specific complications. Similar to standard resections, drains can be removed routinely on postoperative day 2 or 3, unless amylase or lipase values are increased or the appearance of drain fluid is suspicious.



Fig. 23.7 Enucleation of a branch-duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (BD-IPMN). (a) Preoperative magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography showing a 6 cm cystic lesion in the body of the pancreas without visible involvement of the non-dilated main pancreatic duct (*arrows*). The circular cystic lesion on the right side of the bile duct represents a superimposed renal cyst. (b) Operative image during enucleation. Two vessel loops are placed around the mobilized pancreatic body. The cystic lesion has been mobilized, and the small and non-dilated

Enucleation differs from a formal pancreatic resection procedure (such as pancreaticoduodenectomy, distal pancreatectomy, or total pancreatectomy), which involves removal of a larger portion of the surrounding pancreas and tumor. The perioperative advantages of enucleation include a significantly shorter duration of the operation, reduced intraoperative blood loss, shorter intensive care and in-hospital stay, as well as lower rates of postoperative endocrine and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency [10, 11, 13]. However, as other pancreatic resections, enucleations are associated with a significant risk of postoperative complications, particularly

duct connecting the lesion with the main pancreatic duct (*arrow*) has been identified. The connecting duct can be divided close to the main duct between small surgical clips (not shown). (c) Enucleated BD-IPMN with centimeter scale. The *arrow* indicates the margin of the connecting duct with a clip. (d) Macroscopic appearance of the enucleated BD-IPMN after incision and opening reveals some mural thickening non-suspicious of malignancy. Histopathology confirmed BD-IPMN with moderate dysplasia

postoperative pancreatic fistula [10]. The fact that pancreatic fistula occurs relatively often in patients that receive enucleation is not surprising because most patients with benign neoplasms have an otherwise healthy and, therefore, soft pancreas [28]. However, it has to be noted that that the majority of pancreatic fistulas after enucleations are clinically uncomplicated and the overall fistula rate is not significantly elevated when compared to formal pancreatic resections. In our own experience, the rate of clinically relevant pancreatic fistula is about 20% [10]. The development of postoperative pancreatic fistula has a larger impact on the



Fig. 23.8 Uncinate process resection for a branch-duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (BD-IPMN). (a) Operative view of the duodenojejunal flexure after partial mobilization of the suspected BD-IPMN originating from the uncinate process (*arrows*). At this location the resection can be performed as uncinate process resection including removal of the thin surrounding pancreatic

postoperative course and recovery than after formal resections, because the overall surgical trauma after enucleation is considerably lesser and recovery in the absence of complications is faster. In meta-analysis, overall complications and rate of reoperations are comparable after pancreatic enucleation and formal pancreatic resection [13]. However, the most threatening complications associated with clinically relevant postoperative pancreatic fistula, i.e., postpancreatectomy hemorrhage (2.4%) and death (0.6%), appear to occur less frequently after enucleation [10]. One likely reason is that enucleation does not involve separation of larger vessels, thus reducing the risk of erosion bleeding from vessel stumps if compared to formal resections.

parenchyma and reducing the risk of postoperative pancreatic fistula. (b) Operative view after further mobilization and placement of a lineal stapling device at the basis of the lesion (*arrow*). (c) Operative site with stapler line (*arrow*) after resection. (d) Operative site after additional coverage of the stapler line with duodenum (*arrow*)

Follow-up examinations after enucleation depend on the disease-specific risk of recurrence and secondary tumors. After enucleation of IPMN, regular MRI scans every 6–12 months have to be recommended.

23.3 Transduodenal Surgical Ampullectomy

23.3.1 Indication

Transduodenal surgical ampullectomy is a surgical option for the management of benign tumors and stenosis of the major and minor duodenal papilla. Halsted first described it for a periampullary carcinoma in 1899 [29]. Today, this surgical procedure has almost been forgotten and is not included in the clinical routine of many surgical centers. Due to technical advances and its minimal invasive approach, endoscopic ampullectomy is commonly considered as the first choice procedure for superficial benign ampullary neoplasms [30]. However, if endoscopic resection fails or recurrence of the ampullary neoplasm occurs, a surgical approach has to be considered. Transduodenal surgical ampullectomy is indicated for benign neoplasms that are located at or close to the ampulla [14]. Ampullary adenomas have to be resected with free margins either endoscopically or, if this is not possible, surgically, because they give rise to ampullary adenocarcinoma [31]. Furthermore, surgical ampullectomy can be a good treatment option for stenosis at the ampulla, for example, in the context of pancreas divisum [14, 32]. Compared to pancreatoduodenectomy, transduodenal surgical ampullectomy is a less invasive but very effective surgical procedure, which provides adequate oncological and superior functional clinical outcomes for benign and premalignant ampullary tumors [14, 33]. However, surgical ampullectomy is one of the technically most demanding procedures in duodenopancreatic surgery and requires meticulous technique for both resection and reconstruction.

23.3.2 Preoperative Diagnostic Workup

Preoperative endoscopy with use of a conventional side-viewing duodenoscope should be performed to detect ampullary lesions. Preoperative biopsy is mandatory. CT and MRI scans are performed in most cases but not mandatory in small lesions without signs of malignancy.

23.3.3 Transduodenal Surgical Ampullectomy: How We Do It

In the following the most important steps of transduodenal surgical ampullectomy for periampullary adenoma are described. Nowadays most periampullary adenomas are endoscopically



Fig. 23.9 Duodenotomy for surgical ampullectomy. Preparation for duodenotomy. After Kocherization tracking sutures are placed on both sides of the planned duodenotomy. Duodenotomy is performed in the anterolateral duodenum as slightly oblique incision

removed, making surgical ampullectomy a rare procedure, reserved for experienced surgeons.

Step 1: Access and exposure. A median laparotomy or a right subcostal incision is preferable. The abdominal cavity is examined for any abnormalities, and previously undetected metastatic disease is ruled out. The hepatic flexure of the colon is mobilized inferiorly. The duodenum and pancreatic head are mobilized in a wide Kocher maneuver. In obese patients it can be necessary to mobilize up to the duodenojejunal flexure to enable adequate exposure.

Step 2: Localization of the ampulla. After Kocherization, the pancreatic head and posterior duodenum are assessed by palpation. The pancreatic head should be soft in most cases. Usually the ampulla can be localized by palpation. If not, a cholecystectomy is performed, and a probe or a Fogarty catheter is inserted antegrade via the cystic duct into the duodenum. Now, the exact location of the ampulla should be palpable.

Step 3: Duodenotomy. After localization of the ampulla, an adjusted longitudinal or slightly oblique anterolateral duodenotomy is made between traction sutures until the ampulla is nicely exposed (Fig. 23.9). Additional traction sutures improve exposure. Parasympatholytic drugs like butylscopolamin are helpful to reduce peristalsis and enhance visibility during ampullectomy.

Step 4: Resection. Dependent on the size of the lesion and exposure, additional traction sutures (5-0 monofilament) can be placed to define the resection/circumcision line at the mucosal level aiming for a 5 mm free margin. We do not use saline/epinephrine injection to lift up the mucosa because this may impair exact anatomic reconstruction later. Local excision of the ampulla is performed by sharp dissection and bipolar coagulation or monopolar electrocautery with fine-tipped/needle point instruments in a meticulous technique. After dividing the mucosa, the muscularis/sphincter layer is reached, further mobilized, and finally divided. The previously inserted probe facilitates localization of the bile duct (Fig. 23.10). Usually, the

bile duct is identified first and divided stepwise, while 5-0 or 6-0 absorbable monofilament sutures are placed in a stepwise manner. These tracking sutures serve to hold the duct in place and to prevent retraction and are used for adaptation with the duodenal mucosa during reconstruction later (leave the needles attached) (Fig. 23.11). After division of the bile duct, the pancreatic duct is identified just below and medial of the bile duct and handled in a similar stepwise manner using 6-0 or 7-0 absorbable monofilament sutures. If the pancreatic duct cannot be primarily identified, intravenous secretin administration may be used to stimulate pancreatic secretion. The extent and depth of the excision are defined during ampullectomy based on the tumor's size and depth.

The resected specimen is sent for frozen section evaluation. An intraoperative frozen section is mandatory to exclude malignancy requiring a pancreatoduodenectomy and to evaluate complete excision.



Fig.23.10 Ampullectomy, mucosal incision. The ampullectomy starts with incision of the mucosa in the cranial aspect of the ampulla, where the bile duct is located. Additional tracking sutures can be used for the mucosa. The route of the bile duct is localized by a probe



Fig. 23.11 Ampullectomy, transection of the ducts. The mucosa is divided, the ampulla mobilized. After division of the sphincter, only the bile duct and the pancreatic duct remain. The bile duct, which is larger and located cranially, is opened first. As soon as a duct is opened, fine traction sutures are placed in a stepwise manner to avoid retraction (not shown; see Fig. 23.6)

Step 5: Reconstruction. Except for very deep ampullectomies that are rarely indicated, the common bile duct and the pancreatic duct are usually implanted as common ostium. First a common ostium is created by interrupted sutures of the neighboring walls of common bile and pancreatic duct (6-0 monofilament) (Fig. 23.12). Thereafter, the sutures placed during resection are used to reimplant the common ostium by readaptation to the duodenal (duct-to-mucosa) mucosa (Fig. 23.13). Dependent on the size of the mucosal defect, additional sutures must be placed. All sutures are first placed; the adaptation and knot tying is performed as a separate step because the ducts will frequently not be visible any more after tying the knots of the duct-to-mucosa stitches. Assessment of patency of the ducts using probes is imperative.

Step 6: Closure. The duodenotomy is closed by a two-layered running suture (5-0 monofilament absorbable suture material). After closure a nasogastric tube is placed under digital control in the third part of the duodenum. Two soft passive drains are placed behind and in front of the duodenum. The cystic duct is closed. Some authors recommend insertion of a T-tube for bile diversion, but this can be safely omitted in our experience. The colonic flexure is repositioned and the abdominal wall closed.

Clinical examples of ampullectomies performed for a large ampullary adenoma and an adenoma with extension deep into the bile duct that could not be safely removed endoscopically are shown in Figs. 23.14 and 23.15, respectively. Technical feasibility of surgical ampullectomy is not defined by the overall size of the adenoma but by the diameter of its basis and by the depth of extension into the bile duct or pancreatic duct.





Fig. 23.12 Reconstruction: formation of a common ostium. The first step of reconstruction is the formation of a common ostium of bile and pancreatic duct by adapting sutures of their neighboring walls

Fig. 23.13 Reconstruction: reinsertion. The common ostium is then reinserted by duct-to-mucosa stitches. For this purpose the ductal traction sutures placed during resection are reused (not shown). Additional sutures are placed dependent on the size of the mucosal defect. All stitches are first placed and tied later, to ensure visibility (see Fig. 23.6)



Fig. 23.14 Transduodenal surgical ampullectomy for a large ampullary adenoma. (**a**) Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging in axial orientation showing a large mass in the duodenum at the ampulla of Vater. The common bile duct and the pancreatic duct are dilated and visible close to the mass (*arrows*). (**b**) Operative view after mobilization of the duodenum, anterolateral duodenotomy, and placement of holding stitches. The large exophytic tumor

23.3.4 Postoperative Management

The gastric tube is usually left for 2 and 3 days. Thereafter oral intake of liquids is started and gradually increased to solid food. Postoperative laboratory tests on the first view postoperative days should include pancreatic amylase levels in serum and drainage outflow to detect the development of postoperative pancreatic fistula and pancreatitis as possible specific complications. Increased levels of bilirubin are rare but indicate obstruction of the bile duct system. Drains can be removed routinely on postoperative day 2 or 3, at the ampulla is visible (*arrow*). (c) Operative view after resection of tumor and ampulla and placement of traction stitches for both common bile duct and main pancreatic duct (each with probe). (d) View without probes (*inset*: magnified view). The wall of bile duct and pancreatic duct are sewn together and will be reimplanted as a common ostium to the duodenal mucosa using the prearranged sutures placed during stepwise ampullectomy

unless amylase, lipase, or bilirubin levels are increased compared to normal serum value.

Transduodenal surgical ampullectomy is a feasible and safe surgical technique. Postoperative complications are comparable with the reported endoscopic morbidity rates. Procedure-related mortality is low (1.2%) and seems to be not higher compared to endoscopic ampullectomy, which ranges between 0% and 2% [14, 34].

Endoscopy with the use of a conventional side-viewing duodenoscope should be performed 6 months postoperatively to rule out recurrence of the disease.



Fig. 23.15 Transduodenal surgical ampullectomy for an ampullary adenoma extending into the bile duct. (a) Preoperative magnetic resonance imaging (coronary reconstruction) showing a mass in the duodenum at the ampulla of Vater (*arrow*) and a dilated common bile duct. (b) Operative view after mobilization of the duodenum, anterolateral duodenotomy, placement of holding stitches, and mobilization of the ampulla. A biliary stent was left in

place. *Arrow* indicating the bile duct. (c) After incision of the bile duct, the intraductal part of the adenoma is visible (*arrow*). (d) Resected specimen. (e) Overview with the prearranged duct-to-mucosa sutures before adaptation. (f) Magnified view of the common ostium formed of the common bile duct (*arrow*) and the pancreatic duct, in typical position at 4 o'clock of the bile duct (*interrupted arrow*)

Conclusions

Enucleation and transduodenal surgical ampullectomy can be performed with low morbidity and mortality rates in a high proportion of benign pancreatic neoplasms and ampullary pathologies, respectively. These procedures offer significant advantages with respect to both perioperative results and to long-term functional outcome when compared to formal pancreatic resection, such as pancreaticoduodenectomy, distal pancreatectomy, or total pancreatectomy and should belong to set of procedures of an experienced pancreatic surgeon. Procedure-specific limitations might occur due to size, localization, multilocularity, or main duct involvement and suspected malignancy or intraoperative frozen sections showing malignancy. For such cases the team needs to be always prepared for a conversion to more extended formal pancreatic resection. Thus, enucleation and ampullectomy represent effective parenchyma and function-preserving alternatives to the standard pancreatic resections for selected patients with benign pancreatic neoplasms with a risk for malignant transformation. While endoscopic treatment represents an important tool in patients with benign periampullary neoplasms, transduodenal surgical ampullectomy is a feasible and safe alternative surgical approach for the management of such lesions, especially after failure of endoscopic resection or in recurrent disease.

References

- Hartwig W, Werner J, Jager D, Debus J, Buchler MW. Improvement of surgical results for pancreatic cancer. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(11):e476–85. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70172-4.
- Keck T, Wellner UF, Bahra M, Klein F, Sick O, Niedergethmann M, et al. Pancreatogastrostomy versus pancreatojejunostomy for RECOnstruction after PANCreatoduodenectomy (RECOPANC, DRKS 00000767): perioperative and long-term results of a multicenter randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg. 2016;263(3):440–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.000000000001240.
- Megibow AJ, Lombardo FP, Guarise A, Carbognin G, Scholes J, Rofsky NM, et al. Cystic pancreatic masses: cross-sectional imaging observations and serial follow-up. Abdom Imaging. 2001;26(6):640–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00261-001-0024-9.
- Plockinger U, Wiedenmann B. Neuroendocrine tumors of the gastro-entero-pancreatic system: the role of early diagnosis, genetic testing and preventive surgery. Dig Dis. 2002;20(1):49–60. https://doi. org/10.1159/000063164.
- Partelli S, Cirocchi R, Crippa S, Cardinali L, Fendrich V, Bartsch DK, et al. Systematic review of active surveillance versus surgical management of asymptomatic small non-functioning pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Br J Surg. 2017;104(1):34–41. https://doi. org/10.1002/bjs.10312.
- Fritz S, Klauss M, Bergmann F, Hackert T, Hartwig W, Strobel O, et al. Small (Sendai negative) branch-duct IPMNs: not harmless. Ann Surg. 2012;256(2):313– 20. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e31825d355f; [pii] 00000658-201208000-00019
- Tanaka M, Fernandez-del Castillo C, Adsay V, Chari S, Falconi M, Jang JY, et al. International consensus guidelines 2012 for the management of IPMN and MCN of the pancreas. Pancreatology. 2012;12(3):183– 97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pan.2012.04.004; [pii] S1424-3903(12)00123-8
- Hackert T, Hinz U, Fritz S, Strobel O, Schneider L, Hartwig W, et al. Enucleation in pancreatic surgery: indications, technique, and outcome compared to standard pancreatic resections. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2011;396(8):1197–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00423-011-0801-z.

- Sauvanet A, Gaujoux S, Blanc B, Couvelard A, Dokmak S, Vullierme MP, et al. Parenchyma-sparing pancreatectomy for presumed noninvasive intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas. Ann Surg. 2014;260(2):364–71. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.0000000000000601.
- Strobel O, Cherrez A, Hinz U, Mayer P, Kaiser J, Fritz S, et al. Risk of pancreatic fistula after enucleation of pancreatic tumours. Br J Surg. 2015;102(10):1258– 66. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.9843.
- Kaiser J, Fritz S, Klauss M, Bergmann F, Hinz U, Strobel O, et al. Enucleation: a treatment alternative for branch duct intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms. Surgery. 2017;161(3):602–10. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.surg.2016.09.026.
- Zhang T, Mu Y, Qu L, Wang X, Lv Z, Du J, et al. Accurate combined preoperative localization of insulinomas aid the choice for enucleation: a single institution experience over 25 years. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2012;59(116):1282–5. https://doi. org/10.5754/hge11896.
- Huttner FJ, Koessler-Ebs J, Hackert T, Ulrich A, Buchler MW, Diener MK. Meta-analysis of surgical outcome after enucleation versus standard resection for pancreatic neoplasms. Br J Surg. 2015;102(9):1026– 36. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.9819.
- Schneider L, Contin P, Fritz S, Strobel O, Buchler MW, Hackert T. Surgical ampullectomy: an underestimated operation in the era of endoscopy. HPB. 2016;18(1):65– 71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hpb.2015.07.004.
- Crippa S, Bassi C, Salvia R, Falconi M, Butturini G, Pederzoli P. Enucleation of pancreatic neoplasms. Br J Surg. 2007;94(10):1254–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bjs.5833.
- Crippa S, Boninsegna L, Partelli S, Falconi M. Parenchyma-sparing resections for pancreatic neoplasms. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2010;17(6):782– 7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00534-009-0224-1.
- Tian F, Hong XF, Wu WM, Han XL, Wang MY, Cong L, et al. Propensity score-matched analysis of robotic versus open surgical enucleation for small pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours. Br J Surg. 2016;103(10):1358–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.10220.
- Mehrabi A, Fischer L, Hafezi M, Dirlewanger A, Grenacher L, Diener MK, et al. A systematic review of localization, surgical treatment options, and outcome of insulinoma. Pancreas. 2014;43(5):675–86. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPA.00000000000110.
- Finlayson E, Clark OH. Surgical treatment of insulinomas. Surg Clin North Am. 2004;84(3):775–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suc.2004.02.004.
- Zhang XM, Mitchell DG, Dohke M, Holland GA, Parker L. Pancreatic cysts: depiction on single-shot fast spin-echo MR images. Radiology. 2002;223(2):547– 53. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2232010815.
- Chung JC, Choi SH, Jo SH, Heo JS, Choi DW, Kim YI. Localization and surgical treatment of the pancreatic insulinomas. ANZ J Surg. 2006;76(12):1051–5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-2197.2006.03947.x.

- 22. Ritzel RA, Isermann B, Schilling T, Knaebel HP, Buchler MW, Nawroth PP. Diagnosis and localization of insulinoma after negative laparotomy by hyperinsulinemic, hypoglycemic clamp and intra-arterial calcium stimulation. Rev Diabet Stud. 2004;1(1):42–6. https://doi.org/10.1900/RDS.2004.1.42.
- Kisker O, Bastian D, Bartsch D, Nies C, Rothmund M. Localization, malignant potential, and surgical management of gastrinomas. World J Surg. 1998;22(7):651–7. discussion 7-8
- Ambacher T, Kasperk R, Schumpelick V. Rational preoperative diagnosis of insulinoma. Chirurg. 1999;70(3):298–301.
- 25. Hackert T, Lozanovski VJ, Werner J, Buchler MW, Schemmer P. Teres hepatis ligament flap plasty to prevent pancreatic fistula after tumor enucleation. J Am Coll Surg. 2013;217(4):e29–34. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.06.014.
- 26. Hassenpflug M, Hinz U, Strobel O, Volpert J, Knebel P, Diener MK, et al. Teres ligament patch reduces relevant morbidity after distal pancreatectomy (the DISCOVER randomized controlled trial). Ann Surg. 2016;264(5):723–30. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.000000000001913.
- Fritz S, Klauss M, Bergmann F, Strobel O, Schneider L, Werner J, et al. Pancreatic main-duct involvement in branch-duct IPMNs: an underestimated risk. Ann Surg. 2014;260(5):848–55.; discussion 55-6. https:// doi.org/10.1097/SLA.00000000000980.
- 28. Turrini O, Schmidt CM, Pitt HA, Guiramand J, Aguilar-Saavedra JR, Aboudi S, et al. Side-branch

intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreatic head/uncinate: resection or enucleation? HPB. 2011;13(2):126–31. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1477-2574.2010.00256.x.

- Halsted WS. Contributions to the surgery of the bile passages, especially of the common bile-duct. Boston Med Surg J. 1899;141(6):45–654.
- De Palma GD. Endoscopic papillectomy: indications, techniques, and results. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(6):1537–43. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v20.i6.1537.
- 31. Ceppa EP, Burbridge RA, Rialon KL, Omotosho PA, Emick D, Jowell PS, et al. Endoscopic versus surgical ampullectomy: an algorithm to treat disease of the ampulla of Vater. Ann Surg. 2013;257(2):315–22. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e318269d010.
- Hafezi M, Mayschak B, Probst P, Buchler MW, Hackert T, Mehrabi A. A systematic review and quantitative analysis of different therapies for pancreas divisum. Am J Surg. 2017;214:525. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2016.12.025.
- 33. Gao Y, Zhu Y, Huang X, Wang H, Huang X, Yuan Z. Transduodenal ampullectomy provides a less invasive technique to cure early ampullary cancer. BMC Surg. 2016;16(1):36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12893-016-0156-z.
- Moon JH, Choi HJ, Lee YN. Current status of endoscopic papillectomy for ampullary tumors. Gut Liver. 2014;8(6):598–604. https://doi.org/10.5009/ gnl14099.



24

Operative Complications and Their Management Following Resection for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancers

Kanza Aziz, Christopher L. Wolfgang, and Ammar A. Javed

24.1 Introduction

Various forms of pancreatic resections are the standard operative approach for a variety of benign and malignant tumors of the pancreas and the periampullary region and remain the only curative treatment available [1, 2]. Pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) is a complex surgical procedure, and with improvements in operative techniques and perioperative management of these patients, the associated mortality has decreased significantly from 30% to less than 5% [1, 3]. Despite these advancements the morbidity associated with PD remains high with the rates of postoperative complications ranging from 25% to 55% even at high-volume surgical centers [4]. A number of postoperative complications are associated with PD, postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF) and delayed gastric emptying (DGE) being the most common ones. POPF and DGE combined can affect almost 50% of all patients undergoing PD [5]. Other major complications include surgical site infections (SSI), intraabdominal abscesses leading to sepsis, and acute and delayed bleeding. These complications have great repercussions not only on the quality of life

K. Aziz, M.D. \cdot C. L. Wolfgang, M.D. Ph.D. A. A. Javed, M.D. (\boxtimes)

Department of Surgery, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: ajaved1@jhmi.edu of patients but also lead to prolonged hospital stay and increased healthcare cost. Given that the morbidity associated with PD remains high, strong effort has been directed toward trying to find better ways to prevent and improve the management of these complications. The aim of this chapter was to review the current literature available on the four main complications associated with PD focusing on the prevention, diagnosis, and their management.

24.2 Postoperative Pancreatic Fistula

Postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF) results from the leakage of pancreatic exocrine secretions from the site of pancreatic anastomosis. The reported rates of this complication range from 5% to 35% [1, 3, 6]. Multiple definitions have been proposed in the past to define POPF, and the definition proposed by the International Study Group on Pancreatic Fistula (ISGPF) in 2005 is the most widely used in literature. The ISGPF defines POPF as a drain amylase which is three times greater than the serum amylase levels at or beyond postoperative day 3 (POD3) (Table 24.1) [8]. The ISGPF definition further classifies POPF into three grades depending on the clinical impact of this complication and whether any changes in the management of the patient are required. A transient fistula, although has elevated drain

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_24

	Grade A	Grade B	Grade C
Clinical conditions	Well	Often well	Ill appearing/bad
Specific treatment ^a	No	Yes/no	Yes
US/CT (if obtained)	Negative	Negative/positive	Positive
Persistent drainage (after 3 weeks) ^b	No	Usually yes	Yes
Reoperation	No	No	Yes
Death related to POPF	No	No	Possibly yes
Signs of infection	No	Yes	Yes
Sepsis	No	No	Yes
Readmission	No	Yes/no	Yes/no

Reproduced from Bassi et al. [7]

US ultrasonography, CT computed tomographic scan, POPF postoperative pancreatic fistula

^aPartial (peripheral) or total parenteral nutrition, antibiotics, enteral nutrition, somatostatin analogues, and/or minimally invasive drainage

^bWith or without a drain in situ

amylase levels, results in no clinical symptoms warranting no changes in the management of the patient and is defined as a Grade A POPF. When POPF manifests with clinical symptoms and there is radiographic evidence of peripancreatic fluid collections, the pancreatic leak is categorized as a Grade B POPF. The management for Grade B POPF comprises of the use of antibiotics, placement of a postoperative percutaneous drainage, supplemental nutrition, or readmission to the hospital. The most severe form of pancreatic leakage is a Grade C POPF which consists of clinically unstable patients with sepsis and organ dysfunction and can result in death. Grade C POPF often requires reoperation.

Given the high prevalence of POPF and the associated clinical and economic impact, various methods have been described in the literature aimed at reducing the incidence of POPF. These methods include modifications in the surgical technique and postoperative management of these patients. Modifications in surgical techniques include variation in the type of anastomosis and application of biological and nonbiological agents to the site of anastomosis. Postoperative interventions include type and duration of drain placements, use of stents, the type of feeding, and the use of somatostatin analogues. Pancreaticojejunostomy (PJ) is a common method of reconstruction during PD. The con-

ventional loop method of reconstruction is usually done either in an end-to-end or an end-to-side manner. However, the criticism regarding this technique is the activation of pancreatic enzymes due to exposure to gastric and biliary secretions which could potentially cause anastomotic breakdown. Several studies have compared conventional loop reconstruction to a Roux-en-Y reconstruction with isolated pancreatic drainage. In randomized control trials (RCTs) performed by Ke et al. and Tani et al., no significant difference was found in rates of POPF between the two methods [9, 10]. However, Ke et al. did report a reduction in the severity of POPF, shorter hospital stay, and reduced costs [9]. Nakeeb et al. compared the outcomes of isolated loop pancreaticojejunostomy with pancreaticogastrostomy (PG) and again found no significant difference in rates of POPF between the two groups [11]. However, this study did report a significant reduction in steatorrhea and early tolerance of enteral feeding in patients who underwent isolated loop pancreaticojejunostomy [11]. Pancreaticogastrostomy, although not as common, is another method of reconstruction that can be employed during a PD [11]. Multiple studies have looked at the rates of POPF between patients who underwent a pancreaticojejunostomy vs. a pancreaticogastrostomy (PG); however, the results have been conflicting [12-20]. Bassi et al.

Table 24.1 Grading of POPF asproposed by ISGPF

in a prospective randomized study found no significant difference in rates of POPF between PJ and PG. Interestingly they found lower rates of multiple surgical complications, biliary fistula, DGE, and postoperative fluid collections in patients with PG. Similarly, other RCTs reported no significant difference in POPF rates between PJ and PG in patients who underwent PD [13, 19]. On the other hand, Figueras et al. in an RCT found significantly higher incidence and severity of POPF in patients who received PJ vs. PG after PD [15]. Another aspect of the surgical technique that has been studied is the method of reconstruction of the PJ anastomosis, i.e., duct-to-mucosa anastomosis vs. an invagination. Bassi et al. and Nakeeb et al. found no significant difference in the incidence of POPF between the two techniques [21, 22]. However, another RCT comparing duct-to-mucosa vs. invagination PJ reported a significant decrease in the incidence of POPF in patients who received an invagination PJ [23]. Furthermore, stent placement in the pancreatic duct during a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis in an effort to minimize the incidence of POPF has also been studied with conflicting results being reported. While several RCTs found no significant reduction in the rates of POPF in people who received stenting during PD as compared to those who did not, Poon et al. and Pessaux et al. reported significant reduction in the rate of POPF in patients who underwent pancreatic duct stenting [24–28]. Lastly, another method that has been employed to reduce the rate of POPF is the application of fibrin glue sealant at the site of pancreaticojejunostomy anastomosis. Lillemoe et al. found no significant difference in the rate of POPF between patients who received the fibrin glue application versus those who did not [29]. Similarly, another study found no significant reduction in POPF rates in patients who received temporary occlusion of their pancreatic ducts with fibrin glue as compared to those who did not [30].

Several postoperative approaches have been reported in literature to reduce rates of POPF. A prospective randomized trial by Bassi et al. reported a lower incidence of POPF in patients who received early drain removal on POD3 or sooner as compared to patients who had their drains removed on or beyond POD5. Moreover, there was a reduction in the rate of abdominal and pulmonary complications, shortened median hospital stay, and reduced hospital costs in patients with early drain removal [31]. Studies on the use of somatostatin analogues that inhibit pancreatic secretion have also been reported with conflicting results. Yeo et al. and Fernandez-Cruz et al. reported no significant difference in rates of POPF in patients who received octreotide [32, 33]. However, Allen et al. reported that that administration of pasireotide significantly reduced the incidence of Grade C POPF, pancreatic leak, and abscess formation [34].

Unfortunately, even after numerous attempts and various methods targeted toward reducing the incidence of POPF significantly, its rates remain high. Therefore, there is a dire need to continue research on techniques that can reduce the rate of this complication. Currently, the active clinical trials on POPF, as per ClinicalTrials.gov, involve studying (a) the use of ultrasound to predict the risk of POPF, (b) introduction of stents, (c) one-layer vs. two-layer duct-to-mucosa anastomosis, (d) reinforcement of staple line during distal pancreatectomy, (e) closed suction drainage vs. straight drainage, (f) early vs. late drain removal, (g) the use of prophylactic octreotide, (h) the use of hydrocortisone vs. pasireotide, and (i) standard vs. extended lymphadenectomy.

Patients experiencing POPF are in a catabolic state with an increased basal energy expenditure, which in addition to a high output fistula (>200 ml/day of exocrine secretion) leads to nutritional depletion and a disruption in the fluid electrolyte balance. Therefore, the management is mostly conservative if there is no peritonitis, bleeding, sepsis, or organ failure with a focus on restoring fluid and electrolyte balance, antibiotic administration, and providing adequate nutrition [35]. Although administration of total parenteral nutrition (TPN) is one way to provide nutritional support to the patient, it is associated with complications such as changes in gastrointestinal and pancreatic function and morphology and increased risk for wound infections and sepsis. Higher rates of fistula closure and earlier recovery are seen with the administration of no or lowfat enteral nutrition. It reduces pancreatic secretions and therefore is a feasible alternative method to provide nutrition. Image-guided percutaneous or endoscopic drainage might be necessary in case of fluid collections around the pancreaticojejunostomy anastomosis site. Aspirated fluid is usually checked for amylase levels and cultured to guide the antibiotic treatment. Reoperation is only required in cases of refractory POPF, abdominal fluid collections that cannot be aspirated by interventional radiological techniques, organ perforation, sepsis, or hemorrhage from pseudoaneurysm [36].

24.3 Delayed Gastric Emptying

Delayed gastric emptying is the second most commonly reported complication after PD and was first reported by Warshaw et al., the reported incidence ranging between 14% and 61% [5, 37]. Although in most cases DGE is self-resolving, it causes substantial patient discomfort and can lead to prolonged hospital stay leading to increased healthcare costs [38]. The pathophysiology of DGE consists of various possible processes including trauma to the vagus nerve leading to gastroparesis or surgical removal of the duodenum that can affect the concentrations of motilin and pancreatic polypeptide leading to disruption in normal gastric motility [39–42]. The presence of preoperative diabetes and development of POPF and other complications are associated with development of DGE [43]. It is diagnosed when there is a significant output (>300 ml/day) from the nasogastric (NG) tube that is predominantly bilious in nature. Moreover, the patient is unable to tolerate solid diet on or beyond POD3. DGE has been classified into three grades by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) (Table 24.2). Grade A comprises of DGE requiring the use of nasogastric tube lasting longer than POD3, the reinsertion of nasogastric tube after POD3, or the inability to tolerate solid diet by POD7. Grade B DGE is defined as requirement of nasogastric intubation between POD8 and POD14, reinser
 Table 24.2 ISGPS classification of delayed gastric emptying

DGE grade	NGT required	Unable to tolerate solid oral intake by POD	Vomiting/ gastric distention
A	4–7 days or reinsertion >POD3	7	+/
В	8–14 days or reinsertion >POD7	14	+
С	>14 days or reinsertion >POD14	21	+

DGE delayed gastric emptying, NGT nasogastric tube, POD postoperative day

Reproduced from Wente et al. [44]

tion of the nasogastric tube after POD7, or inability to tolerate solid diet by POD14. Grade C DGE includes nasogastric intubation requirement beyond POD14, the need to reinsert the nasogastric tube after POD14, or inability to take a solid diet by POD21 [44]. A CT scan is routinely performed to rule out an associated abscess or partial small bowel obstruction, and endoscopy can be performed to rule out any mechanical obstruction or edema at the anastomotic site.

Various technical modifications in the surgical technique have been employed with the intention to reduce the incidence of DGE. It has been postulated that preservation of the pylorus could lead to a decrease in the rate of DGE [4, 45, 46]. However, Tran et al. found no significant difference in the rate of incidence of DGE between patients who underwent a pylorus-preserving PD (PPPD) and those who underwent a standard PD [47].

The method of reconstruction of the duodenojejunostomy or gastrojejunostomy during PD has been widely studied and reported with the two common techniques including a retrocolic approach where the jejunal limb is brought through the right side of the transverse mesocolon or an antecolic approach involving its mobilization anterior to the transverse colon. Various clinical trials have reported conflicting results. Tani et al. reported a significantly higher incidence of DGE in patients who underwent a retrocolic reconstruction as compared to antecolic reconstruction [48]. The duration of NG tube placement and hospital stay were also significantly shorter in the antecolic group, in addition to early tolerance of a solid diet. Similarly, Kurahara et al. reported a significantly higher incidence of DGE in patients with retrocolic reconstruction as compared to antecolic reconstruction [49]. The study also reported a higher incidence of Grade B and C DGE in patients who underwent retrocolic reconstruction. On the other hand, various trials have found no significant difference in DGE incidence between patients who underwent PD with an antecolic or a retrocolic reconstruction [5, 50, 51]. A meta-analysis including all studies comparing these two techniques reported antecolic reconstruction to be associated with a lower incidence of DGE [52].

In a study where radical PD along with extended retroperitoneal lymph node dissection was performed as compared with standard PD procedure, high rates of DGE were noted in the radical group, although this study was not statistically powered to assess the relative incidence of DGE [53].

Other surgical modifications that have been studied include type of anastomotic reconstruction, pylorus preservation, and subtotal stomach resection where only the pyloric ring is removed. A randomized multicenter study found no significant difference in the incidence of DGE, postoperative blood loss, length of operation and hospital stay, morbidity, and mortality between patients who underwent standard PD and those who underwent pylorus-preserving PD (PPPD). A meta-analysis, which included studies comparing subtotal stomach-preserving PD (SSPPD) with PPPD, concluded that SSPPD was associated with a lower incidence of DGE [54]. Preserving the left gastric vein, which may reduce the risk of ischemia around the pylorus ring, has been reported to be associated with a lower incidence of DGE. Similarly, a lower incidence of DGE has been reported in patients where a Braun enteroenterostomy was created. The rationale behind performing this enteroenterostomy is the reduction in the risk of kinking or edema formation at the site of anastomosis and

directing the pancreatic and biliary secretions away from the stomach [55]. Moreover, Billroth-II reconstruction was found to be associated with a lower incidence of DGE and a significantly shorter hospital stay as compared to Roux-en-Y reconstruction for the gastrojejunostomy during subtotal stomach-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy [56].

In addition to various surgical approaches, there have been various postoperative interventions to reduce DGE. Erythromycin is a macrolide antibiotic, which also is a motilin agonist [53]. A lower concentration of motilin has been proposed to cause gastric atony leading to DGE. Therefore, the use of erythromycin as a gastric motility agent has been studied. A significant reduction in the incidence of DGE was reported in a randomized controlled trial when patients were given intravenous erythromycin from POD3 till POD10 [53]. Similarly, another study reported a decrease in DGE, reduction in NG tube drainage, and early resumption of oral feeding with erythromycin [57]. Somatostatin and its analogues have also been used in an attempt to reduce complications after PD since they reduce pancreatic exocrine secretions. Prophylactic octreotide has been shown to have no effect on the rate of DGE [58]. On the other hand, somatostatin prophylaxis has been shown to increase the rates of DGE, increase the halftime of solid-phase emptying, cause a reduction in the fasting plasma motilin levels, and suppress plasma motilin levels for a prolonged period of time [59].

Currently, the active clinical trials on DGE, as per ClinicalTrials.gov, involve studying (a) antecolic vs. retrocolic gastro- or duodenojejunostomy, (b) conventional PPD vs. Roux-en-Y PPD, (c) the use of escalating temporary gastric electrical stimulation, (d) the use of prucalopride for gastroparesis, (e) the efficacy of VLY-686 (tradipitant) in relieving symptoms of gastroparesis, (f) Sancuso[®] for gastroparesis, and (g) gastric pacemaker implantation for gastroparesis.

Although DGE is a cause of significant patient discomfort, a majority of DGE is usually selflimiting. Therefore the management is conservative and includes gastric decompression through nasogastric intubation, providing adequate nutritional support and ruling out a mechanical obstruction or edema of the gastrojejunostomy or duodenojejunostomy site. Moreover, one needs be vigilant for other postoperative to complications such as pancreatic leakage. As reduced levels of plasma motilin and motilin receptors have been considered to play a part in the development of DGE, motilin agonists such as erythromycin and metoclopramide may be used.

24.4 Surgical Site Infections (SSI)

Another commonly encountered postoperative complication after PD is surgical site infections. These are defined by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) as an infection that involves only the skin or subcutaneous tissue of a surgical incision occurring within 30 days after surgery [60]. It is usually associated with inflammation and pain [60]. The CDC has divided SSIs into three categories which consist of superficial incisional, deep incisional, and organ space SSIs. SSIs can require reopening of the wound leading to a delay in the initiation of adjuvant therapy, prolonged recovery and duration of hospital stay, and increased healthcare costs [61-64]. Intrinsic gut and skin flora are the contaminants in a majority of SSIs and include gram-negative bacilli, anaerobic bacteria, and gram-positive cocci, respectively. Since SSIs have great implications both in terms of patient recovery and healthcare costs, it is important to consider contributing risk factors and minimize the risk of infection. A retrospective study on patients who underwent PD found the length of surgery, main pancreatic duct thickness, and abdominal wall thickness to be significant risk factors for incisional SSIs. The risk factors for organ space SSIs included POPF, use of semi-closed drainage systems, body mass index more than 23.5 kg/m^2 , main pancreatic duct diameter, and prolonged operative time [65]. Poor wound healing and increased dead space around the wound precipitated by hypoalbuminemia and a poor nutritional status also increase the risk of infection [66, 67].

Biliary drainage and stenting is often used in patients with jaundice. It is used to prevent cholangitis after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography or to prevent obstructive jaundice when there is a need for more time to better assess the patient or if a delay in surgery is expected [68]. Although initial studies reported results in favor of performing preoperative biliary drainage (PBD), a meta-analysis consisting of randomized controlled trials and comparative cohort studies reported no benefit of performing preoperative biliary drainage (PBD) in jaundiced patients and found PBD to be associated with an increased risk of overall postoperative complications as compared to surgery without PBD [69, 70]. A recent retrospective study that compared postoperative morbidity and mortality among patients who received biliary stents and those who did not reported no significant difference in overall postoperative surgical complications. However, they found biliary stenting, cardiac disease, and obesity to be significant risk factors for deep incisional SSIs [6]. Another study reported preoperative biliary drainage/stenting and receipt of neoadjuvant chemotherapy to be independent predictors for SSIs [70]. Moreover, blood transfusion has also been reported to be a risk factor for serious infections including SSI, bacteremia, and pneumonia after PD [71]. This can be attributed to suppression of T cell activity and inhibition of normal response by natural killer cells related to blood transfusions. Intraoperative bacterial contamination has been reported to adversely affect both the development of SSI and clinically relevant pancreatic fistula after PD [72]. Similarly prolonged operating time, contamination during surgery, poor surgical technique, and complications (such as bleeding, pancreatic leakage, and fistula) have also been identified as risk factors for SSIs [65]. Leakage of pancreatic secretions from anastomotic sites leads to a favorable environment for bacterial growth. Similarly, poor control of blood glucose, ineffective temperature regulation, and inadequate tissue oxygenation may all contribute to infection [73, 74].

Currently, the active clinical trials on wound complications, as per ClinicalTrials.gov, involve

studying (a) the use of wound protector, (b) the effect of high-dose insulin on infectious complication, (c) the use of wound VACs vs. standard closure, (d) procalcitonin as a predictor of early dehiscence after pancreatic surgery, and (e) the use of accelerated recovery pathway.

SSIs are diagnosed using clinical signs and symptoms such as erythema, pain, tenderness, warmth, drainage of purulent fluid from the site of incision, fever, abdominal discomfort, and difficulty in tolerating diet. In severe cases, signs of systemic sepsis might be present. A CT scan usually confirms any intra-abdominal fluid collections. Treatment modalities for SSIs include opening of the wound and, if systemic signs of infection are present, administration of antibiotics. Deeper tissues should also be inspected to rule out any infection. Dressing changes are sufficient for most patients to facilitate wound healing. Cultures of the pus from the wound site and drained collections of fluid/abscesses are used to guide the antibiotic therapy. For deep and organ space infections, percutaneous drainage combined with antibiotics is the treatment of choice. If the clinical status of the patient does not improve after percutaneous drainage and administration of antibiotics, a reoperation might be necessary.

The clinical status of the patient including hepatic and renal function, any associated allergies, and interactions with other medications are important considerations before administration of antibiotic therapy. The standard protocol for gastrointestinal surgery includes prophylactic intravenous administration of a bolus dose of first-generation cephalosporin immediately prior to incision, followed by 48 h of the same IV treatment [75].

24.5 Postpancreatectomy Hemorrhage

postpancreatectomy Although hemorrhage (PPH) is a relatively rare complication of PD with an incidence between 3% and 10%, it is associated with high mortality ranging between 20% and 50% [76]. Therefore, when it occurs it is a serious and potentially fatal complication. In 2007, the International Study Group for Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) proposed a universal definition and clinical classification of PPH [77]. PPH was divided into three categories (Grades A, B, and C) based on onset, location, severity, and its clinical impact (Table 24.3). The onset is either early, i.e., <24 h after the surgery, or late, i.e., occurring >24 h after the surgery. The site of bleeding can either be intraluminal or extraluminal. The severity of bleeding is graded as either mild or severe [77]. Mild PPH consists of smallor medium-volume blood loss, i.e., drop of <3 g/dl in the hemoglobin, and mild clinical symptoms which do not require reoperation or angiographic embolization. Severe PPH consists of a large vol-

 Table 24.3
 ISGPS classification for postpancreatectomy hemorrhage (PPH)

Grade	Time of onset, location, and severity of bleeding	Clinical presentation	Diagnostic flowchart	Therapeutic intervention
А	Early, intraluminal or extraluminal, mild	Unremarkable	Observation, hemoglobin measurement, US/CT	None
В	Early, intraluminal or extraluminal, severe Late, intraluminal or extraluminal, mild	Tachycardia, hypotension	Observation, hemoglobin measurement, US/CT, angiography, upper GI endoscopy	Fluid resuscitation, blood transfusion, optional follow-up in ICU, therapeutic endoscopy, vessel embolization, reoperation
С	Late, intraluminal or extraluminal, severe	Oliguria, hypovolemic shock	CT, angiography, upper GI endoscopy	Fluid resuscitation, blood transfusion, ICU hospitalization, bleeding localization, therapeutic endoscopy, vessel embolization, reoperation

US ultrasonography, *CT* computed tomographic scan, *ICU* intensive care unit Reproduced from Wente et al. [77]

ume of blood loss, i.e., drop of >3 g/dl in the hemoglobin, and has significant clinical impairment which warrants invasive treatment [77]. Early PPH is usually iatrogenic or due to an underlying coagulopathy, arterial bleeding, or inadequate hemostasis, whereas late PPH is usually due to the development of pseudoaneurysms [78-84]. The leakage of exocrine pancreatic secretions and enzymes leading to erosion of peripancreatic blood vessels, arterial iatrogenic injury leading to a pseudoaneurysm, and ulceration at the gastrojejunostomy anastomotic site are other factors that contribute to late PPH [77]. Patients with pancreatic leak, clinical signs of infection, and bile drainage are at high risk of developing PPH [78, 85, 86]. Moreover, male sex, vascular resection, very low hospital volume $(\leq 7 \text{ pancreaticoduodenectomies per year})$, and postoperative intra-abdominal/wound infection have been reported to be independent predictors for developing PPH during the index visit [87].

Great vigilance and monitoring of clinical signs is required in the postoperative period to diagnose PPH. Patients can develop symptoms consistent with blood loss such as tachycardia and hypotension. In case of massive blood loss, the patient can develop hypovolemic shock. Blood can be observed in the nasogastric tube, abdominal drains, vomit, or stool. Sentinel bleeding which includes small quantities of blood loss can sometimes precede an episode of massive blood loss [78]. With a reported rate of 46% in patients who develop PPH due to pseudoaneurysms, sentinel bleeding should be diagnosed early and taken seriously [88]. Apart from clinical signs and symptoms, a drop in the hemoglobin levels can also indicate PPH. Imaging studies such as upper GI endoscopy, scintigraphy, CT, and angiography can be used to confirm PPH. The onset and severity of PPH guide the therapeutic interventions required for management of these patients. Grade A PPH that includes early/mild cases usually just requires close monitoring and no major deviation from the routine postoperative management. Grade B PPH that includes early/severe and late/mild cases usually requires diagnostic and therapeutic interventions. The

patient is stabilized clinically by volume resuscitation and blood transfusions. Transfer to an intermediate or intensive care unit may be indicated. Interventions such as embolization may be required. Moreover, a therapeutic endoscopy can be performed when intraluminal bleeding is present. Severe cases might also warrant a reoperation. Grade C PPH that comprises patients with delayed severe PPH is the most serious type and is potentially life threatening. The cause is usually a pseudoaneurysm and the bleeding occurs after discharge from hospital. Patients are clinically unstable due to massive hemorrhage leading to hypovolemia. Fluid resuscitation and blood transfusions are immediately required to stabilize the patient. The patient is transferred to an intensive care unit, and efforts are targeted toward finding and treating the source of bleeding [77]. Emergency angiography can be performed to locate the site of bleeding, and embolization can be carried out if pseudoaneurysm or confirmed contrast leak is present [86]. In case all interventional modalities prove futile, re-laparotomy is indicated to identify and control the source of bleeding.

24.6 Other Complications

In addition to the aforementioned complications, PD is also associated with biliary complications, chyle leakage, cardiac events, and pulmonary complications. Chyle leak is a rare complication involving the pathological leakage of lymphatic fluid into the abdominal cavity. This fluid is rich in triglycerides, nutrients, lymphocytes, and immunoglobulins [89]. Therefore its leakage and the subsequent chylous ascites lead to nutritional depletion, dehydration, electrolyte imbalance, and weakening of the immune system. Chyle leakage after pancreatic surgery is usually seen after extensive retroperitoneal dissection of lymph nodes [90]. This is because the cisterna chyli is located anterior to the first and second vertebrae at the same level of the pancreas; therefore, there is a high chance of damage during extended retroperitoneal lymph node dissection [91]. Moreover, manipulation of the para-aortic area, retroperitoneal invasion of tumor, and manipulation of the root of superior mesenteric artery have also been reported to be risk factors for chyle leakage [89, 92]. The treatment for chyle leakage consists of using low-fat diet or TPN. Somatostatin analogues can be used if the leak is not controlled by dietary intervention. The use of external beam radiotherapy has been reported in literature with varying results for cases refractory to dietary interventions and the use of somatostatin analogue [93]. Bile leakage is defined as an increase in bilirubin concentration in the drain fluid of at least three times higher than serum bilirubin on or after POD3 or if radiologic or operative interventions are needed due to collection of biliary fluid or bile peritonitis [94]. The cause is usually related to surgical technique. Cholangitis is another complication that can develop both in the acute and delayed setting. A contaminated surgical field may give rise to acute cholangitis where as a stricture of the hepaticojejunostomy might cause delayed cholangitis. Cultures from the blood and bile are used to direct antibiotic therapy in both cases [95, 96]. Other complications after PD include cardiac events and infectious complications such as pneumonia [1].

Conclusions

Pancreaticoduodenectomy is a complex surgical procedure and remains only a curative management for patients with resectable pancreatic cancer. Although over the last few decades modifications in surgical technique and perioperative care have resulted in a significant reduction in the associated mortality, the morbidity associated with PD still remains high. Recognition of high-risk patients, early diagnosis, and accurate management based on available protocols is crucial in reducing the impact of these complications on the quality of life and outcomes of these patients as well as the related healthcare costs. Further research on improvements in surgical techniques and perioperative care are still required.

References

- Cameron JL, He J. Two thousand consecutive pancreaticoduodenectomies. J Am Coll Surg. 2015;220(4):530–6.
- Whipple AO, Parsons WB, Mullins CR. Treatment of carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater. Ann Surg. 1935;102(4):763–79.
- Cameron JL, Riall TS, Coleman J, Belcher KA. One thousand consecutive pancreaticoduodenectomies. Ann Surg. 2006;244(1):10–5.
- Wu W, Hong X, Fu L, et al. The effect of pylorus removal on delayed gastric emptying after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a meta-analysis of 2,599 patients. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e108380.
- Gangavatiker R, Pal S, Javed A, Dash NR, Sahni P, Chattopadhyay TK. Effect of antecolic or retrocolic reconstruction of the gastro/duodenojejunostomy on delayed gastric emptying after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a randomized controlled trial. J Gastrointest Surg. 2011;15(5):843–52.
- Zhang L, Liao Q, Zhang T, Dai M, Zhao Y. Blood transfusion is an independent risk factor for postoperative serious infectious complications after pancreaticoduodenectomy. World J Surg. 2016;40(10):2507–12.
- Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, et al. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an international study group (ISGPF) definition. Surgery. 2005;138(1):8–13.
- Javed AA, Aziz K, Bagante F, Wolfgang CL. Pancreatic fistula and delayed gastric emptying after pancreatectomy: where do we stand? Indian J Surg. 2015;77(5):409–25.
- Ke S, Ding XM, Gao J, et al. A prospective, randomized trial of Roux-en-Y reconstruction with isolated pancreatic drainage versus conventional loop reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surgery. 2013 Jun;153(6):743–52.
- Tani M, Kawai M, Hirono S, et al. Randomized clinical trial of isolated Roux-en-Y versus conventional reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2014;101(9):1084–91.
- El Nakeeb A, Hamdy E, Sultan AM, et al. Isolated Roux loop pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective randomized study. HPB (Oxford). 2014;16(8):713–22.
- Bassi C, Falconi M, Molinari E, et al. Reconstruction by pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy following pancreatectomy: results of a comparative study. Ann Surg. 2005;242(6):767–71. discussion 71-3
- Duffas JP, Suc B, Msika S, et al. A controlled randomized multicenter trial of pancreatogastrostomy or pancreatojejunostomy after pancreatoduodenectomy. Am J Surg. 2005;189(6):720–9.
- Fernandez-Cruz L, Cosa R, Blanco L, Lopez-Boado MA, Astudillo E. Pancreatogastrostomy with gastric partition after pylorus-preserving pancreatoduode-

nectomy versus conventional pancreatojejunostomy: a prospective randomized study. Ann Surg. 2008;248(6):930–8.

- Figueras J, Sabater L, Planellas P, et al. Randomized clinical trial of pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy on the rate and severity of pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2013;100(12):1597–605.
- Que W, Fang H, Yan B, et al. Pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Surg. 2015;209(6):1074–82.
- Takano S, Ito Y, Watanabe Y, Yokoyama T, Kubota N, Iwai S. Pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy in reconstruction following pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2000;87(4):423–7.
- Topal B, Fieuws S, Aerts R, et al. Pancreaticojejunostomy versus pancreaticogastrostomy reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic or periampullary tumours: a multicentre randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(7):655–62.
- Wellner UF, Sick O, Olschewski M, Adam U, Hopt UT, Keck T. Randomized controlled single-center trial comparing pancreatogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after partial pancreatoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(9):1686–95.
- Yeo CJ, Cameron JL, Maher MM, et al. A prospective randomized trial of pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg. 1995;222(4):580–8. discussion 8-92
- Bassi C, Falconi M, Molinari E, et al. Duct-tomucosa versus end-to-side pancreaticojejunostomy reconstruction after pancreaticoduodenectomy: results of a prospective randomized trial. Surgery. 2003;134(5):766–71.
- 22. El Nakeeb A, El Hemaly M, Askr W, et al. Comparative study between duct to mucosa and invagination pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective randomized study. Int J Surg. 2015;16(Pt A):1–6.
- Berger AC, Howard TJ, Kennedy EP, et al. Does type of pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy decrease rate of pancreatic fistula? A randomized, prospective, dual-institution trial. J Am Coll Surg. 2009;208(5):738–47. discussion 47-9
- Conlon KC, Labow D, Leung D, et al. Prospective randomized clinical trial of the value of intraperitoneal drainage after pancreatic resection. Ann Surg. 2001;234(4):487–93. discussion 93-4
- 25. Frozanpor F, Lundell L, Segersvard R, Arnelo U. The effect of prophylactic transpapillary pancreatic stent insertion on clinically significant leak rate following distal pancreatectomy: results of a prospective controlled clinical trial. Ann Surg. 2012;255(6):1032–6.
- 26. Winter JM, Cameron JL, Campbell KA, et al. Does pancreatic duct stenting decrease the rate of pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy? Results of a prospective randomized trial. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10(9):1280–90. discussion 90

- Pessaux P, Sauvanet A, Mariette C, et al. External pancreatic duct stent decreases pancreatic fistula rate after pancreaticoduodenectomy: prospective multicenter randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2011;253(5):879–85.
- Poon RT, Fan ST, Lo CM, et al. External drainage of pancreatic duct with a stent to reduce leakage rate of pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2007;246(3):425–33. discussion 33-5
- 29. Lillemoe KD, Cameron JL, Kim MP, et al. Does fibrin glue sealant decrease the rate of pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy? Results of a prospective randomized trial. J Gastrointest Surg. 2004;8(7):766–72. discussion 72-4
- 30. Suc B, Msika S, Fingerhut A, et al. Temporary fibrin glue occlusion of the main pancreatic duct in the prevention of intra-abdominal complications after pancreatic resection: prospective randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2003;237(1):57–65.
- Bassi C, Molinari E, Malleo G, et al. Early versus late drain removal after standard pancreatic resections: results of a prospective randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2010;252(2):207–14.
- 32. Yeo CJ, Cameron JL, Lillemoe KD, et al. Does prophylactic octreotide decrease the rates of pancreatic fistula and other complications after pancreaticoduodenectomy? Results of a prospective randomized placebocontrolled trial. Ann Surg. 2000;232(3):419–29.
- 33. Fernandez-Cruz L, Jimenez Chavarria E, Taura P, Closa D, Boado MA, Ferrer J. Prospective randomized trial of the effect of octreotide on pancreatic juice output after pancreaticoduodenectomy in relation to histological diagnosis, duct size and leakage. HPB (Oxford). 2013;15(5):392–9.
- Allen PJ, Gonen M, Brennan MF, et al. Pasireotide for postoperative pancreatic fistula. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(21):2014–22.
- Ho CK, Kleeff J, Friess H, Buchler MW. Complications of pancreatic surgery. HPB (Oxford). 2005;7(2):99–108.
- Malleo G, Pulvirenti A, Marchegiani G, Butturini G, Salvia R, Bassi C. Diagnosis and management of postoperative pancreatic fistula. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2014;399(7):801–10.
- Warshaw AL, Torchiana DL. Delayed gastric emptying after pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1985;160(1):1–4.
- Parmar AD, Sheffield KM, Vargas GM, et al. Factors associated with delayed gastric emptying after pancreaticoduodenectomy. HPB (Oxford). 2013;15(10):763–72.
- Fischer CP, Hong JC. Method of pyloric reconstruction and impact upon delayed gastric emptying and hospital stay after pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10(2):215–9.
- 40. Kim DK, Hindenburg AA, Sharma SK, et al. Is pylorospasm a cause of delayed gastric emptying after pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy? Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12(3):222–7.

- Malfertheiner P, Sarr MG, Spencer MP, DiMagno EP. Effect of duodenectomy on interdigestive pancreatic secretion, gastrointestinal motility, and hormones in dogs. Am J Phys. 1989;257(3 Pt 1):G415–22.
- Tanaka M, Sarr MG. Role of the duodenum in the control of canine gastrointestinal motility. Gastroenterology. 1988;94(3):622–9.
- 43. Qu H, Sun GR, Zhou SQ, He QS. Clinical risk factors of delayed gastric emptying in patients after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(3):213–23.
- 44. Wente MN, Bassi C, Dervenis C, et al. Delayed gastric emptying (DGE) after pancreatic surgery: a suggested definition by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). Surgery. 2007;142(5):761–8.
- Diener MK, Seiler CM, Rossion I, et al. Efficacy of stapler versus hand-sewn closure after distal pancreatectomy (DISPACT): a randomised, controlled multicentre trial. Lancet. 2011;377(9776):1514–22.
- 46. Traverso LW. The Longmire I, II, and III operations. Am J Surg. 2003;185(5):399–406.
- 47. Tran KT, Smeenk HG, van Eijck CH, et al. Pylorus preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy versus standard Whipple procedure: a prospective, randomized, multicenter analysis of 170 patients with pancreatic and periampullary tumors. Ann Surg. 2004;240(5):738–45.
- 48. Tani M, Terasawa H, Kawai M, et al. Improvement of delayed gastric emptying in pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy: results of a prospective, randomized, controlled trial. Ann Surg. 2006;243(3):316–20.
- Kurahara H, Shinchi H, Maemura K, et al. Delayed gastric emptying after pancreatoduodenectomy. J Surg Res. 2011;171(2):e187–92.
- Tamandl D, Sahora K, Prucker J, et al. Impact of the reconstruction method on delayed gastric emptying after pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective randomized study. World J Surg. 2014;38(2):465–75.
- Eshuis WJ, van Eijck CH, Gerhards MF, et al. Antecolic versus retrocolic route of the gastroenteric anastomosis after pancreatoduodenectomy: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg. 2014;259(1):45–51.
- Hanna MM, Tamariz L, Gadde R, et al. Delayed gastric emptying after pylorus preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy—does gastrointestinal reconstruction technique matter? Am J Surg. 2016;211(4):810–9.
- 53. Yeo CJ, Cameron JL, Lillemoe KD, et al. Pancreaticoduodenectomy with or without distal gastrectomy and extended retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy for periampullary adenocarcinoma, part 2: randomized controlled trial evaluating survival, morbidity, and mortality. Ann Surg. 2002;236(3):355–66. discussion 66-8
- 54. Hanna MM, Gadde R, Tamariz L, et al. Delayed gastric emptying after pancreaticoduodenectomy: is subtotal stomach preserving better or pylorus preserving? J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19(8):1542–52.

- 55. Nikfarjam M, Houli N, Tufail F, Weinberg L, Muralidharan V, Christophi C. Reduction in delayed gastric emptying following non-pylorus preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy by addition of a Braun enteroenterostomy. JOP. 2012;13(5):488–96.
- 56. Shimoda M, Kubota K, Katoh M, Kita J. Effect of billroth II or Roux-en-Y reconstruction for the gastrojejunostomy on delayed gastric emptying after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a randomized controlled study. Ann Surg. 2013;257(5):938–42.
- 57. Ohwada S, Satoh Y, Kawate S, et al. Low-dose erythromycin reduces delayed gastric emptying and improves gastric motility after Billroth I pyloruspreserving pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg. 2001;234(5):668–74.
- Kollmar O, Moussavian MR, Richter S, de Roi P, Maurer CA, Schilling MK. Prophylactic octreotide and delayed gastric emptying after pancreaticoduodenectomy: results of a prospective randomized doubleblinded placebo-controlled trial. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34(8):868–75.
- 59. Shan YS, Sy ED, Tsai ML, Tang LY, Li PS, Lin PW. Effects of somatostatin prophylaxis after pyloruspreserving pancreaticoduodenectomy: increased delayed gastric emptying and reduced plasma motilin. World J Surg. 2005;29(10):1319–24.
- 60. Ventral Hernia Working Group, Breuing K, Butler CE, et al. Incisional ventral hernias: review of the literature and recommendations regarding the grading and technique of repair. Surgery. 2010;148(3):544–58.
- Nanashima A, Abo T, Arai J, et al. Clinicopathological parameters associated with surgical site infections in patients who underwent pancreatic resection. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2014;61(134):1739–43.
- 62. Kusachi S, Kashimura N, Konishi T, et al. Length of stay and cost for surgical site infection after abdominal and cardiac surgery in Japanese hospitals: multicenter surveillance. Surg Infect. 2012;13(4):257–65.
- Coello R, Charlett A, Wilson J, Ward V, Pearson A, Borriello P. Adverse impact of surgical site infections in English hospitals. J Hosp Infect. 2005;60(2):93–103.
- 64. Kashimura N, Kusachi S, Konishi T, et al. Impact of surgical site infection after colorectal surgery on hospital stay and medical expenditure in Japan. Surg Today. 2012;42(7):639–45.
- Sugiura T, Uesaka K, Ohmagari N, Kanemoto H, Mizuno T. Risk factor of surgical site infection after pancreaticoduodenectomy. World J Surg. 2012;36(12):2888–94.
- 66. La Torre M, Ziparo V, Nigri G, Cavallini M, Balducci G, Ramacciato G. Malnutrition and pancreatic surgery: prevalence and outcomes. J Surg Oncol. 2013;107(7):702–8.
- 67. Shinkawa H, Takemura S, Uenishi T, et al. Nutritional risk index as an independent predictive factor for the development of surgical site infection after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surg Today. 2013;43(3):276–83.

- Lillemoe KD. Preoperative biliary drainage and surgical outcome. Ann Surg. 1999;230(2):143–4.
- 69. Sewnath ME, Karsten TM, Prins MH, Rauws EJ, Obertop H, Gouma DJ. A meta-analysis on the efficacy of preoperative biliary drainage for tumors causing obstructive jaundice. Ann Surg. 2002;236(1):17–27.
- Poruk KE, Lin JA, Cooper MA, et al. A novel, validated risk score to predict surgical site infection after pancreaticoduodenectomy. HPB (Oxford). 2016;18(11):893–9.
- Kaplan J, Sarnaik S, Levy J. Transfusion-induced immunologic abnormalities not related to AIDS virus. N Engl J Med. 1985;313(19):1227.
- 72. Sugiura T, Mizuno T, Okamura Y, et al. Impact of bacterial contamination of the abdominal cavity during pancreaticoduodenectomy on surgical-site infection. Br J Surg. 2015;102(12):1561–6.
- Barreto SG, Singh MK, Sharma S, Chaudhary A. Determinants of surgical site infections following pancreatoduodenectomy. World J Surg. 2015;39(10):2557–63.
- 74. Kurz A, Sessler DI, Lenhardt R. Perioperative normothermia to reduce the incidence of surgical-wound infection and shorten hospitalization. Study of Wound Infection and Temperature Group. N Engl J Med. 1996;334(19):1209–15.
- 75. Kondo K, Chijiiwa K, Ohuchida J, et al. Selection of prophylactic antibiotics according to the microorganisms isolated from surgical site infections (SSIs) in a previous series of surgeries reduces SSI incidence after pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2013;20(3):286–93.
- 76. Gao F, Li J, Quan S, et al. Risk factors and treatment for hemorrhage after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a case series of 423 patients. Biomed Res Int. 2016;2016:2815693.
- Wente MN, Veit JA, Bassi C, et al. Postpancreatectomy hemorrhage (PPH): an International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) definition. Surgery. 2007;142(1):20–5.
- Tien YW, Lee PH, Yang CY, Ho MC, Chiu YF. Risk factors of massive bleeding related to pancreatic leak after pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Am Coll Surg. 2005 Oct;201(4):554–9.
- Choi SH, Moon HJ, Heo JS, Joh JW, Kim YI. Delayed hemorrhage after pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Am Coll Surg. 2004;199(2):186–91.
- Ellison EC. Evidence-based management of hemorrhage after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Am J Surg. 2007;194(1):10–2.
- Jagad RB, Koshariya M, Kawamoto J, Chude GS, Neeraj RV, Lygidakis NJ. Postoperative hemorrhage after major pancreatobiliary surgery: an update. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2008;55(82–83):729–37.

- Koukoutsis I, Bellagamba R, Morris-Stiff G, et al. Haemorrhage following pancreaticoduodenectomy: risk factors and the importance of sentinel bleed. Dig Surg. 2006;23(4):224–8.
- Rumstadt B, Schwab M, Korth P, Samman M, Trede M. Hemorrhage after pancreatoduodenectomy. Ann Surg. 1998;227(2):236–41.
- Wei HK, Wang SE, Shyr YM, et al. Risk factors for post-pancreaticoduodenectomy bleeding and finding an innovative approach to treatment. Dig Surg. 2009;26(4):297–305.
- Yekebas EF, Wolfram L, Cataldegirmen G, et al. Postpancreatectomy hemorrhage: diagnosis and treatment: an analysis in 1669 consecutive pancreatic resections. Ann Surg. 2007;246(2):269–80.
- Ricci C, Casadei R, Buscemi S, Minni F. Late postpancreatectomy hemorrhage after pancreaticoduodenectomy: is it possible to recognize risk factors? JOP. 2012;13(2):193–8.
- Kasumova GG, Eskander MF, Kent TS, et al. Hemorrhage after pancreaticoduodenectomy: does timing matter? HPB (Oxford). 2016;18(10):861–9.
- Ding X, Zhu J, Zhu M, et al. Therapeutic management of hemorrhage from visceral artery pseudoaneurysms after pancreatic surgery. J Gastrointest Surg. 2011;15(8):1417–25.
- Kuboki S, Shimizu H, Yoshidome H, et al. Chylous ascites after hepatopancreatobiliary surgery. Br J Surg. 2013;100(4):522–7.
- Assumpcao L, Cameron JL, Wolfgang CL, et al. Incidence and management of chyle leaks following pancreatic resection: a high volume singlecenter institutional experience. J Gastrointest Surg. 2008;12(11):1915–23.
- Loukas M, Wartmann CT, Louis RG Jr, et al. Cisterna chyli: a detailed anatomic investigation. Clin Anat. 2007;20(6):683–8.
- Pan W, Yang C, Cai SY, et al. Incidence and risk factors of chylous ascites after pancreatic resection. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2015;8(3):4494–500.
- Corradini S, Liebig S, Niemoeller OM, Zwicker F, Lamade W. Successful radiation treatment of chylous ascites following pancreaticoduodenectomy. Strahlenther Onkol. 2015;191(5):448–52.
- 94. Koch M, Garden OJ, Padbury R, et al. Bile leakage after hepatobiliary and pancreatic surgery: a definition and grading of severity by the International Study Group of Liver Surgery. Surgery. 2011;149(5):680–8.
- Malgras B, Duron S, Gaujoux S, et al. Early biliary complications following pancreaticoduodenectomy: prevalence and risk factors. HPB (Oxford). 2016;18(4):367–74.
- Parra-Membrives P, Martinez-Baena D, Sanchez-Sanchez F. Late biliary complications after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Am Surg. 2016;82(5):456–61.



Postoperative Management in Patients Undergoing Major Pancreatic Resections 25

Alessandra Pulvirenti, Antonio Pea, Matteo De Pastena, Giovanni Marchegiani, Roberto Salvia, and Claudio Bassi

25.1 Introduction

Pancreatic surgery has been traditionally considered a high-risk surgery. Centralization of pancreatic resections in "high-volume centers" has contributed to the drastic reduction of perioperative fatal complications [1]. In these institutions patients undergoing pancreatic surgery are managed by a multidisciplinary team that includes specialized surgeons, anesthetists, radiologists, gastroenterologist, physiatrists, and nurses. Standardized protocols for the perioperative management of these patients have been developed on the basis of evidencebased principles with significant improvements on the final surgical outcomes [2, 3].

25.2 Fluid and Electrolyte Management

Principles of fluid administration in a patient undergoing major abdominal surgery are challenging. While an insufficient fluid resuscitation

Department of Surgery, Pancreas Institute, University and Hospital Trust of Verona, Verona, Italy e-mail: alessandra.pulvirenti@studenti.univr.it; antonio.pea@univr.it; m.depastena@gmail.com; giovanni.marchegiani@univr.it; roberto.salvia@univr.it; claudio.bassi@univr.it

may lead to organ hypoperfusion [4], a positive fluid balance impacts negatively on general postoperative conditions as well as on the intestinal motility and the anastomotic healing [5]. An increased amount of fluid administration causes interstitial fluid overload leading to pulmonary complications and bowel wall and parenchymal edema, increasing the risk of postoperative ileus, delayed gastric emptying, and anastomotic dehiscence. For these reasons, several studies conducted on the liver, colorectal and pancreatic surgery support a postoperative restrictive fluid management (near-zero fluid balance) [5, 6]. Use of epidural analgesia can complicate the maintenance of a near-zero fluid balance by determining vasodilatation and hypotension that could be interpreted as fluid depletion. In order to avoid an unnecessary fluid overload, vasopressor should be considered for the management of epiduralinduced hypotension [3]. Although colloids produce a better volume expansion and less interstitial space overload than crystalloids, there is no evidence that colloid infusion results in a better clinical outcome [7]. Crystalloids are indeed usually preferred in the routine clinical practice, avoiding the well-known risk of acute kidney injury during colloid infusion [7]. Regarding the type of crystalloids, a recent study shows that balanced infusions should be preferred than an excessive use of 0.9% saline that is associated with an overall increase of postoperative complications [8]. A possible postoperative

A. Pulvirenti · A. Pea · M. De Pastena

G. Marchegiani · R. Salvia · C. Bassi (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_25

fluid protocol consists of continuous fluid infusion with balanced salt solution at 1–2 mL/kg/h. In case of postoperative hypotension not hypovolemia-related, it is recommended to not exceed with fluid infusion, preferring the use of etilefrine (bolus 1 mg, up to 10 mg) or dopamine (5 mcg/kg/min) when not contraindicated [3].

25.3 Feeding

Although the oral intake promotes the pancreatic juice secretion, the Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Society and ASPEN guidelines suggest that its is feasible and safe also after pancreatic surgery [3, 9]. When compared to other feeding routes such as total enteral nutrition (TEN) and total parenteral nutrition (TPN), the early oral intake has been was found be associated with a shorter length of hospital stay and time to resumption to a normal diet. Also, TEN and TPN are associated with several complications. The nasojejunal tube dislodges within the first week after surgery in ~36% of patients, the jejunostomy might cause bowel torsion, whereas TPN has an increased risk of infection [10-13]. The early oral feeding, with a stepwise diet starting from a clear liquid diet to a diet without restriction, is therefore recommended. However, if the early oral intake is not tolerated or additional nutritional support is required, TEN is preferred to TPN. Several studies have shown that TEN prevents the atrophy of the gastrointestinal mucosa preserving the intestinal bacterial flora architecture and reducing the bacterial translocation [17, 18]. Also TEN has a reduced risk of infection and metabolic disorder compared to TPN [13–16].

25.4 Antimicrobial Prophylaxis

Antimicrobial prophylaxis during surgical procedures aims to reduce the incidence of surgical site infections (SSI). In this setting antibiotic should be administered in a single dose as near as possible the incision of the skin, and an extra dose should be administered after 3–4 h from the beginning of the operation according to the antibiotic half-life [19, 20]. The Surgical Care Improvement Project (SCIP) workgroup in 2006 developed guidelines for antimicrobial prophylaxis to reduce wound infections and suggested for abdominal surgery the use of cefotetan, cefazolin, cefoxitin, or ampicillin-sulbactam [21]. The perioperative antibiotic choice as recommended is however not specific for pancreatic surgery. Complex procedures as PD include surgical reconstruction with multiple anastomoses, and they can be characterized by intraoperative biliary and/or enteric contamination.

Also, the preoperative presence of biliary stent for jaundice palliation is per se associated with an increased rate of SSI that in this population reach the 26–46% [23, 24]. Obstructive jaundice leads to biliary stasis and the bacterial proliferation, while the endoscopic procedures cause the ascending microbial contamination from the duodenum. During PD, the section of the bile duct and the bile spillage cause the contamination of the peritoneal cavity. For this reason, the patient with a biliary stent should undergo a broader empiric antimicrobial prophylaxis for a more extended period after surgery [25–27]. Finally, the intraoperative bile sampling can also help to identify targeted antimicrobial therapy in case of SSI [27].

25.5 Thromboprophylaxis

Cancer patients undergoing major abdominal surgery have a doubled risk of postoperative deep vein thrombosis and more a tripled risk of fatal pulmonary embolism compared to nonneoplastic patients [28]. Postoperative changes in the coagulatory/fibrinolytic balance in favor of coagulation persist beyond the first 7–10 days following surgery with a 25% risk of venous thromboembolism at 4–6 weeks [29]. According to the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) [30] and ERAS [3] guidelines, extended thromboprophylaxis with low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) is recommended for all patients undergoing pancreatic surgery. Because of the concerns on postoperative bleeding, the ACCP

guidelines [31] suggest instead to stratify LMWH therapy according to the bleeding risk. In patients at high risk for major bleeding, is suggested the use of mechanical prophylaxis only, whereas the pharmacologic one should be postponed until the risk of bleeding decreases.

25.6 Somatostatin and Its Analogues

TPostoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF) is the primary cause of morbidity and mortality following pancreatic surgery, and several strategies have been employed to reduce its incidence. The active exocrine secretion of pancreatic enzymes plays a crucial role in the POPF development. Somatostatin is a 14-amino acid peptide that inhibits pancreatic exocrine, biliary, and small bowel secretions and increases water absorption [32]. When POPF occurs, somatostatin works by reducing its output with potentially positive effects on its natural course. Because somatostatin has a short half-life (1–2 min), synthetic analogues such as octreotide and pasireotide have been developed (with a half-life of 120 min and 11 h, respectively) [32, 33]. Somatostatin analogues allow intermittent subcutaneous dosing schedules and differ from each other in the binding profile for somatostatin receptors [32, 33]. Several randomized controlled trials have been conducted to demonstrate the benefit of somatostatin and its analogues in reducing POPF incidence and severity. However, the results from these studies were conflicting and difficult to compare because of the heterogeneity in outcome definition, drug and schedule employed, and in surgical procedures [34, 35]. Finally, a Cochrane systematic review [35] comparing the use of somatostatin analogues with a non-somatostatin group reported a lower overall postoperative complications in the interventional group, although no differences were observed in POPF rate.

Recently, a randomized placebo-controlled trial on pasireotide demonstrated a significant reduction of clinically relevant POPFs in the interventional group (7.9% vs. 16.9%) with no

grade C fistula occurring [33]. However, further randomized trials are advocated before to recommend Pasireotide as standard prophylaxis in patients undergoing pancreatic surgery.

25.7 Mobilization

Prolonged bed rest after surgery is considered as a risk factor for several postoperative complications. Early mobilization (EM) protocols are widely accepted in order to reduce the risk of thromboembolism, pneumonia, muscle wasting, and physical deconditioning [3]. In addition, EM positively impacts on the early return of the bowel function and on reducing the hospital length of stay. A practical approach consists of instructing patients on the benefits of early mobilization using written protocols with specific day-to-day postoperative specific targets.

According to our institutional protocols for postoperative care after pancreatic surgery, patients assume the sitting position 6 h after surgery and start bed gymnastic and ambulation on POD 1. Facilitation of mobilization is provided by a nurse or nursing assistant (Fig. 25.1). On POD 2 the duration of mobilization and ambulation is increased. On POD 3 patients spend most of the day outside the bed achieving a complete mobilization. Patients with specific difficulties in the physical functioning are referred to a physiotherapist, while no evidences suggest that allocating specific staff for patients with normal functioning provides additional benefits over usual EM protocols [36]. Analgesia should be balanced to provide adequate pain relief to allow EM.

25.8 Drain Management

Because of the high incidence of pancreatic fistula, one or more abdominal drainages are usually placed intraoperatively in the proximity of the pancreatic anastomosis or stump. However, some studied showed that the drain placement following pancreatic surgery is associated with an increased risk of infection due to the presence of external communication. Some authors also report that the drain might extert a mechanical pressure on the pancreatic anastomosis provoking iatrogenic damage and the pancreatic leakage [37, 38]. The routinely lack of abdominal drainage following PD is associated with an increased postoperative rate of complications and mortality and therefore is not recommended [39]. However, drain management should be tailored to the patients risk of developing POPF. In patients with a negligible/low risk according to the Fistula Risk Score (Table 25.1), drainless PD has been demonstrated to be safe and feasible [41, 42].

Patients characterized by a moderate/high risk must be routinely drained. In these, the timing of drain removal should be driven by patient's clinical condition and by the presence of a fluid rich in

amylase, indicating the presence of a POPF (Fig. 25.1) [43-45]. According to our validated protocol [38, 42], patients with a POD 1 drain fluid containing less than 5000 UI/L are candidate to the early drain removal on POD 3. Patients with drain in place after POD 3, should be tested again for the amylase content on POD 5, and those with <200 UI/L should be considered for drain removal. Protocol deviations are possible in case of drain sinister appearance (dark brown to greenish bilious fluid, to milky water to clear "spring water" that looks like pancreatic juice) or development of clinical warning signs indicative of other potential complications. The application of this protocol in our institution has resulted in a significant reduction of morbidity, readmission rate, hospital stay, and costs [38]. However,



42, 52]

variability in amylase test exists among laboratories, therefore the amylase cutoff should be calibrated accordingly.

25.9 Radiology

Routine radiological assessment after pancreatic surgery is not recommended [46, 47]. Surgical complications including pancreatic fistula can be suspected on the basis of the clinical and laboratory findings, and cross-sectional imaging should be reserved when a deviation from the normal postoperative course occurs [47]. Routine postoperative contrast-enhanced CT after PD has a lower sensitivity and specificity for pancreatic fistula compared to drain fluid amulase measurement [43, 47, 48], while routine postoperative US detects abdominal collections that are asymptomatic and with an uncertain clinical meaning in about 21% of patients [49]. These collections are arranged around the pancreatic anastomosis or in the surgical bed, and in the majority of cases, no further interventions are necessary. Only 35% of the cases require an interventional procedure to drain collections when other worrisome clinical

Table 25.1 FRS for the prediction of CR-POPF after pancreatoduodenectomy

Risk factor	Parameter	Points
Gland texture	Firm	0
	Soft	2
Pathology	Pancreatic adenocarcinoma or pancreatitis	0
	Ampullary, duodenal, cystic, islet cell, etc.	1
Pancreatic duct diameter	≥5 mm	0
	4 mm	1
	3 mm	2
	2 mm	3
	≤1 mm	4
Intraoperative blood loss	≤400 ml	0
	401–700 ml	1
	701–1000 ml	2
	>1000 ml	3
	Total 0–	10 points

Reproduced from Callery et al. [40]

features as fever and leukocytosis are developed [49, 50].

A fistulography should be performed to evaluate the eventuality of the drain decubitus on the pancreatic anastomosis in patients maintaining drains for a long-time showing an unexpected "sinister" effluent despite an earlier amylase negative drain fluid. This procedure consists in the injection of the contrast agent through the drain while dynamic fluoroscopy is performed. If there is a decubitus of the drain, the fistulous tract connecting the drain to the intestinal lumen is visualized. In this case a 3–5 cm drain retraction permits to separate the drain from the anastomosis promoting its healing [51].

References

- Balzano G, Zerbi A, Capretti G, Rocchetti S, Capitanio V, Di Carlo V. Effect of hospital volume on outcome of pancreaticoduodenectomy in Italy. Br J Surg. 2008;95(3):357–62.
- Pratt WB, Callery MP, Vollmer CM. Risk prediction for development of pancreatic fistula using the ISGPF classification scheme. World J Surg. 2008;32(3):419–28.
- Lassen K, Coolsen MME, Slim K, Carli F, de Aguilar-Nascimento JE, Schäfer M, et al. Guidelines for perioperative care for pancreaticoduodenectomy: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS®) Society recommendations. Clin Nutr. 2012;31(6):817–30.
- Futier E, Constantin J-M, Petit A, Chanques G, Kwiatkowski F, Flamein R, et al. Conservative vs restrictive individualized goal-directed fluid replacement strategy in major abdominal surgery: a prospective randomized trial. Arch Surg. 2010;145(12): 1193–200.
- Lavu H, Sell NM, Carter TI, Winter JM, Maguire DP, Gratch DM, et al. The HYSLAR trial. Ann Surg. 2014;260(3):445–55.
- Fischer M, Matsuo K, Gonen M, Grant F, Dematteo RP, D'Angelica MI, et al. Relationship between intraoperative fluid administration and perioperative outcome after pancreaticoduodenectomy: results of a prospective randomized trial of acute normovolemic hemodilution compared with standard intraoperative management. Ann Surg. 2010;252(6):952–8.
- Qureshi SH, Rizvi SI, Patel NN, Murphy GJ. Metaanalysis of colloids versus crystalloids in critically ill, trauma and surgical patients. Br J Surg. 2016;103(1):14–26.
- Shaw AD, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL, Scherer LA, Duan M, Schermer CR, et al. Major complications,

mortality, and resource utilization after open abdominal surgery: 0.9% saline compared to Plasma-Lyte. Ann Surg. 2012;255(5):821–9.

- ASPEN Board of Directors and the Clinical Guidelines Task Force. Guidelines for the use of parenteral and enteral nutrition in adult and pediatric patients. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 26(1 Suppl):1SA–138SA.
- Gerritsen A, Besselink MGH, Gouma DJ, Steenhagen E, Borel Rinkes IHM, Molenaar IQ. Systematic review of five feeding routes after pancreatoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2013;100(5):589–98. discussion 599
- Myers JG, Page CP, Stewart RM, Schwesinger WH, Sirinek KR, Aust JB. Complications of needle catheter jejunostomy in 2,022 consecutive applications. Am J Surg. 1995;170(6):547. -50-1
- O'Keefe SJD, Lee RB, Anderson FP, Gennings C, Abou-Assi S, Clore J, et al. Physiological effects of enteral and parenteral feeding on pancreaticobiliary secretion in humans. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2003;284(1):G27–36.
- Bassi C, Malleo G. Pancreas: postoperative pancreatic fistula: use of enteral nutrition. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;8(8):427–8.
- O'Keefe SJD. Physiological response of the human pancreas to enteral and parenteral feeding. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2006;9(5):622–8.
- Xiong JJ, Altaf K, Mukherjee R, Huang W, Hu WM, Li A, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of outcomes after intraoperative pancreatic duct stent placement during pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2012;99(8):1050–61.
- Klek S, Sierzega M, Turczynowski L, Szybinski P, Szczepanek K, Kulig J. Enteral and parenteral nutrition in the conservative treatment of pancreatic fistula: a randomized clinical trial. Gastroenterology. 2011;141(1):157–63, 163.e1
- 17. Moore FA, Feliciano DV, Andrassy RJ, McArdle AH, Booth FV, Morgenstein-Wagner TB, et al. Early enteral feeding, compared with parenteral, reduces postoperative septic complications. The results of a meta-analysis. Ann Surg. 1992;216(2):172–83.
- Gianotti L, Braga M, Gentilini O, Balzano G, Zerbi A, Di Carlo V. Artificial nutrition after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Pancreas. 2000;21(4):344–51.
- Nelson Richard L, Gladman E, Barbateskovic M. Antimicrobial prophylaxis for colorectal surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;5:CD001181.
- Bratzler DW, Hunt DR. The surgical infection prevention and surgical care improvement projects: national initiatives to improve outcomes for patients having surgery. Clin Infect Dis. 2006;43:322–30.
- Kehlet H, Wilmore DW. Multimodal strategies to improve surgical outcome. Am J Surg. 2002; 183(6):630–41.
- Povoski SP, Karpeh MS, Conlon KC, Blumgart LH, Brennan MF. Association of preoperative biliary drainage with postoperative outcome following pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg. 1999;230(2):131–42.

- 23. Kondo K, Chijiiwa K, Ohuchida J, Kai M, Fujii Y, Otani K, et al. Selection of prophylactic antibiotics according to the microorganisms isolated from surgical site infections (SSIs) in a previous series of surgeries reduces SSI incidence after pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2013;20(3):286–93.
- 24. Fong ZV, McMillan MT, Marchegiani G, Sahora K, Malleo G, De Pastena M, et al. Discordance between perioperative antibiotic prophylaxis and wound infection cultures in patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy. JAMA Surg. 2015;2114:1–8.
- 25. Sudo T, Murakami Y, Uemura K, Hayashidani Y, Hashimoto Y, Ohge H, et al. Specific antibiotic prophylaxis based on bile cultures is required to prevent postoperative infectious complications in pancreatoduodenectomy patients who have undergone preoperative biliary drainage. World J Surg. 2007;31(11):2230–5.
- 26. Donald GW, Sunjaya D, Lu X, Chen F, Clerkin B, Eibl G, et al. Perioperative antibiotics for surgical site infection in pancreaticoduodenectomy: does the SCIP-approved regimen provide adequate coverage? Surgery. 2013;154(2):190–6.
- Sourrouille I, Gaujoux S, Lacave G, Bert F, Dokmak S, Belghiti J, et al. Five days of postoperative antimicrobial therapy decreases infectious complications following pancreaticoduodenectomy in patients at risk for bile contamination. HPB. 2013;15(6):473–80.
- Samama CM, Geerts W-H. Prevention of intraoperative venous thromboembolism: what are the American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th edition)? Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 2009;28(9 Suppl):S23–8.
- 29. Sweetland S, Green J, Liu B, Berrington de González A, Canonico M, Reeves G, et al. Duration and magnitude of the postoperative risk of venous thromboembolism in middle aged women: prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2009;339:b4583.
- 30. Mandalà M, Falanga A, Roila F, ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Management of venous thromboembolism (VTE) in cancer patients: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines. Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol. 2011;22 Suppl 6(3):vi85–92.
- 31. Gould MK, Garcia DA, Wren SM, Karanicolas PJ, Arcelus JI, Heit JA, et al. Prevention of VTE in nonorthopedic surgical patients. Antithrombotic therapy and prevention of thrombosis, 9th ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest. 2012;141(2 SUPPL):227–77.
- Harris AG. Somatostatin and somatostatin analogues: pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic effects. Gut. 1994;35:S1–4.
- Allen PJ, Gönen M, Brennan MF, Bucknor AA, Robinson LM, Pappas MM, et al. Pasireotide for postoperative pancreatic fistula. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(21):2014–22.
- 34. McMillan MT, Christein JD, Callery MP, Behrman SW, Drebin JA, Kent TS, et al. Prophylactic octreotide for pancreatoduodenectomy: more harm than good? HPB (Oxford). 2014;16(10):954–62.

- Gurusamy KS, Koti R, Fusai G, Davidson BR. Somatostatin analogues for pancreatic surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(4):CD008370.
- Fiore JF, Castelino T, Pecorelli N, Niculiseanu P, Balvardi S, Hershorn O, et al. Ensuring early mobilization within an enhanced recovery program for colorectal surgery. Ann Surg. 2017;266(2):223–31.
- 37. Conlon KC, Labow D, Leung D, Smith A, Jarnagin W, Coit DG, et al. Prospective randomized clinical trial of the value of intraperitoneal drainage after pancreatic resection. Ann Surg. 2001;234(4):487–93; discussion 493-4
- Bassi C, Molinari E, Malleo G, Crippa S, Butturini G, Salvia R, et al. Early versus late drain removal after standard pancreatic resections: results of a prospective randomized trial. Ann Surg. 2010;252(2): 207–14.
- 39. Van Buren G, Bloomston M, Hughes SJ, Winter J, Behrman SW, Zyromski NJ, et al. A randomized prospective multicenter trial of pancreaticoduodenectomy with and without routine intraperitoneal drainage. Ann Surg. 2014;259(4):605–12.
- 40. Callery MP, Pratt WB, Kent TS, Chaikof EL, Vollmer CM. A prospectively validated clinical risk score accurately predicts pancreatic fistula after pancreatoduodenectomy. J Am Coll Surg. 2013; 216(1):1–14.
- 41. McMillan MT, Fisher WE, Van Buren G, McElhany A, Bloomston M, Hughes SJ, et al. The value of drains as a fistula mitigation strategy for pancreatoduodenectomy: something for everyone? Results of a randomized prospective multi-institutional study. J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19(1):21–31.
- 42. McMillan MT, Malleo G, Bassi C, Allegrini V, Casetti L, Drebin JA, et al. Multicenter, prospective trial of selective drain management for pancreatoduodenectomy using risk stratification. Ann Surg. 2017;265(6):1209–18.
- 43. Molinari E, Bassi C, Salvia R, Butturini G, Crippa S, Talamini G, et al. Amylase value in drains after pancreatic resection as predictive factor of postoperative pancreatic fistula: results of a prospective study in 137 patients. Ann Surg. 2007;246(2):281–7.

- 44. Fong ZV, Correa-Gallego C, Ferrone CR, Veillette GR, Warshaw AL, Lillemoe KD, et al. Early drain removal-the middle ground between the drain versus no drain debate in patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective validation study. Ann Surg. 2015;262(2):378–83.
- 45. Partelli S, Tamburrino D, Crippa S, Facci E, Zardini C, Falconi M. Evaluation of a predictive model for pancreatic fistula based on amylase value in drains after pancreatic resection. Am J Surg. 2014;208(4): 634–9.
- Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, Fingerhut A, Yeo C, Izbicki J, et al. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an international study group (ISGPF) definition. Surgery. 2005;138(1):8–13.
- 47. Malleo G, Salvia R, Butturini G, D'Onofrio M, Martone E, Marchegiani G, et al. Is routine imaging necessary after pancreatic resection? An appraisal of postoperative ultrasonography for the detection of pancreatic fistula. Pancreas. 2014;43(2):319–23.
- Bruno O, Brancatelli G, Sauvanet A, Vullierme MP, Barrau V, Vilgrain V. Utility of CT in the diagnosis of pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy in patients with soft pancreas. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2009;193(3):W175–80.
- Sierzega M, Kulig P, Kolodziejczyk P, Kulig J. Natural history of intra-abdominal fluid collections following pancreatic surgery. J Gastrointest Surg. 2013;17(8):1406–13.
- Gervais DA, Fernandez-del Castillo C, O'Neill MJ, Hahn PF, Mueller PR. Complications after pancreatoduodenectomy: imaging and imaging-guided interventional procedures. Radiographics. 2001;21: 673–90.
- Faccioli N, Foti G, Molinari E, Hermans JJ, Comai A, Talamini G, et al. Role of fistulography in evaluating pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Radiol. 2012;85(1011):219–24.
- Mcmillan MT, Malleo G, Bassi C, Butturini G, Salvia R, Roses RE, et al. Drain management after pancreatoduodenectomy: reappraisal of a prospective randomized trial using risk stratification. J Am Coll Surg. 2015;221(4):798–809.



26

Pathology Reporting of Resected Pancreatic/Periampullary Cancer Specimen

María Carmen Gómez-Mateo, Luis Sabater-Ortí, Inmaculada Ruiz-Montesinos, and Antonio Ferrández-Izquierdo

Abbreviations

AJCC	American Joint Committee on		
	Cancer		
BDM	Bile duct margin		
CAP	College of American Pathologists		
CDP	Cephalic duodenopancreatectomy		
CRM	Circumferential resection margin		
DBDC	Distal bile duct carcinoma		
DP	Distal pancreatectomy		
IPMN	Intraductal papillary mucinous		
	neoplasm		
ISGPS	International Study Group of		
	Pancreatic Surgery		
ITPN	Intraductal tubulopapillary		
	neoplasm		
JPS	Japan Pancreas Society		
LN	Lymph node		
LNR	Lymph node ratio		

PanIN	Pancreatic intraepithelia	L	
	neoplasia		
PDAC	Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma		
PNM	Pancreatic neck margin		
PUPM	Posterior surface of the uncinate		
	process margin		
PV-SMVM	Portal vein-superior mesenteric	,	
	vein margin		
RCPA	Royal College of Pathologists of	2	
	Australasia		
RCPUK	Royal College of Pathologists of	2	
	the United Kingdom		
SMA	Superior mesenteric artery		
SMAM	Superior mesenteric artery margin		
SMV	Superior mesenteric vein		
SMVM	Superior mesenteric vein margin		
TP	Total pancreatectomy		
WHO	World Health Organization		

M. C. Gómez-Mateo (🖂)

Department of Pathology, Hospital Universitario Donostia, Donostia, Spain

L. Sabater-Ortí Department of Surgery, Hospital Clínico, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

I. Ruiz-Montesinos Department of Surgery, Hospital Universitario Donostia, Donostia, Spain

A. Ferrández-Izquierdo Department of Pathology, Hospital Clínico, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

Introduction 26.1

Pancreatic cancer is the fourth leading cause of cancer-related death in developed countries with an overall 5-year survival rate of 7% [1] and is expected to be the second cancer cause of death by 2020 [2]. Surgery still remains the best therapy for potentially curative purposes, but only 15-20% of the patients are candidates for resection [3]. Even if patients undergo surgical resection, recurrences are common, and cure,

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018 M. Tewari (ed.), Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_26

despite advances in medical therapy, is infrequent [4, 5].

In pancreatic and periampullary neoplasms, some important prognostic factors are derived from pathological examination of the surgical specimen, such as tumor size and location, site of origin, degree of differentiation, lymphovascular and neural invasion, lymph node involvement, and surgical margin status [4–16]. However, the real relevance of surgical margins as a prognostic factor in pancreatic cancer is uncertain due to the great variability of positive margin rates in the literature (from 10% to 76–85%) [12, 17, 18]. One of the main turning points on this issue was the publication of a study by Verbeke et al. [17] in which it was highlighted that the R1 rates (rate of microscopic involved margins) increased significantly (from 53% to 85%) after two main facts: the use of a standardized protocol based on axial slicing and the definition of R1 as tumor invasion within 1 mm from the margin. Subsequently many other authors [18–26] have also shown this increase in R1 rates after applying a conscientious pathological sampling.

Despite the fact that the first voices advocating for a standardized protocol for pancreatic cancer specimens date from 1996 [27], the lack of consensus in some relevant aspects of terminology and methodology is still a reality which makes it difficult to understand the real prognostic significance of margin involvement and continues to be the main obstacle for homogenized study results which could provide robust data for patients care. However, many efforts are being made in this regard, and according to Verbeke [28] and paraphrasing his own words, "we are entering in a new era in which meticulous and standardized pathology examination is a recognized prerequisite for obtaining robust and reproducible data. It highlights the responsibility, first and foremost of the profession of pathology, to ensure that highquality pathology examination of pancreatic resection specimens becomes established practice."

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) is the most common type of pancreatic cancer, and the literature frequently addresses pancreatic cancer as synonym of PDAC because of its frequency. Periampullary cancers (ampullary, distal bile duct carcinomas (DBDC) and duodenal cancers within the region of the papilla) develop in the same anatomical area (pancreatic head) and are sometimes included in pancreatic studies [29]. They are removed by the same surgical procedure and for that reason need to be considered in the pathological handling of pancreatic specimens, with only a few further details. The same considerations can be applied to other histological subtypes such as intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms (IPMN), intraductal tubulopapillary neoplasm (ITPN), and other cystic pancreatic tumors.

26.2 Main Controversies in Handling and Reporting Periampullary and Pancreatic Head Cancer Specimens

One of the main problems in handling pancreatic specimens is the complexity of the anatomy of the pancreatic area, which requires familiarity. However, the inconsistent descriptions and diverse terminology together with the lack of detailed consensus guidelines make pathologic evaluation difficult. A recently increasing interest in margin status of pancreatic cancer specimens regarding basic concepts that still remains unsolved is being seen not only from the pathologist's point of view but also for the clinical implications in providing patients with the best possible care.

26.2.1 Margin or Surface: That Is the Question

In a recent publication by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS) [3], pathological protocol and reporting method was one of the five main issues addressed. The consensus statement was that seven margins should be reported and designated as anterior, posterior, medial, or superior mesenteric vein (SMV) groove, superior mesenteric artery (SMA), pancreatic transection, bile duct, and enteric.

The importance of pancreatic margins is also clearly evidenced by pathologists' great number of attempts to standardize its mapping and description [17, 18, 21, 24, 26, 30–36]. However, the terminology, as well as margins routinely analyzed and reported, varies greatly in the literature [31, 34, 36, 37] (Table 26.1). These differences in terminology could be partially explained by the authors' preferences. Some of them prefer an anatomical-based approach using terms like "uncinate margin" and "vascular groove/bed," whereas others prefer to focus on the adjacent vascular structures giving names such as "superior mesenteric artery margin" (SMAM) or "superior mesenteric vein margin" (SMVM) [17, 18, 21, 24, 26, 30–34, 36, 38–41]. Indeed, some institutions only recommend inking and cutting sections in relation to the margin closest to the tumor [40, 41], while others prefer to routinely analyze the full circumferential resection margin (CRM) [18, 19, 38, 39]. Some studies on this topic [37, 42, 43] reveal the disagreement among institutions and guidelines' lack of adherence, which, not surprisingly, is why some pathologists do not adhere to the pathologist protocol reports.

Perhaps the initial question in an attempt to explain these discrepancies should be how to define a surgical margin. This point is very well described by Ethun and Kooby [37] who differentiate three ways of surgical manipulation techniques during pancreatic surgery: transection, dissection, and mobilization. A transection margin is clearly understood and almost universally accepted for pancreatic neck margin (PNM), bile duct margin (BDM), and luminal or intestinal margins [36, 37]. However, according to these authors,

Margins or surfaces (terms more commonly accepted)	Definition	Synonyms
Luminal margins (proximal gastric or duodenal and distal jejunal)	Gastrointestinal segment where the surgeon transects	-
Bile duct margin (BDM)	Common bile duct or common hepatic duct margin	-
Pancreatic neck margin (PNM)	Pancreatic tissue sectioned by the surgeon. The pancreatic duct can be identified in the middle. It is limited by the SMVM at its left edge	 Pancreatic duct margin Distal resection margin Pancreatic transection margin
Superior mesenteric vein margin (SMVM)	Concave-shaped with a smooth, glistening surface where the portal vein and the mesenteric vein are laid, placed between the SMAM and PNM. It is often flanked by clips on small veins that drain from the pancreatic head into the SMV	 Vascular bed Vascular groove Part of medial CRM
Superior mesenteric artery margin (SMAM)	Relatively irregular small area of soft tissue that faces the SMA delimited by SMVM at its left edge. On the right side joined to the posterior surface in an acute angle	 Uncinated margin Retroperitoneal margin Interior-posterior margin Part of medial CRM
Posterior margin/surface	Smooth and slightly fibrous surface delimited by duodenum and SMAM, which overlies the aortocaval groove	 Posterior CRM Part of uncinated margin Part of posterior CRM Deep retroperitoneal posterior surface Inferior vena cava margin
Anterior surface	Adipose tissue covered by serosa delimited by the duodenum, PNM, and SMVM	– CMR: anterior

Table 26.1 The wide variety of terms used in the published literature

BDM bile duct margin, CRM circumferential resection margin, PNM pancreatic neck margin, SMA superior mesenteric artery, SMAM superior mesenteric artery margin, SMV superior mesenteric vein, SMVM superior mesenteric vein margin
the difference between dissected and mobilized margin is less clear, especially when surfaces that can usually be separated by peeling off along their embryologic planes in an unspoiled state are disrupted by fibrosis, inflammation, or tumor invasion. In these conditions, mobilized tissues could be interpreted as margins or surfaces and consequently handled and reported [37]. Table 26.2 details the differences in margin approach in the published literature over the last years.

26.2.1.1 Anterior Surface

The anterior aspect (Fig. 26.1a) is differently interpreted by the main pancreatic experts. Its consideration as a dissection margin in the definition of "radicality" was defended by the Japan Pancreas Society (JPS) [56, 57]. Its involvement has been associated with tumor recurrence and decrease of overall survival [58, 59]. Although the assessment of anterior margin has also been introduced in Europe and in some groups of North America [17, 18, 38, 60], it is considered mostly as a surface. It is less frequently involved (10-15%) and more rarely in isolation [17–19, 22]. For all of these reasons, some authors establish a 0 mm clearance to consider involvement [18, 19, 38, 39]; others prefer not to consider it as R1 resection if only the anterior surface is involved [21], and yet other authors do not include it in margin assessment [15, 26, 40, 41, 51]. Even if consensus is not achieved regarding the definition (margin or surface) and the involvement rate is low, it should be documented due to the risk of recurrence [18, 19, 36, 38, 39].

26.2.1.2 Posterior Margin/Surface

The posterior margin (Fig. 26.1b) is defined by the Royal College of Pathologists of the United Kingdom (RCPUK) protocol [38] as the fibrous but smooth surface of the pancreatic head overlying the aortocaval groove. The protocol of the Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia (RCPA) [39] describes this margin/surface as a smooth non-peritonealized posterior surface of the uncinate process, not including the SMAM. This posterior-right face of the uncinate aspect is mostly considered as margin (Table 26.2). However, some authors [36, 40] prefer to consider it as surface due to the fact that it is covered by serosa in a very similar manner to the anterior surface, even if it should be submitted and reported.

26.2.1.3 Medial Margin

The medial or vascular margin (Fig. 26.2) refers to the area that faces the superior mesenteric vessels. It can be subdivided in two areas or margins. The first area is characterized by a shallow and slightly glistening concavity usually delimited by clips [19]. This part of the margin faces the SMV, and for that reason, it is now widely called SMVM [38, 39]. Sometimes, a segment of vein can be included in the pancreatic specimen. The second area is the posterior peripancreatic adipose tissue that faces the SMA. This margin has been given many terms such as retroperitoneal, uncinate, or posterior margin, often equivocal and confusing [37, 61] (Tables 26.1 and 26.2).

The site of margin involvement is clearly influenced by the tumor origin and size [22, 29]. Medial (SMVM and SMAM) and posterior margins are the most important since they are the most frequently affected in PDAC [18, 19, 21, 26, 30, 31]. The involvement of anterior surface is less common, and despite the fact that the presence of tumor cells on this surface is likely to increase the risk of local tumor recurrence [18, 59], its impact in outcome seems not to be very relevant [24, 26]. These observations are also applicable to distal bile duct carcinoma (DBDC) [22]. However, margin involvement in ampullary carcinomas is less frequently observed [10, 11, 14, 16, 17, 22, 30, 62]; this fact could be explained by its greater distance to margins and its heterogeneity in size distribution in the studied series (smaller size rate in ampullary carcinomas compared to PDAC or DBDC). When dealing with an intraductal tumor (IPMNs or ITPNs) or a DBDC, the PNM and BDM could be more crucial [40], but they usually are studied previously during intraoperative assessment. In DCBD carcinomas arising in the medial segment of the bile duct, which is partially extrapancreatic and surrounded by soft tissue (socalled radial periductal margin), are important to evaluate this latter tissue but are usually not analyzed routinely in pancreatic specimens [61, 63].

on compared day was to war				
	Margins/surfaces			
Study	Anterior	SMVM	SMAM	Posterior
Staley et al. [27]	1	1	Retroperitoneal margin	1
Lüttges et al. [44]	1	1	Retroperitoneal resection margin	1
Verbeke et al. [17]	Anterior CRM	SMV groove or medial CRM	Posterior CRM	
Verbeke et al. [19] Menon et al. [22]				
Howard et al. [45]	1	1	Retroperitoneal soft tissue margin	
Raut et al. [46]	1	1	SMAM (retroperitoneal margin)	1
Esposito et al. [18]	Anterior surface	Medial margin	Posterior margin	
Westgaard et al. [30]	1	1	Retroperitoneal resection margin	
Campbell et al. [21]	Anterior surface (not margin)	Medial or SMVM	Posterior margin	
Khalifa et al. [31]	8	The groove (vascular bed) surface	Uncinate margin	Uncinate process surface
Chang et al. [15]	Anterior surface (not margin)	PV/SMVM	SMAM/retroperitoneal margin	1
Gaedcke et al. [32]	Anterior (ventral) surface	SMV groove	Mesopancreas	Posterior (dorsal) surface
Jamieson et al. [24] Jamieson et al. [47]	Anterior surface	Medial transection margin (inclue	ding SMV groove)	Posterior surface
Gnerlich et al. [48]	1	PV groove	Uncinated margin	Posterior margin
Rau et al. [33]	Anterior surface	Medial margin (transected superi	or mesenteric plexus and SMV groove)	Posterior margin
John et al. [49]	Anterior surface	PV/SMVM	Posterior margin	
Kimbrough et al. [50]	I	1	SMA/uncinate margin	
Konstantinidis et al. [51]	Anterior surface	I	Uncinate/SMAM	Retroperitoneal/posterior
-				margun
Sugiura et al. [52]	1	1	SMAM	Posterior margin
Maksymov et al. [34]	-a	SMVM	SMAM	PUPM
Delpero et al. [26]	Anterior surface (not	PV-SMVM	SMAM	Posterior margin
	margin)	Medial vascular margin: PV-SMV	VM + SMAM	

 Table 26.2
 Different approaches to margin reporting in the literature over the last years

	Margins/surfaces			
Study	Anterior	SMVM	SMAM	Posterior
Gómez-Mateo et al. [35]	Anterior surface (not margin)	Vascular groove	Posterior margin	1
Adsay et al. [36]	Anterior free surface	Vascular bed (surface)	Uncinate margin	Posterior free surface
Mathur et al. [53]	Anterior surface	1	SMAM	Uncinate and posterior margin
Pang et al. [54]	Anterior surface	SMV bed	Periuncinate/medial/retroperitoneal margin	True posterior margin
Gebauer et al. [55]	Anterior aspect	SMV groove/medial/uncinate		Posterior aspect
JPS [56]	Anterior surface	Retropancreatic surfaces		
RCPUK [38]; Verbeke and Menon	Anterior surface	SMVM	SMAM	Posterior margin
[20]		Medial CRM: SMVM + SMAM		
RCPA [39]	Anterior margin	SMVM/vascular groove	SMAM	Posterior margin
CAP [40]	1	Vascular groove	Uncinate (retroperitoneal/SMAM)	1
AJCC 7th [41]	1	1	SMAM	Posterior margin
ISGPS consensus [3]	Anterior margin	Medial or SMVM	SMAM	Posterior margin
AJCC American Joint Committee on	Cancer, CAP College of An	nerican Pathologists, CRM circum	ferential resection margin, ISGPS Interna	tional Study Group of Pancreatic

lic | Surgery, JPS Japan Pancreas Society, PUPM posterior surface of the uncinate process margin, PV portal vein, PV-SMVM portal vein-superior mesenteric vein margin, RCPA Royal College Pathologists of Australasia, RCPUK Royal College of Pathologists of the United Kingdom, SMA superior mesenteric artery margin, SMAM superior mesenteric artery margin, SMV superior mesenteric vein, SMVM superior mesenteric vein margin

*According to authors' opinion, the anterior margin is present in a pylorus-preserving PD and absent in a standard Whipple procedure [34]

Table 26.2 (continued)



Fig. 26.1 A cephalic duodenopancreatectomy (CDP) specimen after fixation in formalin. Gastrointestinal lumen is opened. (a) Anterior view. Anterior surface is an adipose-rich tissue covered by a bright and smooth serosa

layer (area comprised into the *discontinuous black line*).(b) Posterior view. Posterior margin is the smooth and slightly fibrous serosa area (comprised into the *discontinuous black line*)



Fig. 26.2 Posterosuperior view of a CDP specimen. From this view we recognize pancreatic neck margin (PNM) (into the *discontinuous violet line*) and both vascular margins: superior mesenteric vein margin (SMVM) and superior mesenteric artery margin (SMAM) (delim-

ited by *discontinuous orange* and *green lines*, respectively). Main pancreatic duct is seen in the middle of PNM, in this case dilated. The division line between SMVM and SMAM is often highlighted by some clips. Posterior margin is also recognized from this view

Summarizing, the recommendations of the main pathologist institutions are as follows:

 The RCPUK includes in its histopathological report the transection margins (gastric, duodenal, pancreatic, and bile duct), the dissected margins (SMV, SMA, posterior), and the anterior surface [38].

- The RCPA protocol recommends reporting the distance to the following margins/surfaces:

pancreatic transection, SMAM, posterior margin, SMVM/vascular groove, anterior margin, bile duct, proximal intestinal/gastric, distal intestinal, and other margins/surfaces [39].

 The College of American Pathologists (CAP) suggests in its template for cephalic duodenopancreatectomy (CDP) reporting PNM, uncinate (retroperitoneal/SMA) margin, BDM, proximal and distal margins, and other margins (only if applicable). Anterior and posterior surfaces are reported in the microscopic tumor extension assessment but not in margin section [40].

26.2.2 Differences Among Slicing Techniques and Tissue Sampling

The macroscopic handling of pancreatic specimens has a great impact on histologic examination. The extent of tissue sampling is directly related to the accuracy of the margin assessment [17]. In some protocols, the slicing technique is not well described, and the need to ink some of the margins and submit them is only superficially addressed [40, 41, 44]. In fact, sometimes only the tumor point closest to the margin is recommended to be submitted specifically for microscopic evaluation. However, if only a few samples are taken from the tumor in relation to the closest margin, the assessment of margin involvement could be underestimated. In pancreatic tumors, limits are quite difficult to identify macroscopically as is to distinguish them from fibrosis, chronic inflammation, or pancreatic atrophy [19]. Moreover, the growth pattern at the periphery of the tumor is highly dispersed in PDAC as compared with other tumor types [64]. For these reasons, meticulous gross inspection and extensive tissue sampling are needed.

A wide range of different dissection techniques is being used, with advantages and disadvantages, some of them based on the pathologist's preference or on tradition [19]. The main slicing techniques (with their variations) can be classified according to the main axis: bivalving, bread loaf slicing, and axial slicing (Fig. 26.3).

26.2.2.1 Bivalving and Multivalving Slicing Technique

This method has been used for many years [44, 65] and is still used in some institutions [36]. It consists in horizontally cutting the pancreatic specimen after probing both ducts (pancreatic main duct and common bile duct). Although it may seem more adequate for intraductal neoplasms, this method is not optimal for assessing the circumferential margins [19]. Generally, more dissection planes to take samples are needed, making reconfiguration of the specimen challenging.

26.2.2.2 Bread Loaf Slicing Technique

This method [60] is based on serial slicing perpendicular to the pancreatic major axis that results in incomplete and fragmented sections of the pancreas, making it difficult to evaluate the ampullary area. Instead of parallel slicing, the JPS [56] suggested serial slicing perpendicular to an axis that follows the curvature of the pancreatic head, also problematic in terms of changing cut planes and producing irregular sections [19].

26.2.2.3 Axial slicing technique

This technique uses a slicing plane perpendicular to the longitudinal axis of the second portion of the duodenum. This approach has been introduced and developed mainly in Europe [17, 18, 21, 22, 24]. The main advantage is its simplicity: it is easy to perform and to learn through training. It is useful independently of tumor location or origin. Indeed, this technique produces a great number of sections, thus allowing macroscopic inspection of the main structures (ampulla, pancreatic main duct, common bile duct, etc.) and the full margin surface. It is possible to obtain perpendicular sections for all relevant margins for assessing the distance to the tumor, and it is easy to identify and classify regional lymph nodes [61].

Although no method has proved to be superior, some of them are not as optimal as desired for pathology reporting, especially for margin assessing, and are partially responsible of variability in literature results [17, 18, 37].



Fig. 26.3 Schematic design of a CDP specimen (Modified from Verbeke et al. [19]). (a) Complete specimen where all margins are represented by a color code—anterior surface in *gray*, PNM in *violet*, SMVM in *orange*, SMAM in *green*, and posterior margin in *blue*. Gastric, duodenal, and BDM are also signaled. (b) CDP specimen after bivalving slicing technique. Both

26.2.3 Margin Involvement Is Not Only a Quality of Surgery

Microscopic involvement of resection margin (R1) is considered a poor prognosis indicator in solid tumors [26]. R1 resection has been reported to be an independent predictor factor of poor outcome in PDAC in several studies [4, 5, 8, 12, 13, 22, 24, 30, 33, 45, 48, 66–70]. However, results in other studies do not confirm this relevance [11, 46, 71].

ducts are probed and horizontally sliced. (c) Bread loaf slicing technique is represented. Serial sections (*black lines*) are made perpendicular to the pancreatic major axis (*discontinuous line*). (d) Axial slicing technique. The slicing lines (*black lines*) are perpendicular to the longitudinal axis of the second portion of the duodenum (*discontinuous line*)

R status is commonly regarded as a quality indicator of a surgical procedure, but in PDCA it is complex and multifactorial [37]. As seen before, reported margin positivity rates range widely (10% to 85%) [12, 17, 18]. These contradictory results are, in large part, due to the disagreement in the pathological assessment. The gross handling and slicing technique used, the number of samples taken, and the minimum clearance in mm used to define margin involvement enormously influence the rate of R1 [19, 21, 26, 61] (Table 26.3).

		Number of				Number of
Cto In a family of	V	patients with	D101	R1		margins
Study reference	rear	PDAC	R1%	0 mm	Slicing technique	examined
Allomo et al. [72]	1995	72 (STP)	51% 62%	0 mm	NS	J" NG
Allema et al. [0]	1995	0/	03%	0 mm	NS	5
Yee et al. [75]	1997	1/4 (111P)	29%	0 mm	NS Divolving	5
Millihon et al. [74]	1998	149 94 (15TD)	2007	0 mm	Divalving	J
Represent et al. [74]	2000	84 (ISTP)	29%	0 mm	NS	5
Sohn et al. [9]	2000	7.5 616 (52DD	20%	0 mm	NO	J
	2000	38TP)	30%	0 mm	113	113
Van Geenen et al. [10]	2001	108	43%	0 mm	NS	NS
Neoptolemos et al. [66]	2001	541 (12% TP or DP)	19%	0 mm	NS	NS
Jarufe et al. [9]	2004	133	49.2%	0 mm	NS	NS
Schmidt et al. [11]	2004	202	20%	0 mm	NS	4/6 ^a
Wagner et al. [12]	2004	211 (29DP, 17TP)	10%	0 mm	NS	NS
Howard et al. [45]	2006	226 (13DP, 9TP)	28%	0 mm	NS	4
Verbeke et al. [17]	2006	26	84.6%	≤1 mm	Axial	7 ^a
Winter et al. [13]	2006	1175 (79TP, 7PP)	42%	0 mm	NS	5
Raut et al. [46]	2007	360	16.7%	0 mm	Perpendicular sections of SMAM; PNM and CBDM En face sections	3
Van Roest et al. [12]	2008	51	32%	0 mm	NS	NS
Esposito et al. [18]	2008	111	76%	≤1 mm	Axial	7
Westgaard et al. [30]	2008	40	45%	$\leq 1 \text{ mm}$	Bivalving	5ª
Campbell et al. [21]	2009	163	43.6% (0 mm) 79% (≤1 mm)	_	Axial	6 ^a
Chang et al. [15]	2009	365 (70 DP)	36% (0 mm) 45% (≤0,5 mm) 51% (≤1 mm) 54% (≤ 1,5 mm) 57% (≤2 mm)	-	NS	6
Menon et al. [22]	2009	27	82%	$\leq 1 \text{ mm}$	Axial	7 ^a
Hatzaras et al. [16]	2010	249	18%	0 mm	NS	NS
Gaedcke et al. [32]	2010	46	63% ^b (0 mm) 82.6% ^b (≤ 1 mm)	-	Perpendicular to mesopancreatic margin (axial)	7
Hsu et al. [76]	2010	1092 (64TP)	33.2%	≤ 1 mm	NS	5
Jamieson et al. [24]	2010	148	55% (0 mm) 73.6% (≤1 mm)	_	Axial	7ª
Liszka et al. [23]	2010	13	53.8% (0 mm) 61.5% (≤ 1 mm)	-	Axial	7
Gnerlich et al. [47]	2012	285	34%	≤1 mm	NS	5
Rau et al. [33]	2012	94	51%	0 mm	Axial	7 ^a

Table 26.3 Comparison of R1 rates and other related parameters in patients with resected pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma

		Number of patients with		R1		Number of margins
Study reference	Year	PDAC	R1%	definition	Slicing technique	examined
Maksymov et al. [34]	2012	25 (1TP)	56% (0 mm) 80% (≤1 mm)	-	Longitudinally along the long axis of the CBD	7ª
Jamieson et al. [48]	2013	217	51.2% (0 mm) 59% (≤0.5 mm) 72.4% (≤1 mm) 82.5% (≤1.5 mm) 86.2% (≤2 mm)	_	Axial	7ª
John et al. [49]	2013	70	74,3%	≤1 mm	Axial	7
Kimbrough et al. [50]	2013	283 (30DP, 5SP)	26.8%	0 mm	En face section of each margin	3
Konstantinidis et al. [51]	2013	554 (86DP, 8TP)	28% (0 mm) 58.8% (≤1 mm)	-	Perpendicular slicing (Staley's protocol [27])	4
Sugiura et al. [52]	2013	208 (42DP, 2TP)	16% (0 mm) 19% (≤1 mm)	-	Radial 5 mm sections (Japan's method [56])	4
Delpero et al. [26]	2014	150	23% (0 mm) 61% (≤1 mm) 63% (≤1.5 mm) 71% (≤2 mm)	-	Axial	7ª
Mathur et al. [53]	2014	448	25%	0 mm	Perpendicular sections to margins, en face for CBDM and SMAM	8ª
Pang et al. [54]	2014	116	58%	≤1 mm	Bivalved. 1 section minimum per margin. Periuncinate retroperitoneal margin almost totally embedded	7ª
Sabater et al. [25]	2014	68 (13DP, 8TP)	53%	≤1 mm	Axial	5
Gebauer et al. [55]	2015	118	52%	≤1 mm	Axial	6

Table 26.3 (continued)

CBD common bile duct, *CBDM* common bile duct margin, *CDP* cephalic duodenopancreatectomy, *DP* distal pancreatectomy, *NS* nonspecified, *PDAC* pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas, *PNM* pancreatic neck margin, *PP* partial pancreatectomy, *SMAM* superior mesenteric artery margin, *SP* subtotal pancreatectomy, *TP* total pancreatectomy ^aLuminal margins (proximal gastric or duodenal and distal jejunal) are considered as two different margins ^bR1 and R2 resections are included

As previously seen, it has been demonstrated that R1 rate increases significantly (>75%) and correlates with survival after exhaustive and meticulous standardized pathological examination [17, 18, 21– 26]. In consequence, a high rate of R1 resections is an indicator of high-quality pathology more than a low-quality surgery [18, 61]. These conclusions have focused the attention to pathology aspects related to specimen handling and reporting [37].

In addition to the lack of consensus on margin terminology and slicing techniques, R1 definition is also controversial. While a positive margin (R1) is understood for the majority of North American pathologists and their guidelines only when the tumor is directly in contact with the inked margin (0 mm clearance) [13, 31, 40, 41, 46, 77], for European and Australian pathologists, R1 margin involvement is defined as tumor within 1 mm of the margin (the distance to the resection margin is 1 mm or less) with the exception to anterior surface [17, 18, 30, 38, 39]. This "1 mm rule" was extrapolated from the R1 definition of rectal cancer assessment [17, 38], but it has never been validated in pancreatic cancer [64]. A 0 mm clearance definition could be valid for tumors whose growth pattern is compact. However, in PDCA it is characterized by an infiltrative growth pattern. According to the study of Verbeke and colleagues [64], pancreatic cancer, including PDCA, DBDC, and ampullary carcinomas, shows a higher dispersed growth pattern of tumor cells when compared to rectal cancer, especially on the edge. This means that a 0 mm clearance does not guarantee complete resection [78]. In fact even $\leq 1 \text{ mm}$ could be insufficient in pancreatic cancer [64]. It has been recently suggested that a cutoff of 1.5 mm could be clinically more significant [15, 47].

Another important issue is the relevance of the type of tumor spread at the margin. Apart from the primary tumor mass (direct invasion), the presence of tumor cells in the vascular, lymphatic, or perineural spaces or within lymph nodes could also be considered as margin involvement (indirect invasion) [20]. In the residual tumor (R) classification included in the TNM system of the IUCC/AJCC, some "special situations" are explained [79]. This classification considers R1 resection when tumor cells are attached to or invade the vessel walls at the margin. Despite the absence of clearer evidence, the RCPUK [38] protocol and the RCPA [39] protocol suggest considering R1 resection in cases of indirect invasion, but it should be clearly stated in the report. In any case, the isolated margin involved by indirect invasion with no direct invasion at any other point is extremely rare [18, 61].

26.2.4 Lymph Node Metastases: The Magic Number

Lymph node (LN) involvement has been considered an adverse prognosis factor in pancreatic carcinoma [13, 80–85]. The number of LN evaluated has been related to patients' outcome by some authors [86–88]. However, others did not demonstrate this relation [89, 90]. The minimum

number of LN required in a CDP for considering optimal staging varies from 12 [39, 41, 86] to 15 [38, 40, 87, 91], and it is considered a good indicator of the quality of both the surgical procedure and pathologic handling. It must be taken into consideration that fewer lymph nodes may be identified after neoadjuvant treatment [39]. Another number has also been described: the "lymph node ratio" (LNR) defined as the ratio between metastatic and evaluated/retrieved LN, which is directly related to survival and considered a new major clinical predictor even more powerful than the overall nodal status in resected pancreatic cancer [86, 88, 92-96]. However, a recent paper suggests that only the presence of lymph node metastasis is of prognostic value, regardless the number of positive nodes or the LNR [89].

26.3 Pathology Report of Pancreatic Cancer Specimens: Cephalic Duodenopancreatectomies and Distal and Total Pancreatectomies

An ideal protocol for reporting pancreatic cancer specimens must be easily applicable and accurate, well understood by other clinicians, and useful in assessing relevant information for planning treatment and establishing prognosis. It is very important for pathologists and clinicians to "speak the same language." Protocols are available in the literature and ready for use [38–40]. However, disagreements in some basic concepts raise doubts in pathology communities; in addition, some aspects are superficially described or incompletely developed (e.g., tumor banking is only included in the RCPA protocol).

The best way to approach a pancreatic head resection specimen in order to assure accurate assessment of all previously relevant described parameters is likely to be axial slicing with wide sampling. To date, no general consensus among pathologists has been reached, and consequently the final decision continues to be the pathologist's best opinion.

26.3.1 Specimen Orientation, Inking Margins, and Slicing

In this section a practical and easy few-step guide for the macroscopic handling of pancreatic specimens based on the axial slicing technique [17, 18, 38] is developed. The collaboration of the surgeon for handling the pancreatic specimen is recommended until familiarity is achieved.

- 1. The first step is to check the identification number and patient data. With the fresh specimen, identify the type of surgical specimen, CDP, distal pancreatectomy (DP), or total pancreatectomy (TP), and check if any preoperative treatment was performed.
- 2. In CDP specimens, identify margins. Gastroduodenal margins and biliary duct margin are easily found from the anterior view (Fig. 26.1). The anterior surface is also seen. The pancreatic neck margin (PNM) is observed from the posterior view, where the SMVM, SMAM, and posterior margin are also identifiable (Fig. 26.2). Notice if any segment of vessel is included (more likely in specimen post therapy).
- 3. Open the lumen by cutting through the antimesenteric border of the duodenum, and analyze the gastrointestinal lumen in order to identify any possible tumor lesion in the ampulla of Vater. If not, explore the specimen so as to locate the tumor. When a PDAC or DBDC is suspected, SMVM concavity is usually very distinct.
- 4. If fresh tissue is to be taken for banking, all margins must be inked in different colors before partially cutting the specimen. If not, margin inking can be carried out after fixation.
- 5. The specimen must be left at least 24–48 h in formaldehyde to allow correct fixation and guarantee good consistency to make slices.
- Ink margins in different colors: PNM, SMVM, SMAM, and posterior margin. If a vascular segment is included, it must be inked in a different color. Anterior surface is also recommended to be inked (Fig. 26.4).
- 7. Take gastrointestinal margins and BDM en face (Fig. 26.5a–c). PNM can also be taken by

shaving (Fig. 26.5d). PNM has usually been studied during intraoperative assessment, so it is supposed to be free in the pancreatic specimen with a distance to the margin of more than 1 mm (pancreatic slice for intraoperative study is 2–3 mm thick). If PNM has not been previously studied, it could be left in the specimen in order to take perpendicular sections for measuring the distance to the tumor.

- 8. Make the first slice in a plane perpendicular to the longitudinal axis of the duodenum through the middle of the ampulla de Vater (Fig. 26.6a), and continue slicing in parallel sections to both directions with a thickness of 5 mm more or less. Several slices will be produced (Fig. 26.6b).
- 9. Identify the tumor, measure it, and study the relations to structures and macroscopic distance to the margins. These sections can easily be compared with previous image studies (Fig. 26.7).
- 10. Take representative samples of the tumor in relation to all the margins and structures (Fig. 26.8). If macroscopic tumor cannot be identified, as in some cases with neoadjuvant therapy, consider total inclusion from the beginning to avoid resampling.
- Take a sample from the ampulla, from the nonneoplastic pancreas and from any other lesion identified.
- Identify lymph nodes from the different stations for individual analysis. LNs are recommended to be embedded completely unless macroscopic involvement is evident (in which case only one block or section is required) [39].
- 13. In DP specimens, the procedure is the same. Ink the margins: pancreatic transection margin (similar to PNM) and anterior and posterior surface of the tail. The spleen is normally included in these specimens. Slice en face section of the pancreatic transection margin, and continue slicing the specimen perpendicular to the tail long axis (Fig. 26.9). Take samples of the tumor in relation to margins and vascular structures; take also representative samples of the spleen. Identify lymph nodes from the different stations for individual analysis.



Fig. 26.4 (a) CDP specimen including a segment of vein. PNM, SMVM, and SMAM are delineated by *discontinuous violet, orange*, and *green lines*, respectively. Vascular segment is highlighted demarcated by a *black line*. (b) The same specimen after inking margins. (c, d) Another

CDP specimen before and after inking. All margins and surfaces are inked with the following color code: *violet* for PNM, SMVM in *orange*, SMAM in *green*, *black* for anterior surface, and posterior margin in *blue*

14. In TP specimens, ink anterior surface, SMVM, SMAM, and posterior margin of the head and anterior and posterior surface of the body-tail. Include gastroduodenal margins and BDM. PNM is logically not present in these specimens (Fig. 26.10). Split the specimen into head and body-tail, and proceed as seen before. Lymph nodes sampling as usual.

26.3.2 Microscopic Examination and Pathologic Reporting

Some data that need to be addressed in pathology reporting are the following:

 Tumor location and histological subtype and grade are assessed according to the latest version of the World Health Organization (WHO) classification [97] (Appendixes 1 and 2).

- Tumor size and extension (invasion to adipose tissue, duodenum muscular wall, or other organs) are also recorded (Fig. 26.11a).
- Perineural and lymphovascular invasion have been shown to be adverse prognostic factors and should also be reported [85] (Fig. 26.11b, c).
- The regional lymph nodes for the pancreatic and periampullary carcinomas can be grouped according to AJCC or the JPS (Fig. 26.12) [41, 56] (Appendix 3). All lymph nodes should be examined histologically (Fig. 26.11d), specifying the area if possible. Direct extension to the primary tumor into a lymph node is considered lymph node metastasis according to the AJCC 7th edition [98]. According to RCPUK protocol [38], the use of immunohistochemistry to detect micrometastases is not still recommended in daily practice even though it has been demonstrated in one study that detection of isolated tumor cells or small clusters of cells



Fig. 26.5 Different margins taken by en face technique. (a) Duodenal distal margin. (b) Gastric proximal margin. (c) BDM. (d) PNM



Fig. 26.6 (a) First slice through the ampulla of Vater, perpendicular to the duodenal axe (axial technique). (b) 3-5 mm thick consecutive slices of the complete specimen



Fig. 26.7 (a) A selected section. (b) Schematic representation of all margins in the same photograph (*blue*, posterior margin; *green*, SMAM; *orange*, SMVM; *black*, vascular segment; *violet*, PNM; and *red*, anterior surface). (c) The same color code as in picture **b** is represented in

the scanner image. Duodenal mucosa and vasculature are also colored in the scanner image: superior mesenteric vein (SMV), superior mesenteric artery (SMA), portal vein (PV), and aorta (AO). Bile duct is recognized by the presence of prosthesis



Fig. 26.8 Photograph of the complete sliced specimen where schema of tumor samples is written down. The vast majority of tumor is taken as well as the ampulla (number

by immunohistochemistry in lymph nodes is an independent adverse prognostic factor in PDCA staged as N0 [99].

 Microscopic distance to every margin should be reported, especially if less than 1–1.5 mm.
 When a segment of vascular channel is included, identify the level of invasion with

20) and lymph nodes (*circles*), some of them with inked margin (numbers 21–28)

the wall, and look for tumor cells in the luminal side (Fig. 26.13).

- Response to neoadjuvant therapy should be also evaluated (see next section).
- Precursor lesions are frequent on the adjacent pancreas and need to be stated. The problematic issue is their significance at the margins.



Fig. 26.9 Distal pancreatectomy (DP) specimen. (a) Anterior view. (b) Anterior margin inked in *violet*. (c) Posterior margin in *green color*. (d) Consecutive slices

from pancreatic margin (*the upper left corner*) to the end of the tail (*the lower right corner*)

Although the significance of low-grade PanIN is uncertain because it can be also found in the context of benign lesions, reporting PanIN-3 at the margins is generally recommended [38–40].

An example of a straightforward template for pathologic reporting of the pancreatic and periampullary cancer specimen is proposed in which all of this data is included (Appendix 4).

26.3.3 Pathological Staging in Pancreatic Cancer

As in other solid neoplasms, the staging of patients at diagnosis should provide one of the strongest prognostic factors of outcome in their specific tumor type. The TNM classification developed by the AJCC [98] is a worldwide accepted cancer staging system, based on three characteristics: tumor size/extent of the disease (T), lymph node spread (N), and the presence of distant metastases (M). The principles for creating a staging system in a particular malignancy are few: individual staging should stratify patients into prognostic groups with statistically significant differences among them which are clinically relevant; the system needs to be reproducible and easily incorporated into general practice [100].

In the particular case of pancreatic cancer, some of the pathology staging parameters included in the seventh edition were difficult to apply in routine practice according to some international experts [101]. For that reason, some major changes for T and N classification have



Fig. 26.10 Total pancreatectomy (TP) specimen. (a) Posterior view. (b) Posterior view after inking with the following color code: *violet* for complete posterior surface, *orange* for SMVM, and *green* for SMAM. Anterior

surface and posterior margin are not inked in the photograph. (c, d) Consecutive slices corresponding to the head of the pancreas (c) and to the body-tail (d). The whole specimen is full of cystic spaces

been proposed for the next eight edition of the TNM [100] (Appendix 5). These changes have been explored in 2318 patients, and the results were statistically valid and allowed a more reproducible system, especially in T staging. This new system, according to the authors, also stratifies patients more evenly across stages without sacrificing prognostic accuracy [100]. However, this classification does not include some important prognostic factors for pancreatic and periampullary carcinomas such us margin involvement or response to neoadjuvant therapy.

26.4 Role of Frozen Section During Surgery for Pancreatic/Periampullary Cancer

Intraoperative examination by frozen sections is commonly performed for pancreatic surgery in order to obtain histological diagnosis when only clinical suspicion is available, to assess resectability in the case of unexpected locoregional spread, and to ensure free margins [102].



Fig.26.11 Microscopic details of a pancreatic adenocarcinoma. (a) Invasion of the muscular wall of the duodenum, (b) perineural invasion, (c) vascular invasion

(*arrows*, tumor cell permeating the vessel wall), and (d) a metastatic lymph node close to the inked margin (H&E, $100 \times magnification$)

Intraoperative studies for confirmation of malignancy are less frequent nowadays. The incidence of false-negative results varies in the published literature from 1.2% to 75% [102–104]. The improvement of diagnostic imaging tools such as high-resolution multislice spiral CT allows the diagnosis of malignancy in the majority of cases (97%), and even resectability could be assessed with high accuracy [105]. In addition to this, the use of minimal invasive techniques such as EUS-FNA, which can diagnose cancer with a 90% sensibility and a 100% specificity in expert cytopathologist hands [106], may drastically reduce the number of patients entering the operating room with no previous diagnosis.

For the assessment of locoregional spread, frozen sections can be performed in any incidental finding during surgery (hepatic, peritoneal lesions or suspicious para-aortic lymph nodes), which were not identified on routine imaging.

Pancreatic cancer surgery aims to achieve R0 resections. Frozen sections allow further resection if a positive margin is found and therefore increase the rate of final R0 [54, 107]. However, the impact of microscopic involvement of margins seems to be less critical than the presence of micrometastatic disease, biology aggressiveness, or lymph node metastases [77], which is why intraoperative margin assessment during pancreatic surgery for achieving usefulness R0 resec-



Fig. 26.12 Schematic design of the Japan Pancreas Society node stations [56]

tion has been a matter of debate over the last years.

Regarding which margins should be evaluated intraoperatively, the most important margins are, logically, vascular (SMVM and SMAM) and posterior due to their high rate of involvement. However, even if one of these margins is positive intraoperatively, an extended resection at this level is impossible. For that reason an "arteryfirst" surgical approach is defended by some groups in order to reduce the number of R1 resections, but the benefit seems to be limited [108–113].

BDM frequently requires intraoperative examination, more important when origin in biliary tract is suspected.



Fig. 26.13 (a) Panoramic view of a pancreatic section including SMVM and SMVM. A portion of vessel is attached to SMVM (*arrows*). From this magnification, the tumor area is distinguished from pancreatic parenchyma and adipose tissue (stars) (H&E, 10× magnification). (b) High-power field of vessel margin. Tumor gland is more

than 2 mm far away from the lumen, and no wall invasion is seen (H&E, 40× magnification). (c) Tumor gland within the 1 mm of the margin. This is considered R1 resection for many authors (H&E, 40× magnification). (d) Inked margin in *green color*. No tumor is identified within 1 mm (H&E, 40× magnification)

Anthony	Veen	Cradaa	Histologic	Description			
Authors	Year	Grades	criteria	Description	. 1 . 11		
Ishikawa et al.	1989	3	SDCC: Severely	1: <33% severely degene	rated cancer cells		
[150]			degenerated	3: >66% degenerated car	ncer cells		
			cancer cells				
Evans et al.	1992	4	Viability	I. Characteristic cytologi	c changes of malignan	cy are	
[132]				present, but little (<10%) or no tumor cell destruction is			
				evident II. In addition to characteristic cytologic changes of			
				malignancy, 10–90% of t	umor cells are destroy	ed	
				IIa. Destruction of 1	0–50% of tumor cells		
				IIb. Destruction of 51–90% of tumor cells			
				III. Few (<10%) viable-a	ppearing tumor cell ar	e present	
				IIIM. Sizable pools	of mucin are present		
				IVM. Acellular poo	ls of mucin are present	-	
Pendurthi	1996	2	Fibrosis	<80% fibrosis	1		
et al. [139]				≥80% fibrosis			
White et al.	2005	4	Necrosis,	Necrosis	Residual tumor	Fibrosis	
[137]			residual tumor		load		
			fibrosis	Extensive	Large	Extensive	
				Focal	Small	Mild	
				Absent	Minimal		
					None		
Chun et al.	2011	3	Fibrosis	– Minor: <50% fibrosis r	elative to residual neop	plastic cells	
[125]				- Partial: $50 \le \text{fibrosis} <$	95%		
Hartman and	2012	3/4	Necrosis	$-$ Major. $\geq 95\%$ librosis	nce of treatment effect	- avtanciva	
Krasinskas	2012	5/4	residual tumor	or (>90%) residual cancer; only minimal cytopathic effect an			
[129] load, and			load, and	baseline fibrosis are prese	ent		
			fibrosis	- Minimal to moderate: Residual tumor present; includes			
				small groups of cells/glands without evidence of cytopathic effect cells/glands outside the main fibrotic mass and/or			
				effect, cells/glands outside the main fibrotic mass, and/or >5% of the main fibrotic mass with cancer/glands, with or			
				without cytopathic effect			
				- Marked response: No r	farked response: No residual tumor or rare, single cancer		
				cells or small groups of cancer cells (glands) with marked			
				cytopathic effect present with a fibrotic stroma *the presence of pecrosis is reported separately			
				**if no tumor cells are id	entified within a lesion	n that was	
				submitted in its entirety f	or histologic examinat	ion, then the	
				designation complete res	ponse can be rendered		
Chatterjee	2012,	2	Residual tumor	- Complete or near-comp	olete response (single c	ells or small	
et al. [140] and Verbeke et al	2015			groups of cancer cells)			
[133]				- Linned of no response			
CAP and	2005,	4	Residual	0 (complete response): no	o viable tumoral cells		
RCPA [Ryan	2014,		tumor, fibrosis	1 (moderate response): si	ngle cells or small gro	ups of	
system] [39,	2016			tumoral cells			
40, 136]				2 (minimal response): res 3 (poor): extensive residu	sidual tumor with fibro	\$15	
	1	1	1	1.5 (poor). extensive residu	iai iumoi		

Table 26.4 Comparison of grading systems of pathologic response to neoadjuvant therapy in pancreatic cancer reported in the literature

CAP College of American Pathologists, RCPA Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia

Concerning the pancreatic neck margin (PNM), controversy is open for debate. R0 PNM resection has proved to be prognostic [114]. Achieving a negative PNM after a positive result during intraoperative assessment can be reached by taking an additional pancreatic slice or performing a total pancreatectomy. However, the real value in terms of survival of extended surgery is not totally clear [37]. While some institutions have shown an improvement in overall survival [70, 115], other studies have not demonstrated any survival benefit [54, 107, 116, 117]. Although the prognostic significance of extended surgery is in doubt and could be of limited benefit, intraoperative analysis still remains a current practice in many hospitals [54]. This is explained by the fact that a complete R0 surgery is thought to be the best chance to improve outcome but only if extended surgery does not increase morbidity.

Regarding precursor lesions of pancreatic cancer (PanIN and IPMN), there are some general agreements in their intraoperative examination on resection margins [118, 119]. It has been demonstrated that the presence of PanIN of any grade at the margin during surgical resection for pancreatic cancer does not influence in terms of survival [120]. However, the presence of a highgrade PanIN is highly suggestive of near invasive carcinoma and should imply further surgery [121]. In cases of IPMN, only high-grade or invasive carcinoma is required to be reported for more extensive surgery [118]. The presence of low-grade dysplasia at the margin does not justify extended surgery for now [120, 122, 123].

Frozen section diagnosis is often a challenge for pathologists who need to render a diagnosis with critical implication for the patient in a very short time and on a small piece of frozen tissue with the consequent artifacts and potential pitfalls (Fig. 26.14). Chronic pancreatitis and other inflammatory changes are the most commonly difficult differential diagnoses in pancreatic frozen sections. In cases of IPMN, denuded epithaelium should also be reported because of the impossibility for assessing malignancy [118,



Fig. 26.14 Images of an intraoperative assessment. (a) One of the samples usually asked intraoperatively (BDM). (b) Distant suspicious lymph nodes can also be sent. Specimens are put in a special platform with OCT. (c)

Frozen process in liquid nitrogen. (d) Cutting process is followed by staining in H&E. (f, g) Panoramic view of frozen sections corresponding to BDM and PNM, respectively (H&E, $10 \times magnification)$



Fig.26.15 Microscopic view of post-treatment specimen. (a) Isolated cells (*arrows*) within fibromyxoid matrix (H&E, 100× magnification). (b) Scattered tumor glands (*stars*) (H&E, 100× magnification). (c) Predominance of

124]. Moreover the distinction between lowand high-grade lesions is often quite difficult, and sometimes it is not possible to confidently exclude the presence of invasive carcinoma/ high-grade dysplasia during intraoperative assessment [118].

26.5 Assessment of the Histopathological Response After Neoadjuvant Therapy

Pathological response to neoadjuvant therapy is an important prognostic factor in many other tumors. However, the relevance of pathological response in pancreatic cancer survival still remains unclear [125–127].

residual tumor cells over fibrosis (H&E, 100× magnification). (d) Detail of tumor cells. Cytologic changes include clear and eosinophilic cytoplasm and pyknotic appearance of the nucleus (H&E, 200× magnification)

Preoperative chemoradiation is being used on borderline or non-resectable patients in an attempt to offer at least a percentage of these patients a surgical approach [125]. Nowadays more and more patients are being treated with neoadjuvant chemoradiation, even if they are initially resectable. The intention is to ameliorate such poor results in margin involvement rates and patient survival when dealing with tumors thought to be locally restricted [128–130]. Indeed, adjuvant chemotherapy after surgery is not performed in at least a quarter of patients due to the prolonged recovery of this aggressive surgery [131]. Summarizing, some of the claims in favor of neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy are to avoid surgery in very aggressive tumors which rapidly progress despite treatment, to provide more effective chemotherapy in an unaltered and

well-vascularized tumor, to reduce secondary effects and improve tolerance of the treatment in a healthier patient (before surgery), to evaluate its effectiveness, to improve the rate of negative surgical margins, and to provide an early treatment of any possible occult micrometastases [125, 128, 132, 133].

This increase of pretreated patients means that many of the pancreatic specimens will need evaluation for histopathological response of treatment. However, a consensus for the reporting criteria is lacking [125, 133].

Pancreatic cancer is a very challenging neoplasm, and the assessment of pathological therapy response is as complicated as other aspects of these tumors. The first obstacle is to differentiate the effect of chemoradiation in terms of morphology from untreated tumors (Fig. 26.15). Indeed, the vast majority of patients are diagnosed by fine needle aspiration where architecture and other parameters such us fibrosis or necrosis cannot be compared with the histology of the specimen. The second problem is defining which parameters to consider for evaluating pathological response. Assessing the amount of fibrosis due to posttreatment effect in a tumor where the main morphological feature is fibrosis is quite difficult and subjective. Finally, the grading system must be feasible and reproducible. The more grades the system has, the more accurate it is expected to be, but it becomes extremely complex and less efficient in the end.

Many schemas have been described in other neoplasms of the gastrointestinal tract such as rectal or esophageal cancer [134–136], perhaps due to the widespread use of neoadjuvant treatment. Few articles referring specifically to histologic grading of treatment response in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma have been published [125, 129, 132, 133, 137–140], and none of them have been completely accepted. In fact, the CAP recommends in its protocol [40] the assessment of the therapy response by a four-tiered system based on one by Ryan et al. [136]. This scheme was originally used for rectal cancers with neoadjuvant therapy and perhaps, as pointed out by Hartman and Krasinskas [129], probably recommended with the intention of homogenizing pathology reports of gastrointestinal cancers. The protocol also manifests that other systems can be used but any reference of specific protocols for pancreatic cancer is referred. The RCPA also uses the same grade system in its protocol [39], but any reference to reporting treatment effect is addressed on RCPUK protocol [38]. In Table 26.4 the different systems for grading therapy effect in pancreatic cancer specimens are compared.

Ishikawa et al. [138] proposed a three-tiered grading system based on the percentage of the concept SDCC (severely degenerated cancer cells). The Evans system [132] defined four grades (with respective subgrades) assessing the percentage of destruction of tumor cells. Pendruthi et al. [139] divided patients in two grades depending on fibrosis. White et al. [137], similarly to Evans, proposed a three-tiered grading system based on the percentage of residual tumor in addition to necrosis and fibrosis. Chun et al. [125] positioned their classification based exclusively on fibrosis in three grades. The study of Hartman and Krasinskas [129] is a very exhaustive and critical review of the different previous proposed grading systems of pretreated pancreatic cancers. These authors analyze in depth each criterion used for grading and their advantages and limitations; they conclude that routine hematoxylin-eosin stained sections are the only method to assess histopathological response to treatment at present, emphasizing on the importance of sampling correct methodology. Their so-called simplified three-tiered system is a modification of the scheme proposed by the CAP with the admixture of some ideas or concepts of Ishikawa et al. [138] and Evans et al. [132] grading systems.

It is true that the four-tiered system based on residual tumor cells and fibrosis proposed by the CAP protocol is widely used. This system avoids subjective histomorphology concepts like "viable tumor cell," and it is likely to reduce intraobserver and interobserver variability. As proposed by Hartman and Krasinskas [129], the use of a complementary description is a perfect idea to avoid any confusion. However, considering that only complete response seems to be related to improved survival, other authors claim a more simple and pragmatic system with two grades: complete or near-complete response (single cells or small groups of cancer cells) and limited or no response [133, 140].

In addition to the response evaluation, many other issues regarding posttreatment specimens have still not been addressed [133]. International consensus is urgently needed regarding not only pathologic response but also macroscopic examination. While some questions remain unsolved, such us whether 1 mm margin clearance is enough in pre-treated specimens or if it is necessary pathological evaluation of regression in lymph nodes in routinely practice, some practical recommendations are addressed by Verbeke et al. [133].

Conclusion

At present, pathology reporting in pancreatic and periampullary neoplasms remains one of the main pillars in patient care, and it highly influences therapeutic decisions. It has been thoroughly demonstrated that pancreatic specimens are complex, and a meticulous standardized protocol is the only option to obtain reliable data and to guarantee comparable results among studies. We propose a handling and reporting protocol based on the published literature of the main international groups. However, an international consensus in basic and controversial pathology aspects is urgently required.

Acknowledgments The authors thank Ms. Landy Menzies for her review of the manuscript. The authors also thank A. Juaristi, M.J. Silva, M.C. Caballero, and M. Larzabal, specialized pathologists at the Department of Pathology, Hospital Universitario Donostia, for their collaboration.

Appendix 1: WHO Classification of Malignant Epithelial Tumors of the Pancreas, Gallbladder and Extrahepatic Bile Ducts, Ampulla Region, and Small Intestine [97]

Pancreas

- Ductal adenocarcinoma
 - Adenosquamous carcinoma
 - Colloid carcinoma (mucinous noncystic carcinoma)
 - Hepatoid carcinoma
 - Medullary carcinoma
 - Signet ring cell carcinoma
 - Undifferentiated (anaplastic) carcinoma
 - Undifferentiated carcinoma with osteoclast-like giant cells
- Acinar cell carcinoma
- Acinar cell cystadenocarcinoma
- · Intraductal papillary-mucinous neoplasm with an associated invasive carcinoma
- Mixed acinar-ductal carcinoma
- · Mixed acinar-neuroendocrine carcinoma
- Mixed acinar-neuroendocrine-ductal carcinoma
- Mixed ductal-neuroendocrine carcinoma
- · Mucinous cystic neoplasm with an associated invasive carcinoma
- Pancreatoblastoma
- Serous cystadenocarcinoma
- Solid-pseudopapillary neoplasm

Gallbladder and extrahepatic bile ducts

- Adenocarcinoma
 - Adenocarcinoma, biliary type
 - Adenocarcinoma, gastric foveolar type
 - Adenocarcinoma, intestinal type
 - Clear cell adenocarcinoma
 - Mucinous adenocarcinoma
 - Signet ring cell carcinoma
- · Adenosquamous carcinoma
- · Intracystic (gallbladder) or intraductal (bile ducts) papillary neoplasm with an associated invasive carcinoma
- · Mucinous cystic neoplasm with an associated invasive carcinoma
- Squamous cell carcinoma
- Undifferentiated carcinoma small intestine

Ampullary region Small intestine Adenocarcinoma Adenocarcinoma Invasive intestinal type Mucinous adenocarcinoma Pancreatobiliary type Signet ring cell carcinoma · Adenosquamous carcinoma Adenosquamous carcinoma · Clear cell carcinoma Medullary carcinoma · Hepatoid adenocarcinoma Squamous cell carcinoma Invasive papillary adenocarcinoma Undifferentiated carcinoma · Mucinous adenocarcinoma · Signet ring cell carcinoma · Squamous cell carcinoma Undifferentiated carcinoma · Undifferentiated carcinoma with osteoclast-like giant cells

Benign and premalignant epithelial lesions and neuroendocrine tumors are not included

Appendix 2: Histopathological Grading of PDAC According to WHO Classification [97, 141]

Tumor grade	Glandular differentiation	Mucin production	Mitoses (per 10 HPF)	Nuclear features
Grade 1	Well differentiated	Intensive	5	Little polymorphism, polar arrangement
Grade 2	Moderately differentiated duct-like structures and tubular glands	Irregular	6–10	Moderate polymorphism
Grade 3	Poorly differentiated glands, abortive mucoepidermoid and pleomorphic structures	Abortive	>10	Marked polymorphism and increased size

HPF high-power field

Appendix 3: Equivalences Between Lymph Node Stations According to JPS and AJCC-UICC Classification [41, 56]

JPS node	
stations	UICC node stations
5	Suprapyloric
6	Infrapyloric
7	Left gastric artery
8	Common hepatic artery
9	Celiac
10	Splenic hilum
11	Superior splenic artery
12	Hepatoduodenal ligament (portal/bile duct)
13	Posterior pancreaticoduodenal
14	Superior mesenteric vessel
15	Colic artery
16	Para-aortic
17	Anterior pancreaticoduodenal
18	Inferior

Appendix 4: Example of Pathologic Report of the Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer Specimens

Pathologic report of pancreatic specim	ens	
Patient:	Identification number:	
– Name:	Tumor banking: Yes no	
– Age:		
– Affiliation number:		
Previous diagnosis:	Photodocumentation: Yes no	
Macroscopic examination		
Specimen type:	Tumor location:	
Macroscopic characteristics:	Tumor size: cm	
Microscopic examination		
Histologic type:	Invasion:	Precursor lesions:
Histologic grade:	– Vascular	– PanIN
Microscopic tumor size: cm	– Lymphatic	– IPMN
Microscopic tunior Size. cili	– Perineural	– Other:

Pathologic report of pancreatic specimens						
Tumor extension:	Nonneoplastic lesions					
Treatment effect (neoadjuvant therapy): - Complete response (grade 0) - Moderate response (grade 1) - Minimal response (grade 2) - Poor response (grade 3)	 Bile duct obstruction Pancreatic duct obstruction Pancreatic calculi Chronic pancreatitis Other: 					
Margins distance*:	Lymph nodes:	+	Total			
– Proximal (luminal):	– Suprapyloric (S5)					
– Distal (luminal):	– Infrapyloric (S6)					
 CBD: PNM: Anterior surface: Posterior margin: SMVM: SMAM: 	– Peripancreatic (S13, 17, 18)					
	– Left gastric artery (S7)					
	– Common hepatic artery (S8)					
	– Celiac (S9)					
	– Hepatoduodenal ligament (S12)					
– Other:	– Superior mesenteric vessel (S14)					
	– Colic artery (S15)					
*fill in margins when applicable. If a margin	– Para-aortic (S16)					
is involved, indicate the distance and specify	– Splenic hilum (S10)					
direct or indirect involvement	– Superior splenic artery (S11)					
	LNR (positive nodes/total nodes):					
TNM classification (according to the current	edition):					
Comments:						

Appendix 5:New Proposed TNM Classification for AJCC Staging System for Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma (Eight Edition) [100]

Primary tumor (T)				
T1: Maximum tumor diamet	ter $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$			
T2: Maximum tumor diamet	ter > $2 \le 4 \text{ cm}$			
T3: Maximum tumor diamet	ter > 4 cm			
T4: Tumor involves the celia	ac axis or the superior m	esenteric artery (unresectabl	e primary tumor)	
Regional lymph nodes (N)				
N0: No regional lymph node	e metastasis			
N1: Metastasis in 1-3 region	nal lymph nodes			
N2: Metastasis in ≥4 region	al lymph nodes			
Distant metastases (M)				
M0: No distant metastases				
M1: Distant metastases				
Stages				
Stage IA	T1	NO	M0	
Stage IB	T2	NO	M0	
Stage IIA	T3	NO	M0	
Stage IIB	T1-T3	N1	M0	
Stage III	Any T	Any N	M0	
	T4	N2	M0	
Stage IV	Any T	Any N	M1	

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015;65(1):5–29.
- Silvestris N, Longo V, Cellini F, Reni M, Bittoni A, Cataldo I, et al. Neoadjuvant multimodal treatment of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2016;98:309–24.
- Bockhorn M, Uzunoglu FG, Adham M, Imrie C, Milicevic M, Sandberg AA, et al. Borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: a consensus statement by the International Study Group of Pancreatic Surgery (ISGPS). Surgery. 2014;155(6):977–88.
- Van den Broeck A, Sergeant G, Ectors N, Van Steenbergen W, Aerts R, Topal B. Patterns of recurrence after curative resection of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35(6):600–4.
- Ferrone CR, Pieretti-Vanmarcke R, Bloom JP, Zheng H, Szymonifka J, Wargo JA, et al. Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: long-term survival does not equal cure. Surgery. 2012;152(3 Suppl 1):S43–9.
- Allema JH, Reinders ME, van Gulik TM, Koelemay MJ, Van Leeuwen DJ, de Wit LT, et al. Prognostic factors for survival after pancreaticoduodenectomy for patients with carcinoma of the pancreatic head region. Cancer. 1995;75(8):2069–76.
- Yeo CJ, Sohn TA, Cameron JL, Hruban RH, Lillemoe KD, Pitt HA. Periampullary adenocarcinoma: analysis of 5-year survivors. Ann Surg. 1998;227(6):821–31.
- Sohn TA, Yeo CJ, Cameron JL, Koniaris L, Kaushal S, Abrams RA, et al. Resected adenocarcinoma of the pancreas-616 patients: results, outcomes, and prognostic indicators. J Gastrointest Surg. 2000;4(6):567–79.
- Jarufe NP, Coldham C, Mayer AD, Mirza DF, Buckels JA, Bramhall SR. Favourable prognostic factors in a large UK experience of adenocarcinoma of the head of the pancreas and periampullary region. Dig Surg. 2004;21(3):202–9.
- van Geenen RC, van Gulik TM, Offerhaus GJ, de Wit LT, Busch OR, Obertop H, Gouma DJ. Survival after pancreaticoduodenectomy for periampullary adenocarcinoma: an update. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2001;27(6):549–57.
- Schmidt CM, Powell ES, Yiannoutsos CT, Howard TJ, Wiebke EA, Wiesenauer CA, et al. Pancreaticoduodenectomy: a 20-year experience in 516 patients. Arch Surg. 2004;139(7):718–25. discussion 725-7
- Wagner M, Redaelli C, Lietz M, Seiler CA, Friess H, Büchler MW. Curative resection is the single most important factor determining outcome in patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Br J Surg. 2004;91(5):586–94.
- Winter JM, Cameron JL, Campbell KA, Arnold MA, Chang DC, Coleman J, et al. 1423 pancreaticoduodenectomies for pancreatic cancer: a single-institution experience. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10(9):1199– 210. discussion 1210-1

- 14. van Roest MH, Gouw AS, Peeters PM, Porte RJ, Slooff MJ, Fidler V, et al. Results of pancreaticoduodenectomy in patients with periampullary adenocarcinoma: perineural growth more important prognostic factor than tumor localization. Ann Surg. 2008;248(1):97–103.
- Chang DK, Johns AL, Merrett ND, Gill AJ, Colvin EK, Scarlett CJ, et al. Margin clearance and outcome in resected pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(17):2855–62.
- Hatzaras I, George N, Muscarella P, Melvin WS, Ellison EC, Bloomston M. Predictors of survival in periampullary cancers following pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(4):991–7.
- Verbeke CS, Leitch D, Menon KV, McMahon MJ, Guillou PJ, Anthoney A. Redefining the R1 resection in pancreatic cancer. Br J Surg. 2006;93(10):1232–7.
- Esposito I, Kleeff J, Bergmann F, Reiser C, Herpel E, Friess H, et al. Most pancreatic cancer resections are R1 resections. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(6):1651–60.
- Verbeke CS. Resection margins and R1 rates in pancreatic cancer—are we there yet? Histopathology. 2008;52(7):787–96.
- Verbeke CS, Menon KV. Redefining resection margin status in pancreatic cancer. HPB (Oxford). 2009;11(4):282–9.
- Campbell F, Smith RA, Whelan P, Sutton R, Raraty M, Neoptolemos JP, et al. Classification of R1 resections for pancreatic cancer: the prognostic relevance of tumour involvement within 1 mm of a resection margin. Histopathology. 2009;55(3):277–83.
- Menon KV, Gomez D, Smith AM, Anthoney A, Verbeke CS. Impact of margin status on survival following pancreatoduodenectomy for cancer: the Leeds Pathology Protocol (LEEPP). HPB (Oxford). 2009;11(1):18–24.
- 23. Liszka Ł, Pajak J, Zielińska-Pajak E, Gołka D, Mrowiec S, Lampe P. Different approaches to assessment of lymph nodes and surgical margin status in patients with ductal adenocarcinoma of the pancreas treated with pancreaticoduodenectomy. Pathology. 2010;42(2):138–46.
- 24. Jamieson NB, Foulis AK, Oien KA, Going JJ, Glen P, Dickson EJ, et al. Positive mobilization margins alone do not influence survival following pancreatico-duodenectomy for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Ann Surg. 2010;251(6):1003–10.
- Sabater L, Gómez-Mateo Mdel C, López-Sebastián J, Muñoz-Forner E, Morera-Ocón F, Cervantes A, et al. Prognostic implications of the standardized study of resection margins in pancreatic cancers. Cir Esp. 2014;92(8):532–8.
- 26. Delpero JR, Bachellier P, Regenet N, Le Treut YP, Paye F, Carrere N, et al. Pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: a French multicentre prospective evaluation of resection margins in 150 evaluable specimens. HPB (Oxford). 2014;16(1):20–33.

- 27. Staley CA, Cleary KR, Abbruzzese JL, Lee JE, Ames FC, Fenoglio CJ, et al. The need for standardized pathologic staging of pancreaticoduodenectomy specimens. Pancreas. 1996;12(4):373–80.
- Verbeke CS. Resection margins in pancreatic cancer: are we entering a new era? HPB (Oxford). 2014;16(1):1–2.
- Verbeke CS, Gladhaug IP. Resection margin involvement and tumour origin in pancreatic head cancer. Br J Surg. 2012;99(8):1036–49.
- Westgaard A, Tafjord S, Farstad IN, Cvancarova M, Eide TJ, Mathisen O, et al. Resectable adenocarcinomas in the pancreatic head: the retroperitoneal resection margin is an independent prognostic factor. BMC Cancer. 2008;8:5.
- Khalifa MA, Maksymov V, Rowsell C. Retroperitoneal margin of the pancreaticoduodenectomy specimen: anatomic mapping for the surgical pathologist. Virchows Arch. 2009;454(2):125–31.
- 32. Gaedcke J, Gunawan B, Grade M, Szöke R, Liersch T, Becker H, et al. The mesopancreas is the primary site for R1 resection in pancreatic head cancer: relevance for clinical trials. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2010;395(4):451–8.
- 33. Rau BM, Moritz K, Schuschan S, Alsfasser G, Prall F, Klar E. R1 resection in pancreatic cancer has significant impact on long-term outcome in standardized pathology modified for routine use. Surgery. 2012;152(3 Suppl 1):S103–11.
- 34. Maksymov V, Hogan M, Khalifa MA. An anatomical-based mapping analysis of the pancreaticoduodenectomy retroperitoneal margin highlights the urgent need for standardized assessment. HPB (Oxford). 2013;15(3):218–23.
- Gómez-Mateo Mdel C, Sabater-Ortí L, Ferrández-Izquierdo A. Pathology handling of pancreatoduodenectomy specimens: approaches and controversies. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2014;6(9):351–9.
- 36. Adsay NV, Basturk O, Saka B, Bagci P, Ozdemir D, Balci S, et al. Whipple made simple for surgical pathologists: orientation, dissection, and sampling of pancreaticoduodenectomy specimens for a more practical and accurate evaluation of pancreatic, distal common bile duct, and ampullary tumors. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38(4):480–93.
- Ethun CG, Kooby DA. The importance of surgical margins in pancreatic cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2016;113(3):283–8.
- 38. Campbell F, Foulis AK, Verbeke CS. Dataset for the histopathological reporting of carcinomas of the pancreas, ampulla of Vater and common bile duct. In "Standards and datasets for reporting cancers.". London: The Royal College of Pathologists; 2010. https://www.rcpath.org
- 39. Chai SM, Brown I, de Boer B, Epari K, Gill A, Jasas K, et al. Cancer of the exocrine pancreas, ampulla of Vater and distal common bile duct. Structured reporting protocol. 1st ed. Australia: Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia; 2014. http://www.rcpa.edu.au

- 40. Washington K, Berlin J, Branton P, Burgart LJ, Carter DK, Compton CC, et al. Protocol for the examination of specimens from patients with carcinoma of the exocrine pancreas: protocol applies to all endocrine tumors of the pancreas. Northfield: College of American Pathologists; 2016. http:// www.cap.org
- Edge SB, Byrd DR, Compton CC, Fritz AG, Greene FL, Trotti A. Cancer staging manual. American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC). 7th ed. New York: Springer; 2010.
- 42. Gill AJ, Johns AL, Eckstein R, Samra JS, Kaufman A, Chang DK, et al. Synoptic reporting improves histopathological assessment of pancreatic resection specimens. Pathology. 2009;41(2):161–7.
- 43. Katz MH, Merchant NB, Brower S, Branda M, Posner MC, William Traverso L, et al. Standardization of surgical and pathologic variables is needed in multicenter trials of adjuvant therapy for pancreatic cancer: results from the ACOSOG Z5031 trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(2):337–44.
- 44. Lüttges J, Zamboni G, Klöppel G. Recommendation for the examination of pancreaticoduodenectomy specimens removed from patients with carcinoma of the exocrine pancreas. A proposal for a standardized pathological staging of pancreaticoduodenectomy specimens including a checklist. Dig Surg. 1999;16(4):291–6.
- 45. Howard TJ, Krug JE, Yu J, Zyromski NJ, Schmidt CM, Jacobson LE, et al. A margin-negative R0 resection accomplished with minimal postoperative complications is the surgeon's contribution to longterm survival in pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10(10):1338–45. discussion 1345-6
- 46. Raut CP, Tseng JF, Sun CC, Wang H, Wolff RA, Crane CH, et al. Impact of resection status on pattern of failure and survival after pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Ann Surg. 2007;246(1):52–60.
- 47. Jamieson NB, Chan NI, Foulis AK, Dickson EJ, McKay CJ, Carter CR. The prognostic influence of resection margin clearance following pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. J Gastrointest Surg. 2013;17(3):511–21.
- 48. Gnerlich JL, Luka SR, Deshpande AD, Dubray BJ, Weir JS, Carpenter DH, Brunt EM, Strasberg SM, Hawkins WG, Linehan DC. Microscopic margins and patterns of treatment failure in resected pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Arch Surg. 2012;147(8):753–60.
- 49. John BJ, Naik P, Ironside A, Davidson BR, Fusai G, Gillmore R, et al. Redefining the R1 resection for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: tumour lymph nodal burden and lymph node ratio are the only prognostic factors associated with survival. HPB (Oxford). 2013;15(9):674–80.
- Kimbrough CW, St Hill CR, Martin RC, McMasters KM, Scoggins CR. Tumor-positive resection margins reflect an aggressive tumor biology in pancreatic cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2013;107(6):602–7.

- 51. Konstantinidis IT, Warshaw AL, Allen JN, Blaszkowsky LS, Castillo CF, Deshpande V, et al. Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: is there a survival difference for R1 resections versus locally advanced unresectable tumors? What is a "true" R0 resection? Ann Surg. 2013;257(4):731–6.
- Sugiura T, Uesaka K, Mihara K, Sasaki K, Kanemoto H, Mizuno T, et al. Margin status, recurrence pattern, and prognosis after resection of pancreatic cancer. Surgery. 2013;154:1078–86.
- Mathur A, Ross SB, Luberice K, Kurian T, Vice M, Toomey P, Rosemurgy AS. Margin status impacts survival after pancreaticoduodenectomy but negative margins should not be pursued. Am Surg. 2014;80(4):353–60.
- 54. Pang TC, Wilson O, Argueta MA, Hugh TJ, Chou A, Samra JS, et al. Frozen section of the pancreatic neck margin in pancreatoduodenectomy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma is of limited utility. Pathology. 2014;46(3):188–92.
- 55. Gebauer F, Tachezy M, Vashist YK, Marx AH, Yekebas E, Izbicki JR, et al. Resection margin clearance in pancreatic cancer after implementation of the Leeds Pathology Protocol (LEEPP): clinically relevant or just academic? World J Surg. 2015;39(2):493–9.
- Japan Pancreas Society. Classification of pancreatic cancer. 2nd ed. Tokyo: Kanehara; 2003.
- Matsuno S, Egawa S, Fukuyama S, Motoi F, Sunamura M, Isaji S, et al. Pancreatic cancer registry in Japan: 20 years of experience. Pancreas. 2004;28(3):219–30.
- Nagakawa T, Nagamori M, Futakami F, Tsukioka Y, Kayahara M, Ohta T, et al. Results of extensive surgery for pancreatic carcinoma. Cancer. 1996;77(4):640–5.
- 59. Nagakawa T, Sanada H, Inagaki M, Sugama J, Ueno K, Konishi I, et al. Long-term survivors after resection of carcinoma of the head of the pancreas: significance of histologically curative resection. J Hepato-Biliary-Pancreat Surg. 2004;11(6):402–8.
- 60. Hruban RH, Bishop Pitman M, Klimstra DS. Tumors of the pancreas. In AFIP atlas of tumor pathology, 4th series, fascicle 6. Washington, DC: Armed Force Institute of Pathology; 2007.
- 61. Verbeke CS. Resection margins in pancreatic cancer. Surg Clin North Am. 2013;93(3):647–62.
- Katz MH, Bouvet M, Al-Refaie W, Gilpin EA, Moossa AR. Non-pancreatic periampullary adenocarcinomas: an explanation for favorable prognosis. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2004;51(57):842–6.
- Kamsposioras K, Anthoney DA, Ferentinos G, Smith AM, Menon KM, Cairns A, et al. Distal bile duct cancer – clinicopathological features and prognostic factors. Pancreatology. 2010;10:361.
- 64. Verbeke CS, Knapp J, Gladhaug IP. Tumour growth is more dispersed in pancreatic head cancers than in rectal cancer: implications for resection margin assessment. Histopathology. 2011;59(6):1111–21.

- 65. Solcia E, Capella C, Kloppel G. Tumors of the endocrine pancreas. In AFIP atlas of tumor pathology, 3rd series, fascicle 20. Washington, DC: Armed Forces Institute of Pathology; 1997.
- 66. Neoptolemos JP, Stocken DD, Dunn JA, Almond J, Beger HG, Pederzoli P, et al. Influence of resection margins on survival for patients with pancreatic cancer treated by adjuvant chemoradiation and/or chemotherapy in the ESPAC-1 randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg. 2001;234(6):758–68.
- 67. Pingpank JF, Hoffman JP, Ross EA, Cooper HS, Meropol NJ, Freedman G, et al. Effect of preoperative chemoradiotherapy on surgical margin status of resected adenocarcinoma of the head of the pancreas. J Gastrointest Surg. 2001;5(2):121–30.
- 68. Kuhlmann KF, de Castro SM, Wesseling JG, ten Kate FJ, Offerhaus GJ, Busch OR, et al. Surgical treatment of pancreatic adenocarcinoma; actual survival and prognostic factors in 343 patients. Eur J Cancer. 2004;40(4):549–58.
- Bilimoria KY, Talamonti MS, Sener SF, Bilimoria MM, Stewart AK, Winchester DP, et al. Effect of hospital volume on margin status after pancreaticoduodenectomy for cancer. J Am Coll Surg. 2008;207(4):510–9.
- Fatima J, Schnelldorfer T, Barton J, Wood CM, Wiste HJ, Smyrk TC, et al. Pancreatoduodenectomy for ductal adenocarcinoma: implications of positive margin on survival. Arch Surg. 2010;145(2):167–72.
- 71. Butturini G, Stocken DD, Wente MN, Jeekel H, Klinkenbijl JH, Bakkevold KE, et al. Influence of resection margins and treatment on survival in patients with pancreatic cancer: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arch Surg. 2008;143(1):75–83. discussion 83
- Willett CG, Lewandrowski K, Warshaw AL, Efird J, Compton CC. Resection margins in carcinoma of the head of the pancreas. Implications for radiation therapy. Ann Surg. 1993;217(2):144–8.
- 73. Yeo CJ, Abrams RA, Grochow LB, Sohn TA, Ord SE, Hruban RH, et al. Pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma: postoperative adjuvant chemoradiation improves survival. A prospective, single-institution experience. Ann Surg. 1997;225(5):621–33. discussion 633-6
- 74. Millikan KW, Deziel DJ, Silverstein JC, Kanjo TM, Christein JD, Doolas A, et al. Prognostic factors associated with resectable adenocarcinoma of the head of the pancreas. Am Surg. 1999;65(7):618–23. discussion 623-4
- Benassai G, Mastrorilli M, Quarto G, Cappiello A, Giani U, Forestieri P, et al. Factors influencing survival after resection for ductal adenocarcinoma of the head of the pancreas. J Surg Oncol. 2000;73(4):212–8.
- Hsu CC, Herman JM, Corsini MM, Winter JM, Callister MD, Haddock MG, et al. Adjuvant chemoradiation for pancreatic adenocarcinoma: the Johns Hopkins Hospital-Mayo Clinic collaborative study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(4):981–90.

- 77. Kooby DA, Lad NL, Squires MH 3rd, Maithel SK, Sarmiento JM, Staley CA, et al. Value of intraoperative neck margin analysis during Whipple for pancreatic adenocarcinoma: a multicenter analysis of 1399 patients. Ann Surg. 2014;260(3):494–501. discussion 501-3
- Schlitter AM, Esposito I. Definition of microscopic tumor clearance (r0) in pancreatic cancer resections. Cancers (Basel) 2010;2(4):2001–10.
- Wittekind C, Compton CC, Greene FL, Sobin LH. TNM residual tumor classification revisited. Cancer. 2002;94(9):2511–6.
- Shimada K, Sakamoto Y, Sano T, Kosuge T. Prognostic factors after distal pancreatectomy with extended lymphadenectomy for invasive pancreatic adenocarcinoma of the body and tail. Surgery. 2006;139(3):288–95.
- Lim JE, Chien MW, Earle CC. Prognostic factors following curative resection for pancreatic adenocarcinoma: a population-based, linked database analysis of 396 patients. Ann Surg. 2003;237(1):74–85.
- Moon HJ, An JY, Heo JS, Choi SH, Joh JW, Kim YI. Predicting survival after surgical resection for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Pancreas. 2006;32(1):37–43.
- 83. House MG, Gönen M, Jarnagin WR, D'Angelica M, DeMatteo RP, Fong Y, et al. Prognostic significance of pathologic nodal status in patients with resected pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2007;11(11):1549–55.
- 84. Schnelldorfer T, Ware AL, Sarr MG, Smyrk TC, Zhang L, Qin R, et al. Long-term survival after pancreatoduodenectomy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma: is cure possible? Ann Surg. 2008;247(3):456–62.
- 85. Garcea G, Dennison AR, Ong SL, Pattenden CJ, Neal CP, Sutton CD, et al. Tumour characteristics predictive of survival following resection for ductal adenocarcinoma of the head of pancreas. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2007;33(7):892–7.
- Berger AC, Watson JC, Ross EA, Hoffman JP. The metastatic/examined lymph node ratio is an important prognostic factor after pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Am Surg. 2004;70(3):235–40. discussion 240
- Tomlinson JS, Jain S, Bentrem DJ, Sekeris EG, Maggard MA, Hines OJ, et al. Accuracy of staging node-negative pancreas cancer: a potential quality measure. Arch Surg. 2007;142(8):767–23. discussion 773-4
- 88. Falconi M, Crippa S, Domínguez I, Barugola G, Capelli P, Marcucci S, et al. Prognostic relevance of lymph node ratio and number of resected nodes after curative resection of ampulla of Vater carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(11):3178–86.
- 89. Lahat G, Lubezky N, Gerstenhaber F, Nizri E, Gysi M, Rozenek M, et al. Number of evaluated lymph nodes and positive lymph nodes, lymph node ratio, and log odds evaluation in early-stage pancreatic ductal adeno-

carcinoma: numerology or valid indicators of patient outcome? World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14(1):254.

- 90. Elshaer M, Gravante G, Kosmin M, Riaz A, Al-Bahrani A. A systematic review of the prognostic value of lymph node ratio, number of positive nodes and total nodes examined in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2017;99(2):101–6.
- Sabater L, García-Granero A, Escrig-Sos J, Gómez-Mateo Mdel C, Sastre J, Ferrández A, et al. Outcome quality standards in pancreatic oncologic surgery. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(4):1138–46.
- Sierzega M, Popiela T, Kulig J, Nowak K. The ratio of metastatic/resected lymph nodes is an independent prognostic factor in patients with node-positive pancreatic head cancer. Pancreas. 2006;33(3):240–5.
- Pawlik TM, Gleisner AL, Cameron JL, Winter JM, Assumpcao L, Lillemoe KD, et al. Prognostic relevance of lymph node ratio following pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic cancer. Surgery. 2007;141(5):610–8.
- 94. Gomez D, Menon KV, Smith AM, Verbeke CS. Tumour location and number of positive lymph nodes are independent prognostic factors in distal bile duct cancer. HPB (Oxford). 2008;10(Suppl 1):227.
- 95. Robinson SM, Rahman A, Haugk B, French JJ, Manas DM, Jaques BC, et al. Metastatic lymph node ratio as an important prognostic factor in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38(4):333–9.
- 96. La Torre M, Cavallini M, Ramacciato G, Cosenza G, Rossi Del Monte S, Nigri G, et al. Role of the lymph node ratio in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Impact on patient stratification and prognosis. J Surg Oncol. 2011;104(6):629–33.
- Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND. WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. 4th ed. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press; 2010.
- Sobin LH, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind CH. International Union against cancer TNM classification of malignant tumours. 7th ed. Hoboken: Wiley/Blackwell; 2009.
- 99. Bogoevski D, Yekebas EF, Schurr P, Kaifi JT, Kutup A, Erbersdobler A, et al. Mode of spread in the early phase of lymphatic metastasis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: prognostic significance of nodal microinvolvement. Ann Surg. 2004;240(6):993– 1000. discussion 1000-1
- 100. Allen PJ, Kuk D, Castillo CF, Basturk O, Wolfgang CL, Cameron JL, et al. Multi-institutional Validation Study of the American Joint Commission on cancer (8th edition) changes for T and N staging in patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Ann Surg. 2017;265(1):185–91.
- 101. Adsay NV, Bagci P, Tajiri T, Oliva I, Ohike N, Balci S, et al. Pathologic staging of pancreatic, ampullary, biliary, and gallbladder cancers: pitfalls and practical

limitations of the current AJCC/UICC TNM staging system and opportunities for improvement. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2012;29(3):127–41.

- 102. Nelson DW, Blanchard TH, Causey MW, Homann JF, Brown TA. Examining the accuracy and clinical usefulness of intraoperative frozen section analysis in the management of pancreatic lesions. Am J Surg. 2013;205(5):613–7; discussion 617.
- 103. Doucas H, Neal CP, O'Reilly K, Dennison AR, Berry DP. Frozen section diagnosis of pancreatic malignancy: a sensitive diagnostic technique. Pancreatology. 2006;6(3):210–3; discussion 214.
- 104. Campanale RP 2nd, Frey CF, Farias LR, Twomey PL, Guernsey JM, Keehn R, Higgins G. Reliability and sensitivity of frozen-section pancreatic biopsy. Arch Surg. 1985;120(3):283–8.
- 105. Catalano C, Laghi A, Fraioli F, Pediconi F, Napoli A, Danti M, et al. Pancreatic carcinoma: the role of high-resolution multislice spiral CT in the diagnosis and assessment of resectability. Eur Radiol. 2003;13(1):149–56.
- 106. Raut CP, Grau AM, Staerkel GA, Kaw M, Tamm EP, Wolff RA, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration in patients with presumed pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2003;7(1):118–26. discussion 127-8
- 107. Dillhoff M, Yates R, Wall K, Muscarella P, Melvin WS, Ellison EC, Bloomston M. Intraoperative assessment of pancreatic neck margin at the time of pancreaticoduodenectomy increases likelihood of margin-negative resection in patients with pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2009;13(5):825–30.
- Pessaux P, Varma D, Arnaud JP. Pancreaticoduodenectomy: superior mesenteric artery first approach. J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10(4):607–11.
- 109. Dumitrascu T, David L, Popescu I. Posterior versus standard approach in pancreatoduodenectomy: a case-match study. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2010;395(6):677–84.
- 110. Shrikhande SV, Barreto SG, Bodhankar YD, Suradkar K, Shetty G, Hawaldar R, et al. Superior mesenteric artery first combined with uncinated process approach versus uncinate process first approach in pancreatoduodenectomy: a comparative study evaluating perioperative outcomes. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2011;396(8):1205–12.
- 111. Sanjay P, Takaori K, Govil S, Shrikhande SV, Windsor JA. 'Artery-first' approaches to pancreatoduodenectomy. Br J Surg. 2012;99(8):1027–35.
- 112. Pallisera A, Morales R, Ramia JM. Tricks and tips in pancreatoduodenectomy. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2014;6(9):344–50.
- 113. Inoue Y, Saiura A, Yoshioka R, Ono Y, Takahashi M, Arita J, et al. Pancreatoduodenectomy with systematic mesopancreas dissection using a supracolic anterior artery-first approach. Ann Surg. 2015;262:1092.
- 114. Zhang Y, Frampton AE, Cohen P, Kyriakides C, Bong JJ, Habib NA, et al. Tumor infiltration in the medial

resection margin predicts survival after pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(10):1875–82.

- 115. Schmidt CM, Glant J, Winter JM, Kennard J, Dixon J, Zhao Q, et al. Total pancreatectomy (R0 resection) improves survival over subtotal pancreatectomy in isolated neck margin positive pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Surgery. 2007;142(4):572–8. discussion 578-80
- 116. Hernandez J, Mullinax J, Clark W, Toomey P, Villadolid D, Morton C, et al. Survival after pancreaticoduodenectomy is not improved by extending resections to achieve negative margins. Ann Surg. 2009;250(1):76–80.
- 117. Lad NL, Squires MH, Maithel SK, Fisher SB, Mehta VV, Cardona K, et al. Is it time to stop checking frozen section neck margins during pancreaticoduodenectomy? Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(11):3626–33.
- 118. Adsay V, Mino-Kenudson M, Furukawa T, Basturk O, Zamboni G, Marchegiani G, et al. Members of Verona consensus meeting, 2013. Pathologic evaluation and reporting of intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas and other tumoral intraepithelial neoplasms of pancreatobiliary tract: recommendations of Verona consensus meeting. Ann Surg. 2016;263(1):162–77.
- 119. Basturk O, Hong SM, Wood LD, Adsay NV, Albores-Saavedra J, Biankin AV, et al. Baltimore consensus meeting. A revised classification system and recommendations from the Baltimore consensus meeting for neoplastic precursor lesions in the pancreas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2015;39(12):1730–41.
- 120. Matthaei H, Hong SM, Mayo SC, dal Molin M, Olino K, Venkat R, et al. Presence of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia in the pancreatic transection margin does not influence outcome in patients with R0 resected pancreatic cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(12):3493–9.
- 121. McCarthy DM, Brat DJ, Wilentz RE, Yeo CJ, Cameron JL, Kern SE, Hruban RH. Pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia and infiltrating adenocarcinoma: analysis of progression and recurrence by DPC4 immunohistochemical labeling. Hum Pathol. 2001;32(6):638–42.
- 122. Nara S, Shimada K, Sakamoto Y, Esaki M, Kosuge T, Hiraoka N. Clinical significance of frozen section analysis during resection of intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm: should a positive pancreatic margin for adenoma or borderline lesion be resected additionally? J Am Coll Surg. 2009;209(5):614–21.
- 123. Fujii T, Kato K, Kodera Y, Kanda M, Nagai S, Yamada S, et al. Prognostic impact of pancreatic margin status in the intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas. Surgery. 2010;148(2):285–90.
- 124. Sauvanet A, Couvelard A, Belghiti J. Role of frozen section assessment for intraductal papillary and mucinous tumor of the pancreas. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2010;2(10):352–8.

- 125. Chun YS, Cooper HS, Cohen SJ, Konski A, Burtness B, Denlinger CS, et al. Significance of pathologic response to preoperative therapy in pancreatic cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(13):3601–7.
- 126. Kim HJ, Czischke K, Brennan MF, Conlon KC. Does neoadjuvant chemoradiation downstage locally advanced pancreatic cancer? J Gastrointest Surg. 2002;6(5):763–9.
- 127. Kang CM, Chung YE, Park JY, Sung JS, Hwang HK, Choi HJ, et al. Potential contribution of preoperative neoadjuvant concurrent chemoradiation therapy on margin-negative resection in borderline resectable pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(3):509–17.
- 128. Casadei R, Di Marco M, Ricci C, Santini D, Serra C, Calculli L, et al. Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy and surgery versus surgery alone in resectable pancreatic cancer: a single-center prospective, randomized, controlled trial which failed to achieve accrual targets. J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19(10):1802–12.
- Hartman DJ, Krasinskas AM. Assessing treatment effect in pancreatic cancer. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2012;136(1):100–9.
- 130. Katz MH, Wang H, Balachandran A, Bhosale P, Crane CH, Wang X, et al. Effect of neoadjuvant chemoradiation and surgical technique on recurrence of localized pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(1):68–78. discussion 78-9
- 131. Spitz FR, Abbruzzese JL, Lee JE, Pisters PW, Lowy AM, Fenoglio CJ, et al. Preoperative and postoperative chemoradiation strategies in patients treated with pancreaticoduodenectomy for adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15(3):928–37.
- 132. Evans DB, Rich TA, Byrd DR, Cleary KR, Connelly JH, Levin B, et al. Preoperative chemoradiation and pancreaticoduodenectomy for adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. Arch Surg. 1992;127(11):1335–9.
- 133. Verbeke C, Löhr M, Karlsson JS, Del Chiaro M. Pathology reporting of pancreatic cancer following neoadjuvant therapy: challenges and uncertainties. Cancer Treat Rev. 2015;41(1):17–26.

- 134. Mandard AM, Dalibard F, Mandard JC, Marnay J, Henry-Amar M, Petiot JF, et al. Pathologic assessment of tumor regression after preoperative chemoradiotherapy of esophageal carcinoma. Clinicopathologic correlations. Cancer. 1994;73(11):2680–6.
- Dworak O, Keilholz L, Hoffmann A. Pathological features of rectal cancer after preoperative radiochemotherapy. Int J Color Dis. 1997;12(1):19–23.
- 136. Ryan R, Gibbons D, Hyland JM, Treanor D, White A, Mulcahy HE, et al. Pathological response following long-course neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced rectal cancer. Histopathology. 2005;47(2):141–6.
- 137. White RR, Xie HB, Gottfried MR, Czito BG, Hurwitz HI, Morse MA, et al. Significance of histological response to preoperative chemoradiotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12(3):214–21.
- 138. Ishikawa O, Ohhigashi H, Teshima T, Chatani M, Inoue T, Tanaka S, et al. Clinical and histopathological appraisal of preoperative irradiation for adenocarcinoma of the pancreatoduodenal region. J Surg Oncol. 1989;40(3):143–51.
- 139. Pendurthi TK, Cooper HS, Young NA, Hoffman JP, Litwin S, Watts P, et al. Histopathologic effects of preoperative chemoradiotherapy on pancreatic carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 1996;110(4):1410.
- 140. Chatterjee D, Katz MH, Rashid A, Varadhachary GR, Wolff RA, Wang H, et al. Histologic grading of the extent of residual carcinoma following neoadjuvant chemoradiation in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: a predictor for patient outcome. Cancer. 2012;118(12):3182–90.
- 141. Lüttges J, Schemm S, Vogel I, Hedderich J, Kremer B, Klöppel G. The grade of pancreatic ductal carcinoma is an independent prognostic factor and is superior to the immunohistochemical assessment of proliferation. J Pathol. 2000;191(2):154–61.



27

Preoperative Nutritional Status, Postoperative Nutritional Support, and Clinical Outcome Following Pancreatic Surgery

Sebastian Haller, Pascal Probst, and Phillip Knebel

27.1 Preoperative Nutritional Status

The high prevalence and negative effects of malnutrition for hospitalized patients are well known and have been studied intensively [1-10]. However, the definition of a malnourished status varies widely, and different modalities are used to define the status. For example, measurements like the body mass index (BMI), bioimpedance, radiological cross-sectional imaging, or laboratory values like serum albumin level can be used. Further, nutritional assessment scores were developed which consist of measurements and questions concerning weight progression, diet, and other risk factors for malnutrition. There are many different scores which are validated in different patient populations [11]. For a variety of surgical fields, lots of studies have been done to determine the prognostic value of malnutrition for postoperative complications. Most of these studies suggest that preoperative malnutrition is linked to a higher postoperative morbidity and mortality. A systematic review by Sun et al. [12] from 2015 found higher mortality and higher postoperative complication rates for abdominal surgery patients diagnosed as malnourished by

Department of General, Visceral and Transplantation Surgery, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018 M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_27

Nutritional Risk Screening 2002 (NRS2002) [13]. Another systematic review by van Stijn et al. [14] published in 2013 identified weight loss and serum albumin as predictive for postoperative outcome in elderly general surgery patients. Currently there are no systematic reviews or meta-analyses and only a limited number of studies concerning preoperative nutritional assessment and postoperative outcome in patients undergoing pancreatic resection. These studies were published between 2005 and 2013 and had a retrospective design. In a study by Schnelldorfer et al. [15], 313 patients with pancreatic surgery for chronic pancreatitis were analyzed. Also included were drainage operations like lateral pancreaticojejunostomy. Subjective Global Assessment (SGA), Nutrition Risk Index (NRI), and the Instant Nutritional Assessment (INA) score [16] were used to assess malnutrition and showed an association with postoperative complications. One hundred thirty-two patients after distal pancreatectomy were evaluated by Sierzega et al. [17], and the NRI and INA were assessed. The collected data stretches over 10 years. An NRI of 100 or less showed an association with pancreatic fistulas with an odds ratio of 8.12 (95% CI, 1.06 to 22.30). Onodera's version of the prognostic nutrition index (PNI) [18] was investigated by Kanda et al. [19]. For this 268 patients undergoing different resections for pancreatic cancer over 20 years were analyzed. The results showed that a low PNI was associated

S. Haller · P. Probst · P. Knebel (🖂)

e-mail: Phillip.Knebel@med.uni-heidelberg.de

with poor survival and also higher postoperative complications. Shinkawa et al. [20] analyzed NRI and NRS 2002. Sixty-four patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy were included over 7 years. The risk for surgical site infections was independently associated with low NRI. Another study by La Torre et al. [21] investigated 143 patients over 8 years. The participants underwent surgery for pancreatic cancer, and SGA, NRI, and Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST) [22] were analyzed. MUST and NRI showed an association with overall morbidity. These studies were retrospective, spanned over long periods of time, and lack a prior definition of a primary endpoint. Thus, their findings should be put into question. To determine the clinical usefulness of nutritional assessment scores, a prospective clinical trial has been conducted at the University Hospital of Heidelberg by Probst et al. [23, 24]. Twelve nutritional assessment scores were prospectively assessed for their prognostic value in patients undergoing pancreatic surgery. A total of 279 patients were analyzed over 1 year. Contrary to the beforementioned retrospective studies, no association with postoperative morbidity and mortality could be found. Looking at these results, the value of preoperative nutritional assessment scores is strongly questioned. Especially the lack of prior definition of a primary endpoint as well as the long time period in previous studies might explain the different results. Also a retrospective design has a higher risk of detection and reporting bias. The study by Probst et al. showed no association even when using the comprehensive complication index (CCI) [25] as a measurement for complications. It should be mentioned that the original intent of nutritional assessment scores was not to predict surgical complications. Whether or not they have a relevant role in assessing a patient's postoperative risk after pancreatic resection and the usefulness in daily clinical practice stays questionable. Therefore, additional tools to assess a patient's preoperative nutritional status with regard to postoperative outcome should be tested. Applying the amount of body fat as a predictor of postoperative outcome represents one such alternative. Literature shows differing results on whether a high and/or low body fat amount is detrimental to postoperative outcome. Also under discussion is the influence of obesity and postoperative morbidity [26–29]. In contrast to the abovementioned publications, several studies showed a link between cachexia and worse postoperative outcome [30, 31]. They showed a significant amount of weight loss for patients with unresectable pancreatic cancer and a steady decline until death. A more precise tool than BMI or weight loss to determine nutritional-related risk after pancreatic resection could be the diagnosis of cachexia by preoperative computed tomographic or magnetic resonance imaging scans, as described by Pausch et al. [32]. The imaging allows differentiating between different forms of fat. The study by Pausch et al. made the distinction between abdominal wall fat, hip girdle fat, and intraabdominal fat. The cross-sectional imaging of 408 patients who underwent pancreaticoduodenectomy at the University Hospital of Heidelberg was analyzed for the amount of abdominal wall fat, hip girdle fat, and intra-abdominal fat. The results showed that specifically patients with high amounts of abdominal wall fat had lower morbidity, lower short-term mortality, and improved long-term survival. Also low BMI was associated with higher short-term morbidity and higher complication rates. Another study by Amini et al. [33] defined cachexia by using preoperative cross-sectional imaging to measure total psoas volume. The results showed association of total psoas volume with postoperative complications, short-term mortality, and longterm survival after pancreatectomy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. No association was found using total psoas area. However, a study by Peng et al. [34] found an association with postoperative outcome using total psoas area as defining sarcopenia. Similar research was done by Joglekar et al. [35] in a retrospective review of a pancreatectomy database. Sarcopenia was assessed by determining the Hounsfield unit average calculation of the psoas muscle using preoperative computer tomography images. This definition of sarcopenia was independently predicting major complications and length of stay. While it remains

unclear which specific way of measuring sarcopenia and cachexia using cross-sectional imaging is most suitable, the general method seems promising in assessing a patient's individual postoperative risk after pancreatic resection. The current state of knowledge seems to point toward measurements obtained via cross-sectional imaging as a more promising and more reliable tool in predicting postoperative outcome than nutritional assessment scores. However, more research needs to be done to find the most suitable and most convenient way of obtaining those measurements. A definition of malnutrition that yields relevant clinical results remains still unclear.

27.2 Postoperative Nutritional Support

To date there is no general acknowledged gold standard for postoperative nutritional support in pancreatic surgery and many guidelines exist. The possibilities for postoperative nutritional support can be divided into oral, enteral, and parenteral. Hereby, enteral nutritional support can be delivered via nasogastric tube, nasojejunal tube, or a needle-catheter jejunostomy. Parenteral nutritional support is usually given through central venous catheter with standardized 3-in-1 products. It is generally agreed that oral or enteral nutrition has beneficial effects compared to parenteral nutrition whenever possible [36]. However, existing guidelines for postoperative nutritional support after pancreatic surgery vary significantly. The Enhanced Recovery After Surgery Society (ERAS) [37] recommends a restriction-free oral diet starting at the first postoperative day and increase intake over 3-4 days after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Enteral tube feeding should be restricted to selected patients, and parenteral nutrition should not be the standard course of action. However, in an ERAS program, there are many constraints other than nutrition. The American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (ASPEN) has an even more restrictive approach [38]. ASPEN suggests no nutritional support when sufficient oral intake can be resumed within 7–10 days. The German

Society for Nutritional Medicine (DGEM) [36] also suggests an early oral diet according to individual tolerance. Nutritional support is advised for patients that are not able to reach a daily oral intake of more than 60-75% of the caloric requirement for more than 10 days. Enteral support is preferred, and parenteral support should only be applied if sufficient caloric intake cannot achieved by enteral support be alone. Furthermore, there are studies suggesting that combined postoperative enteral and parenteral nutrition is more beneficial for patients after pancreatic surgery. Nagata et al. [39] showed that combined parenteral and enteral nutrition was superior for patients than enteral nutrition alone after pancreatic surgery. Similarly, a study by Zhu et al. [40] demonstrated that combined parenteral and enteral nutrition was more advantageous than parenteral nutrition alone in patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy. Similarly, a study by Probst et al. [41] found comparable results for a European patient cohort. In the absence of a gold standard, further trials are needed comparing the three possible ways of nutrition: oral vs. enteral vs. parenteral or even of their combinations. As long as there is insufficient evidence, treating physicians can rely on their personal experience and on patientindividual needs.

27.3 Clinical Pathway for Patients Undergoing Pancreatic Procedures at the University Hospital of Heidelberg

Preoperative the NRS 2002 [13] is assessed in every patient. However, there is no change of the clinical pathway as the evidence from our own institution does not suggest a relevance [23, 24]. Every patient receives a structured education on the postoperative procedure with advices on mobility, nutrition, and training after the operation [42].

At the end of the operation, no gastric tubes are left in place and no needle-catheter jejunostomies are made routinely. After 4–6 h in the recovery room, patients are transferred to the normal ward. Patients with vascular reconstructions normally go to intermediate care station for one night. Patients after total pancreatectomy stay 3 days on the intermediate care station.

Directly after the operation, patients are allowed to drink clear liquids and if possible leave the bed for the first mobilization with assistance. All patients have physiotherapy once a day and sometimes additional physical treatments [43].

Beginning from the first postoperative day, a stepwise progression to a normal full oral diet is attempted. Additionally, all patients receive a proton pump inhibitor and pancreatic enzymes. Patients receive oral nutritional supplements in first order if oral food uptake is prolonged or parenteral nutrition in case of inability to eat or complications. Feeding tubes are not standardly placed and are only the treatment of choice in patients with an anticipated long-term ICU stay. There is no standard nutritional counseling for patients with total pancreatic surgery except for patients with total pancreatectomy. The postoperative education on change in nutritional physiology is granted by the physicians.

References

- Bistrian BR, Blackburn GL, Vitale J, Cochran D, Naylor J. Prevalence of malnutrition in general medical patients. JAMA. 1976;235(15):1567–70.
- Bistrian BR, Blackburn GL, Hallowell E, Heddle R. Protein status of general surgical patients. JAMA. 1974;230(6):858–60.
- Pirlich M, Luhrmann N, Schütz T. Mangelernährung bei Klinikpatienten: Diagnostik und klinische Bedeutung. Aktuel Ernahrungsmed. 1999;24:260–6.
- Gariballa SE, Parker SG, Taub N, Castleden CM. Influence of nutritional status on clinical outcome after acute stroke. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998;68(2):275–81.
- Kyle UG, Pirlich M, Schuetz T, Luebke HJ, Lochs H, Pichard C. Prevalence of malnutrition in 1760 patients at hospital admission: a controlled population study of body composition. Clin Nutr. 2003;22(5):473–81.
- Andreyev HJ, Norman AR, Oates J, Cunningham D. Why do patients with weight loss have a worse outcome when undergoing chemotherapy for gastrointestinal malignancies? Eur J Cancer. 1998;34(4):503–9.
- Nixon DW, Heymsfield SB, Cohen AE, Kutner MH, Ansley J, Lawson DH, et al. Protein-calorie under-

nutrition in hospitalized cancer patients. Am J Med. 1980;68(5):683–90.

- Aviles A, Yanez J, Lopez T, Garcia EL, Guzman R, Diaz-Maqueo JC. Malnutrition as an adverse prognostic factor in patients with diffuse large cell lymphoma. Arch Med Res. 1995;26(1):31–4.
- Giner M, Laviano A, Meguid MM, Gleason JR. In 1995 a correlation between malnutrition and poor outcome in critically ill patients still exists. Nutrition. 1996;12(1):23–9.
- Bruun LI, Bosaeus I, Bergstad I, Nygaard K. Prevalence of malnutrition in surgical patients: evaluation of nutritional support and documentation. Clin Nutr. 1999;18(3):141–7. https://doi.org/10.1054/ clnu.1999.0006.
- van Bokhorst-de van der Schueren MA, Guaitoli PR, Jansma EP, de Vet HC. Nutrition screening tools: does one size fit all? A systematic review of screening tools for the hospital setting. Clin Nutr. 2014;33(1):39–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2013.04.008.
- Sun Z, Kong XJ, Jing X, Deng RJ, Tian ZB. Nutritional risk screening 2002 as a predictor of postoperative outcomes in patients undergoing abdominal surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0132857. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0132857.
- Kondrup J, Rasmussen HH, Hamberg O, Stanga Z, Ad Hoc EWG. Nutritional risk screening (NRS 2002): a new method based on an analysis of controlled clinical trials. Clin Nutr. 2003;22(3):321–36.
- 14. van Stijn MF, Korkic-Halilovic I, Bakker MS, van der Ploeg T, van Leeuwen PA, Houdijk AP. Preoperative nutrition status and postoperative outcome in elderly general surgery patients: a systematic review. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2013;37(1):37–43. https://doi. org/10.1177/0148607112445900.
- Schnelldorfer T, Adams DB. The effect of malnutrition on morbidity after surgery for chronic pancreatitis. Am Surg. 2005;71(6):466–72. discussion 72-3
- Seltzer MH, Bastidas JA, Cooper DM, Engler P, Slocum B, Fletcher HS. Instant nutritional assessment. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 1979;3(3):157–9.
- Sierzega M, Niekowal B, Kulig J, Popiela T. Nutritional status affects the rate of pancreatic fistula after distal pancreatectomy: a multivariate analysis of 132 patients. J Am Coll Surg. 2007;205(1):52–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2007.02.077.
- Onodera T, Goseki N, Kosaki G. Prognostic nutritional index in gastrointestinal surgery of malnourished cancer patients. Nihon Geka Gakkai zasshi. 1984;85(9):1001–5.
- Kanda M, Fujii T, Kodera Y, Nagai S, Takeda S, Nakao A. Nutritional predictors of postoperative outcome in pancreatic cancer. Br J Surg. 2011;98(2):268–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.7305.
- 20. Shinkawa H, Takemura S, Uenishi T, Sakae M, Ohata K, Urata Y, et al. Nutritional risk index as an independent predictive factor for the development of surgical site infection after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surg

Today. 2013;43(3):276–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00595-012-0350-2.

- La Torre M, Ziparo V, Nigri G, Cavallini M, Balducci G, Ramacciato G. Malnutrition and pancreatic surgery: prevalence and outcomes. J Surg Oncol. 2013;107(7):702–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jso.23304.
- 22. Stratton RJ, Hackston A, Longmore D, Dixon R, Price S, Stroud M, et al. Malnutrition in hospital outpatients and inpatients: prevalence, concurrent validity and ease of use of the 'malnutrition universal screening tool' ('MUST') for adults. Br J Nutr. 2004;92(5):799–808.
- 23. Probst P, Haller S, Dorr-Harim C, Bruckner T, Ulrich A, Hackert T, et al. Nutritional risk in major abdominal surgery: protocol of a prospective observational trial to evaluate the prognostic value of different nutritional scores in pancreatic surgery. JMIR Res Protoc. 2015;4(4):e132. https://doi.org/10.2196/resprot.4567.
- 24. Probst P, Haller S, Bruckner T, Ulrich A, Strobel O, Hackert T, Diener MK, Büchler MW, Knebel P. Prospective trial to evaluate the prognostic value of different nutritional assessment scores in pancreatic surgery: NURIMAS Pancreas. Br J Surg. 2017;104(8):1053–62.
- 25. Slankamenac K, Nederlof N, Pessaux P, de Jonge J, Wijnhoven BP, Breitenstein S, et al. The comprehensive complication index: a novel and more sensitive endpoint for assessing outcome and reducing sample size in randomized controlled trials. Ann Surg. 2014;260(5):757–62.; discussion 62-3. https://doi. org/10.1097/sla.00000000000948.
- Sledzianowski JF, Duffas JP, Muscari F, Suc B, Fourtanier F. Risk factors for mortality and intraabdominal morbidity after distal pancreatectomy. Surgery. 2005;137(2):180–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.surg.2004.06.063.
- 27. House MG, Fong Y, Arnaoutakis DJ, Sharma R, Winston CB, Protic M, et al. Preoperative predictors for complications after pancreaticoduodenectomy: impact of BMI and body fat distribution. J Gastrointest Surg. 2008;12(2):270–8. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11605-007-0421-7.
- Noun R, Riachy E, Ghorra C, Yazbeck T, Tohme C, Abboud B, et al. The impact of obesity on surgical outcome after pancreaticoduodenectomy. JOP. 2008;9(4):468–76.
- Balentine CJ, Enriquez J, Cruz G, Hodges S, Bansal V, Jo E, et al. Obesity does not increase complications following pancreatic surgery. J Surg Res. 2011;170(2):220–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jss.2011.03.048.
- Bachmann J, Heiligensetzer M, Krakowski-Roosen H, Buchler MW, Friess H, Martignoni ME. Cachexia worsens prognosis in patients with resectable pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2008;12(7):1193– 201. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-008-0505-z.
- Wigmore SJ, Plester CE, Richardson RA, Fearon KC. Changes in nutritional status associated

with unresectable pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer. 1997;75(1):106–9.

- 32. Pausch T, Hartwig W, Hinz U, Swolana T, Bundy BD, Hackert T, et al. Cachexia but not obesity worsens the postoperative outcome after pancreatoduodenectomy in pancreatic cancer. Surgery. 2012;152(3 Suppl 1):S81–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2012.05.028.
- 33. Amini N, Spolverato G, Gupta R, Margonis GA, Kim Y, Wagner D, et al. Impact total psoas volume on short- and long-term outcomes in patients undergoing curative resection for pancreatic adenocarcinoma: a new tool to assess sarcopenia. J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19(9):1593–602. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11605-015-2835-y.
- 34. Peng P, Hyder O, Firoozmand A, Kneuertz P, Schulick RD, Huang D, et al. Impact of sarcopenia on outcomes following resection of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(8):1478–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-012-1923-5.
- 35. Joglekar S, Asghar A, Mott SL, Johnson BE, Button AM, Clark E, et al. Sarcopenia is an independent predictor of complications following pancreatectomy for adenocarcinoma. J Surg Oncol. 2015;111(6):771–5. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23862.
- Weimann A, Breitenstein S, Breuer JP, Gabor SE, Holland-Cunz S, Kemen M, et al. Clinical nutrition in surgery. Chirurg. 2014;85(4):320–6. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00104-014-2737-7.
- Lassen K, Coolsen MME, Slim K, Carli F, de Aguilar-Nascimento JE, Schäfer M, et al. Guidelines for perioperative care for pancreaticoduodenectomy: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS®) Society recommendations. Clin Nutr. 2012;31(6):817–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2012.08.011.
- American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (A.S.P.E.N.) Board of Directors. Clinical guidelines for the use of parenteral and enteral nutrition in adult and pediatric patients, 2009. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2009;33(3):255–9. https://doi. org/10.1177/0148607109333115.
- 39. Nagata S, Fukuzawa K, Iwashita Y, Kabashima A, Kinoshita T, Wakasugi K, et al. Comparison of enteral nutrition with combined enteral and parenteral nutrition in post-pancreaticoduodenectomy patients: a pilot study. Nutr J. 2009;8(1):1–8. https://doi. org/10.1186/1475-2891-8-24.
- 40. Zhu XH, Wu YF, Qiu YD, Jiang CP, Ding YT. Effect of early enteral combined with parenteral nutrition in patients undergoing pancreaticoduodenectomy. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(35):5889–96. https://doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v19.i35.5889.
- Probst P, Keller D, Steimer J, Gmur E, Haller A, Imoberdorf R, et al. Early combined parenteral and enteral nutrition for pancreaticoduodenectomy—retrospective cohort analysis. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2016;6:68–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. amsu.2016.02.002.
- 42. Fink C, Diener MK, Bruckner T, Muller G, Paulsen L, Keller M, et al. Impact of preoperative
patient education on prevention of postoperative complications after major visceral surgery: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial (PEDUCAT trial). Trials. 2013;14:271. https://doi. org/10.1186/1745-6215-14-271.

43. Probst P, Büchler E, Doerr-Harim C, Knebel P, Thiel B, Ulrich A, et al. Randomised controlled pilot trial on feasibility, safety and effectiveness of osteopathic MANipulative treatment following major abdominal surgery (OMANT pilot trial). Int J Osteopath Med. 2016;20:31–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijosm.2016.03.002.



28

Pancreas-Sparing Duodenectomy: How I Do It

Monica M. Dua, Lavina Malhotra, and Brendan C. Visser

28.1 Introduction

It is well accepted that the standard operation for malignant duodenal neoplasms is pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD). Benign (or premalignant) duodenal tumors may be resected with a spectrum of techniques: endoscopic, local resection, duodenal sleeve (with preservation of ampulla), PPTD, and PD (in order from least to most tissue resected). PD is the most commonly performed operation for duodenal tumors and is thus the operation with which many surgeons are most comfortable. While improvements in surgical technique and perioperative management have decreased the overall operative morbidity associated with PD, it still suffers the inherent complications related to resection of the pancreas and the pancreatojejunostomy. Patients with duodenal neoplasms have a soft pancreatic parenchyma and thus a higher risk of pancreatic fistula formation after PD. In cases where preservation of the ampulla is not feasible, PPTD is sometimes an alternative to formal PD.

The basic principles of PPTD are to remove the duodenal mucosa in its entirety, maintain normal outflow pancreatic and biliary drainage, and preserve foregut anatomy. Chung and colleagues first reported PPTD in 1995 on five patients that underwent total duodenectomy for familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) syndrome [1]. These patients required excision of the duodenum for complete clearance of polyps; the head of the pancreas was completely preserved, and reconstruction was accomplished by advancing the jejunum toward the pylorus to create an end-toend anastomosis of the jejunum to the duodenal cuff just past the pylorus. Implantation of the biliary and pancreatic ducts was placed into the neoduodenum in a location that corresponded to the prior native papilla. The presence of a direct gastrojejunal anastomosis allowed for continued long-term endoscopic surveillance. FAP remains the most common indication for PPTD, though essentially any other neoplastic process confined to the duodenal mucosa without potential for spread along the periduodenal lymphatics can be resected via PPTD. Sporadic large ampullary adenomas or other solitary, broad-based adenomas of the duodenum are also defined indications for PPTD [2–12]. Certainly, more uncommon indications that have been reported as single case studies or case series include PPTD for trauma resulting in duodenal necrosis [2], neuroendocrine tumor [4, 12], stromal tumor [9], amyloidosis [11], lymphoma [8], liposarcoma [3], and giant hamartoma [5]. Advantages of this procedure over PD include preservation of the entire pancreas with inherent decreased risk of

M. Tewari (ed.), *Surgery for Pancreatic and Periampullary Cancer*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7464-6_28

M. M. Dua, M.D. $(\boxtimes) \cdot L$. Malhotra, M.D.

B. C. Visser, M.D.

Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA e-mail: mdua@stanford.edu

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

endocrine or exocrine insufficiency, reduced number of anastomoses, and increased ease of endoscopic surveillance of the neoduodenum if required.

28.2 Relevant Anatomy

The duodenum proximal to the ampulla of Vater is intimately adherent to the pancreatic head as the pancreatic parenchyma grows into the muscular and subserosal layers of the duodenum. A dissection plane surrounding the ampulla is difficult to develop in this region, and separation is achieved by intramural dissection of the duodenum leaving the outer muscular layers of the duodenal wall attached to the pancreatic head. In contrast, the plane of dissection between the pancreas and the infra-ampullary duodenum is much easier to define, yet traversed by a number of small vessels along the curve of the pancreatic head.

The arterial system of both the duodenum and head of the pancreas consist of an anterior and posterior group of arcades that include the superior and inferior pancreaticoduodenal arteries, respectively. Both superior arteries arise from the gastroduodenal arteries, while the inferior branches arise ultimately from the superior mesenteric artery via the inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery. The pattern of venous drainage may vary, but all small tributaries eventually drain into the superior mesenteric or portal veins. Both the arterial supply and the venous drainage of the duodenum consist of terminal vessels arising from vessels more centrally located within or around the pancreatic head. Despite the common blood supply of the duodenum and pancreatic head, resection of the former does not devascularize the later [13].

28.3 Surgical Technique

Surgical exploration is typically performed through a midline incision. The initial step is to rule out the presence of metastatic or invasive duodenal disease which would be a contradiction to PPTD. A wide Kocher maneuver across the midline to the level of the aorta greatly allows for manual palpa-



Fig. 28.1 An example of a near-occlusive large polypoid mass with circumferential extension from the second portion of the duodenum

tion of the second portion of the duodenum, especially around the ampulla. A cholecystectomy is performed to open the cystic duct and cannulate this with a cholangiogram catheter or Fogarty catheter (both have a balloon tip that can be inflated and palpated) to facilitate identification of the ampulla in the setting of large ampullary polyps or adenomas (Fig. 28.1). A point approximately 10 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz is chosen for division of the bowel in the infracolic compartment. The jejunum is divided with GIA stapler, and the proximal end is used as a handle to start freeing the distal duodenum. The short mesenteric vessels are divided and tied or sealed at the root of the mesentery to the level of the uncinate (much like as is done for PD). The transected bowel is then flipped through the root of the mesentery and posterior to the superior mesenteric vessels to end up on the patient's right side. Meticulous dissection continues along the interface of the pancreas and the distal duodenum taking all small vessels in continuity either with a vessel seal, clips, or ties. Once the ampulla is reached from the distal dissection, the duodenum is divided just past the pylorus with another load of the GIA stapler. Proximal transection of the duodenum allows for appropriate traction of the duodenum laterally to allow the dissection to be continued medially along the first and second parts of the duodenum.

At the ampulla, the bile duct and pancreatic duct are transected sharply where they enter the

duodenal wall. This is facilitated by holding the freed duodenum on tension to the patient's right. The ampullary margin is sent for frozen section, and the two ducts are spatulated and sutured together to provide a common channel for a single anastomosis (Fig. 28.2). The distal end of the jejunum is brought through the bare area of the transverse colon mesentery to the right of the middle colic vessels, and the antimesenteric side of the bowel is aligned with the common ductal channel to create a two-layer duct-to-mucosa anastomosis (Fig. 28.3) as in a modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy [14]. Caution is required such that these sutures don't catch the bile duct; the catheter placed into the bile duct and use of



Fig. 28.2 The common bile duct and pancreatic duct channels were slightly spatulated and sutured together to provide a common channel for a single anastomosis

intraoperative ultrasound can assist in this. Three transpancreatic silk (typically 2-0 silk on an MH needle due to the thickness of the head) U-sutures are placed about 1 cm from the edge of the pancreas and go through the parenchyma from anterior to posterior. The same suture is then used to take a horizontal seromuscular bite of the jejunum prior to complete the posterior layer prior to coming through the pancreas again from posterior to anterior. Three of these sutures are placed with the middle U-stich spanning the common channel. These sutures serve as a posterior row (like a Lembert stitch but without the risk of pulling through the capsule of the pancreas) and are tied with the needles left intact for creation of the anterior outer row after the duct-to-mucosa anastomosis. After creating a small enterotomy in the jejunum, the common channel and enterotomy are anastomosed together with interrupted synthetic absorbable monofilament sutures made of polydioxanone (PDS). Finally, the outer anterior horizontal mattress sutures are placed on the jejunum using the needle attached to the previously placed U-sutures and tied individually on the anterior surface of the pancreas (Fig. 28.4).

Gastrointestinal continuity is established by bringing the jejunum distal to this new anastomosis anterior to the transverse colon for a duodenojejunostomy much like is performed for a pyloric preserving PD. A closed suction Jackson-Pratt drain is placed in the surgical field in the region of the bili-



Fig. 28.3 The antimesenteric side of the jejunum is aligned with the common ductal channel to create a duct-to-mucosa anastomosis



Fig. 28.4 The completed two-layer anastomosis is seen with the outer horizontal mattress silk sutures of the jejunum brought to the anterior surface of the pancreas



Fig. 28.5 The "C"-shaped duodenal specimen is shown with the large polypoid mass visible superiorly. The position of the obliquely oriented pancreas, which was not resected, can be appreciated in the specimen

ary and pancreatic anastomosis. An example of a "C"-shaped duodenal specimen is seen in Fig. 28.5.

28.4 Postoperative Management

Standard postoperative length of stay (LOS) is typically 7–10 days. A liquid oral diet is started around day 3 after surgery and advanced to a regular diet as tolerated. Routine nasogastric tube drainage is not required but only inserted for symptoms consistent with delayed gastric emptying. The JP drain by the anastomosis is removed prior to discharge if the output looks benign and the drain amylase level is low; it is left in place if there is suspicion for a leak. Even in those cases, if the patient is clinically well and meeting all other criteria for discharge, they may be sent home with the drain and managed as an outpatient. The primary early postoperative complications include anastomotic fistula, delayed gastric emptying, pancreatitis, and wound infection.

28.5 Reported Variations in Technique

The techniques of ampullary reconstruction have varied in literature. Historically, Chung et al. described reconstruction following resection by advancing the jejunum toward the pylorus, to perform an end-to-end anastomosis with the jejunum and proximal cuff of duodenum to create a "neoduodenum." Implantation of the bile and pancreatic ducts was established separately in a location corresponding to the native papilla of the neoduodenum. This was performed by a "through-and-through" intrajejunal approach, through an access enterotomy opposite the proposed site for reimplantation [1].

Tsiotos and Sarr significantly modified this procedure and used an extrajejunal approach for a single ampullojejunostomy after the pylorojejunostomy was created. This is facilitated by suturing to the common channel or by suturing the two ducts together so that a single anastomosis around both ducts can be performed. Once the optimal site on the jejunal wall facing the ampulla is selected, a one-layer duct-to-mucosa anastomosis is created using interrupted absorbable monofilament sutures (PDS). The posterior layer takes full-thickness bites of the posterior ampullary wall (inside-out) and full-thickness bites of the posterior duodenal wall (outside-in). All stitches are aligned and placed prior to being tied leaving the knots on the inside of the anastomosis. The anterior layer is performed in a similar fashion, with full-thickness bites through the anterior ampullary wall (outside-in) and anterior duodenal wall (inside-out), and the knots are tied on the outside of the anastomosis to complete the anastomosis in the fashion most surgeons use for a traditional hepaticojejunostomy [13].

Reconstruction techniques similar to a Whipple reconstruction have been reported in which an end-to-side pancreaticojejunostomy is performed to the head of the gland followed by end-to-side duodenojejunostomy or gastrojejunostomy [7]. Reconstruction with end-to-side invagination pancreaticojejunostomy without duct-to-mucosa suturing of ampulla has also been reported. In this technique, the jejunum is fixed to the intact head of the pancreas anteriorly and posteriorly by interrupted nonabsorbable sutures beyond the ampulla [2].

Pancreatic divisum is the most common congenital variant of pancreatic duct development and occurs in up to 18% of individuals [15]. In these cases, the dorsal pancreatic duct drains separately form the ventral duct. Thus, for a PPTD, two separate duct-to-mucosa anastomoses or the invagination technique is required to prevent obstructive pancreatitis [10].

A minimally invasive approach to PPTD was first reported by Benetatos and colleagues [16]. This was followed by two other cases reported by Stauffer et al. [17] from a group that has vast experience with laparoscopic PD. Both employed similar dissection techniques using a laparoscopic ultrasonic-activated scalpel to maintain a clean and hemostatic dissection plane for separation of the duodenal-pancreatic head complex. Cholecystectomy with placement of a transcystic catheter through the ampulla of Vater was performed to facilitate identification of the major papilla. The operating times of the laparoscopic approach were very long in both reports (between 450 and 593 min) but with minimal blood loss and low morbidity.

28.6 Discussion

The surgical management of duodenal neoplasia remains complex. Endoscopic resection, local excision (including ampullectomy), sleeve resection of the duodenum (with preservation of the ampulla), pancreas-preserving total duodenectomy, and PD are all employed. Advanced endoscopic techniques may have a role for small, localized duodenal tumors in patients that would otherwise not tolerate a resection [18]. Duodenal polyps that are large in size, located close to the ampulla, or associated with a polyposis syndrome require complete removal of the duodenum along with the periampullary region via PPTD or PD for definitive management and to minimize recurrence [19]. While reports on PPTD have continued to emerge, the surgical community has been slow to adopt this procedure as evidenced by the paucity of data on long-term outcomes. Moreover, the terminology of pancreas-sparing duodenectomy (PSD) and pancreas-preserving total duodenectomy (PPTD) has varied in literature making the outcomes difficult to compare. PPTD is principally performed for ampullary lesions and diffuse lesions of the duodenum. Pancreas-sparing partial duodenectomy (PSPD) has been described for supra-ampullary and infra-ampullary lesions not amenable to endoscopic resection or wide local excision. In PSD, only partial dissection of the duodenal-pancreatic head complex is required at either the proximal or distal head of the pancreas-duodenum junction and advanced pancreaticobiliary reconstruction is unnecessary. PPTD is not an oncologically appropriate operation for invasive duodenal lesions, and it is crucial not to compromise safe resection margins for organ preservation. The combination of preoperative endoscopic ultrasound or magnetic resonance imaging and intraoperative pathological analysis can often reliably exclude this possibility; however it is prudent to counsel patients prior to surgery that the extent of disease may require conversion to formal PD.

A recent literature review found 128 unique cases of PPTD with overall mortality and morbidity rates of 2.3% and 46.4%, respectively [17]. The most common complications were pancreaticobiliary leak (16%) and delayed gastric emptying (12%), with mean hospital LOS being 17 days. Three studies compared results of PPTD to those from similar patients undergoing PD to determine any difference in outcomes. The first study from the Netherlands compared 26 patients with FAP who underwent PPTD to 77 patients with ampullary adenocarcinomas who underwent PD [20]. They found longer operative times for PPTD but similar complications, LOS, and mortality. A high rate of jejunal limb ulceration (19%) was seen in the PPTD group compared to no cases in PD which led them to change their practice to a Rouxen-Y reconstruction for gastrointestinal continuity. In the follow-up period, 12% of patients in the PD group developed diabetes compared to none in the PPTD group. Overall, they did not find any clear advantage of PPTD over conventional PD. The second group from Germany compared the results of 16 patients undergoing PPTD to 16 matched patients undergoing pylorus-preserving PD and found comparable morbidity, mortality, and LOS, but lower operative blood loss for PPTD patients [4]. Long-term follow-up demonstrated 75% of the PD group to require oral pancreatic enzyme supplementation compared to none in the PPTD group. Quality-of-life analysis between the two groups was also performed and showed no significant differences. The third study from Cleveland clinic [7] compared 21 patients undergoing PPTD to 238 patients undergoing PD for various indications. Typical PPTD reconstruction in this study was an end-to-side pancreaticojejunostomy (pancreatic and biliary orifices reconstructed together via one enterotomy) with an advanced jejunal limb. They found similar LOS, complication rates, and mortality and, however, a higher pancreatic leak rate among patients undergoing PPTD (19% versus 9%). Despite these observations, no prospective data is available comparing PPTD to PD.

Conclusion

PPTD is a technically challenging procedure that is feasible in highly selected patients in whom malignant disease has been excluded. It is best suited for patients with noninvasive adenomatous disease of the duodenum with no pancreatic involvement, and postsurgical endoscopic surveillance is possible directly through the gastrojejunal anastomosis. In experienced centers, PPTD can be performed with comparable morbidity to PD and may provide some long-term benefits such as decreased endocrine and exocrine insufficiency. Although still a relatively novel technique, PPTD serves as an additional surgical strategy for the resection of benign duodenal lesions.

References

- Chung RS, Church JM, van Stolk R. Pancreas-sparing duodenectomy: indications, surgical technique, and results. Surgery. 1995;117(3):254–9.
- Wig JD, Kudari A, Yadav TD, Doley RP, Bharathy KG, Kalra N. Pancreas preserving total duodenectomy for complex duodenal injury. JOP. 2009;10(4):425–8.
- Kimura Y, Mukaiya M, Honma T, Okuya K, Akizuki E, Kihara C, et al. Pancreas-sparing duodenectomy for a recurrent retroperitoneal liposarcoma: report of a case. Surg Today. 2005;35(1):91–3.
- Muller MW, Dahmen R, Koninger J, Michalski CW, Hinz U, Hartel M, et al. Is there an advantage in performing a pancreas-preserving total duodenectomy in duodenal adenomatosis? Am J Surg. 2008;195(6):741–8.
- Gupta V, Singh V, Kalra N, Vaiphei K. Pancreas sparing resection for giant hamartoma of Brunner's glands. JOP. 2009;10(2):196–9.
- Cueto J, Benotto JA, Catalina R, Vazquez-Frias JA. Large duodenal villous adenoma requiring head of the pancreas and pylorus-preserving total duo-

denectomy. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2005;15(4):230–2. discussion 2-3

- Mackey R, Walsh RM, Chung R, Brown N, Smith A, Church J, et al. Pancreas-sparing duodenectomy is effective management for familial adenomatous polyposis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2005;9(8):1088–93. discussion 93
- Nagai H, Hyodo M, Kurihara K, Ohki J, Yasuda T, Kasahara K, et al. Pancreas-sparing duodenectomy: classification, indication and procedures. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 1999;46(27):1953–8.
- Al-Sarireh B, Ghaneh P, Gardner-Thorpe J, Raraty M, Hartley M, Sutton R, et al. Complications and follow-up after pancreas-preserving total duodenectomy for duodenal polyps. Br J Surg. 2008;95(12):1506–11.
- Otsuka S, Sugiura T, Uesaka K. Acute obstructive pancreatitis after pancreas-sparing total duodenectomy in a patient with pancreas divisum: a case report. Surg Case Rep. 2016;2(1):126.
- Imamura M, Komoto I, Doi R, Onodera H, Kobayashi H, Kawai Y. New pancreas-preserving total duodenectomy technique. World J Surg. 2005;29(2):203–7.
- 12. Takagi H, Miyairi J, Hata M, Tuboi J, Kamijou T, Nakajima K, et al. Multiple somatostatin- and gastrincontaining carcinoids of the duodenum: report of a case treated by pancreas-sparing duodenectomy. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2003;50(51):711–3.
- Tsiotos GG, Sarr MG. Pancreas-preserving total duodenectomy. Dig Surg. 1998;15(5):398–403.
- Wang SE, Chen SC, Shyr BU, Shyr YM. Comparison of modified Blumgart pancreaticojejunostomy and pancreaticogastrostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy. HPB (Oxford). 2016;18(3):229–35.
- Liao Z, Gao R, Wang W, Ye Z, Lai XW, Wang XT, et al. A systematic review on endoscopic detection rate, endotherapy, and surgery for pancreas divisum. Endoscopy. 2009;41(5):439–44.
- Benetatos N, Ammori MB, Ammori BJ. Laparoscopic pancreas-preserving total duodenectomy for familial adenomatous polyposis. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2011;21(6):e332–5.
- Stauffer JA, Adkisson CD, Riegert-Johnson DL, Goldberg RF, Bowers SP, Asbun HJ. Pancreassparing total duodenectomy for ampullary duodenal neoplasms. World J Surg. 2012;36(10):2461–72.
- Standards of Practice Committee, Adler DG, Qureshi W, Davila R, Gan SI, Lichtenstein D, et al. The role of endoscopy in ampullary and duodenal adenomas. Gastrointest Endosc. 2006;64(6):849–54.
- Skipworth JR, Morkane C, Raptis DA, Vyas S, Olde Damink SW, Imber CJ, et al. Pancreaticoduodenectomy for advanced duodenal and ampullary adenomatosis in familial adenomatous polyposis. HPB (Oxford). 2011;13(5):342–9.
- 20. de Castro SM, van Eijck CH, Rutten JP, Dejong CH, van Goor H, Busch OR, et al. Pancreas-preserving total duodenectomy versus standard pancreatoduodenectomy for patients with familial adenomatous polyposis and polyps in the duodenum. Br J Surg. 2008;95(11):1380–6.